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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In millions; Unaudited) March 31, 2022 December 31, 2021
Assets
Current assets:
Cash, restricted cash, and cash equivalents 161.4 174.8
Accounts receivable, net of allow ance for doubtful accounts of $18.7 and $17.3 923.8 910.0
Inventories, net 2,697.3 2,385.5
Other current assets 102.1 63.0
Total current assets 3,884.6 3,533.3
Property and equipment, net of accunulated depreciation of $445.6 and $422.6 3,244.5 3,052.6
Operating lease right-of-use assets 393.1 395.9
Goodwill 1,019.3 977.3
Franchise value 956.7 79.1
Other non-current assets 2,582.6 2,388.7
Total assets 12,080.8 11,146.9
Liabilities and equity
Current liabilities:
Floor plan notes payable 388.2 354.2
Hoor plan notes payable: non-trade 1,002.8 835.9
Current maturities of long-termdebt 282.7 2237
Trade payables 260.5 2354
Accrued liabilities 890.9 753.6
Total current liabilities 2,825.1 2,402.8
Long-termdebt, less current maturities 3,395.2 3,185.7
Deferred revenue 200.2 191.2
Deferred income taxes 203.7 191.0
Non-current operating lease liabilities 357.2 361.7
Other long-termliabilities 156.8 151.3
Total liabilties 71382 6,483.7
Redeemeble non-controlling interest 349 34.0
Equity:
Preferred stock - no par value; authorized 15.0 shares; none outstanding — —
Conmon stock - no par value; authorized 125.0 shares; issued and outstanding 29.4 and 29.5 1,656.3 1,711.6
Additional paid-in capital 51.8 58.3
Accunulated other conprehensive income (loss) 49 (3.0)
Retained earnings 31914 2,859.5
Total stockholders’ equity - Lithia Motors, Inc. 49044 4,626.4
Non-controlling interest 33 28
Total equity 4,907.7 4,629.2
Total liabilities, redeemable non-controliing interest and equity 12,080.8 11,146.9
See acconrpanying condensed notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Three Months Ended March 31,

(In millions, except per share amounts; Unaudited) 2022 2021
Revenues:
New vehicle retail 30618 $ 2,193.2
Used vehicle retail 22345 1,352.2
Used vehicle wholesale 385.8 135.2
Finance and insurance 3132 198.4
Service, body and parts 627.8 404.0
Feet and other 82.2 60.0
Total revenues 6,705.3 4,343.0
Cost of sales:
New vehicle retail 2,660.5 2,036.5
Used vehicle retail 2,010.7 1,216.0
Used vehicle wholesale 378.1 130.6
Service, body and parts 298.8 185.8
Feet and other 79.1 58.6
Total cost of sales 5427.2 3,627.5
Gross profit 1,278.1 7155
Selling, general and administrative 7261 450.4
Depreciation and anortization 39.2 26.8
Operating income 512.8 2383
Foor plan interest expense (4.9 (6.8)
Other interest expense, net (30.1) (23.5)
Other income (expense), net (8.0) 34
Income before income taxes 469.8 2114
Income tax provision (126.2) (55.2)
Net income 343.6 156.2
Net income attributable to non-controlling interest (0.5) —
Net income attributable to redeemable non-controlling interest (0.9) —
Net income attributable to Lithia Motors, Inc. 3422 $ 156.2
Basic earnings per share attributable to Lithia Motors, Inc. 1159 § 5.86
Shares used in basic per share calculations 295 26.6
Diluted earnings per share attributable to Lithia Motors, Inc. 1155 §$ 5.81
Shares used in diluted per share calculations 296 26.9
Cash dividends paid per share 035 $ 0.31
See accorrpanying condensed notes to consolidated financial statemrents.
SLITHIA
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Three Months Ended March 31,

(In millions; Unaudited) 2022 2021
Net income $ 3436 $ 156.2
Other conrprehensive incomre (loss), net of tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustment 4.0 —
Gain on cash flow hedges, net of tax expense of $1.4, and $0.6, respectively 39 1.8
Total other conprehensive income, net of tax 7.9 1.8
Conrprehensive income 351.5 158.0
Conrprehensive incomre attributable to non-controlling interest (0.5) —
Conprehensive income attributable to redeemable non-controliing interest (0.9) —
Conrprehensive income attributable to Lithia Motors, Inc. $ 350.1 $ 158.0

See acconpanying condensed notes to consolidated financial statemrents.

SLITHIA
drveway  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 3



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY AND REDEEMABLE NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST

Three Months Ended March 31,

(In millions; Unaudited) 2022 2021

Total equity, beginning balances $ 46292 $ 2,661.5

Common stock’, beginning balances 1,711.6 788.2
Conrpensation for stock and stock option issuances and excess tax benefits fromoption exercises 17.0 134
Issuance of stock in connection with enployee stock plans 7.8 42
Repurchase of conmon stock (80.1) (15.9)

Common stock!, ending balances 1,656.3 789.9

Class Bcommon stock!, beginning balances — —
Class B conmon stock converted to class A conmon stock! — —

Class Bcommon stock!, ending balances — —

Additional paid-in capital, beginning balances 58.3 414
Conrpensation for stock and stock option issuances and excess tax benefits fromoption exercises (6.5) (5.4)
Additional paid-in capital, ending balances 51.8 36.0
Accumulated other comprehensive loss, beginning balances (3.0 (6.3)
Foreign currency translation adjustment 4,0 —
Gain on cash flow hedges, net of tax expense of $1.4, and $0.6, respectively 3.9 18
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), ending balances 49 (4.5)
Retained earnings, beginning balances 2,859.5 1,838.2
Net income attributable to Lithia Mbtors, Inc. 3422 156.2
Dividends paid (10.3) (8.2)
Retained earnings, ending balances 3,191.4 1,986.2
Non-controlling interest, beginning balances 238 —
Net incorre attributable to non-controlling interest 05 —
Non-controlling interest, ending balances 33 —
Total equity, ending balances $ 49077 $ 2,807.6
Redeemable non-controlling interest, beginning balances $ 340 $ —
Net income attributable to redeermable non-controlling interest 0.9 —
Redeemable non-controlling interest, ending balances $ 349 § e

1 Prior to June 7, 2021, conmon stock was classified as ass A conmmon stock. The Class A conmon stock reclassification as conmon stock occurred in connection with the elimination of our classified commmon stock
structure following the conversion of all Gass B conmon stock to Gass A conmon stock.

See accorrpanying condensed notes to consolidated financial statemrents.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Three Months Ended March 31,

(In millions; Unaudited) 2022 2021
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net inconme 3436 $ 156.2
Adjustrrents to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Asset impairments — —
Depreciation and anortization 39.2 26.8
Stock-based conpensation 10.5 8.0
Loss on disposal of other assets 0.9 0.3
(Gain) loss on disposal of franchise (10.0) 0.7
Unrealized investrrent loss 14.9 0.3
Deferred incone taxes 11.3 104
Annrtization of operating lease right-of-use assets 3.6 82
(Increase) decrease (net of acquisitions and dispositions):
Accounts receivable, net (80.4) (126.7)
Inventories (244.9) 244.6
Other assets (256.6) (59.0)
Increase (decrease) (net of acquisitions and dispositions):
Floor plan notes payable 33.7 107.3
Trade payables 26.0 47.8
Accrued liabilities 111.6 76.7
Other long-termliabilities and deferred revenue 229 (2.1)
Net cash provided by operating activities 26.3 4995
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures (60.7) (50.0)
Proceeds fromsales of assets 6.8 —
Cash paid for other investments (9.8) (9.6)
Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acquired (326.5) (383.5)
Proceeds fromsales of stores 32.9 0.3
Net cash used in investing activities (357.3) (442.8)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Repayments on floor plan notes payable, net: non-trade 1771 (74.8)
Borrowings on lines of credit 2,295.0 79.3
Repayments on lines of credit (2,029.8) (18.3)
Rrincipal payments on long-termdebt and finance lease liabilities, scheduled (62.9) (8.3)
Frincipal payments on long-termdebt and finance lease liabilities, other (12.5) —
Proceeds fromissuance of long-termdebt 16.2 —
Paynent of debt issuance costs — (0.1)
Proceeds fromissuance of conmon stock 78 42
Repurchase of conmmon stock (60.9) (15.9)
Dividends paid (10.3) (8.2)
Payment of contingent consideration related to acquisitions (3.7) (1.4)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 316.0 (43.5)
Hfect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 17 —
Increase in cash, restricted cash, and cash equivalents (13.3) 134
Cash, restricted cash, and cash equivalents at beginning of year 178.5 162.4
Cash, restricted cash, and cash equivalents at end of period 1652 $ 175.8
(o) i { nat licdatad £i
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SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Three Months Ended March 31,

(In millions) 2022 2021
Reconciliation of cash, restricted cash, and cash equivalents to the consolidated balance sheets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1316 $ 170.3
Restricted cash fromcollections on auto loans receivable 29.8 55
Cash, restricted cash, and cash equivalents $ 1614 $ 175.8
Restricted cash on deposit in reserve accounts, included in other non-current assets 338 —
Total cash, restricted cash, and cash equivalents reported in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows $ 1652 § 175.8
Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash paid during the period for interest $ 293 $ 30.0
Cash paid during the period for income taxes, net 5.1 25
Floor plan debt paid in connection with store disposals — 14
Non-cash activities:
Acquisition of finance leases in connection with acquisitions 59.0 —
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease liabilities 85 34
Unsettled repurchases of common stock 191 —

See accomnrpanying condensed notes to consolidated financial statemrents.
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CONDENSED NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Interim Financial Statements

Basis of Presentation

These condensed Consolidated Financial Statements contain unaudited information as of March 31, 2022, and for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021. The unaudited
interim financial statements have been prepared pursuant to the rules and regulations for reporting on Form 10-Q. Accordingly, certain disclosures required by accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America for annual financial statements are not included herein. In management’s opinion, these unaudited financial statements reflect all
adjustments (which include only normal recurring adjustments) necessary for a fair presentation of the information when read in conjunction with our 2021 audited Consolidated Financial
Statements and the related notes thereto. The financial information as of December 31, 2021, is derived from our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on February 18, 2022. The results of operations for the interim periods presented are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the full year.

Reclassifications
Certain immaterial reclassifications of amounts previously reported have been made to the accompanying condensed Consolidated Financial Statements to maintain consistency and
comparability between periods presented.

Note 2. Contract Liabilities and Assets

Contract Liabilities

We are the obligor on our lifetime oil contracts. Revenue is allocated to these performance obligations and is recognized over time as senices are provided to the customer. The amount
of revenue recognized is calculated, net of cancellations, using an input method, which most closely depicts performance of the contracts. Our contract liability balances were $249.9
million and $239.0 million as of March 31, 2022, and December 31, 2021, respectively; and we recognized $11.1 million of revenue in the three months ended March 31, 2022 related to
our contract liability balance at December 31, 2021. Our contract liability balance is included in accrued liabilities and deferred revenue.

Contract Assets

Revenue from finance and insurance sales is recognized, net of estimated charge-backs, at the time of the sale of the related wehicle. We act as an agent in the sale of these contracts
as the pricing is set by the third-party provider, and our commission is preset. A portion of the transaction price related to sales of finance and insurance contracts is considered variable
consideration and is estimated and recognized upon the sale of the contract. Our contract asset balances associated with future estimated variable consideration were $9.8 million and
$9.6 million as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively; and are included in trade receivables and other non-current assets.

SLITHIA
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Note 3. Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable consisted of the following:

(in millions) March 31, 2022 December 31, 2021
Contracts in transit $ 3673 $ 304.9
Trade receivables 128.5 1255
Vehicle receivables 126.5 106.6
Manufacturer receivables 140.5 120.5
Auto loan and lease receivables 1,036.4 829.2
Other receivables 18.5 432
1,817.7 1,529.9
Less: Allow ance for doubtful accounts (18.7) (17.3)
Less: Long-termportion of accounts receivable, net! (875.2) (602.6)
Total accounts receivable, net $ 9238 $ 910.0

The long-term portions of accounts receivable and allowance for doubtful accounts were included as a component of other non-current assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Accounts receivable classifications include the following:

»  Contracts in transit are receivables from various lenders for the financing of vehicles that we have arranged on behalf of the customer and are typically received approximately ten
days after selling a vehicle.

» Trade receivables are comprised of amounts due from customers for open charge accounts, lenders for the commissions eamed on financing and others for commissions eamed

on senvce contracts and insurance products.

Vehicle receivables represent receivables for the portion of the vehicle sales price paid directly by the customer.

Manufacturer receivables represent amounts due from manufacturers, including holdbacks, rebates, incentives and warranty claims.

Auto loan receivables include amounts due from customers related to vehicle sales financed through Driveway Finance Corporation.

Lease receivables include amounts related to vehicles leased to customers through Pfaff Leasing.

Interest income on auto loan receivables is recognized based on the contractual terms of each loan and is accrued until repayment, reaching non-accrual status, charge-off, or
repossession. Direct costs associated with loan originations are capitalized and expensed as an offset to interest income when recognized on the loans. All other receivables are
recorded at invoice and do not bear interest until they are 60 days past due.

The balances of auto loan and lease receivables are made up of loans secured by the related wvehicles. More than 99% of the portfolio is aged less than 60 days past due with less than
1% on non-accrual status.

(Dollars in millions) March 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Total Auto loan and lease receivables $ 10364 $ 829.2

Less: Allowance for loan and lease losses (29.4) (25.0)

Auto loan and lease receivables, net $ 1,007.0 $ 804.2
SLITHIA
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Below is a breakdown of the current and long term portions of our auto loan and lease receivables:

(Dollars in millions) March 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

CQurrent portion of auto loan and lease receivables, net of allowance of $15.5 and $13.6 $ 1572 $ 2245
Long termportion of auto loan and lease receivables, net of allowance of $13.9 and $11.4 849.8 579.7
Auto loan and lease receivables, net $ 1,007.0 $ 804.2

Our allowance for loan and lease losses represents the net credit losses expected over the remaining contractual life of our managed receivables. The allowances for credit losses related
to auto loan and lease receivables consisted of the following changes during the period:
Three Months Ended March 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2022 2021

Allow ance for loan losses at beginning of period $ 25 § 124
Charge-offs (10.3) (34)
Recoveries 42 1.9
Provision expense 9.8 11
Allow ance for loan losses at end of period 26.2 12.0
Allowance for lease losses 3.2 —
Total allowance for loan and lease losses balance at end of period $ 294 $ 12.0

Ending auto loan receivables (principal balances) by FICO score:

(Dollars in millions) March 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

<5991 $ 838 $ 83.2
600-699 5474 437.6
700-774 238.3 166.8
775+ 56.7 374
Total auto loan receivables 928.2 7250
Lease portfolio and accrued interest 108.2 104.2
Total auto loan and lease receivables $ 10364 $ 829.2

TIncludes loans that are originated with no FICO score available.

In accordance with Topic 326, the allowance for loan and lease losses is estimated based on our historical write-off experience, current conditions and forecasts, as well as the value of
any underlying assets securing these loans. Consideration is given to recent delinquency trends and recovery rates. Account balances are charged against the allowance upon reaching
120 days past due status. The annual activity for charges and subsequent recoweries is immaterial. The remainder of our receivables are due primarily from manufacturer partners and
various third-party lenders. The historical losses related to these balances are immaterial.

The long-term portion of accounts receivable was included as a component of other non-current assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
Note 4. Inventories

The components of inventories, net, consisted of the following:

(in millions) March 31, 2022 December 31, 2021
New vehicles $ 9505 $ 8129
Used vehicles 1,580.2 1,418.3
Parts and accessories 166.6 154.3
Total inventories $ 26973 $ 2,385.5
SLITHIA
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Note 5. Goodwill and Franchise Value

The changes in the carrying amounts of goodwill are as follows:

(in millions) Domestic Import Luxury Consolidated

Balance as of December 31, 2020 * $ 2045 $ 2879 $ 1006 $ 593.0
Additions through acquisitions 2 101.0 188.7 105.8 395.5
Reductions through divestitures (1.5) (84) (1.3) (11.2)
Balance as of December 31, 2021 * 304.0 468.2 205.1 977.3
Additions through acquisitions * 11.2 21.2 133 457
Reductions through divestitures 3.7) — — (3.7)
Balance as of March 31, 2022 $ 3115 $ 4804 $ 2184 $ 1,019.3

1 Net of accumulated impairment losses of $299.3 million recorded during the year ended December 31, 2008.

2 Qur purchase price allocation for the 2020 acquisitions were finalized in 2021. As a result, we added $395.5 million of goodwill.

3 Qur purchase price allocation for a portion of the 2021 acquisitions was finalized in 2022. As a result, we added $45.7 million of goodwill. Our purchase price allocation for the remaining
2021 and 2022 acquisitions are preliminary and goodwill is not yet allocated to our reporting units. These amounts are included in other non-current assets until we finalize our purchase
accounting. See Note 12.

The changes in the carrying amounts of franchise value are as follows:

(in millions) Franchise Value
Balance as of December 31, 2020 $ 350.2
Additions through acquisitions * 459.7
Reductions through divestitures (8.9)
Reductions frominpairments (1.9)
Balance as of December 31, 2021 799.1
Additions through acquisitions 2 158.3
Reductions through divestitures (0.7)
Balance as of March 31, 2022 $ 956.7

1 Our purchase price allocation for the 2020 acquisitions were finalized in 2021. As a result, we added $459.7 miillion of franchise value.

2 QOur purchase price allocation for a portion of the 2021 acquisitions was finalized in 2022. As a result, we added $158.3 million of franchise value. Our purchase price allocation for the
remaining 2021 and 2022 acquisitions are preliminary and franchise value is not yet allocated to our reporting units. These amounts are included in other non-current assets until we
finalize our purchase accounting. See Note 12.

Note 6. Equity and Redeemable Non-Controlling Interest

Repurchases of Common Stock

Repurchases of our common stock occurred under a repurchase authorization granted by our Board of Directors and related to shares withheld as part of the vesting of restricted stock
units (RSUs). On November 30, 2021, our Board of Directors approved an additional $750 million repurchase authorization of our common stock, increasing our total repurchase
authorization to $1.25 billion combined with the amount previously authorized by the Board for repurchase. Share repurchases under this authorization were as follows:

Repurchases Occurring in 2022 Cumulative Repurchases as of March 31, 2022
Shares Average Price Shares Average Price
Share Repurchase Authorization 218245 $ 289.66 4,694,176  $ 125.79

As of March 31, 2022, we had $659.5 million available for repurchases pursuant to our share repurchase authorization.

In addition, during 2022, we repurchased 56,779 shares at an average price of $296.97 per share, for a total of $16.9 million, related to tax withholding associated with the vesting of
RSUs. The repurchase of shares related to

SLITHIA
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tax withholding associated with stock awards does not reduce the number of shares available for repurchase as approved by our Board of Directors.

ATM Equity Offering
On July 24, 2020, we entered into an ATM Equity Offering Sales Agreement, which allows us to offer and sell, from time to time, shares of our common stock, no par value, having an
aggregate gross sales price of up to $400 million. The shares will be issued pursuant to a registration statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-239969), which became effective upon its filing
on July 21, 2020. Under this agreement, we may enter into forward share purchase transactions. As of March 31, 2022, no amounts have been issued in relation to the ATM Equity
Offering Sales Agreement.

Redeemable Non-Controlling Interest

On August 30, 2021, we expanded into Canada through a partnership with Toronto-based Pfaff Automotive Partners. As part of the acquisition, we were granted the right to purchase (Call
Option), and granted Pfaff Automotive a right to sell (Put Option), the remaining interest after a three-year period, with a purchase price based on Pfaff's pro rata share of assets at the
date of exercise of the Call or Put Option, as applicable. As a result of this redemption feature, we recorded redeemable non-controlling interest, at its preliminary estimate of acquisition-
date fair value, that is classified as mezzanine equity in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. The non-controlling interest is adjusted each reporting period for income (loss)
attributable to the non-controlling interest and adjustments in fair value.

Note 7. Fair Value Measurements

Factors used in determining the fair value of our financial assets and liabilities are summarized into three broad categories:

* Lewl 1 - quoted prices in active markets for identical securities;
* Lewel 2 - other significant obsenable inputs, including quoted prices for similar securities, interest rates, prepayment spreads, credit risk; and
* Lewl 3 - significant unobsenvable inputs, including our own assumptions in determining fair value.

We determined that the carrying value of cash equivalents, accounts receivable, trade payables, accrued liabilities and short-term borrowings approximate their fair values because of the
nature of their terms and current market rates of these instruments. We believe the carrying value of our variable rate debt approximates fair value.

We hawe investments primarily consisting of our investment in Shift Technologies, Inc. (Shift), a San Francisco-based digital retail company. Shift has a readily determinable fair value
following Shift going public in a reverse-merger deal with Insurance Acquisition, a special purpose acquisition company, in the fourth quarter of 2020. We calculated the fair value of this
investment using quoted prices for the identical security (Level 1) and recorded the fair value as part of other non-current assets. An additional component of our investment in Shift
consists of shares in escrow subject to release upon certain market conditions being met. The fair value of this component of our investment in Shift is measured using obsenable Level 2
market expectations at each measurement date and is recorded as part of other non-current assets. For the three months ended March 31, 2022 and March 31, 2021, we recognized a
$14.9 million and a $0.3 million unrealized investment loss related to Shift, respectively. These amounts were recorded as a component of Other income (expense), net.

We hawe fixed rate debt primarily consisting of amounts outstanding under our senior notes and real estate mortgages. We calculated the estimated fair value of the senior notes using
quoted prices for the identical liability (Level 1) and calculated the estimated fair value of the fixed rate real estate mortgages using a discounted cash flow methodology with estimated
current interest rates based on a similar risk profile and duration (Level 2). The fixed cash flows are discounted and summed to compute the fair value of the debt. As of March 31, 2022,
our real estate mortgages and other debt, which includes capital leases, had maturity dates between April 1, 2022, and July 1, 2038.

We hawe derivative instruments consisting of interest rate collars. The fair value of derivative assets and liabilities are measured using obsenvable Level 2 market expectations at each
measurement date and is recorded as current
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driveway NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 11



liabilities and other long-term liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. See Note 11 for more details regarding our derivative contracts.

We estimate the value of other long-lived assets that are recorded at fair value on a non-recurring basis on a market valuation approach. We use prices and other relevant information
generated primarily by recent market transactions involving similar or comparable assets, as well as our historical experience in divestitures, acquisitions and real estate transactions.
Additionally, we may use a cost valuation approach to value long-lived assets when a market valuation approach is unavailable. Under this approach, we determine the cost to replace the
senice capacity of an asset, adjusted for physical and economic obsolescence. When available, we use valuation inputs from independent valuation experts, such as real estate
appraisers and brokers, to corroborate our estimates of fair value. Real estate appraisers’ and brokers’ valuations are typically developed using one or more valuation techniques including
market, income and replacement cost approaches. Because these valuations contain unobsenable inputs, we classified the measurement of fair value of long-lived assets as Lewel 3.

There were no changes to our valuation techniques during the three-month period ended March 31, 2022.

Below are our investments that are measured at fair value (in millions):
Fair Value at March 31, 2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Measured on arecurring basis:

Investments $ 261 $ — 3 —

Fair Value at December 31, 2021 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Measured on arecurring basis:
Investments $ 404 $ 05 $ —

Below are our derivative assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value (in millions):

Fair Value at March 31, 2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Measured on arecurring basis:
Derivative asset $ — $ 186 $ —
Derivative liability — 15.9 —
Fair Value at December 31, 2021 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Measured on arecurring basis:
Derivative asset $ — $ 64 $ —
Derivative liability — 89 —

A summary of the aggregate carrying values, excluding unamortized debt issuance cost, and fair values of our long-term fixed interest rate debt is as follows:

(in millions) March 31, 2022 December 31, 2021
Carrying value
4.625% Senior notes due 2027 $ 4000 $ 400.0
4.375% Senior notes due 2031 550.0 550.0
3.875% Senior notes due 2029 800.0 800.0
Non-recourse notes payable 278.3 317.6
Real estate nortgages and other debt 515.2 A477.6
$ 25435 $ 2,545.2
Fair value
4.625% Senior notes due 2027 $ 39%60 $ 420.0
4.375% Senior notes due 2031 528.0 583.0
3.875% Senior notes due 2029 760.3 815.0
Non-recourse notes payable 271.8 316.8
Real estate mortgages and other debt 474.5 488.7
$ 24306 $ 2,623.5
SLITHIA
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Note 8. Net Income Per Share

We compute net income per share using the two-class method. Under this method, basic net income per share is computed using the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding during the period excluding common shares underlying equity awards that are unvested or subject to forfeiture. Diluted net income per share is computed using the weighted
average number of common shares and, if dilutive, potential common shares outstanding during the period. Potential common shares consist of the common shares issuable upon the
net exercise of stock options and unvested RSUs and is reflected in diluted eamings per share by application of the treasury stock method. The computation of the diluted net income per
share of Class A common stock assumes the conwersion of Class B common stock, while the diluted net income per share of Class B common stock does not assume the conversion of
those shares.

Prior to June 7, 2021, our common stock was classified as Class A common stock. The Class A common stock reclassification as common stock occurred pursuant to an amendment
and restatement of our Articles of Incorporation in connection with the elimination of the Company’s classified common stock structure following the conwersion of all Class B common
stock to Class A common stock. Prior to the reclassification, except with respect to voting and transfer rights, the rights of the holders of our Class A and Class B common stock were
identical. Under our Articles of Incorporation, the Class A and Class B common stock shared equally in any dividends, liquidation proceeds or other distribution with respect to our
common stock and the Articles of Incorporation can only be amended by a vote of the shareholders. Additionally, Oregon law provides that amendments to our Articles of Incorporation
that would adversely alter the rights, powers or preferences of a given class of stock, must be approved by the class of stock adversely affected by the proposed amendment. As a result,
the undistributed eamings for each year are allocated based on the contractual participation rights of the Class A and Class B common shares as if the eamings for the year had been
distributed. Because the liquidation and dividend rights were identical, the undistributed eamings are allocated on a proportionate basis.

The following is a reconciliation of net income and weighted average shares used for our basic eamings per share (EPS) and diluted EPS:

Three Months Ended March 31, 2022 2021

(in millions, except per share amounts) Common Stock Class A Class B

Net income attributable to Lithia Motors, Inc. and applicable to common stockholders - basic $ 422 3 1558 $ 04
Conversion of class B conmon shares into class A conmon shares — 04 —
Net income attributable to Lithia Motors, Inc. and applicable to conmon stockholders - diluted $ 3422 $ 1562 $ 04
Weighted average conmon shares outstanding — basic 295 26.6 0.1
Conversion of class B conmon shares into class A conmon shares — 0.1 —
Hfect of enployee stock purchases and restricted stock units on w eighted average conmon shares 0.1 0.2 —
Weighted average conmon shares outstanding — diluted 296 26.9 0.1
Basic earnings per share attributable to Lithia Motors, Inc. $ 1159 $ 58 $ 5.86
Diuted earnings per share attributable to Lithia Motors, Inc. $ 1155 $ 581 $ 5.81

The effect of antidilutive securities on Class A and Class B common stock was evaluated for the three-month periods ended March 31, 2022, and 2021 and was determined to be
immaterial.

Note 9. Segments

While we have determined that each individual store is a reporting unit, we have aggregated our reporting units into three reportable segments based on their economic similarities:
Domestic, Import and Luxury.

Our Domestic segment is comprised of retail automotive franchises that sell new wehicles manufactured by Stellantis, General Motors and Ford. Our Import segment is comprised of retail
automotive franchises that sell new vehicles manufactured primarily by Toyota, Honda, Hyundai, Subaru, Nissan and Volkswagen. Our Luxury segment is comprised of retail automotive
franchises that sell new vehicles manufactured primarily by BMW, Mercedes and
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Lexus. The franchises in each segment also sell used vehicles, parts and automotive senices, as well as automotive finance and insurance products.

Corporate and other revenue and income includes the results of operations of our stand-alone body shops offset by unallocated corporate owerhead expenses, such as corporate
personnel costs, and certain unallocated reserve and elimination adjustments. Additionally, certain intemal corporate expense allocations increase income for Corporate and other while
decreasing segment income for the reportable segments. These intemal corporate expense allocations are used to increase comparability of our dealerships and reflect the capital burden
a stand-alone dealership would experience. Examples of these intemal allocations include internal rent expense, intemal floor plan financing charges, and intemal fees charged to offset
employees within our corporate headquarters who perform certain dealership functions.

We define our chief operating decision maker (CODM) to be certain members of our executive management group. Historical and forecasted operational performance is evaluated on a
store-by-store basis and on a consolidated basis by the CODM. We derive the operating results of the segments directly from our intemal management reporting system. The accounting
policies used to derive segment results are substantially the same as those used to determine our consolidated results, excepted for the internal allocation within Corporate and other
discussed above. Our CODM does not regularly review capital expenditures on a reporting unit level. Performance measurement of each reportable segment by the CODM are based on
several metrics, including eamings from operations. The CODM uses these results, in part, to evaluate the performance of and to allocate resources, mainly associated with expected
inventory and working capital requirements, to each of the reportable segments.
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Certain financial information on a segment basis is as follows:

(in millions)

Revenues:

Domestic
New vehicle retail
Used vehicle retail
Used vehicle wholesale
Finance and insurance
Service, body and parts
Feet and other

Inrport
New vehicle retail
Used vehicle retail
Used vehicle wholesale
Finance and insurance
Service, body and parts
Feet and other

Luxury
New vehicle retail
Used vehicle retail
Used vehicle wholesale
Finance and insurance
Service, body and parts
Feet and other

Corporate and other

Segment income’:
Donestic
Irport
Luxury
Total segment income for reportable segnments

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2022 2021

$ 9356 $ 614.6
746.4 462.2

128.1 36.2

89.4 58.6

187.6 120.8

54.0 17.6

21411 1,310.0

1,288.4 968.1

895.9 562.1

131.8 58.3

1704 105.5

2431 156.7

10.0 14.1

2,739.6 1,864.8

836.5 614.1

596.6 331.2

107.1 39.8

624 36.9

183.1 1217

17.3 27.8

1,803.0 1,171.5

6,683.7 4,346.3
216 (3.3)

$ 67053 $ 4,343.0
$ 1305 $ 739
2458 101.5

130.3 441

$ 5066 $ 2195

1Segment income for each of the segments is a Non-GAAP measure defined as Income from operations before income taxes, depreciation and amortization, other interest expense and

other income, net.
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Reconciliation of total segment income for reportable segments to our consolidated income before income taxes:

Three Months Ended
March 31,

(in millions) 2022 2021
Total segment income for reportable segments $ 5066 $ 2195
Corporate and other 405 388
Depreciation and anortization (39.2) (26.8)
Cther interest expense (30.1) (23.5)
Other income (expense), net (8.0) 34
Income before income taxes $ 4698 $ 2114
Total assets by reportable segments is as follows:
(in millions) March 31, 2022 December 31, 2021
Total assets:

Domestic $ 18319 $ 1,574.7

Irport 2,106.3 1,858.1

Luxury 1,494.4 1,407.1

Corporate and other 6,648.2 6,307.0

$ 12,0808 $ 11,146.9

Note 10. Leases

We lease certain dealerships, office space, land and equipment. Leases with an initial term of 12 months or less are not recorded on the balance sheet; we recognize lease expense for
these leases on a straight-line basis ower the lease term. We hawe elected not to bifurcate lease and non-lease components related to leases of real property.

Most leases include one or more options to renew, with renewal terms that can extend the lease term from one to 25 years or more. The exercise of lease renewal options is at our sole
discretion. Certain leases also include options to purchase the leased property. The depreciable life of assets and leasehold improvements are limited by the expected lease term, unless
there is a transfer of title or purchase option reasonably certain of exercise.

Certain of our lease agreements include rental payments based on a percentage of retail sales ower contractual levels and others include rental payments adjusted periodically for
inflation. Our lease agreements do not contain any material residual value guarantees or material restrictive covenants.

Our finance lease liabilities are included in long-term debt, with the current portion included in current maturities of long-term debt. The related assets are included in property, plant and
equipment, net of accumulated amortization. These amounts are included in other non-current assets until we finalize our purchase accounting.

We rent or sublease certain real estate to third parties.

Note 11. Derivative Financial Instruments

We account for derivative financial instruments by recording the fair value as either an asset or liability in our Consolidated Balance Sheets and recognize the resulting gains or losses as
adjustments to accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). We do not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes. For derivative instruments
that hedge the exposure to variability in expected future cash flows that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges, the gain or loss on the derivative instrument is reported as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI) in equity and reclassified into eamings in the same period or periods during which the hedged transaction affects
eamings. To receive hedge accounting treatment, cash flow hedges must be highly effective in offsetting changes to expected future cash flows on hedged transactions.

In 2019, to hedge the business exposure to rising interest rates on a portion of our variable rate debt, we entered into a five-year, zero-cost interest rate collar, with an aggregate notional
amount of $300 million, effective June 1, 2019. This instrument hedges interest rate risk related to a portion of our $1.0 billion of non-trade fioor plan notes payable.
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The table below presents the liabilities related to the zero-cost interest rate collar:

Other Long-Term Other Non-Current

(Dollars in millions) Accrued Liabilities Liabilities Assets Total

Balance as of December 31, 2020 $ 26) $ ©0) $ — 3 (8.6)
Amounts reclassified fromAOC! to floorplan interest expense 0.7 — — 0.7
Loss recorded frominterest rate collar (0.6) 24 — 1.8
Balance as of March 31, 2021 (2.5) (3.6) — (6.1)
Anounts reclassified fromAOC to floorplan interest expense 0.7 — — 0.7
Loss recorded frominterest rate collar (0.7) 0.2 — (0.5)
Balance as of June 30, 2021 (2.5) (34) — (5.9)
Anounts reclassified fromAOC! to floorplan interest expense 0.7 — — 0.7
(Loss) gain recorded frominterest rate collar (0.7) 0.7 — —
Balance as of September 30, 2021 (2.5) (2.7) — (5.2)
Anounts reclassified fromAOC to floorplan interest expense 0.7 — — 0.7
(Loss) gain recorded frominterest rate collar (0.1) 20 — 19
Balance as of December 31, 2021 (1.9) (0.7) — (2.6)
Anounts reclassified fromAOC! to floorplan interest expense 0.7 — — 0.7
(Loss) gain recorded frominterest rate collar 12 0.7 27 46
Balance as of March 31, 2022 $ — 3 — 3 27 $ 27

As of March 31, 2022, the amount of net gain we expect to reclassify from AOCI into interest expense in eamings within the next twelve months is $0.1 million. However, the actual
amount reclassified could vary due to future changes in the fair value of these derivatives.

In 2020, we entered into two offsetting derivative arrangements that do not qualify for hedge accounting. These are both related to a securitization facility, effective October 2, 2020. We
purchased and sold offsetting interest rate caps, both of which have a five-year term with notional amounts of $100 million.

In 2021, we entered into two additional offsetting derivative arrangements that do not qualify for hedge accounting. These are both related to a securitization facility, effective June 15,
2021. We purchased and sold offsetting interest rate caps, both of which have a five-year term with notional amounts of $100 million.

As of March 31, 2022, the balance on all four agreements was an offsetting $6.4 million and was located in other current assets and accrued liabilities, respectively.

See Note 7 for information on the fair value of the derivative contracts.
Note 12. Acquisitions

In the first three months of 2022, we completed the following acquisitions:

* InJanuary 2022, John L. Sullivan Chewrolet, John L. Sullivan Chrysler Dodge Jeep Ram, and Roseuville Toyota in Califomia.
* In March 2022, Sahara Chrysler Dodge Jeep Ram, Desert 215 Superstore, and Jeep Only in Nevada.

Revenue and operating income contributed by the 2022 acquisitions subsequent to the date of acquisition were as follows (in millions):

Three Months Ended March 31, 2022
Revenue $ 90.7
Operating income 49

In the first three months of 2021, we completed the following acquisitions:

* In February 2021, Fields Chrysler Jeep Dodge Ram and Land Rover Orlando in Florida.
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* InMarch 2021, Fink Auto Group in Florida.
* InMarch 2021, Avondale Nissan in Arizona.

All acquisitions were accounted for as business combinations under the acquisition method of accounting. The results of operations of the acquired stores are included in our
Consolidated Financial Statements from the date of acquisition.

The following tables summarize the consideration paid for the 2022 acquisitions and the preliminary purchase price allocations for identified assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of
the acquisition date:

(in millions) Consideration
Cash paid, net of cash acquired $ 318.3
Assets Acquired and
(in millions) Liabilities Assumed
Inventories, net 93.6
Property and equiprent, net 1111
Other non-current assets 1733
Debt and finance lease obligations (59.0)
Other long-termliabilities (0.7)
$ 318.3

The purchase price allocations for the acquisitions from the second quarter of 2021 through the first quarter of 2022 are preliminary, and we havwe not obtained and evaluated all of the
detailed information necessary to finalize the opening balance sheet amounts in all respects. We recorded the purchase price allocations based upon information that is currently
available. Unallocated items are recorded as a component of other non-current assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

We expect substantially all of the goodwill related to acquisitions completed in 2022 to be deductible for federal income tax purposes.

In the three-month period ended March 31, 2022, we recorded $6.6 million in acquisition-related expenses as a component of selling, general and administrative expense. Comparatiwely,
we recorded $1.3 million of acquisition-related expenses in the same period of 2021.

The following unaudited pro forma summary presents consolidated information as if all acquisitions in the three-month periods ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, had occurred on January
1, 2021:

Three Months Ended March 31,

(in millions, except per share amounts) 2022 2021

Revenue $ 6,7244 $ 4,396.2
Net income attributable to Lithia Mbtors, Inc. 345.5 160.2
Basic earnings attributable to Lithia Mbtors, Inc. per share 11.70 6.02
Diluted earnings attributable to Lithia Mbtors, Inc. per share 11.66 5.96

These amounts have been calculated by applying our accounting policies and estimates. The results of the acquired stores have been adjusted to reflect the following: depreciation on a
straight-line basis over the expected lives for property and equipment, accounting for inventory on a specific identification method, and recognition of interest expense for real estate
financing related to stores where we purchased the facility. No nonrecurring proforma adjustments directly attributable to the acquisitions are included in the reported proforma revenues
and eamnings.

Note 13. Net Investment in Operating Leases

In the third quarter of 2021, we purchased a leasing entity and the sales-type financing and operating leases it manages.

Net investment in operating leases consists primarily of lease contracts for vehicles with individuals and business entities. Assets subject to operating leases are depreciated using the
straight-line method over the term of the lease
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to reduce the asset to its estimated residual value. Estimated residual values are based on assumptions for used vehicle prices at lease termination and the number of vehicles that are
expected to be retumed.

Net investment in operating leases was as follows:

(in millions) March 31, 2022 December 31, 2021
Vehicles, at cost' $ 758 $ 66.0
Accunulated depreciation (4.8) (0.9)
Net investrment in operating leases $ 710 $ 65.1

Vehicles, at cost and accumulated depreciation are recorded in other current assets, on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Forward-Looking Statements and Risk Factors

Certain statements under the sections entitled "Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and "Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Form
10-Q constitute forward-looking statements within the meaning of the "Safe Harbor” provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Generally, you can identify forward-
looking statements by terms such as "project,” "outlook,” "target,” "may,” "will,” "would,” "should,” "seek,” "expect,” "plan,” "intend,” "forecast,” "anticipate,” "believe,” "estimate,” "predict,”
"potential,” "likely,” "goal,” "strategy,” "future,” "maintain,” and "continue” or the negative of these terms or other comparable terms. Examples of forward-looking statements in this Form
10-Q include, among others, statements we make regarding:

Future market conditions, including anticipated car and other sales lewels and the supply of inventory

Our business strategy and plans, including our achieving our 2025 Plan (or "50/50” Plan)

The growth, expansion and success of our network, including our finding accretive acquisitions and acquiring additional stores

Annualized revenues from acquired stores

The growth and performance of our Driveway e-commerce home solution and Driveway Finance, their synergies and other impacts on our business and our ability to meet Driveway-
related targets

Our capital allocations and uses and lewels of capital expenditures in the future

Expected operating results, such as improved store performance, continued improvement of selling, general and administrative expenses ("SG&A”) as a percentage of gross profit
and any projections

Our anticipated financial condition and liquidity, including from our cash and the future availability of our credit facility, unfinanced real estate and other financing sources

Our continuing to purchase shares under our share repurchase program

Impacts from the continued COVID-19 pandemic on the national and local economies in which we operate, our business operations and consumer demand

Our compliance with financial and restrictive covenants in our credit facility and other debt agreements

Our programs and initiatives for employee recruitment, training, and retention

Our strategies for customer retention, growth, market position, financial results and risk management

The forward-looking statements contained in this Form 10-Q involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and situations that may cause our actual results to materially differ from the
results expressed or implied by these statements. Certain important factors that could cause actual results to differ from our expectations are discussed in the Risk Factors section of
our 2021 Annual Report on Form 10-K, as supplemented and amended from time to time in Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and our other filings with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC).

By their nature, forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties because they relate to events that depend on circumstances that may or may not occur in the future. You
should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. Any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on which it is made. We assume no obligation to update
or revise any forward-looking statement.

Overview

Lithia & Driveway (LAD) is a growth company focused on profitably consolidating the largest retail sector in North America. We are among the fastest growing companies in the Fortune
500 (#2 on 10-year EPS Growth, #3 on 10-Year TSR and #12 on 10-year Revenue growth in 2021). As of March 31, 2022, we operated 281 locations representing 40 brands in 25 states
and 3 Canadian provinces.

We offer a wide array of products and senices fulfilling the entire vehicle ownership lifecycle including new and used vehicles, financing, and insurance products and automotive repair and
maintenance. We strive for diversification in our products, senices, brands and geographic locations to reduce dependence on any one manufacturer, reduce susceptibility to changing
consumer preferences, manage market risk and maintain profitability. Our diversification, along with our operating structure, provides a resilient and nimble business model.
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Our omni-channel strategy is designed to pragmatically disrupt the industry by leveraging our experienced teams, vast owned inventories, technology, and physical network. We continue
to lead the industry’s consolidation and, combined with Driveway’s e-commerce in-home experiences and Driveway Finance Corporation’s growing auto loan portfolio, further accelerate
our massive profit and capital engine. Together, these endeavors create a unique and compelling high-growth strategy that provides transportation solutions wherever, whenever and
however consumers desire. Our long-term strategy to create value for our customers, employees and shareholders includes the following elements:

Driving operational excellence, innovation and diversification

LAD builds magnetic brand loyalty in our 281 locations within our Lithia channel and with Driveway, our e-commerce home delivery experience, and GreenCars, our electric wehicle
leaming resource and marketplace. Operational excellence is achieved by focusing the business on conwvenient and transparent consumer experiences supported by proprietary data
science to improve market share, consumer loyalty, and profitability. By promoting an entrepreneurial model with our in-store experiences, we build strong businesses responsive to each
of our local markets. Utilizing performance-based action plans, we develop high-performing teams and foster manufacturer relationships.

In response to evolving consumer preferences, we invest in modemization that supports and expands our core business. These digital strategies combine our experienced, knowledgeable
workforce with our owned inventory and physical network of stores, enabling us to be agile and adapt to consumer preferences and market specific conditions. Additionally, we
systematically explore transformative adjacencies, which are identified to be synergistic and complementary to our existing business such as Driveway Finance Corporation, our captive
auto loan portfolio.

Our investments in modemization are well under way and are taking hold with our teams as they provide digital shopping experiences including finance, contactless test drives and home
delivery or curbside pickup for vehicle purchases. Our people and these solutions power our national brands, overlaying our physical footprint in a way that we believe attracts a larger
population of digital consumers seeking transparent, empowered, flexible and simple buying and senicing experiences.

Our performance-based culture is geared toward an incentive-based compensation structure for a majority of our personnel. We dewelop pay plans that are measured based upon various
factors such as customer satisfaction, profitability and individual performance metrics. These plans sene to reward team members for creating customer loyalty, achieving store potential,
developing high-performing talent, meeting and exceeding manufacturer requirements and living our core values.

We hawe centralized many administrative functions to drive efficiencies and streamline store-level operations. The reduction of administrative functions at our stores allows our local
managers to focus on customer-facing opportunities to increase revenues and gross profit. Our operations are supported by regional and corporate management, as well as dedicated
training and personnel development programs which allow us to share best practices across our network and develop management talent.

Growth through network development

The foundation of our omni-channel plan is the growth and expansion of our physical network to provide consumers conwvenient access to all of our business lines in-store or through
Driveway. Acquiring new \ehicle franchises, which operate in markets ranging from mid-sized regional markets to metropolitan markets, provides us a cash generating and profitable
model to expand our network of locations. In addition to being financially accretive, these businesses improve our ability to serve customers through wider selection, greater density and
convenient access to vehicle repair senices, our highest margin offerings. Our physical footprint currently reaches 95% of American consumers within an average radius of 250 miles.

While we target an annual after tax retum of more than 15% for our acquisitions, we have averaged over a 25% retum by the third year of ownership due to a disciplined approach focusing
on accretive, cash flow positive targets at reasonable valuations. Culturally, we hawe a greater than 95% acquisition employee retention rate, demonstrating the valuable career
opportunities we provde to our employees. We regularly optimize and balance our network through strategic divestitures to ensure continued high performance. We believe our disciplined
approach provides us with attractive acquisition opportunities and expanded coast-to-coast coverage.
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Thoughtful capital allocation

Our capital deployment strategy targets deployment of 65% of free cash flows generated toward acquisitions, 25% toward capital expenditures, innovation and diversification and 10% in
shareholder retum in the form of dividends and share repurchases. As we identify acquisition opportunities that further enhance our business, we may consider other potential sources of
capital, including financing of real estate and proceeds from debt or equity offerings. This disciplined approach, combined with our ability to successfully integrate newly-acquired

locations, drives growth and profitability.

Key Revenue and Gross Profit Metrics
Key performance metrics for revenue and gross profit were as follows:

($ in millions)
Revenues

New vehicle retail

Used vehicle retail
Finance and insurance
Service, body and parts
Total Revenues

Gross profit

New vehicle retail

Used vehicle retail
Finance and insurance
Service, body and parts
Total Gross Profit

Gross profit margins
New vehicle retail

Used vehicle retail
Finance and insurance
Service, body and parts
Total Gross Profit Margin

Retail units sold
New vehicles
Used vehicles

Average selling price per retail unit
New vehicles
Used vehicles

Average gross profit per retail unit
New vehicles

Used vehicles

Finance and insurance

Total vehicle!

1Includes the sales and gross profit related to new, used retail, used wholesale and finance and insurance and unit sales for new and used retail.

Same Store Operating Data

Three Months Ended March 31,

2022 2021 Change
30618 $ 21932 396 %
22345 1,352.2 65.2
3132 1984 57.9
627.8 404.0 554
6,705.3 4,343.0 54.4
4013  $ 156.7 1561 %
2238 136.2 64.3
3132 1984 57.9
329.0 2182 50.8
1,278.1 7155 786

131 % 71% 600 bps
10.0 10.1 (10)
100.0 100.0 —
524 54.0 (160)
19.1 16.5 260
64,942 53,864 206 %
73,689 59,027 24.8
47146 $ 40,718 158 %
30,323 22,907 324
6179 § 2910 1123 %
3,037 2,307 31.6
2,260 1,757 286
6,825 4,392 554

We believe that same store comparisons are an important indicator of our financial performance. Same store measures demonstrate our ability to grow revenues in our existing locations.

As aresult, same store measures have been integrated into the discussion below.
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Same store measures reflect results for stores that were operating in each comparison period and only include the months when operations occurred in both periods. For example, a
store acquired in February 2021 would be included in same store operating data beginning in March 2022, after its first full complete comparable month of operation. The first quarter
operating results for the same store comparisons would include results for that store in only the month of March for both comparable periods.

($ in millions)
Revenues

New vehicle retail

Used vehicle retail
Finance and insurance
Service, body and parts
Total Revenues

Gross profit

New vehicle retail

Used vehicle retail
Finance and insurance
Service, body and parts
Total Gross Profit

Gross profit margins
New vehicle retail

Used vehicle retail
Finance and insurance
Service, body and parts
Total Gross Profit Margin

Retail units sold
New vehicles
Used vehicles

Average selling price per retail unit
New vehicles
Used vehicles

Average gross profit per retail unit
New vehicles

Used vehicles

Finance and insurance

Total vehicle!

1Includes the sales and gross profit related to new, used retail, used wholesale and finance and insurance and unit sales for new and used retail.

Three Months Ended March 31,

2022 2021 Change
2023 $ 2,076.6 (26) %
1,654.1 1,266.8 30.6
2184 187.3 16.6
4374 386.0 133
4,584.0 4,103.6 117
27125  $ 149.3 825 %

163.5 1275 28.2
2184 187.3 16.6
238.6 208.9 142
897.2 678.8 322
135% 72% 630 bps
9.9 10.1 (20)
100.0 100.0 —
54.6 54.1 50
19.6 16.5 310
42,232 51,145 174) %
54,813 55,304 (0.9)
47,885  $ 40,602 179 %
30,177 22,906 31.7
6453 $ 2919 1211 %
2,983 2,305 294
2,251 1,759 280
6,767 4,401 538

During the three months ended March 31, 2022, we had net income of $343.7 million, or $11.55 per share on a diluted basis, compared to net income of $156.2 million, or $5.81 per

share on a diluted basis, during the same period of 2021.
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New Vehicles

We believe that our new ehicle sales create incremental profit opportunities through certain manufacturer incentive programs, arranging of third-party financing, wehicle senice and
insurance contracts, future resale of used wehicles acquired through trade-in, and parts and senice work. Same store new \ehicle revenue decreased 2.6% for the three-month period
ended March 31, 2022 compared to the same period in 2021. This was due to a decrease in unit volume of 17.4%, offset by an increase in average selling prices of 17.9%, in the three-
month period ended March 31, 2022 compared to the same period of 2021. Our leaders in each market continue to adapt to changing conditions, respond to customer needs and manage
inventory availability and selection.

While consumer demand remains high in 2022, there continues to be a shortage of available new \ehicles for sale driven largely by certain component shortages in the manufacturers’
supply chains. This imbalance has resulted in higher than normal average selling prices and gross profits per unit. The reduced lewvels of new \ehicle availability are expected to continue
throughout 2022.

Same store new wehicle gross profit per unit increased 121.1%, increasing new wehicle gross profit margins 630 bps in the three-month period ended March 31, 2022 compared to the
same period of 2021.

Total same store new \ehicle gross profit per unit, which includes the finance and insurance revenue generated from the sales of new \ehicles, increased $4,012 to $8,817 for the three-
month period ended March 31, 2022 compared to the same period of 2021.

Used Vehicles

Used wehicle retail sales are a strategic focus for organic growth. We offer three categories of used vehicles: manufacturer certified pre-owned (CPO) wehicles; core wvehicles, or late-model
wehicles with lower mileage; and value autos, or vehicles with over 80,000 miles. We have established a company-wide target of achieving a per store average of 100 used retail units per
month. Strategies to achieve this target include reducing wholesale sales and selling the full spectrum of used units, from late model CPO models to ehicles up to twenty years old.
During the three months ended March 31, 2022, our stores sold an average of 91 used wehicles per store per month, compared to 83 used vehicles per store per month for the same
period ended March 31, 2021.

Used wehicle demand remains high, due in part to the lower lewvels of new \ehicle inventory available for sale. This demand is resulting in higher than normal average selling prices and
gross profits per unit for the three-month period ended March 31, 2022.

Used wehicle revenue for the three-month period ended March 31, 2022 increased 65.2% compared to the same period of 2021 due to a combination of strong same store performance
and acquisition activity. On a same store basis, used vehicle sales for the three-month period ended March 31, 2022 increased 30.6%, as compared to the same period of 2021, driven by
increases in our core vehicle category of 35.8%. Our core vehicle category had growth in unit sales of 2.4%, with improvements in average selling price per wvehicle of 32.7% for the three-
month period ended March 31, 2022. Our value auto vehicles also experienced strong demand with an increase in unit sales of 3.5% and an increase in average selling prices of 32.1%
for the three-month period ended March 31, 2022, compared to the same period of 2021. Our CPO \ehicle unit sales decreased 13.5% for the three-month period ended March 31, 2022,
as compared to the same period of 2021. We continue to focus on procuring vehicles across the full spectrum of the addressable used vehicle market to provide customers with a wide
selection meeting all lewvels of affordability, driving increased used vehicle unit volumes.

Our used wehicle operations provide an opportunity to generate sales to customers unable or unwilling to purchase a new ehicle, sell brands other than the store’s new ehicle
franchise(s) and increase sales from finance and insurance and parts and senice.

Total same store used ehicle gross profit per unit, which includes the finance and insurance revenue generated from the sales of retail used wehicles, increased 30.4%, or $1,200, to
$5,146 for the three-month period ended March 31, 2022 as compared to the same period of 2021.
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Finance and Insurance

We believe that arranging vehicle financing is an important part of our ability to sell vehicles, and we attempt to arange financing for every vehicle we sell. We also offer related products
such as extended warranties, insurance contracts and vehicle and theft protection which drive continued engagement with the consumer throughout the ownership lifecycle.

Total finance and insurance income increased 57.9% in the three-month period ended March 31, 2022 compared to the same period of 2021. Same store finance and insurance revenues
increased 16.6% for the three-month period ended March 31, 2022 compared to the same period of 2021, driven by increases in senice contract revenue of 16.6%. On a same store
basis, our finance and insurance revenue per retail unit increased $492 to $2,251 in the three-month period ended March 31, 2022 compared to the same period of 2021.

Service, body and parts

We provide automotive repair and maintenance senices for customers for the new ehicle brands sold by our stores, as well as senice and repairs for most other makes and models.
These after sales senices are an integral part of our customer retention and the largest contributor to our overall profitability. Eamings from after sales continue to prove to be more
resilient during economic downtums, when owners tend to repair their existing vehicles rather than buy new wehicles.

Our senvce, body, and parts revenue increased 55.4% in the three-month period ended March 31, 2022 compared to the same period of 2021, driven by acquisitions, as well as increases
in customer pay revenues. We believe the increased number of units in operation will continue to benefit our senice, body and parts revenue in the coming years as more late-model
wehicles age, necessitating repairs and maintenance.

We focus on retaining customers by offering competitively-priced routine maintenance and through our marketing efforts. In the three-month period ended March 31, 2022, the largest
contribution to our senice, body and parts revenue was same store customer pay revenue of $254.9 million.

Same store senice, body and parts gross profit increased 14.2% in the three-month period ended March 31, 2022 compared to the same period of 2021. The increase was primarily due
to increased wolumes of customer pay transactions. Owerall same store senice, body, and parts gross margins increased 50 bps in the three-month period ended March 31, 2022
compared to the same period of 2021, primarily as a result of our mix continuing to shift towards customer pay, which has higher margins than other senice work. Same store customer
pay gross margin increased 210 bps in the three-month period ended March 31, 2022 compared to the same period of 2021.

Segments

Certain financial information by segment is as follows:

Three Months Ended

March 31,
(in millions) 2022 2021 Increase %Increase
Revenues:
Domrestic $ 21411 $ 13100 $ 831.1 634 %
Inrport 2,739.6 1,864.8 874.8 46.9
Luxury 1,803.0 1,171.5 631.5 539
6,683.7 4,346.3 23374 53.8
Corporate and other 21.6 (3.3 24.9 NV
$ 6,703 $ 43430 $ 2,362.3 544 %

NM - not meaningful
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Three Months Ended

March 31,
(in millions) 2022 2021 Increase %Increase
Segment income!:
Domestic $ 1305 $ 739 § 56.6 76.6 %
Inport 2458 101.5 144.3 1422
Luxury 130.3 44.1 86.2 195.5
506.6 2195 2871 130.8
Corporate and other 405 38.8 17 44
$ 5471 $ 2583 $ 288.8 111.8

1Segment income for each of the segments is a Non-GAAP measure defined as Income from operations before income taxes, depreciation and amortization, other interest expense and
other income, net. See Note 9 of the Condensed Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2022 2021 Increase %Increase
Retail new vehicle unit sales:

Domestic 18,012 13,065 4,947 379 %
Inport 35,053 30,454 4,599 15.1
Luxury 12,297 10,495 1,802 17.2

65,362 54,014 11,348 21.0
Allocated to management (420) (150) 270 NV

64,942 53,864 11,078 206 %

NM — Not meaningful

Domestic
A summary of financial information for our Domestic segment follows:

Three Months Ended

March 31,
($ in millions) 2022 2021 Increase %Increase
Revenue:
New vehicle retail $ 9356 $ 6146 $ 321.0 522 %
Used vehicle retail 746.4 462.2 284.2 61.5
Used vehicle wholesale 1281 36.2 91.9 2539
Finance and insurance 89.4 58.6 30.8 52.6
Service, body and parts 187.6 120.8 66.8 55.3
Feet and other 54.0 176 36.4 NV
$ 21411 $ 1,3100 $ 831.1 63.4
Segrment income $ 1305 $ 739 $ 56.6 76.6
Retail new vehicle unit sales 18,012 13,065 4,947 379 %

NM - not meaningful

Our Domestic segment revenue increased 63.4% in the three-month period ended March 31, 2022 compared to the same period of 2021, driven by increases across all business lines.
The acquisition of 18 stores in 2021 and five stores in 2022 was the primary contributor to these increases.

Our Domestic segment income increased 76.6% in the three-month period ended March 31, 2022 compared to the same period of 2021, primarily due to gross profit growth of 62.0%.
Total Domestic SG&A as a percentage of gross profit decreased from 63.4% to 60.9% for the three-month period ended March 31, 2022, compared to the same period of 2021. The
decrease for the three-month period ended March 31, 2022 was primarily driven by increased gross profit without proportional increases in all SG&A costs. Floor plan interest expense for
Domestic stores increased 32.9% for the three-month period ended March 31, 2022 compared to the same period of 2021.
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Import
A summary of financial information for our Import segment follows:

Three Months Ended
March 31,

($ in millions) 2022 2021 Decrease %Increase
Revenue:

New vehicle retail $ 1,2884 $ 9%68.1 $ 320.3 331 %

Used vehicle retail 895.9 562.1 333.8 59.4

Used vehicle wholesale 131.8 58.3 735 126.1

Finance and insurance 1704 105.5 64.9 61.5

Service, body and parts 2431 156.7 86.4 55.1

Feet and other 10.0 14.1 (4.1) NV

$ 27396 $ 18648 $ 874.8 46.9

Segnent income $ 2458 $ 1015 $ 1443 1422
Retail new vehicle unit sales 35,053 30,454 4,599 151 %

NM - not meaningful

Our Import segment revenue increased 46.9% in the three-month period ended March 31, 2022 compared to the same period of 2021, driven by increases in all major business lines. The
acquisition of 34 stores in 2021 and one store in 2022 was the primary contributor to these increases.

Our Import segment income increased 142.2% in the three-month period ended March 31, 2022 compared to the same period of 2021, due to gross profit growth of 83.7%. Total Import
SG&A as a percentage of gross profit decreased from 66.2% to 57.7% for the three-month period ended March 31, 2022 compared to the same period of 2021. The decrease for the
three-month period ended March 31, 2022 was primarily driven by increased gross profit without proportional increases in all SG&A costs. In addition, floor plan interest expense for
Import stores decreased in the three-month period ended March 31, 2022 compared to the same period of 2021.

Luxury
A summary of financial information for our Luxury segment follows:

Three Months Ended

March 31,
($ in millions) 2022 2021 Increase (Decrease) %Increase
Revenue:
New vehicle retail $ 8365 $ 6141 $ 2224 362 %
Used vehicle retail 596.6 331.2 2654 80.1
Used vehicle wholesale 107.1 39.8 67.3 169.1
Finance and insurance 62.4 36.9 255 69.1
Service, body and parts 183.1 121.7 61.4 50.5
Feet and other 17.3 27.8 (10.5) NV
$ 1,8030 $ 11715 $ 631.5 539
Segment income $ 1304 $ 41 $ 86.3 195.7
Retail new vehicle unit sales 12,297 10,495 1,802 172 %

NM - not meaningful

Our Luxury segment revenue increased 53.9% in the three-month period ended March 31, 2022 compared to the same period of 2021, driven by increases in all major business lines. The
acquisition of 26 stores in 2021 was the primary contributor to these increases.

Our Luxury segment income increased 195.7% for the three-month period ended March 31, 2022 compared to the same period of 2021, due to gross profit growth of 93.0%. Total Luxury
SG&A as a percentage of gross profit decreased from 70.7% to 58.6% for the three-month period ended March 31, 2022 compared to the same period of 2021. The decrease for the
three-month period ended March 31, 2022 was primarily driven by increased gross profit without proportional increases in all SG&A costs. Floor plan interest expense for Luxury stores
decreased 0.2% for the three-month period ended March 31, 2022 compared to the same period of 2021.
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Corporate and Other
Revenues attributable to Corporate and other include the results of operations of our stand-alone body shops and centralized used wehicle team, offset by certain unallocated resenes and
elimination adjustments related to wehicle sales.

Three Months Ended

March 31,
(in millions) 2022 2021 Increase %Increase
Revenue, net $ 216 $ 33) $ 249 NV
Segrrent income $ 405 § 388 $ 17 44 %

NM - not meaningful

The change in Corporate and other revenue in the three-month period ended March 31, 2022 compared to the same period of 2021 was primarily related to increased used \ehicle
wholesales associated with our centralized used vehicle team and changes to certain resenes that were not specifically identified with our Domestic, Import or Luxury segment revenue,
such as our resene for revenue reversals associated with unwound ehicle sales.

Income attributable to Corporate and other includes amounts associated with the operating income from our stand-alone body shops, centralized used wvehicle team and certain internal
corporate expense allocations that reduce reportable segment income but increase Corporate and other income. These intemal corporate expense allocations are used to increase
comparability of our dealerships and reflect the capital burden a stand-alone dealership would experience. Examples of these intemal allocations include intemal rent expense, internal
floor plan financing charges, and interal fees charged to offset employees within our corporate headquarters who perform certain dealership functions. Income attributable to Corporate
and other also includes gains on the divestiture of stores.

Corporate and other income increased $1.7 million for the three-month period ended March 31, 2022, compared to the same period of 2021, primarily due to a decrease in intemal floor
plan financing charges received from dealerships and an increase in intemal finance resene paid to dealerships.

Selling, General and Administrative Expense (SG&A)
SG&A includes salaries and related personnel expenses, advertising (net of manufacturer cooperative advertising credits), rent, facility costs, and other general corporate expenses.

Three Months Ended

March 31,

(in millions) 2022 2021 Increase (Decrease) %Increase
Personnel $ 5177 $ 3140 $ 203.7 649 %
Advertising 584 295 289 9.0
Rent 17.8 1.3 6.5 575
Facility costs' 358 242 11.6 479
(Gain) loss on sale of assets (9.0) 1.0 (10.0) NV
Cther 1054 704 35.0 49.7

Total SG8A $ 7261 $ 4504 $ 275.7 612 %

1 Includes variable lease costs related to the reimbursement of actual costs incurred by our lessors for common area maintenance, property taxes and insurance on leased property.
NM - not meaningful
Three Months Ended

March 31,

As a %of gross profit 2022 2021 Increase (Decrease)
Fersonnel 40.5% 43.9% (340) bps
Advertising 46 41 50
Rent 14 1.6 (20)
Facility costs 28 34 (60)
(Gain) loss on sale of assets (0.7) 0.1 (80)
Cther 8.2 9.8 (160)

Total SG8A 56.8 % 62.9 % (610) bps

SG&A as a percentage of gross profit was 56.8% for the three-month period ended March 31, 2022 compared to 62.9% for the same period of 2021. SG&A expense increased 61.2% in
the three-month period ended March 31,
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2022 compared to the same period of 2021. Owerall, SG&A expense increased in all areas, primarily as a result of our network expansion in 2021. Howe\er, as a percentage of gross
profit we experienced improvements in all areas of SG&A due in part to increased gross profits as well as continuing to focus on our cost structure.

On a same store basis and excluding non-core charges, SG&A as a percentage of gross profit was 57.5% for the three-month period ended March 31, 2022 compared to 62.5% for the
same period of 2021. The decrease for the three-month period ended March 31, 2022 was primarily related to increased gross profit without proportionate increases in SG&A costs.

SG&A expense adjusted for non-core charges was as follows:
Three Months Ended

March 31,

(in millions) 2022 2021 Increase %Increase
Personnel $ 5177  $ 3140 $ 203.7 64.9 %
Advertising 584 295 289 98B0 %
Rent 178 11.3 6.5 575 %
Facility costs' 358 242 11.6 479 %
Adjusted loss on sale of assets 1.0 0.3 0.7 NM
Adjusted other 98.8 68.3 30.5 47 %

Adjusted total SG8&A $ 7295 $ 4476 $ 281.9 63.0 %

1 Includes variable lease costs related to the reimbursement of actual costs incurred by our lessors for common area maintenance, property taxes and insurance on leased property.
NM - not meaningful

Three Months Ended

March 31,

As a%of gross profit 2022 2021 Increase (Decrease)
Personnel 40.5% 439 % (340) bps
Advertising 46 41 50
Rent 14 1.6 (20)
Facility costs 28 34 (60)
Adjusted loss on sale of assets 0.1 — 10
Adjusted other 77 9.6 (190)

Adjusted total SG8A 571% 626 % (550) bps

Adjusted SG&A for the three-months ended March 31, 2022 excludes $6.6 million in acquisition-related expenses and a $10.0 million net gain on store disposals.

Adjusted SG&A for the three-months ended March 31, 2021 excludes $0.8 million in storm insurance resene charges, $1.3 million in acquisition-related expenses, and a $0.7 million net
loss on store disposals.

See "Non-GAAP Reconciliations” for more details.

Depreciation and Amortization
Depreciation and amortization is comprised of depreciation expense related to buildings, significant remodels or improvements, fumiture, tools, equipment, signage, and amortization of
certain intangible assets, including customer lists.
Three Months Ended
March 31,
(in millions) 2022 2021 Increase %Increase
Depreciation and amortization $ 392 § 268 $ 124 46.3 %

Acquisition activity contributed to the increase in depreciation and amortization in 2022 compared to 2021. We acquired approximately $525 million of depreciable property as part of our
acquisition activity over the last twelve months ended March 31, 2022. For the three-months ended March 31, 2022, we invested $60.7 million in capital expenditures. These investments
increased the amount of depreciation expense in the three-month period ended March 31, 2022. See the discussion under "Liquidity and Capital Resources” for additional information.
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Operating Margin
Operating income as a percentage of revenue, or operating margin, was as follows:

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2022 2021
Operating margin 76 % 55%
Operating margin adjusted for non-core charges * 76 % 5.6 %

1 See "Non-GAAP Reconciliations” for more details.

Operating margins increased 210 bps in the three-month period ended March 31, 2022 compared to the same period in 2021. The increase in operating margins for the three-month period
ended March 31, 2022 was primarily due to increased gross profit of 78.6% with an offsetting increase to SG&A of 61.2%, respectively, compared to the same period in 2021.

Floor Plan Interest Expense and Floor Plan Assistance

Three Months Ended
March 31,
(in millions) 2022 2021 % Change
Foor plan interest expense (new vehicles) $ 49 $ 6.8 (27.9%

Floor plan interest expense decreased $1.9 million in the three-month period ended March 31, 2022 compared to the same period of 2021. This decrease is primarily due to increased
inventory lewels, partially offset by increases from acquisition volume and interest rate fluctuations.

Floor plan assistance is provided by manufacturers to support store financing of new vehicle inventory and is recorded as a component of new \ehicle gross profit when the specific vehicle
is sold. Howewer, because manufacturers provide this assistance to offset inventory carrying costs, we believe a comparison of floor plan interest expense to floor plan assistance is a
useful measure of the efficiency of our new vehicle sales relative to stocking lewels.

The following table details the carrying costs for new vehicles and includes new wehicle floor plan interest net of floor plan assistance eamed.

Three Months Ended
March 31, %
(in millions) 2022 2021 Change Change
Foor plan interest expense (new vehicles) $ 49 § 68 $ (1.9) (27.9)%
Floor plan assistance (included as an offset to cost of sales) (31.2) (24.8) (6.4) 258
Net new vehicle carrying costs $ (26.3) $ (180) $ (8.3) NVI

NM - Not meaningful

Other Interest Expense
Other interest expense includes interest on senior notes, debt incurred related to acquisitions, real estate mortgages, our used and senice loaner wehicle inventory financing
commitments, and our revolving lines of credit.

Three Months Ended

March 31,
(in millions) 2022 2021 Increase (Decrease) %lncrease (Decrease)
Mortgage interest $ 55 $ 68 $ (1.3 (19.1) %
Cther interest 251 171 8.0 46.8
Capitalized interest (0.5) (0.4) 0.1 NV
Total other interest expense $ 301 $ 235 ¢ 6.6 281 %

NM - not meaningful

Other interest expense for the three-month period ended March 31, 2022 increased $6.6 million primarily related to the additional interest expense associated with the senior notes
issued in May 2021.
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Other Income (Expense), net
Three Months Ended
March 31,
(Dollars in millions) 2022 2021 Decrease %Decrease
Other Income (Bxpense), net $ 80) $ 34 $ (11.4) (335.3) %

Other income (expense), net in the three-month period ended March 31, 2022, was primarily related to a $14.9 million unrealized investment loss associated with the change in fair value
of our investment in Shift Technologies, Inc.

Income Tax Provision
Qur effective income tax rate was as follows:

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2022 2021
Hfective income tax rate 26.8 % 26.1%
Efective income tax rate excluding other non-core itens 26.1% 26.1%

Our effective income tax rate for the three-month period ended March 31, 2022 compared to last year was negatively affected by a valuation allowance established for certain deferred tax
assets not expected to be realized. The increase in tax rate was offset by stock awards vesting in the current period. Excluding the valuation allowance and other non-core charges, we
estimate our annual effective income tax rate to be 27.0%.

Non-GAAP Reconciliations

Non-GAAP measures do not have definitions under GAAP and may be defined differently by and not comparable to similarly titled measures used by other companies. As a result, we
review any non-GAAP financial measures in connection with a review of the most directly comparable measures calculated in accordance with GAAP. We caution you not to place undue
reliance on such non-GAAP measures, but also to consider them with the most directly comparable GAAP measures. We believe each of the non-GAAP financial measures below
improves the transparency of our disclosures, provides a meaningful presentation of our results from the core business operations because they exclude items not related to our ongoing
core business operations and other non-cash items, and improves the period-to-period comparability of our results from the core business operations. We use these measures in
conjunction with GAAP financial measures to assess our business, including our compliance with covenants in our credit facility and in communications with our Board of Directors
conceming financial performance. These measures should not be considered an altemative to GAAP measures.

The following tables reconcile certain reported non-GAAP measures, which we refer to as "adjusted,” to the most comparable GAAP measure from our Consolidated Statements of
Operations.
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(in millions, except per share amounts)
Selling, general and adnrnistrative

Operating income (loss)

Other (expense) income, net

Incomre (loss) before income taxes

Income tax provision (benefit)

Net income (loss)

Net incone attributable to non-controlling interest

Net income attributable to redeermable non-controlling interest
Net income (loss) attributable to Lithia Motors, Inc.

Diuted earnings (loss) per share attributable to Lithia Motors, Inc.

Diluted share count

(in millions, except per share amounts)
Selling, general and administrative

Operating income (loss)

Other (expense) incone, net

Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax provision (benefit)
Net income (loss) attributable to Lithia Motors, Inc.

Diluted earnings (loss) per share attributable to Lithia Motors, Inc.

Diluted share count

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Three Months Ended March 31, 2022

Net disposal gain Acquisition
As reported on sale of stores Investment loss expenses Adjusted
$ 7261 $ 100 $ = (6.6) 7295
5128 (10.0) — 6.6 509.4
(8.0) — 14.9 — 6.9
$ 4698 $ (1000 $ 14.9 6.6 481.3
(126.2) 26 — (1.9) (125.5)
343.6 (7.4) 14.9 47 355.8
(0.5) — — — (0.5)
(0.9) — — — (0.9)
$ 3422 $ (74) $ 14.9 4.7 354.4
$ 1155 § (025) $ 0.50 0.16 11.96
296
Three Months Ended March 31, 2021
Net disposal loss Insurance Acquisition
As reported on sale of stores  Investment loss reserves expenses Adjusted
4504 $ 07) $ — 3 (0.8) (1.3) 447.6
238.3 0.7 — 0.8 13 2411
34 — 0.3 — — 37
2114 $ 0.7 03 §$ 0.8 13 2145
(55.2) (0.2) (0.1) (0.2) (0.4) (56.1)
1562 $ 05 § 02 §$ 0.6 0.9 1584
581 $ 002 $ 001 $ 0.02 0.03 5.89
269

We manage our liquidity and capital resources in the context of our owverall business strategy, continually forecasting and managing our cash, working capital balances and capital
structure in a way that we believe will meet the short-term and long-term obligations of our business while maintaining liquidity and financial fiexibility. Our capital deployment strategy for
our free cash flows targets an allocation of 65% investment in acquisitions, 25% intemal investments including capital expenditures, Driveway and Driveway Finance and 10% in

shareholder retum in the form of dividends and share repurchases.

Cash flows from operations and borrowings under our credit facilities are our main sources for liquidity. In addition to the above sources of liquidity, potential sources to fund our business
strategy include issuing equity through our $400 million ATM Equity Offering Agreement, financing of real estate and proceeds from debt or equity offerings. We evaluate all of these
options and may select one or more of them depending on overall capital needs and the availability and cost of capital, although no assurances can be provided that these capital sources

will be available in sufficient amounts or with terms acceptable to us.
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Available Sources
Below is a summary of our immediately available funds:

(in millions) March 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 Change % Change

Cash, restricted cash, and cash equivalents $ 1614 $ 1748 $ (13.4) (7.7) %
Auvailable credit on credit facilities 1,455.9 1,344.8 111 8.3
Total current available funds $ 16173 $ 15196 $ 97.7 64 %

Information about our cash flows, by category, is presented in our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. The following table summarizes our cash flows:

Three Months Ended March 31, Increase (Decrease)
(in millions) 2022 2021 in Cash Flow
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 263 $ 4995 §$ (4732)
Net cash used in investing activities (357.3) (442.8) 85.5
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 316.0 (43.5) 3595

Operating Activities
Cash provided by operating activities for the three-month period ended March 31, 2022 decreased $473.2 million compared to the same period of 2021, primarily related to an increase in
inventories and other assets, partially offset by increased net income and collection on trade receivables compared to the same period of 2021.

Borrowings from and repayments to our syndicated credit facility related to our new ehicle inventory floor plan financing are presented as financing activities. To better understand the

impact of changes in inventory and the associated financing, we also consider our adjusted net cash provided by operating activities to include borrowings or repayments associated with
our new \ehicle floor plan commitment.

Adjusted net cash provided by operating activities is presented below:

Three Months Ended March 31, Increase (Decrease)
(in millions) 2022 2021 in Cash Flow
Net cash provided by operating activities — as reported $ 26.3 $ 4995 $ (473.2)
Less: Net repayments on floor plan notes payable, non-trade 1771 (74.8) 251.9
Less: Borrowings on floor plan notes payable, non-trade associated with acquired new vehicle inventory (47.6) (69.3) 21.7
Net cash provided by operating activities — adjusted $ 1558  § 3554 $ (199.6)

Investing Activities
Net cash used in investing activities totaled $357.3 million and $442.8 million, respectiwely, for the three-month period ended March 31, 2022 and 2021.

Below are highlights of significant activity related to our cash flows from investing activities:

Three Months Ended March 31, Increase (Decrease)
(in millions) 2022 2021 in Cash Flow
Capital expenditures $ (60.7) $ (50,00 $ (10.7)
Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acquired (326.5) (383.5) 57.0
Cash paid for other investments (9.8) (9.6) (0.2)
Proceeds fromsales of stores 329 0.3 326
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Capital Expenditures
Below is a summary of our capital expenditure activities:

Three Months Ended March 31,

(in millions) 2022 2021

Post-acquisition capital improvements $ 10.9 $ 22
Facilities for open points — 0.1
Rurchase of facilities for existing operations 05 10.3
Existing facility inproverrents 19.7 20.3
Maintenance 29.6 171
Total capital expenditures $ 60.7 $ 50.0

Many manufacturers provide assistance in the form of additional incentives or assistance if facilities meet specified standards and requirements. We expect that certain facility upgrades
and remodels will generate additional manufacturer incentive payments. Also, tax laws allowing accelerated deductions for capital expenditures reduce the owerall investment needed and
encourage accelerated project timeliness.

We expect to use a portion of our future capital expenditures to upgrade facilities that we recently acquired. This additional capital investment is contemplated in our initial evaluation of
the investment retum metrics applied to each acquisition and is usually associated with manufacturer standards and requirements.

The increase in capital expenditures for the three-month period ended March 31, 2022, compared to the same period of 2021 related primarily to higher existing facility capital
improvements.

If we undertake a significant capital commitment in the future, we expect to pay for the commitment out of existing cash balances, construction financing and borrowings on our credit
facility. Upon completion of the projects, we believe we would have the ability to secure long-term financing and general borrowings from third party lenders for 70% to 90% of the amounts
expended, although no assurances can be provided that these financings will be available to us in sufficient amounts or on terms acceptable to us.

Acquisitions
We focus on acquiring stores at attractive purchase prices that meet our retum thresholds and strategic objectives. We look for acquisitions that diversify our brand and geographic mix
as we continue to evaluate our portfolio to minimize exposure to any one manufacturer and achieve financial retums.

We are able to subsequently floor new \ehicle inventory acquired as part of an acquisition; howe\er, the cash generated by this transaction is recorded as borrowings on floor plan notes
payable, non-trade.

Adjusted net cash paid for acquisitions, as well as certain other acquisition-related information is presented below:
Three Months Ended March 31,

2022 2021
Nurrber of locations acquired 6 8
(in millions)
Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acquired $ (3265) $ (383.5)
Less: Borrowings on floor plan notes payable: non-trade associated with acquired new vehicle inventory 47.6 69.3
Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acquired — adjusted $ (278.9) $ (314.2)

We evaluate potential capital investments primarily based on targeted rates of retumn on assets and retum on our net equity investment.
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Financing Activities
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities, adjusted for borrowing on floor plan facilities: non-trade was as follows:

Three Months Ended March 31, Increase (Decrease)
(in millions) 2022 2021 in Cash Flow
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities, as reported $ 3160 $ 435) $ 359.5
Adjust: Repaynents on floor plan notes payable: non-trade 177.1) 74.8 (251.9)
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities — adjusted $ 1389 $ 313 $ 107.6

Below are highlights of significant activity related to our cash flows from financing activities, excluding net repayments on floor plan notes payable: non-trade, which are discussed above:

Three Months Ended March 31, Increase (Decrease)

(in millions) 2022 2021 in Cash Flow

Net borrowings on lines of credit $ 2652 $ 610 $ 204.2
Rrincipal payments on long-termdebt and capital leases, unscheduled (12.5) — (12.5)
Proceeds fromissuance of long-termdebt 16.2 — 16.2
Repurchases of conmon stock (60.9) (15.9) (45.0)
Dividends paid (10.3) (82 (2.1)
Proceeds fromissuance of conmon stock 78 42 36

Equity Transactions

In November 2021, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to $750 million of our Common Stock, increasing our total repurchase authorization to $1.25 billion combined
with the amount previously authorized by the Board for repurchase. We repurchased a total of 275,024 shares of our Common Stock at an average price of $291.17 in the first three
months of 2022. This included 218,245 shares as part of our repurchase authorization at an average price per share of $289.66 and 56,779 shares related to tax withholding on vesting
RSUs at an average price of $296.97 per share. As of March 31, 2022, we had $659.5 million remaining available for repurchases and the authorization does not have an expiration date.

In the first three months of 2022, we declared and paid dividends on our Common Stock as follows:
Dividend amount Total amount of dividend
Dividend paid:

per share (in millions)
March 2022 $ 035 $ 103

We evaluate performance and make a recommendation to the Board of Directors on dividend payments on a quarterly basis.
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Summary of Outstanding Balances on Credit Facilities and Long-Term Debt
Below is a summary of our outstanding balances on credit facilities and long-term debt:
As of March 31, 2022

(in millions) Qutstanding Remaining Available
Foor plan note payable: non-trade $ 1,0028 $ — 1
Floor plan notes payable 388.2 —
Used and service loaner vehicle inventory financing commitments 730.0 552 2
Revolving lines of credit 2571 1,400.7 2,3
Real estate nortgages 573.8 —
Finance lease obligations 1121 —
Non-recourse notes payable 278.3 —
4.625% Senior notes due 2027 400.0 —
4.375% Senior notes due 2031 550.0 —
3.875% Senior notes due 2029 800.0 —
Other debt 17 —
Unanrortized debt issuance costs (25.1) — 4
Total debt $ 50689 $ 1,455.9

1 As of March 31, 2022, we had a $2.2 billion new wvehicle floor plan commitment as part of our credit facility.

2 The amount available on the credit facility is limited based on a borrowing base calculation and fluctuates monthly.

3 Available credit is based on the borrowing base amount effective as of February 28, 2022. This amount is reduced by $40.4 million for outstanding letters of credit.
4 Debt issuance costs are presented on the balance sheet as a reduction from the carrying amount of the related debt liability.

Credit Facility
On April 29, 2021, we amended our existing syndicated credit facility (credit facility), comprised of 20 financial institutions, including eight manufacturer-affiliated finance companies,
extending the maturity date to April 2026.

This credit facility provides for a total financing commitment of $3.75 billion, which may be further expanded, subject to lender approval and the satisfaction of other conditions, up to a
total of $4.25 billion. The initial allocation of the financing commitment is for up to $336 million in used vehicle inventory floorplan financing, up to $434 million in revolving financing for
general corporate purposes, including acquisitions and working capital, up to $2.88 billion in new ehicle inventory floorplan financing, and up to $100 million in senice loaner vehicle
floorplan financing. We have the option to reallocate the commitments under this credit facility, provided that each of the used vehicle floor plan commitment and the aggregate revolving
loan commitment may not be more than the 20% of the amount of the aggregate commitment, and the aggregate senice loaner vehicle floorplan commitment may not be more than the
3% of the amount of the aggregate commitment. All borrowings from, and repayments to, our lending group are presented in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows as financing
activities.

Our obligations under our credit facility are secured by a substantial amount of our assets, including our inventory (including new and used \ehicles, parts and accessories), equipment,
accounts receivable (and other rights to payment) and our equity interests in certain of our subsidiaries. Under our credit facility, our obligations relating to new wehicle floor plan loans are
secured only by collateral owned by borrowers of new vehicle floor plan loans under the credit facility.

The interest rate on the credit facility varies based on the type of debt, with the rate of one-month LIBOR plus 1.10% for new vehicle floor plan financing, one-month LIBOR plus 1.40% for
used vehicle floor plan financing, 1.20% for senice loaner floor plan financing and a variable interest rate on the revolving financing ranging from the one-month LIBOR plus 1.00% to 2.00%
depending on our leverage ratio. The annual interest rates associated with our floor plan commitments are as follows:

Commitment Annual Interest Rate at March 31, 2022
New vehicle floor plan 1.56%
Used vehicle floor plan 1.86%
Service loaner floor plan 1.66%
Revolving line of credit 1.46%
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Under the terms of our credit facility we are subject to financial covenants and restrictive covenants that limit or restrict our incurring additional indebtedness, making investments, selling
or acquiring assets and granting security interests in our assets.

Under our credit facility, we are required to maintain the ratios detailed in the following table:

Debt Covenant Ratio Requirement As of March 31, 2022
Current ratio Not less than 1.10to 1 1.60to1
Fixed charge coverage ratio Not less than 1.20 to 1 519to 1
Leverage ratio Not nore than 5.75 to 1 1.16t01

As of March 31, 2022, we were in compliance with all covenants. We expect to remain in compliance with the financial and restrictive covenants in our credit facility and other debt
agreements. However, no assurances can be provided that we will continue to remain in compliance with the financial and restrictive covenants.

If we do not meet the financial and restrictive covenants and are unable to remediate or cure the condition or obtain a waiver from our lenders, a breach would give rise to remedies under
the agreement, the most severe of which are the termination of the agreement, acceleration of the amounts owed and the seizure and sale of our assets comprising the collateral for the
loans. A breach would also trigger cross-defaults under other debt agreements.

Although we refer to the lenders’ obligations to make loans as "commitments,” each lender’s obligations to make any loan or other credit accommodations under the credit facility is
subject to the satisfaction of the conditions precedent specified in the credit agreement including, for example, that our representations and warranties in the agreement are true and
correct in all material respects as of the date of each credit extension. If we are unable to satisfy the applicable conditions precedent, we may not be able to request new loans or other
credit accommodations under our credit facility.

Floor Plan Notes Payable

We hawe floor plan agreements with manufacturer-affiliated finance companies for certain new vehicles and vehicles that are designated for use as senice loaners. The interest rates on
these floor plan notes payable commitments vary by manufacturer and are variable rates. As of March 31, 2022, $388.2 miillion was outstanding on these agreements. Borrowings from,
and repayments to, manufacturer-affiliated finance companies are classified as operating activities in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Other Credit Facilities and Lines of Credit
Qur other lines of credit include a commitment of up to $60.0 million with Ford Motor Credit Company, secured by certain assets from all Ford locations. These other lines of credit
mature in 2022 and hawe interest rates up to 6.01%. As of March 31, 2022, no amounts were outstanding on these other lines of credit.

On July 14, 2020, we entered into a five-year real-estate backed facility with eight financial institutions, including two manufacturer affiliated finance companies, maturing in July 2025. The
real-estate backed credit facility provides a total financing commitment of up to $235.6 million in working capital financing for general corporate purposes, including acquisitions and
working capital, collateralized by real estate and certain other assets owned by us. The interest rate on this credit facility uses one-month LIBOR plus a margin ranging from 2.00% to
2.50% based on our leverage ratio, or a base rate of 0.75% plus a margin. The facility includes financial and restrictive covenants typical of such agreements, lending conditions, and
representations and warranties by us. Financial covenants include requirements to maintain minimum current and fixed charge coverage ratios, and a maximum leverage ratio, consistent
with those under existing syndicated credit facility with U.S. Bank National Association as administrative agent. As of March 31, 2022, no amounts were outstanding on the real-estate
backed facility.

On July 31, 2020, we entered into a securitization facility which provides initial commitments for borrowings of up to $300 million and matures in July 2022. As of March 31, 2022, we had
$125.0 million drawn on the securitization facility, which is included as part of "Revolving lines of credit” in the "Summary of Outstanding Balances on Credit Facilities and Long-Term
Debt” table above.

On April 12, 2021, we entered into a credit agreement with Ally Bank (Ally Capital in Hawaii, Mississippi, Montana and New Jersey), as lender. The credit agreement matures in April
2023 and provides for a revolving line of credit facility (Ally credit facility) of up to $300.0 million and is secured by real estate owned by us. The Ally credit facility
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bears interest at a rate per annum equal to the greater of 3.00% or the prime rate designated by Ally Bank, minus 25 basis points. The Ally credit facility includes financial and restrictive
cowenants typical of such agreements, lending conditions, and representations and warranties. Financial covenants, including the requirements to maintain minimum current and fixed
charge cowerage ratios, and a maximum leverage ratio, are the same as the requirements under our existing syndicated credit facility with U.S. Bank National Association. The covenants
restrict us from disposing of assets and granting additional security interests. As of March 31, 2022, no amounts were outstanding on the Ally credit facility.

On August 30, 2021, we entered into a credit agreement with The Bank of Nova Scotia. The credit agreement makes available three primary lines of credit including a working capital
revolving credit facility of up to $50 million CAD, up to $300 million CAD floor plan financing for new and used vehicles; and $350 million CAD to provide wholesale lease financing. The
credit facilities accrue interest at rates equal to the Lender’s prime lending rate or the Canadian Dollar Offered Rate plus, in each case, a spread, with the spreads ranging from 0.25% per
annum to 1.50% per annum. The credit agreement includes various financial and other covenants typical of such agreements. All indebtedness under this agreement is due on demand.

Senior Notes

We hawe issued senior notes to eligible purchasers in a private placement under Rule 144A and Regulation S of the Securities Act of 1933. Interest accrues on the notes and is payable
semiannually. We may redeem the notes in whole or in part, on or after the redemption dates, at the redemption prices set forth in the Indentures. Prior to the redemption dates set forth
in the Indentures, we may redeem the notes, in whole or in part, at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof plus make-whole premiums set forth in the Indentures. Upon
certain change of control events (as set forth in the Indentures), the holders of the notes may require us to repurchase all or a portion of the notes at a purchase price of 101% of their
principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the date of purchase.

Below is a summary of outstanding senior notes issued:

Description Maturity Date Interest Payment Dates Principal Amount
4.625% Senior notes due 2027 December 15, 2027 June 15, Decenber 15 $400 rrillion
4.375% Senior notes due 2031 January 15, 2031 January 15, July 15 $550 rrillion
3.875% Senior notes due 2029 June 1, 2029 June 1, Decerrber 1 $800 rrillion

Real Estate Mortgages, Finance Lease Obligations, and Other Debt
We hawe mortgages associated with our owned real estate. Interest rates related to this debt ranged from 2.5% to 5.0% at March 31, 2022. The mortgages are payable in various
installments through July 1, 2038. As of March 31, 2022, we had fixed interest rates on 70.0% of our outstanding mortgage debt.

We hawe finance lease obligations with some of our leased real estate. Interest rates related to this debt ranged from 1.9% to 8.5% at March 31, 2022. The leases hawe terms extending
through August 2037.

Our other debt includes sellers’ notes. The interest rates associated with our other debt ranged from 5.0% to 10.0% at March 31, 2022. This debt is due in various installments through
April 2027.

LIBOR Transition
We are working closely and cooperatively with our lending partners to update LIBOR-based agreements. We expect to transition all of our LIBOR-based agreements to appropriate
replacement rates well before the June 30, 2023 LIBOR cessation. We do not anticipate this transition to have any material impact on our results of operations or financial position.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
None.

Critical Accounting Policies and Use of Estimates
There have been no material changes in the critical accounting policies and use of estimates described in our 2021 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on February 18, 2022.
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Seasonality and Quarterly Fluctuations

Historically, our sales have been lower in the first quarter of each year due to consumer purchasing pattems and inclement weather in certain of our markets. As a result, financial
performance is expected to be lower during the first quarter than during the second, third and fourth quarters of each fiscal year. We believe that interest rates, lewels of consumer debt,
consumer confidence and manufacturer sales incentives, as well as general economic conditions, also contribute to fluctuations in sales and operating results.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not hawe any off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a material current or future effect on our financial condition, changes in financial condition,
revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

There have been no material changes in our reported market risks or risk management policies since the filing of our 2021 Annual Report on Form 10-K, which was filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on February 18, 2022.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We evaluated, with the participation and under the supenision of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as
of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure
controls and procedures are effective to ensure that information we are required to disclose in reports that we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is accumulated
and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure and
that such information is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There was no change in our interal control over financial reporting that occurred during our most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, our intemal control over financial reporting.
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PART Il - OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings

We are party to numerous legal proceedings arising in the normal course of our business. Although we do not anticipate that the resolution of legal proceedings arising in the normal
course of business will have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition, or cash flows, we cannot predict this with certainty.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

The information in this Form 10-Q should be read in conjunction with the risk factors and information disclosed in our 2021 Annual Report on Form 10-K, which was filed with the SEC on
February 18, 2022. We hawe described in our 2021 Annual Report on Form 10-K, under "Risk Factors” in Item 1A, the primary risks related to our business and securities.
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Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

We repurchased the following shares of our common stock during the first quarter of 2022:
Maximum dollar value of shares that
Average price Total number of shares purchased as part may yet be purchased under publicly

For the full calendar month of Total number of shares purchased? paid per share of publicly announced plans' announced plan (in thousands)!

January 211,659 $ 287.39 154,923 $ 678,776
February 333 304.45 322 678,678
Merch 63,032 303.78 63,000 659,540
Total 275024 § 291.17 218245 $ 659,540

1 The current share repurchase plan has no expiration date.
2 Of the shares repurchased in the first quarter of 2022, 56,779 were related to tax withholding upon the vesting of RSUs.
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Item 6. Exhibits

The following exhibits are filed herewith and this list is intended to constitute the exhibit index.

3.1 Restated Articles of Incorporation of Lithia Motors, Inc. (incorporated by reference to exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed July 28, 2021).
3.2 Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of Lithia Motors, Inc. (incorporated by reference to exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Form 8K filed April 25, 2019).
101 Amendment No. 1 to Credit Agreement, dated Februa'ré( 8, 2022, among Lithia Motors, Inc., the subsidiaries of Lithia Motors Inc. party thereto from time to time,
the lenders party thereto from time to time, and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association.
311 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
321 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.
322 Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.
101.INS Ic?line XBI;{L Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL
locument.
101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.
101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.
104 Cover page fomatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101.
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Date: April 28, 2022 LITHIA MOTORS, INC.
Registrant
By: /s/ Tina Miller
Tina Miller

Chief Financial Officer, Senior Vice President, and Principal Accounting Officer
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EXECUTION VERSION

AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO CREDIT AGREEMENT

THIS AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO CREDIT AGREEMENT dated as of February 8, 2022 (this
“Amendment™), is among LITHIA MOTORS, INC., an Oregon corporation (the “Company™), each of the
Subsidiaries of the Company party to the Credit Agreement as Borrowers (each, a “Borrower™ and together
with the Company, the “Borrowers™), each of the Subsidiary Guarantors (as defined in the Credit
Agreement) party hereto, WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, in its capacity as
administrative agent (in such capacity, the “Administrative Agent™), and each of the Lenders (as defined
below) party hereto.

RECITALS:

A. The Borrowers, the lenders party thereto (collectively, the “Lenders”) and the
Administrative Agent have entered into that certain Credit Agreement dated as of July 14, 2020 (prior to
giving effect to this Amendment, the “Existing Credit Agreement” and, as amended by this Amendment,
the “Credit Agreement’). Capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings
ascribed to them in the Credit Agreement.

B. The Company has notified the Administrative Agent that it desires to amend the Existing
Credit Agreement as set forth herein.

C. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth below, the Administrative Agent and the
Lenders party hereto have agreed to so amend the Existing Credit Agreement.

In furtherance of the foregoing, the parties agree as follows:

Section 1. AMENDMENTS. Subject to the covenants, terms and conditions set forth herein
and in reliance upon the representations and warranties set forth herein:

(a) The body of the Existing Credit Agreement (excluding the Schedules and Exhibits thereto)
is hereby amended to (i) delete the stricken text (indicated textually in the same manner as the following
example: stricken-text), (i) add the double-underlined text (indicated textually in the same manner as the
following example: double-underlined text) and (iii) move the green double-underlined text (indicated
textually in the same manner as the following example: double-underlined fext), in each case, as set forth
in the Credit Agreement attached hereto as Annex A.

(b) Exhibit F attached to the Existing Credit Agreement is hereby amended to reflect all
amendments to the financial covenants and related definitions contemplated by the Credit Agreement. A
conformed copy of Exhibit F reflecting such amendments has been provided to the Company.

The amendments to the Existing Credit Agreement are limited to the extent specifically set forth
above and no other terms, covenants or provisions of the Existing Credit Agreement or any other Loan
Document are intended to be affected hereby.

Section 2. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT. The parties hereto agree that the amendments set
forth in Section 1 above shall be effective as of the date first written above upon the satisfaction of each of
the following conditions precedent:

(a) Documentation. The Administrative Agent shall have received counterparts to this

Amendment, duly executed by each of the Borrowers, the Subsidiary Guarantors, the Administrative Agent
and Lenders constituting Required Lenders.
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(b) Fees and Expenses. The Borrowers shall have paid or made arrangements to pay
contemporancously with the effectiveness of this Amendment all fees and expenses required to be paid in
connection herewith (including all fees, charges and disbursements of counsel to the Administrative Agent
(directly to such counsel if requested by the Administrative Agent)).

For purposes of determining compliance with the conditions specified in this Section 2, each Lender that
has signed this Amendment shall be deemed to have consented to, approved or accepted or to be satisfied
with, each document or other matter required thereunder to be consented to or approved by or acceptable
or satisfactory to a Lender unless the Administrative Agent shall have received notice from such Lender
prior to the proposed effective date hereof specifying its objection thereto.

Section 3. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES.

(a) In order to induce the Administrative Agent and the Lenders to enter into this Amendment,
each of the Borrowers represents and warrants to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders as follows:

(1) All representations and warranties of each Credit Party that are contained in the
Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents are true and correct in all material respects, except
for any representation and warranty that is qualified by materiality or reference to Material Adverse
Effect, which such representation and warranty is true and correct in all respects, on and as of the
date hercof with the same effect as if made on and as of the date hereof (except for any such
representation and warranty that by its terms is made only as of an earlier date, which such
representation and warranty is true and correct in all material respects as of such earlier date, except
for any representation and warranty that is qualified by materiality or reference to Material Adverse
Effect, which such representation and warranty is true and correct in all respects as of such earlier
date).

(i) Since December 31, 2020, no event or circumstance has occurred which has had
or which could reasonably be expected to have, a Material Adverse Effect.

(111) No Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing or will exist after
giving effect to this Amendment.

(b) In order to induce the Administrative Agent and the Lenders to enter into this Amendment,
each of the Borrowers and the Subsidiary Guarantors represents and warrants to the Administrative Agent
and the Lenders that this Amendment has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by it and constitutes
its legal, valid and binding obligation, enforceable in accordance with its terms.
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Section 4. MISCELLANEOUS.

(a) Ratification and Confirmation of Loan Documents. Each of the Borrowers and the
Subsidiary Guarantors hereby consents, acknowledges and agrees to the amendment(s) and other
agreements set forth herein and hereby confirms and ratifies in all respects the Loan Documents to which
such Person is a party (including without limitation, the continuation of its payment and performance
obligations under the Loan Documents to which it is a party and the continuation of the liens granted under
the Security Documents to which it is a party to secure the Obligations), in each case upon and after the
effectiveness of the amendment(s) and the other agreements contemplated hereby.

(b) Fees and Expenses. The Borrowers shall pay, promptly after demand therefor, all
reasonable out of pocket costs and expenses of the Administrative Agent in connection with the preparation,
reproduction, execution, and delivery of this Amendment and any other documents prepared in connection
herewith, including, without limitation, the reasonable fees, charges and disbursements of counsel for the
Administrative Agent.

(c) Governing Law; Waiver of Jury Trial. This Amendment shall be governed by, and
construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of New York, and shall be further subject to the
provisions of Sections 10.5 and 10.6 of the Credit Agreement.

(d) Counterparts; Integration; Effectiveness; Electronic Execution. This Amendment
may be executed in counterparts (and by different parties hereto in different counterparts), each of which
shall constitute an original, but all of which when taken together shall constitute a single contract. This
Amendment and the other Loan Documents, and any separate letter agreements with respect to fees payable
to the Administrative Agent and/or any Arranger, constitute the entire contract among the parties relating
to the subject matter hereof and supersede any and all previous agreements and understandings, oral or
written, relating to the subject matter hereof. Except as provided in Section 2, this Amendment shall
become effective when it shall have been exccuted by the Administrative Agent and when the
Administrative Agent shall have received counterparts hereof that, when taken together, bear the signatures
of each of the other parties hereto. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page of this
Agreement by facsimile or in electronic (i.e., “pdf” or “tif”") format shall be effective as delivery of a
manually executed counterpart of this Agreement. None of the terms or conditions of this Amendment may
be changed, modified, waived or canceled orally or otherwise except in a writing and in accordance with
Section 10.2 of the Credit Agreement. This Amendment is a Loan Document.

(f) Severability of Provisions. Any provision of this Amendment which is prohibited or
unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective only to the extent of such
prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating the remainder of such provision or the remaining
provisions hereof or thereof or affecting the validity or enforceability of such provision in any other
jurisdiction. In the event that any provision is held to be so prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction,
the Administrative Agent, the Lenders and the Company shall negotiate in good faith to amend such
provision to preserve the original intent thereof in such jurisdiction (subject to the approval of the Required
Lenders).

(8) Successors and Assigns. This Amendment shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit
of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns (subject to Section 10.9 of the Credit

Agreement).

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank; Signature Pages Follow]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment No. 1 to Credit
Agreement to be executed by their duly authorized officers, all as of the date and year first written above.

BORROWLERS:

LITHIA MOT: ANC,, as the Company
By

Name: Tina Miller
Title: Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

BAIERL l-[OLy, as a Borrower
By:

Name: Tina Miller
Title: Authorized Agent

DCH CALIFORNIA INVESTMENTS LLC, as a
Borrower

By:
Narfie: TifaMilfer—
Title: Authorized Agent

LITHIA REA C., as a Borrower

By; 2
Néme: Tina Miller
Title:  Authorized Agent

PA REAL EST , LLC/as a Borrower

By:
Name: Tina Miller
Title: Authorized Agent

AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO CREDIT AGREEMENT

Signature Page
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Name: Tina Mill s
Title: Authorized Agent

TAMPA-H, LL a Borjower
By: ~ ;2

RFA HDLDIAI; as a Borrower
By;
er

Name: Tina Miller
Title: Authorized Agent

WESLEY CH -H, LLC, as a Borrower
By: —

Name: Tina Miller
Title:  Authorized Agent

WESLEY -TOLLC, as a Borrower
By:

Name: Tiffa Miller
Title: Authorized Agent

AMENDMENT NO. | TO CREDIT AGREEMENT
Signature Page




SUBSIDIARY GUARANTORS:

BAIERL CHEVROLET, INC.
CADILLAC OF PORTLAND LLOYD CENTER, LLC
DCH TEMECULA MOTORS LLC
LAD MISSION VIEJO-JLR, INC.
LBMP, LLC

LFKF, LLC

LITHIA BAIERL-S, LLC

LITHIA BRYAN TEXAS, INC,
LITHIA CCTE, INC.

LITHIA CO, INC.

LITHIA CRATER LAKE-F, INC.
LITHIA CRATER LAKE-M, INC.
LITHIA CSA, INC.

LITHIA FLCC, LLC

LITHIA HMID, INC.

LITHIA IDAHO FALLS-F, INC.
LITHIA KLAMATH — T, INC.
LITHIA MBDM, INC.

LITHIA MONROEVILLE-F, LLC
LITHIA MOON-S, LLC

LITHIA ND ACQUISITION CORP. #3
LITHIA ND ACQUISITION CORP. #4
LITHIA OF CASPER, LLC

LITHIA OF CORPUS CHRISTI, INC.
LITHIA OF GREAT FALLS, INC.
LITHIA OF KILLEEN, LLC

LITHIA OF MISSOULA 11, INC.
LITHIA OF POCATELLO, INC.
LITHIA OF PORTLAND, LLC
LITHIA OF SPOKANE II, INC.
LITHIA OF WASILLA, LLC

LITHIA SEA P, INC.

LITHIA TR, INC.

LMOP, LLC

SACRAMENTO-L, INC.

SALEM-V, LL

By:
Name: Tina Miller
Title:  Authorized Agent
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ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT AND LENDERS:

WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as
Administrative Agent and Lender

e

Name: Eric Scott Fuller
Title: Senior Vice President
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U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as a Lender

Name: Imore Hector

Title:  Vice President
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TOYOTA MOTOR CREDIT CORPORATION, as a
Lender -

By 4/&&/(7\ /e m

Name: Doihinic Calcaterra
Title: National Accounts Manager
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TRUIST BANK, as a Lende

By: &l'i/ %sd

Name: J. Carlgs Navarrete
Title:  Director
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MERCEDES-BENZ FINANCIAL SERVICES USA LLC,
as a Lender

By: qwa’h
Name: Farrah Vaugfin

Title: Regional Dealer Credit Manager, National Accounts
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PNC BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as a Lender

By:
Name: Justin Gutiertez
Title: Vice President
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THE HUNTINGTON NATIONAL BANK, as a Lender

By: M@w
Name: Michael Hall
Title: Sr. Vice President
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BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as a Lender
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itle: WP ey,
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ANNEX A
Credit Agreement

See attached.
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VERSIGNANNEX A

Published CUSIP Number: 53679YAA2
Revolving Credit CUSIP Number: 53679YABO

CREDIT AGREEMENT
dated as of July 14, 2020,
by and among

LITHIA MOTORS, INC.,
as the Company,

the Borrowers referred to herein,
as Borrowers,

the Lenders referred to herein,
as Lenders,

and

WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as Administrative Agent

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as Syndication Agent

and

TOYOTA MOTOR CREDIT CORPORATION
and
TRUIST BANK,
as Co-Documentation Agents

WELLS FARGO SECURITIES, LLC,
and
U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as Joint Lead Arrangers and Joint Bookrunners
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This CREDIT AGREEMENT, dated as of July 14, 2020, by and among LITHIA MOTORS,
INC., an Oregon corporation (the “Company™), each of the Subsidiaries of the Company from time to
time party to this Agreement as Borrowers (the “Borrowers™), each of the lenders from time to time party
to this Agreement (the “Lenders”), and WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, a
national banking association, as Administrative Agent for the Lenders.

STATEMENT OF PURPOSE

WHEREAS, the Borrowers have requested, and subject to the terms and conditions set forth in
this Agreement, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders have agreed to extend, certain credit facilities
to the Borrowers.

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which
are hereby acknowledged by the parties hereto, such parties hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1
DEFINITIONS

SECTION 1.1 Definitions. The following terms when used in this Agreement shall have the
meanings assigned to them below:

b

Acquisition™ has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 7.13.

“Adjacent (Improved) Property” means any Adjacent Property on which there are Improvements
that are used in the operation of a Dealership at the time a Mortgage covering such Adjacent Property is
executed. Each Adjacent (Improved) Property that is a Mortgaged Property on the Closing Date is listed
on Schedule 1.1(a).

“Adjacent Property” means any real estate located in the United States which is owned in fee
simple by a Borrower (which must be a Wholly-Owned Domestic Subsidiary) and which is adjacent to a
Dealership Property; provided that Adjacent Property shall only be permitted to become Mortgaged
Property hereunder to the extent the Dealership Property to which it is adjacent is also Mortgaged

Property.

“Adjacent (Unimproved) Property” means any Adjacent Property that is not Adjacent (Improved)
Property. Each Adjacent (Unimproved) Property that is a Mortgaged Property on the Closing Date is

listed on Schedule 1.1(a).

“Administrative Agent” means Wells Fargo, in its capacity as Administrative Agent hereunder,
and any successor thereto appointed pursuant to Section 9.6.

“Administrative Agent’s Office” means the office of the Administrative Agent specified in or
determined in accordance with the provisions of Section 10.1(c).

“Administrative Questionnaire” means an administrative questionnaire in a form supplied by the
Administrative Agent.

“Affected Financial Institution™ means (a) any EEA Financial Institution or (b) any UK Financial
[nstitution.
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“Affiliate™ means, with respect to a specified Person, another Person that directly, or indirectly
through one or more intermediaries, Controls or is Controlled by or is under common Control with the
Person specified.

“Agent Parties™ has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 10.1(e).

“Agreement” means this Credit Agreement.

‘Antl Cormpu{m Laws means

: the—Bm{ed—Sta%e% Formgn Corrupt Practices
Act of 1977, as amcndcd and the rules and rcgulatlons thereunder, and the U K-Bribery-Aet 2040-and-the
rules-and-regulations-thereunderany other anti-corruption law applicable to the Company. any Borrower
and their Subsidiaries.

“Anti-Money Laundering Laws™ means any and all laws, statutes, regulations or obligatory
government orders, decrees, ordinances or rules related to terrorism financing, money laundering, any
predicate crime to money laundering or any financial record keeping, including any applicable provision
of the PATRIOT Act and The Currency and Foreign Transactions Reporting Act (also known as the
“Bank Secrecy Act,” 31 U.S.C. §§ 5311-5330 and 12 U.S.C. §§ 1818(s), 1820(b) and 1951-1959).

“Applicable Advance Rate” means (a) in the case of any Dealership Property, 75%, (b) in the
case of any Adjacent (Improved) Property, 60% and (c) in the case of any Adjacent (Unimproved)
Property, 50%; provided that, to the extent any portion of any Dealership Property or Adjacent
(Improved) Property is identified as “excess land” (or any similar designation) in the FIRREA compliant
appraisal accepted by the Administrative Agent in connection herewith and provided a separate appraised
value therein, the Administrative Agent may, in its sole discretion, elect to apply an Applicable Advance
Rate with respect to such portion of 50% or such lower percentage as is consistent with the
Administrative Agent’s standard practices.

“Applicable Allocable Value” means, with respect to any Dealership Property or Adjacent
Property that is a Mortgaged Property, at any time, the Applicable Allocable Value Percentage of such
Dealership Property or Adjacent Property multiplied by the aggregate Commitments.

“Applicable Allocable Value Percentage™ means, with respect to any Dealership Property or
Adjacent Property that is a Mortgaged Property, at any time, the percentage of the total Applicable
Margined Values of all the Mortgaged Properties represented by such Dealership Property’s or Adjacent
Property’s Applicable Margined Value. The Applicable Allocable Value Percentage of each Dealership
Property or Adjacent Property that is a Mortgaged Property on the Closing Date is set forth opposite such
Dealership Property or Adjacent Property on Schedule 1.1(a) (as such schedule may be amended pursuant

to Section 2.6(c)).

“Applicable Appraised Value” means, with respect to any Dealership Property or Adjacent
Property that is a Mortgaged Property at any time, the appraised value reflected in the FIRREA compliant
appraisal accepted by the Administrative Agent in connection herewith and at the time it became a
Mortgaged Property, as such appraised value may have been adjusted at such time in accordance with the
Administrative Agent’s standard practices; provided that, unless otherwise agreed to by the
Administrative Agent or expressly required by Applicable Law, the Applicable Appraised Value shall be
determined only at the time the applicable Mortgaged Property becomes subject to a Mortgage.

“Applicable Interest Margin™ means the corresponding percentages per annum as set forth below
based on the Leverage Ratio:

|3 {]»KT(JJ;,




Pricing : § LIBOR
Eovel Leverage Ratio Commitment Fee —— Base Rate +
I Less than or equal to 3.50 to 1.00 0.25% 2.00% 1.00%
Greater than 3.50 to 1.00, but 4 s &
1 less than or equal to 4,50 to 1.00 0:30% A28 L
111 Greater than 4.50 to 1.00 0.40% 2.50% 1.50%

The Applicable Interest Margin shall be determined and adjusted quarterly on the date five (5) Business
Days after the day on which the Company provides a Compliance Certificate pursuant to Section 6.1(e)
for the most recently completed fiscal quarter of the Company (each such date, a “Calculation Date”);
provided that (a) the Applicable Interest Margin shall be based on Pricing Level 1 until the first
Calculation Date occurring after the Closing Date and, thereafter the Pricing Level shall be determined by
reference to the Leverage Ratio as of the last day of the most recently completed fiscal quarter of the
Company preceding the applicable Calculation Date, and (b) if the Company fails to provide a
Compliance Certificate when due as required by Section 6.1(¢) for the most recently completed fiscal
quarter of the Company preceding the applicable Calculation Date (including as a result of a failure to
deliver the required related financial statements), the Applicable Interest Margin from the date on which
such Compliance Certificate was required to have been delivered shall be based on Pricing Level I1I until
such time as such Compliance Certificate is delivered, at which time the Pricing Level shall be
determined by reference to the Leverage Ratio as of the last day of the most recently completed fiscal
quarter of the Borrower preceding such Calculation Date. The applicable Pricing Level shall be effective
from one Calculation Date until the next Calculation Date. Any adjustment in the Pricing Level shall be
applicable to all Loans then existing or subsequently made.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that any financial statement or Compliance Certificate
delivered pursuant to Section 6.1(a), (b) or (¢) is shown to be inaccurate (regardless of whether (i) this
Agreement is in effect, (ii) any Commitments are in effect, or (iii) any Loan is outstanding when such
inaccuracy is discovered or such financial statement or Compliance Certificate was delivered), and such
inaccuracy, if corrected, would have led to the application of a higher Applicable Interest Margin for any
period (an “Applicable Period™) than the Applicable Interest Margin applied for such Applicable Period,
then (A) the Company shall promptly (and in any case within five (5) Business Days) deliver to the
Administrative Agent a corrected Compliance Certificate for such Applicable Period, (B) the Applicable
Interest Margin for such Applicable Period shall be determined as if the Leverage Ratio in the corrected
Compliance Certificate were applicable for such Applicable Period, and (C) the Borrowers shall promptly
(and in any case within five (5) Business Days) and retroactively be obligated to pay to the
Administrative Agent the accrued additional interest and fees owing as a result of such increased
Applicable Interest Margin for such Applicable Period, which payment shall be promptly applied by the
Administrative Agent in accordance with Section 3.4. Nothing in this paragraph shall limit the rights of
the Administrative Agent and Lenders with respect to Sections 3.1(b) and 8.2 nor any of their other rights
under this Agreement or any other Loan Document. Each of the Company’s and the Borrowers’
obligations under this paragraph shall survive the termination of the Commitments and the repayment of
all other Obligations hereunder.

“Applicable Law™ means all applicable provisions of constitutions, laws, statutes, ordinances,
rules, treaties, regulations, permits, licenses, approvals, interpretations and orders of Governmental
Authorities and all orders and decrees of all courts and arbitrators.




“Applicable Margined Value” means, with respect to any Dealership Property or Adjacent
Property that is a Mortgaged Property, at any time, the Applicable Appraised Value of such Dealership
Property or Adjacent Property multiplied by the Applicable Advance Rate with respect to such Dealership
Property or Adjacent Property; provided that, notwithstanding the foregoing or any other provision of this
Agreement to the contrary, at no time shall the contribution to the amount of the Commitment from the
Applicable Margined Values of all Adjacent Properties be more than an amount equal to the lesser of (A)
$20,000,000 and (B) an amount equal to 10% of the Commitment then in effect, and the Administrative
Agent may in its discretion adjust the Applicable Margined Value of one or more Adjacent Properties as
necessary so as not to exceed that contribution amount,

“Approved Fund” means any Fund that is administered or managed by (a) a Lender, (b) an
Affiliate of a Lender or (¢) an entity or an Affiliate of an entity that administers or manages a Lender.
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Arrangers” means, collectively, Wells Fargo Securities, LLC and U.S. Bank National
Association, each in its capacity as a lead arranger and a bookrunner.

“Assignment and Assumption™ means an assignment and assumption entered into by a Lender
and an Eligible Assignee (with the consent of any party whose consent is required by Section 10.9), and
accepted by the Administrative Agent, in substantially the form attached as Exhibit G or any other form
approved by the Administrative Agent.

“Audited Financial Statements™ means the audited consolidated balance sheet of the Company
and its Subsidiaries for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019, and the related consolidated statements
of income or operations, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for such fiscal year of the Company and its
Subsidiaries, including the notes thereto.

“Award” has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 2.6(b)(i).

“Bail-In Action” means the exercise of any Write-Down and Conversion Powers by the
applicable Resolution Authority in respect of any liability of an Affected Financial Institution.

“Bail-In Legislation™ means (a) with respect to any EEA Member Country implementing Article
55 of Directive 2014/59/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of the European Union, the
implementing law, regulation, rule or requirement for such EEA Member Country from time to time
which is described in the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule and (b) with respect to the United Kingdom,
Part [ of the United Kingdom Banking Act 2009 (as amended from time to time) and any other law,
regulation or rule applicable in the United Kingdom relating to the resolution of unsound or failing banks,
investment firms or other financial institutions or their affiliates (other than through liquidation,
administration or other insolvency proceedings).

“Bankruptcy Code™ means 11 U.S.C. §§ 101 et seq.

“Base Rate™ means, at any time, the highest of (a) the Prime Rate, (b) the Federal Funds Rate plus
0.50% and (c) LIBOR plus 1%; each change in the Base Rate shall take effect simultaneously with the
corresponding change or changes in the Prime Rate, the Federal Funds Rate or LIBOR (provided that
clause (c) shall not be applicable during any period in which LIBOR is unavailable or unascertainable).

“Base Rate Loan” means any Loan bearing interest at a rate based upon the Base Rate as provided

in Section 3.1(a).




“Benchmark Replacement” means the sum of: (a) the alternate benchmark rate (which may
include Term SOFR) that has been selected by the Administrative Agent and the Company giving due
consideration to (i) any selection or recommendation of a replacement rate or the mechanism for
determining such a rate by the Relevant Governmental Body or (ii) any evolving or then-prevailing
market convention for determining a rate of interest as a replacement to LIBOR for Dollar-denominated
syndicated credit facilities and (b) the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment; provided that, if the
Benchmark Replacement as so determined would be less than 0.75%, the Benchmark Replacement will be
deemed to be 0.75% for the purposes of this Agreement.

“Benchmark Replacement Adjustment” means, with respect to any replacement of LIBOR with
an Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement, the spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining
such spread adjustment, (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that has been selected by the
Administrative Agent and the Company giving due consideration to (a) any selection or recommendation
of a spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, for the
replacement of LIBOR with the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement by the Relevant
Governmental Body or (b) any evolving or then-prevailing market convention for determining a spread
adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, for the replacement of
LIBOR with the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement for Dollar-denominated syndicated
credit facilities at such time.

“Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes” means, with respect to any Benchmark
Replacement, any technical, administrative or operational changes (including changes to the definition of
“Base Rate,” the definition of “Interest Period,” timing and frequency of determining rates and making
payments of interest and other administrative matters) that the Administrative Agent decides may be
appropriate to reflect the adoption and implementation of such Benchmark Replacement and to permit the
administration thereof by the Administrative Agent in a manner substantially consistent with market
practice (or, if the Administrative Agent decides that adoption of any portion of such market practice is
not administratively feasible or if the Administrative Agent determines that no market practice for the
administration of the Benchmark Replacement exists, in such other manner of administration as the
Administrative Agent decides is reasonably necessary in connection with the administration of this
Agreement).

“Benchmark Replacement Date” means the earlier to occur of the following events with respect
to LIBOR:

(a) in the case of clause (a) or (b) of the definition of “Benchmark Transition Event,” the
later of (i) the date of the public statement or publication of information referenced therein and (ii) the
date on which the administrator of LIBOR permanently or indefinitely ceases to provide LIBOR; and

(b) in the case of clause (c) of the definition of “Benchmark Transition Event,” the date of
the public statement or publication of information referenced therein.

“Benchmark Transition Event™ means the occurrence of one or more of the following events with
respect to LIBOR:

(a) a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the administrator of
LIBOR announcing that such administrator has ceased or will cease to provide LIBOR, permanently or
indefinitely; provided that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no successor
administrator that will continue to provide LIBOR;




(b) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the
administrator of LIBOR, the U.S. Federal Reserve System, an insolvency official with jurisdiction over
the administrator for LIBOR, a resolution authority with jurisdiction over the administrator for LIBOR or
a court or an entity with similar insolvency or resolution authority over the administrator for LIBOR,
which states that the administrator of LIBOR has ceased or will cease to provide LIBOR permanently or
indefinitely; provided that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no successor
administrator that will continue to provide LIBOR; or

(c) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the
administrator of LIBOR announcing that LIBOR is no longer representative.

“Benchmark Transition Start Date™ means (a) in the case of a Benchmark Transition Event, the
earlier of (i) the applicable Benchmark Replacement Date and (ii) if such Benchmark Transition Event is
a public statement or publication of information of a prospective event, the 90th day prior to the expected
date of such event as of such public statement or publication of information (or if the expected date of
such prospective event is fewer than 90 days after such statement or publication, the date of such
statement or publication) and (b) in the case of an Early Opt-in Election, the date specified by the
Administrative Agent or the Required Lenders, as applicable, by notice to the Company, the
Administrative Agent (in the case of such notice by the Required Lenders) and the Lenders.

“Benchmark Unavailability Period” means, if a Benchmark Transition Event and its related
Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred with respect to LIBOR and solely to the extent that LIBOR
has not been replaced with a Benchmark Replacement, the period (a) beginning at the time that such
Benchmark Replacement Date has occurred if, at such time, no Benchmark Replacement has replaced
LIBOR for all purposes hereunder in accordance with Section 3.8(c) and (b) ending at the time that a
Benchmark Replacement has replaced LIBOR for all purposes hereunder pursuant to Section 3.8(¢).

“Beneficial Ownership Certification” means a certification regarding beneficial ownership as
required by the Beneficial Ownership Regulation.

“Beneficial Ownership Regulation™ means 31 CFR § 1010.230.

“Benefit Plan™ means any of (a) an “employee benefit plan” (as defined in ERISA) that is subject
to Title I of ERISA, (b) a “plan™ as defined in and subject to Section 4975 of the Code or (c) any Person
whose assets include (for purposes of ERISA Section 3(42) or otherwise for purposes of Title [ of ERISA
or Section 4975 of the Code) the assets of any such “employee benefit plan” or *“plan”.

“Borrower Joinder Agreement” means any Borrower Joinder Agreement, substantially in the
form thereof attached as Exhibit I, executed and delivered by a Subsidiary to the Administrative Agent.

“Borrower Materials” has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 6.1.

“Borrowers’ has the meaning assigned thereto in the introductory paragraph of this Agreement.

“Business Day” means (a) for all purposes other than as set forth in clause (b) below, any day
(other than a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday) on which banks in Charlotte, North Carolina and New
York, New York, are open for the conduct of their commercial banking business and (b) with respect to
all notices and determinations in connection with, and payments of principal and interest on, any LIBOR
Rate Loan, or any Base Rate Loan as to which the interest rate is determined by reference to LIBOR, any
day that is a Business Day described in clause (a) and that is also a London Banking Day.
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“Calculation Date™ has the meaning assigned thereto in the definition of Applicable Interest
Margin.

“Capitalized Lease™ of a Person means any lease of property by such Person as lessee which
would be capitalized on a balance sheet of such Person prepared in accordance with GAAP.

“Capitalized Lease Obligations” of a Person means the amount of the obligations of such Person
under Capitalized Leases which would be shown as a liability on a balance sheet of such Person prepared
in accordance with GAAP.

“Cash Equivalent Investments” means (a) short-term obligations of, or fully guaranteed by, the
United States, (b) commercial paper rated A-1 or better by S&P or P-1 or better by Moody’s, (¢) demand
deposit accounts maintained in the ordinary course of business, (d) certificates of deposit issued by and
time deposits with commercial banks (whether domestic or foreign) having capital and surplus in excess
of $500,000,000; provided in each case that the same provides for payment of both principal and interest
(and not principal alone or interest alone) and is not subject to any contingency regarding the payment of
principal or interest, (¢) shares of money market mutual funds that are rated at least “AAAmM"” or “AAAG”
by S&P or “P-17 or better by Moody’s, and (f) other cash equivalent investments approved in writing by
the Administrative Agent.

“Casualty” has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 2.6(a)(i).

“Change in Control” means: (a) the acquisition by any Person, or two or more Persons acting in
concert, in either case other than the Principal (whether directly or indirectly through Lithia Holding
Company, L.L.C.), of beneficial ownership (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 of the Exchange Act) of
35% or more of the outstanding shares of voting stock of the Company on a fully diluted basis; (b) within
any twelve-month period, occupation of a majority of the seats (other than vacant seats) on the board of
directors of the Company by Persons who were neither (i) nominated by the board of directors of the
Company nor (ii) appointed or approved by directors so nominated; (c) the Company consolidates with or
merges into another Person or conveys, transfers or leases all or substantially all of its property to any
Person, or any Person consolidates with or merges into the Company, in either event pursuant to a
transaction in which the outstanding capital stock of the Company is reclassified or changed into or
exchanged for (i) cash or Cash Equivalent Investments or (ii) securities, and the holders of the capital
stock in the Company immediately prior to such transaction do not, as a result of such transaction, own,
directly or indirectly, more than 51% of the combined voting power of the Company’s capital stock or the
capital stock of its successor entity in such transaction; or (d) a “change of control” or “change of
ownership" (or any term substantially equivalent to any of the foregoing phrases in this clause (d))
occurs, in each case, as t.uc,h term or phI"dbC is dcf' ned in dny mdcnturc oF- nther agreement evidencing or
relatmg to any i :

Submdmry, each as “defined in the Company Revolving Credit Agreement) 1ssued in a transaction
registered with the SEC or issued to qualified institutional buyers for resale pursuant to Rule 144 A of the
Securities Act.

“Change in Law™ means the occurrence, after the date of this Agreement, of any of the following:
(a) the adoption or taking effect of any law, rule, regulation or treaty, (b) any change in any law, rule,
regulation or treaty or in the administration, interpretation, implementation or application thereof by any
Governmental Authority or (¢) the making or issuance of any request, rule, guideline or directive
(whether or not having the force of law) by any Governmental Authority; provided that notwithstanding
anything herein to the contrary, (i) the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and
all requests, rules, guidelines or directives thereunder or issued in connection therewith or in
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implementation thereof and (ii) all requests, rules, guidelines or directives promulgated by the Bank for
International Settlements, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (or any successor or similar
authority) or the United States or foreign regulatory authorities, in each case pursuant to Basel I11, shall in
each case be deemed to be a “Change in Law”, regardless of the date enacted, adopted, implemented or
issued.

“Closing Date™ means the date of this Agreement,

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, and the rules and regulations promulgated
thereunder.

“Collateral” means the collateral security for the Obligations pledged or granted pursuant to the
Security Documents.

“Commitment Fee™ has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 3.3(a).

“Commitment Percentage™ means, with respect to any Lender at any time, the percentage of the
total Commitments of all the Lenders represented by such Lender’s Commitment. If the Commitments
have terminated or expired, the Commitment Percentages shall be determined based upon the
Commitments most recently in effect, giving effect to any assignments. The Commitment Percentage of
each Lender on the Closing Date is set forth opposite the name of such Lender on Schedule 1.1(b).

“Commitments™” means (a) as to any Lender, the obligation of such Lender to make Loans to the
Borrowers hereunder in an aggregate principal amount at any time outstanding not to exceed the amount
set forth opposite such Lender’s name on the Register, as such amount may be modified at any time or
from time to time pursuant to the terms hereof, and (b) as to all Lenders, the aggregate commitment of all
Lenders to make Loans, as such amount may be modified at any time or from time to time pursuant to the
terms hereof. The aggregate Commitments of all the Lenders on the Closing Date shall be $254,700,000.
The Commitment of each Lender on the Closing Date is set forth opposite the name of such Lender on

Schedule 1.1(b).
“Company™ has the meaning assigned thereto in the introductory paragraph of this Agreement.

“Company Guaranty Agreement” means the Company Guaranty Agreement dated as of the date
hereof, made by the Company in favor of the Administrative Agent for the benefit of the Secured Parties.

Loan Agreement dated as of Deeember9April 29, 20492021 by and among the Company, certain
Subsidiaries of the Company from time to time party thereto, the lenders party thereto and U.S. Bank
National Association, as eertified-to-be-true-und-correct-by-aResponsible Officer-of-the-Company-as-of
the-Closing Date-pursuant-to-Section-4-Hb)amended by that certain First Amendment to Fourth Amended
and Restated Loan Agreement dated as of February 7, 2022 and, for purposes of this Agreement or any

other Loan Document, without giving effect to any other amendment, supplement, modification,
extension or waiver thereof unless consented to in writing by the Administrative Agent and the Required
Lenders (it being acknowledged and agreed by all parties hereto that if the Company Revolving Credit
Agreement is terminated during the term of this Agreement, the terms thereof incorporated in this
Agreement and the other Loan Documents shall continue to be effective in this Agreement and the other
Loan Documents to the same extent as immediately prior to such termination (without giving effect to any
amendment, supplement, modification, extension or waiver thereof unless consented to in writing by the
Administrative Agent and the Required Lenders)).
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“Company Revolving Credit Facility” means, as of any date of determination, the aggregate
principal amount of the revolving credit facility established pursuant to the Company Revolving Credit
Agreement or any subsequent revolving credit facility that replaces, refinances, renews, extends or is
issued in exchange for the revolving credit facility established pursuant to the Company Revolving Credit
Agreement or any such subsequent revolving credit facility.

“Compliance Certificate™ means a certificate of the chief financial officer of the Company or
another Responsible Officer of the Company acceptable to the Administrative Agent substantially in the
form attached as Exhibit F.

“Condemnation™ means a temporary or permanent taking by any Governmental Authority as the
result or in lieu or in anticipation of the exercise of the right of condemnation or eminent domain, of all or
any part of a Mortgaged Property, or any interest therein or right accruing thereto, including any right of
access thereto or any change of grade affecting a Mortgaged Property or any part thereof.

“Connection Income Taxes™ means Other Connection Taxes that are imposed on or measured by
net income (however denominated) or that are franchise Taxes or branch profits Taxes.

“Contingent Obligation™ means any guarantee of Indebtedness-er-any-otherobligation of any
other Person or any agreement to maintain the net worth, working capital or other financial condition of

including, without limitation, any purchase or repurchase agreement, comfort letter, or keep-well,
take-or-pay, through-put or other arrangement of whatever nature having the effect of assuring or holding
harmless any Person against loss with respect to any ebligatienIndebtedness of such other Person;
provided, however, that the term “Contingent Obligation™ shall not include endorsements of instruments
for deposit or collection in the ordinary course of business. The amount of any Contingent Obligation
shall be deemed to be an amount equal to the stated or determinable amount of the primary obligation in
respect of which such Contingent Obligation is made or, if not stated or determinable, the maximum
reasonably anticipated liability in respect thereof as determined in good faith by the Person subject to
such obligation.

“Control” means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the
direction of the management or policies of a Person, whether through the ability to exercise voting power,
by contract or otherwise. “Controlling” and “Controlled™ have meanings correlative thereto. For purposes
of determining whether a Minority Dealer is a Minority Dealer Affiliate or a Minority Dealer Subsidiary,
“Control” shall be established in accordance with the definition of Control in the Company Revolving
Credit Agreement,

“Credit Facility” means the revolving credit facility established pursuant to Article 11.

“Credit Parties™ means, collectively, the Borrowers and the Guarantors.

g

GAAP, but excluding all loans to -aﬁd-ﬂﬂte*&'aﬂ({-«Feeeé-vab{es---ﬁﬂmnﬂffwers, emplovees. directors, owners

accordance with GAAP,
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Company Revolving Credit Facility (taking into-account any applicable borrowing base and reserve

“Dealership” means any Subsidiary of the Company whose primary business is the retail sales or

retail sale and lease of new and/or used automobiles-and, trucks and/or motorcycles in the United States
or in Canada.

“Dealership Property™ means any real estate (including the Improvements thereon) located in the
United States which is owned in fee simple by a Borrower (which must be a Wholly-Owned Domestic
Subsidiary) and at which a Subsidiary Guarantor (which must be a Wholly-Owned Domestic Subsidiary)
owns and operates an original equipment manufacturer (OEM) franchised Dealership. Each Dealership
Property that is a Mortgaged Property on the Closing Date is listed on Schedule 1.1(a).

“Debtor Relief Laws” means the Bankruptey Code of the United States of America, and all other
liquidation, conservatorship, bankruptcy, assignment for the benefit of creditors, moratorium,
rearrangement, receivership, insolvency, reorganization, or similar debtor relief laws of the United States
or other applicable jurisdictions from time to time in effect.

“Default” means any of the events specified in Section 8.1 which with the passage of time, the
giving of notice or any other condition, would constitute an Event of Default.

“Defaulting Lender” means, subject to Section 3.13(b), any Lender that (a) has failed to (i) fund
all or any portion of the Loans required to be funded by it hereunder within two Business Days of the date
such Loans were required to be funded hereunder unless such Lender notifies the Administrative Agent
and the Company in writing that such failure is the result of such Lender’s determination that one or more
conditions precedent to funding (each of which conditions precedent, together with any applicable
default, shall be specifically identified in such writing) has not been satisfied, or (ii) pay to the
Administrative Agent or any Lender any other amount required to be paid by it hereunder within two
Business Days of the date when due, (b) has notified the Company or the Administrative Agent, in
writing that it does not intend to comply with its funding obligations hereunder, or has made a public
statement to that effect (unless such writing or public statement relates to such Lender’s obligation to fund
a Loan hereunder and states that such position is based on such Lender’s determination that a condition
precedent to funding (which condition precedent, together with any applicable default, shall be
specifically identified in such writing or public statement) cannot be satisfied), (c) has failed, within three
Business Days after written request by the Administrative Agent or the Company, to confirm in writing to
the Administrative Agent and the Company that it will comply with its prospective funding obligations
hereunder (provided that such Lender shall cease to be a Defaulting Lender pursuant to this clause (c)
upon receipt of such written confirmation by the Administrative Agent and the Company), or (d) has, or
has a direct or indirect parent company that has, (i) become the subject of a proceeding under any Debtor
Relief Law, (ii) had appointed for it a receiver, custodian, conservator, trustee, administrator, assignee for
the benefit of creditors or similar Person charged with reorganization or liquidation of its business or
assets, including the FDIC or any other state or federal regulatory authority acting in such a capacity or
(1ii) become the subject of a Bail-In Action; provided that a Lender shall not be a Defaulting Lender
solely by virtue of the ownership or acquisition of any equity interest in that Lender or any direct or
indirect parent company thereof by a Governmental Authority so long as such ownership interest does not
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result in or provide such Lender with immunity from the jurisdiction of courts within the United States or
from the enforcement of judgments or writs of attachment on its assets or permit such Lender (or such
Governmental Authority) to reject, repudiate, disavow or disaffirm any contracts or agreements made
with such Lender. Any determination by the Administrative Agent that a Lender is a Defaulting Lender
under any one or more of clauses (a) through (d) above shall be conclusive and binding absent manifest
error, and such Lender shall be deemed to be a Defaulting Lender (subject to Section 3.13(b)) upon
delivery of written notice of such determination to the Company and each Lender.

“DEC” means Driveway Finance Corporation, an Oregon corporation,

“DFC Subsidiary” has the meaning assigned thereto in the Company Revolving Credit
Agreement.

“Disqualified Equity Interests” means, with respect to any Person, any Equity Interests of such
Person that, by their terms (or by the terms of any security or other Equity Interest into which they are
convertible or for which they are exchangeable) or upon the happening of any event or condition, (a)
mature or are mandatorily redeemable (other than solely for Equity Interests that arc not Disqualified
Equity Interests), pursuant to a sinking fund obligation or otherwise (except as a result of a change of
control or asset sale so long as any rights of the holders thereof upon the occurrence of a change of
control or asset sale event shall be subject to the prior repayment in full in cash of the Loans and all other
Obligations ((other than contingent indemnification obligations not then due) and the termination of the
Commitments), (b) are redeemable at the option of the holder thereof (other than solely for Equity
Interests that are not Disqualified Equity Interests) (except as a result of a change of control or asset sale
so long as any rights of the holders thereof upon the occurrence of a change of control or asset sale event
shall be subject to the prior repayment in full in cash of the Loans and all other Obligations ((other than
contingent indemnification obligations not then due) and the termination of the Commitments), in whole
or in part, (c) provide for the scheduled payment of dividends in cash or (d) are or become convertible
into, or exchangeable for, Indebtedness or any other Equity Interests that would constitute Disqualified
Equity Interests, in each case of clauses (a) through (d), prior to the date that is 91 days after the latest
scheduled maturity date of the Loans and Commitments; provided that if such Equity Interests are issued
pursuant to a plan for the benefit of Company or its Subsidiaries or by any such plan to such officers or
employees, such Equity Interests shall not constitute Disqualified Equity Interests solely because they
may be required to be repurchased by Company or its Subsidiaries in order to satisfy applicable statutory
or regulatory obligations.

“Dollars™ or “8” means, unless otherwise qualified, dollars in lawful currency of the United
States.

“Domestic Subsidiary™ means any Subsidiary organized under the laws of any political
subdivision of the United States.

“Early Opt-in Election” means the occurrence of:

(a) (i) a determination by the Administrative Agent or (ii) a notification by the Required
Lenders to the Administrative Agent (with a copy to the Company) that the Required Lenders have
determined that Dollar-denominated syndicated credit facilities being executed at such time, or that
include language similar to that contained in Section 3.8(c) are being executed or amended, as applicable,
to incorporate or adopt a new benchmark interest rate to replace LIBOR, and

(b) {i+thea joint election by the Administrative Agent ertiand the eleetionbythe Reguired
EendersCompany to deelare—thattrigger an Early Opt-in Election—has—eeewrred and the provision, as
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applicable, by the Administrative Agent of written notice of such election to the Cempany—andthe
Lenders 3 ired-L s ofw . e i L T .

“EBITDAR" means, for any period, for the Company and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis,
(a) net income (or loss) of the Company and its Subsidiaries for such period (adjusted as set forth in the
immediately following sentence), plus (b) without duplication, the amounts which, in determining such
net income or loss, have been deducted for (i) interest expense, (ii) income tax expense, (iil) depreciation,
amortization, goodwill impairment charges, stock-based compensation charges and other non-cash
charges approved by the Required Lenders (less non-cash gains) and (iv) rental or lease expense, minus
(¢) non-cash gains included in determining such net income or loss. For purposes of the foregoing clause
(a), net income or loss (A) shall exclude (1) extraordinary gains or losses, and (2) Excluded Items, and
(B) shall include net income or loss from discontinued operations. As used herein, “Excluded Items”
means gain or loss from (a) the sale, sale and leaseback or financing of real estate, or (b) the sale of all or
substantially all of the Equity Interests or assets of (i) a Dealership or other Subsidiary, (ii) a Dealership
location, or (iii) any business unit or franchise of a Dealership or other Subsidiary or a Dealership
location.

“EEA Financial Institution” means (a) any credit institution or investment firm established in any
EEA Member Country which is subject to the supervision of an EEA Resolution Authority, (b) any entity
established in an EEA Member Country which is a parent of an institution described in clause (a) of this
definition, or (c) any financial institution established in an EEA Member Country which is a subsidiary of
an institution described in clauses (a) or (b) of this definition and is subject to consolidated supervision
with its parent.

“EEA Member Country” means any of the member states of the European Union, Iceland,
Liechtenstein, and Norway.

“EEA Resolution Authority™ means any public administrative authority or any Person entrusted
with public administrative authority of any EEA Member Country (including any delegee) having
responsibility for the resolution of any credit institution or investment firm established in any EEA
Member Country.

“Eligible Assignee” means any Person that meets the requirements to be an assignee under
Section 10.9(b)(iii) and (v) (subject to such consents, if any, as may be required under Section

10.9(b)(iii)).

“Engagement Letter” means the engagement letter agreement dated April 22, 2020 among the
Company, Wells Fargo and the Arranger,

“Environmental Claims” means any and all administrative, regulatory or judicial actions, suits,
demands, demand letters, claims, liens, accusations, allegations, notices of noncompliance or violation,
investigations (other than internal reports prepared by any Person in the ordinary course of business and
not in response to any third party action or request of any kind) or proceedings relating in any way to any
actual or alleged violation of or liability under any Environmental Law or relating to any permit issued, or
any approval given, under any such Environmental Law, including any and all claims by Governmental
Authorities for enforcement, cleanup, removal, response, remedial or other actions or damages,
contribution, indemnification, cost recovery, compensation or injunctive relief resulting from Hazardous
Substances or arising from alleged injury or threat of injury to public health or the environment.
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“Environmental Indemnity Agreement” means the Environmental Indemnity Agreement dated as
of the Closing Date by the Credit Parties in favor of the Administrative Agent for the benefit of the
Secured Parties.

“Environmental Laws" means any and all federal, state, local and foreign statutes, laws, judicial
decisions, regulations, ordinances, rules, judgments, orders, decrees, plans, injunctions, permits,
concessions, grants, franchises, licenses, agreements and other governmental restrictions relating to (a)
Hazardous Substances, (b) the protection of the environment, (c) personal injury or property damage
relating to the release or discharge of Hazardous Substances, (d) emissions, discharges or releases of
pollutants, contaminants, hazardous substances or wastes into surface water, ground water or land, or (e)
the manufacture, processing, distribution, use, treatment, storage, disposal, transport or handling of
pollutants, contaminants, hazardous substances or wastes or the clean-up or other remediation thereof, all
as now existing or hereafter amended or adopted.

“Equity Interests” means (a) in the case of a corporation, capital stock, (b) in the case of an
association or business entity, any and all shares, interests, participations, rights or other equivalents
(however designated) of capital stock, (c) in the case of a partnership, partnership interests (whether
general or limited), (d) in the case of a limited liability company, membership interests, (¢) any other
interest or participation that confers on a Person the right to receive a share of the profits and losses of, or
distributions of assets of, the issuing Person and (f) any and all warrants, rights or options to purchase any
of the foregoing.

“ERISA™ means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974,

“ERISA Affiliate” means, as applied to a Credit Party, any trade or business (whether or not
incorporated) that, together with such Credit Party, is treated as a single employer under Section 414(b) or
(c) of the Code or, solely for purposes of Section 302 of ERISA and Section 412 of the Code, is treated as
a single employer under Section 414 of the Code,

“ERISA Event” means (a) any “reportable event”, as defined in Section 4043 of ERISA or the
regulations issued thereunder with respect to a Plan (other than an event for which the 30-day notice
period is waived); (b) the failure with respect to any Plan to satisfy the “minimum funding standard” (as
defined in Section 412 of the Code or Section 302 of ERISA), whether or not waived; (c) the filing
pursuant to Section 412(c) of the Code or Section 302(c¢) of ERISA of an application for a waiver of the
minimum funding standard with respect to any Plan; (d) the incurrence by any Credit Party or any of its
ERISA Affiliates of any liability under Title [V of ERISA with respect to any Plan (other than premiums
due and not delinquent under Section 4007 of ERISA); (e) the receipt by any Credit Party or any ERISA
Affiliate from the PBGC or a plan administrator of any notice relating to an intention to terminate any
Plan or Plans or to appoint a trustee to administer any Plan; () the incurrence by any Credit Party or any
of its ERISA Affiliates of any liability with respect to the withdrawal or partial withdrawal of any Credit
Party or any of its ERISA Affiliates from any Plan or Multiemployer Plan; or (g) the receipt by any
Credit Party or any ERISA Affiliate of any notice, or the receipt by any Multiemployer Plan from any
Credit Party or any ERISA Affiliate of any notice, concerning the imposition upon any Credit Party or
any of its ERISA Affiliates of withdrawal liability under Section 4201 of ERISA or a determination that a
Multiemployer Plan is, or is expected to be, insolvent, within the meaning of Title IV of ERISA.

“EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule” means the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule published by the
Loan Market Association (or any successor thereto), as in effect from time to time.

“Eurodollar Reserve Percentage™ means, for any day, the percentage which is in effect for such
day as prescribed by the FRB for determining the maximum reserve requirement (including any basic,
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supplemental or emergency reserves) in respect of eurocurrency liabilities or any similar category of
liabilities for a member bank of the Federal Reserve System in New York City.

“Event of Default”™ means any of the events specified in Section 8.1; provided that any
requirement for passage of time, giving of notice, or any other condition, has been satisfied.

“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. § 77 et seq.).

“Excluded Taxes™ means any of the following Taxes imposed on or with respect to a Recipient or
required to be withheld or deducted from a payment to a Recipient, (a) Taxes imposed on or measured by
net income (however denominated), franchise Taxes, and branch profits Taxes, in each case, (i) imposed
as a result of such Recipient being organized under the laws of, or having its principal office or, in the
case of any Lender, its applicable Lending Office located in, the jurisdiction imposing such Tax (or any
political subdivision thereof) or (ii) that are Other Connection Taxes, (b) in the case of a Lender, United
States federal withholding Taxes imposed on amounts payable to or for the account of such Lender with
respect to an applicable interest in a Loan or Commitment pursuant to a law in effect on the date on which
(1) such Lender acquires such interest in the Loan or Commitment (other than pursuant to an assignment
request by the Company under Section 3.12(b)) or (ii) such Lender changes its Lending Office, except in
each case to the extent that, pursuant to Section 3.11, amounts with respect to such Taxes were payable
either to such Lender’s assignor immediately before such Lender became a party hereto or to such Lender
immediately before it changed its Lending Office, (c) Taxes attributable to such Recipient’s failure to
comply with Section 3.11(g) and (d) any United States federal withholding Taxes imposed under
FATCA.

“FASB ASC” means the Accounting Standards Codification of the Financial Accounting
Standards Board.

“FATCA™ means Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, as of the date of this Agreement (or
any amended or successor version that is substantively comparable and not materially more onerous to
comply with), any current or future regulations or official interpretations thereof, and any agreements
entered into pursuant to Section 1471(b)(1) of the Code and any fiscal or regulatory legislation, rules or
practices adopted pursuant to an intergovernmental agreement, treaty or convention among Governmental
Authorities entered into in connection with implementation of the foregoing.

“FDIC™ means the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.

“Federal Funds Rate™ means, for any day, the rate per annum equal to the weighted average of the
rates on overnight federal funds transactions with members of the Federal Reserve System, as published
by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York on the Business Day next succeeding such day, provided that
if such rate is not so published for any day which is a Business Day, the Federal Funds Rate for such day
shall be the average of the quotation for such day on such transactions received by the Administrative
Agent from three federal funds brokers of recognized standing selected by the Administrative Agent.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Federal Funds Rate shall be less than zero, such rate shall be
deemed to be zero for purposes of this Agreement.

“Federal Reserve Bank of New York’s Website™ means the website of the Federal Reserve Bank
of New York at http://www.newyorkfed.org, or any successor source.

“Fiscal Year” means the fiscal year of the Company and its Subsidiaries, the last day of which is
December 31.
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“Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio” means, as of the last day of any fiscal quarter, the ratio for the
Measurement Period ending on such date of (a) (i) EBITDAR for such Measurement Period, minus (ii)
dividends and other distributions in respect of Equity Interests of the Company or any Subsidiary (except
to the extent such dividends or other distributions are paid to the Company or another Subsidiary) and
amounts expended to repurchase Equity Interests of the Company or any Subsidiary (except to the extent
such amounts are paid to the Company or another Subsidiary), minus (iii) income tax expense to the
extent paid in cash, minus (iv) an allowance for maintenance capital expenditures in an amount equal to
$85,000 for each Dealership location, plus (v) if any Permitted Acquisition has occurred during any
Measurement Period, pre-formaPro Forma EBITDAR minus rental or lease expense attributable to any
new Acquisition Subsidiary or business acquired in connection with such Permitted Acquisition, as
applicable, calculated as if the Permitted Acquisition had occurred on the first day of such Measurement
Period (it being understood and agreed that pre-fermaPro Forma EBITDAR minus rental or lease expense
may not be included in this calculation to the extent that it results in an annualized increase of more than
10% in the Company’s EBITDAR minus rental or lease expense prior to such adjustment, unless the
Company provides to the Administrative Agent and the Required Lenders the supporting calculations for
such adjustment and such other information as they may reasonably request to determine the accuracy of
such calculations), to (b) the sum for the applicable Measurement Period of (i) cash interest, plus (ii)
required principal payments on Indebtedness plus (iii) rental or lease expense. As used herein, “Permitted
Acquisition” and “Acquisition Subsidiary” shall have the respective meanings assigned thereto in the
Company Revolving Credit Agreement.

“Flood Insurance Laws™ means, collectively, (a) the National Flood Insurance Act of 1968, (b)
the Flood Disaster Protection Act of 1973, (¢) the National Flood Insurance Reform Act of 1994, (d) the
Flood Insurance Reform Act of 2004 and (e) the Biggert-Waters Flood Insurance Reform Act of 2012, as
each of the foregoing is now or hereafter in effect and any successor statute to any of the foregoing.

“FLSA™ means the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938.
“Foreign Lender” means (a) if a Borrower is a U.S. Person, a Lender that is not a U.S. Person,
and (b) if a Borrower is not a U.S. Person, a Lender that is resident or organized under the laws of a

jurisdiction other than that in which such Borrower is resident for tax purposes.

“Franchise Agreement” has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 5.21.

“FRB" means the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System of the United States.

“Fund” means any Person (other than a natural Person) that is (or will be) engaged in making,
purchasing, holding or otherwise investing in commercial loans, bonds and similar extensions of credit in
the ordinary course of its activities.

“Funded Debt” means, as of any date of determination, for the Company and its Subsidiaries on a
consolidated basis, the sum of (a) all Indebtedness of the type described in clauses (a), (b), (¢) and (f) of
the definition of Indebtedness, and (b) all Contingent Obligations in respect of Indebtedness of the type
described in clauses (a), (b}, (c) and (f) of the definition of Indebtedness; provided, however, that Funded
Debt shall not include unsecured trade accounts payable incurred in the ordinary course of business.

“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States set forth in the
opinions and pronouncements of the Accounting Principles Board and the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and statements and pronouncements of the Financial Accounting Standards Board or
such other principles as may be approved by a significant segment of the accounting profession in the
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United States, that are applicable to the circumstances as of the date of determination, consistently
applied.

“Governmental Approvals” means any authorization, order, consent, adjudication, approval,
certificate of compliance, license, permit, validation, or exemption from, contract with, registration or
filing with, or report or notice to, any Governmental Authority required or permitted by Applicable Law.

“Governmental Authority” means the government of the United States or any other nation, or of
any political subdivision thereof, whether state or local, and any agency, authority, instrumentality,
regulatory body, court, central bank or other entity exercising executive, legislative, judicial, taxing,
regulatory or administrative powers or functions of or pertaining to government (including any
supra-national bodies such as the European Union or the European Central Bank).

“Guarantors” means, collectively, the Company and each Subsidiary Guarantor.

“Guaranty Agreements” means, collectively, the Subsidiary Guaranty Agreement and the
Company Guaranty Agreement.

“Hazardous Substance” means (a) any substance or material now or hereafter defined or
designated as a hazardous, toxic or radioactive material, waste or substance, or as a pollutant or
contaminant (or designated by any other similar term), by any Environmental Law now or hercafter in
effect; (b) asbestos and any substance or compound containing asbestos; (¢) petroleum, natural gas,
natural gas liquids, liquefied natural gas, synthetic gas usable for fuel (or mixtures of natural gas and such
synthetic gas) and ash produced by a resource recovery facility utilizing a municipal solid waste stream,
and drilling fluids, produced waters and other wastes associated with the exploration, development or
production of crude oil, natural gas, or geothermal resources; (d) urea formaldehyde foam insulation; (e)
polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs); (f) radon; and (g) any other chemical, material, or substance, exposure
to which (because of its quantity, concentration, or physical or chemical characteristics) is limited or
regulated for health and safety reasons by any Governmental Authority, or which poses a significant
present or potential hazard to human health and safety or to the environment if released into the
workplace or the environment.

“Hedge Agreement” means (a) any and all rate swap transactions, basis swaps, credit derivative
transactions, forward rate transactions, commodity swaps, commodity options, forward commodity
contracts, equity or equity index swaps or options, bond or bond price or bond index swaps or options or
forward bond or forward bond price or forward bond index transactions, interest rate options, forward
foreign exchange transactions, cap transactions, floor transactions, collar transactions, currency swap
transactions, cross-currency rate swap transactions, currency options, spot contracts, or any other similar
transactions or any combination of any of the foregoing (including any options to enter into any of the
foregoing), whether or not any such transaction is governed by or subject to any master agreement, and
(b) any and all transactions of any kind, and the related confirmations, which are subject to the terms and
conditions of, or governed by, any form of master agreement published by the International Swaps and
Derivatives Association, Inc., any International Foreign Exchange Master Agreement, or any other master
agreement.

“Hedge Termination Value™ means, in respect of any one or more Hedge Agreements, after
taking into account the effect of any legally enforceable netting agreement relating to such Hedge
Agreements, (a) for any date on or after the date such Hedge Agreements have been closed out and
termination value(s) determined in accordance therewith, such termination value(s), and (b) for any date
prior to the date referenced in clause (a), the amount(s) determined as the mark-to-market value(s) for
such Hedge Agreements, as determined based upon one or more mid-market or other readily available
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quotations provided by any recognized dealer in such Hedge Agreements (which may include a Lender or
any Affiliate of a Lender).

“Improvements” means all right, title and interest of any Borrower in, to, under or derived from
all buildings, structures, facilities and other improvements of every kind and description now or hereafter
located on or at the Mortgaged Properties or attached to the improvements which by the nature of their
location thereon or attachment thereto are real property under Applicable Law.

“Indebtedness™ means, without duplication, with respect to any Person, (a) all indebtedness of
such Person for borrowed money or for the deferred purchase price of property or services, (b) all
obligations evidenced by bonds, notes, debentures, convertible debentures or other similar instruments,
(c) all indebtedness created or arising under any conditional sale or other title retention agreement with
respect to property acquired (even though the rights and remedies of the seller or lender under such
agreement in the event of default, acceleration, or termination are limited to repossession or sale of such
property), (d) all obligations under letters of credit, bankers” and trade acceptances, surety bonds and
similar instruments, (e) all obligations under Hedge Agreements, (f) all Capitalized Lease Obligations and
all obligations as lessee under Synthetic Leases, (g) all ebligationsindebtedness that areis required in
accordance with GAAP to be included as habilitiesa liability on such Person’s balance sheet, (h) all
Contingent Obligations, (1) all obligations of such Person in respect of Disqualified Equity Interests, (j)
all Indebtedness referred to in clause (a), (b), (c), (d), (e). (1), (g), (h) and (i) above secured by any lien,
security interest or other charge or encumbrance upon or in property (including, without limitation,
accounts and contract rights) owned by such Person, even though such Person has not assumed or become
liable for the payment of such Indebtedness, and (k) if any Event of Default described in Section 8.1(1)
has occurred, the liability, if any, related thereto. For purposes of this definition, the Indebtedness of any
Person shall include the indebtedness of any partnership in which such Person is a general partner, unless
such Indebtedness is expressly made non-recourse to such Person. In respect of Indebtedness described in
clause (j) of the foregoing definition, if such Indebtedness shall not have been assumed by such Person or
is limited in recourse to the assets securing such Lien, the amount of such Indebtedness as of any date of
determination will be the lesser of (x) the fair market value of the subject property as of such date and (y)
the amount of such Indebtedness as of such date. The amount of obligations in respect of any Hedge
Agreement on any date shall be deemed to be the Hedge Termination Value thereof as of such date. The
amount of obligations in respect of any Disqualified Equity Interests shall be valued, in the case of a
redeemable preferred interest, at the greater of its voluntary or involuntary liquidation preference plus
accrued and unpaid dividends that are past due.

“Indemnified Taxes™” means (a) Taxes, other than Excluded Taxes, imposed on or with respect to
any payment made by or on account of any obligation of any Credit Party under any Loan Document and
(b) to the extent not otherwise described in clause (a), Other Taxes.

“Indemnitee” has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 10.3(b).
“Information” has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 10.10.
“Investments™ has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 7.6.

“Investment Company Act” means the Investment Company Act of 1940 (15 U.S.C. § 80(a)(1),
el seq.).

“IRS™ means the United States Internal Revenue Service.
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“Lease” means each operating lease or capital lease of all or any portion of a Mortgaged Property,
including but not limited to those leases set forth on Schedule 5.25(b).

“Lender” has the meaning assigned thereto in the introductory paragraph of this Agreement.

“Lending Office™ means, with respect to any Lender, the office of such Lender maintaining such
Lender’s Loans, which office may, to the extent the applicable Lender notifies the Administrative Agent
in writing, include an office of any Affiliate of such Lender or any domestic or foreign branch of such
Lender or Affiliate.

“Leverage Ratio” means, as of the last day of any fiscal quarter, the ratio for the Company and its
Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis of: (a) (i) the then outstanding principal balance of all Funded Debt
(minus_the sum of (A) unrestricted cash and cash equivalents in-an-amouniplus (B) any amounts held in
the PR Accounts plus (C) any amounis held in accounits established by Dual Subsidiaries or Sllo
Subsidiaries as an offset to floorplan notes payable (or interest thereon) prcwaded that the aggregate
reduction for all of the foregoing clauses (A) through (C) shall not te-exceed $50.000:0006200,000,000),
minus (ii) the sum of the then outstanding principal balance of the New Vehicle Floorplan Loans, New
Vehicle Swing Line Loans, Used Vehicle Floorplan Loans, Used Vehicle Swing Line Loans, Service
Loaner Vehicle Floorplan Loans, Service Loaner Vehicle Swing Line Loans, principal amount of any
Other Service Loaner Floorplan Financing, Funded Debt permitted under Section 13.10(0) of the
Company Revolving Credit Agreement (but only to the extent constituting floor plan financing), Funded
Debt pcrmittcd undcr cction 13 10;9[ of thc Company Rcvolving Credit Agrccmcnt _(but only to the

Company Revu]vmg Crecht Agreemem (but only to the extent not guaranteed by the Cumpany) and
Funded Debt permitted under Section 13.10(s) of the Company Revolving Credit Agreement and, without
duphcatlon Funded Debt permnted under Section 13.10(f) of the Company Revoivmg Credit Agreement
(but only to the extent the underlying indebtedness that is guaranteed constitutes floor plan financing),
plus (iii) six times rental or lease expense for the Measurement Period ending on such date, to (b} (i) Pro
Forma EBITDAR for the Measurement Period ending on such date (it being understood and agreed that
Pro Forma EBITDAR minus rental or lease expense may not be included in this calculation to the extent
that it results in an annuahzed increase. of more than 10% in Ihf‘: Company s conso]ldated EBITDAR
minus rental or lease expense prior to such adjustment unless the Company prowdes to the
Administrative Agent and the Required Lenders the supporting calculations for such adjustment and such
other information as they may reasonably request to determine the accuracy of such calculations), minus
(ii) interest expense with respect to the New Vehicle Floorplan Loans, New Vehicle Swing Line Loans,
Used Vehicle Floorplan Loans, Used Vehicle Swing Line Loans, Service Loaner Vehicle Floorplan
Loans, Service Loaner Vehicle Swing Line Loans and Funded Debt permitted under Section 13.10(0) of
the Company Revolving Credit Agreement (but only to the extent constituting floor plan financing),
Funded chl permittcd undcr ection 13. 10; p) of the Company Rcvo]ving Credit Agrccmcnt (but only to

Funded Debt permitied | under Section 13.10(s) of the Company Revolving Credit Agreement. in each case
for the Measurement Period endmg on such date. As used herein, “PR Account”, “Dual Subsidiaries”,

“Silo Subsidiaries”, “New Vehicle Floorplan Loans”, “New Vehicle Swing Line Loans”, “Used Vchlclc

LRI

Floorplan Loans”, “Used Vehicle Swing Line Loana , “Service Loaner Vehicle Floomlan Loans”,
“Service Loaner Vehicle Swing Line Loans” and “Other Service Loaner Floorplan Financing shall have

the respective meanings assigned thereto in the Company Revolving Credit Agreement.

“LIBOR” means, subject to the implementation of a Benchmark Replacement in accordance with

Section 3.8(c),
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(a) for any interest rate calculation with respect to a LIBOR Rate Loan on any day, the rate
of interest per annum determined on the basis of the rate for deposits in Dollars for a period equal to one
month as published by the ICE Benchmark Administration Limited, a United Kingdom company, or a
comparable or successor quoting service approved by the Administrative Agent, at approximately 11:00
a.m. (London time) two (2) London Banking Days prior to the first day of the calendar month in which
such day occurs. If, for any reason, such rate is not so published then “LIBOR” shall be determined by
the Administrative Agent to be the arithmetic average of the rate per annum at which deposits in Dollars
would be offered by first class banks in the London interbank market to the Administrative Agent at
approximately 11:00 a.m. (London time) two (2) London Banking Days prior to the first day of the
calendar month in which such day occurs for a period equal to one month, and

(b) for any interest rate calculation with respect to a Base Rate Loan on any day, the rate of
interest per annum determined on the basis of the rate for deposits in Dollars for an period equal to one
month (commencing on the date of determination of such interest rate) as published by 1CE Benchmark
Administration Limited, a United Kingdom company, or a comparable or successor quoting service
approved by the Administrative Agent, at approximately 11:00 a.m. (London time) on such date of
determination, or, if such date is not a Business Day, then the immediately preceding Business Day. If,
for any reason, such rate is not so published then “LIBOR” for such Base Rate Loan shall be determined
by the Administrative Agent to be the arithmetic average of the rate per annum at which deposits in
Dollars would be offered by first class banks in the London interbank market to the Administrative Agent
at approximately 11:00 a.m. (London time) on such date of determination for a period equal to one month
commencing on such date of determination.

Each calculation by the Administrative Agent of LIBOR shall be conclusive and binding for all
purposes, absent manifest error.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, (x) in no event shall LIBOR (including any Benchmark
Replacement with respect thereto) be less than 0.75% and (y) unless otherwise specified in any
amendment to this Agreement entered into in accordance with Section 3.8(c), in the event that a
Benchmark Replacement with respect to LIBOR is implemented then all references herein to LIBOR shall
be deemed references to such Benchmark Replacement.

“LIBOR Rate” means a rate per annum determined by the Administrative Agent pursuant to the
following formula:

LIBOR Rate = LIBOR

1.00-Eurodollar Reserve Percentage

“LIBOR Rate Loan™ means any Loan bearing interest at a rate based upon the LIBOR Rate as
provided in Section 3.1(a).

“Lien” means any mortgage, deed of trust, pledge, security interest, hypothecation, assignment,
deposit arrangement, encumbrance, lien (statutory or other), or preference, priority, or other security
agreement or preferential arrangement, charge, or encumbrance of any kind or nature whatsoever
(including, without limitation, any conditional sale or other title retention agreement, any financing lease
having substantially the same economic effect as any of the foregoing, the interest of a lessor under a
Capitalized Lease or Synthetic Lease and the filing of any financing statement under the Uniform
Commercial Code or comparable law of any jurisdiction to evidence of any of the foregoing).
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“Loan Documents™ means, collectively, this Agreement, each Note, the Security Documents, the
Guaranty Agreements, the Engagement Letter, the Environmental Indemnity Agreement, each Borrower
Joinder Agreement, and each other document, instrument, certificate and agreement executed and
delivered by the Credit Parties or any of their respective Subsidiaries in favor of or provided to the
Administrative Agent or any Secured Party in connection with this Agreement or otherwise referred to
herein or contemplated hereby.

“Loan” means any revolving loan made to the Borrowers pursuant to Section 2.1, and “Loans”
means all such revolving loans collectively,

“London Banking Day” means any day on which dealings in Dollar deposits are conducted by
and between banks in the London interbank Eurodollar market.

“Material Adverse Effect” means a (a) material adverse change in or material adverse effect upon
the business, management, properties, condition (financial or otherwise), assets or operations of the
Company and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole; or (b) a material adverse effect upon or material
impairment in (i) the attachment, perfection, or priority of the security interests of the Administrative
Agent and the Lenders in the Collateral or in the value of any material part of the Collateral; (ii) the
ability of the Company and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole to perform their obligations under this
Agreement or any other Loan Document; or (iii) the legality, validity, binding effect or enforceability of
or the rights and remedies available to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders under this Agreement or
any other Loan Document.

“Material Lease” means each Lease other than any such Lease (a) with a tenant which is not a
Credit Party, (b) which covers a de minimis portion of the square footage of the applicable Mortgaged
Property, (¢) which does not adversely impact the ordinary course of operations of any Dealership
Property and (d) which does not interfere with the Administrative Agent’s rights to access or to undertake
foreclosure or other rights or remedies with respect to the applicable Mortgaged Property,

“Maturity Date” means the earliest to occur of (a) July 14, 2025, (b) the date of termination of the
entire Commitment by the Company pursuant to Section 2.5, and (c) the date of termination of the
Commitment pursuant to Section 8.2(a).

“Measurement Period” means, as of any date of determination, the period of four (4) consecutive
fiscal quarters ended on or immediately prior to such date.

“Minority Dealer” means a Minority Dealer Affiliate or a Minority Dealer Subsidiary; provided
that the Company shall not designate more than a total of seven Minority Dealers at any one time, in
addition to the designation of DCH CA, LLC as a Minority Dealer.

“Minority Dealer Affiliate” means a Person, designated in writing by the Company to the
Administrative Agent from time to time, (a) in which one or more Minority Dealer Partners, and one or
more Credit Parties, has an equity ownership interest and (b) which is not otherwise a Subsidiary of the
Company.

“Minority Dealer Partner” means an individual of ethnic minority descent, designated in writing
by the Company to the Administrative Agent from time to time, who owns any equity ownership interests
in a Minority Dealer, and any Affiliate of such individual through which the individual holds his or her
equity ownership interests in a Minority Dealer.
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“Minority Dealer Subsidiary” means a Subsidiary of the Company, designated in writing by the
Company to the Administrative Agent from time to time, in which one or more Minority Dealer Partners
owns, directly or indirectly, equity ownership interests of such Subsidiary or has the right to acquire,
directly or indirectly, equity ownership interests of such Subsidiary.

“Moody’s” means Moody’s Investors Service, Inc.

“Mortgaged Property” means any real property that is subject to a Mortgage.

“Mortgaged Property Release™ has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 2.6(c)(i).

“Mortgaged Property Substitution™ has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 2.6(c)(ii).

“Mortgages™ means, collectively, each mortgage, deed of trust, deed to secure debt or other real
property security document, encumbering any real property now or hereafter owned by the applicable
Borrower, in each case, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent and
executed by such Borrower in favor of the Administrative Agent, for the ratable benefit of the Secured
Parties, as any such document may be amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time
to time.

“Multiemployer Plan™ means a Plan maintained pursuant to a collective bargaining agreement or
any other arrangement to which any Credit Party or any ERISA Affiliate is, or in the immediately
preceding six years was, a party to which more than one employer is obligated to make contributions.

“Net Cash Proceeds” means, all cash and cash equivalents received by any Credit Party in
connection with any Casualty or Condemnation with respect to, or any sale or other disposition of, all or
any portion of a Mortgaged Property (including any cash or cash equivalents received by way of deferred
payment pursuant to, or by monetization of, a note receivable or otherwise, as and when received) less the
sum of (a) all income taxes and other taxes assessed by, or reasonably estimated to be payable to, a
Governmental Authority as a result of such transaction (provided that if such estimated taxes exceed the
amount of actual taxes required to be paid in cash in respect of such transaction, the amount of such
excess shall constitute Net Cash Proceeds), (b) all reasonable and customary out-of-pocket fees and
expenses incurred in connection with such transaction or event (including legal, accounting and
investment banking fees and sales commissions, recording fees, title transfer fees and appraiser fees) and
(c) all amounts that are set aside as a reserve (i) for adjustments in respect of the purchase price of such
assets, (ii) for any liabilities associated with such sale or casualty, to the extent such reserve is established
in accordance with GAAP or as otherwise required pursuant to the documentation with respect to such
transaction, (iii) for the payment of unassumed liabilities relating to the assets sold or otherwise disposed
of at the time of, or within 30 days after, the date of such sale or other disposition and (iv) for the
payment of indemnification obligations; provided that, to the extent and at the time any such amounts are
released from such reserve and received by such Credit Party, such amounts shall constitute Net Cash
Proceeds to the extent not then applied to such obligations.

“New Vehicle” means automobile, truck, van, or other motor vehicle that has never been owned
except by a manufacturer, distributor or dealer (including a vehicle acquired by trade with another
dealer); has never been registered or titled; is of the current or immediately preceding model year; and,
except for a demonstration unit, has not been driven more than 500 total miles.

“Non-Consenting Lender” means any Lender that does not approve any consent, waiver,
amendment, modification or termination that (a) requires the approval of all Lenders or all affected
Lenders in accordance with the terms of Section10.2 and (b) has been approved by the Required Lenders.
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“Non-Defaulting L ender” means, at any time, each Lender that is not a Defaulting Lender at such

time.

“Notes™” means a promissory note made by the Borrowers in favor of a Lender evidencing the
portion of the Loans made by such Lender, substantially in the form attached as Exhibit A, and any
substitutes therefor, and any replacements, restatements, renewals or extensions thereof, in whole or in
part.

“Notice of Account Designation™ has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 2.3(b).

“Notice of Borrowing” has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 2.3(a).

“Notice of Conversion™ has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 3.2,

“Notice of Prepayment” has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 2.4(c).

“Obligations™ means, in each case, whether now in existence or hereafier arising: (a) the principal
of and interest on (including interest accruing after the filing of any bankruptcy or similar petition) the
Loans and (b) all other fees and commissions (including attorneys’ fees), charges, indebtedness, loans,
liabilities, financial accommodations, obligations, covenants and duties owing by the Credit Parties to the
Lenders, the Administrative Agent or the other Secured Parties, in each case under any Loan Document,
with respect to any Loan of every kind, nature and description, direct or indirect, absolute or contingent,
due or to become due, contractual or tortious, liquidated or unliquidated, and whether or not evidenced by
any note and including interest and fees that accrue after the commencement by or against any Credit
Party of any proceeding under any Debtor Relief Laws, naming such Person as the debtor in such
proceeding, regardless of whether such interest and fees are allowed claims in such proceeding.

“OFAC” means the U.S. Department of the Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control.

“Organizational Documents™ means, (a) with respect to any corporation, the certificate or articles
of incorporation and the bylaws (or equivalent or comparable constitutive documents); (b) with respect to
any limited liability company, the certificate or articles of formation or organization and operating
agreement or limited liability company agreement (or equivalent or comparable documents); and (c) with
respect to any partnership, joint venture, trust or other form of business entity, the partnership, joint
venture or other applicable agreement of formation or organization and any agreement, instrument, filing
or notice with respect thereto filed in connection with its formation or organization with the applicable
Governmental Authority in the jurisdiction of its formation or organization and, if applicable, any
certificate or articles of formation or organization of such entity.

“Other Connection Taxes™ means, with respect to any Recipient, Taxes imposed as a result of a
present or former connection between such Recipient and the jurisdiction imposing such Tax (other than
connections arising from such Recipient having executed, delivered, become a party to, performed its
obligations under, received payments under, received or perfected a security interest under, engaged in
any other transaction pursuant to or enforced any Loan Document, or sold or assigned an interest in any
Loan or Loan Document).

“Other Taxes” means all present or future stamp, court, documentary, intangible, recording, filing
or similar Taxes that arise from any payment made under, from the execution, delivery, performance,
enforcement or registration of, from the receipt or perfection of a security interest under, or otherwise
with respect to, any Loan Document, except any such Taxes that are Other Connection Taxes imposed
with respect to an assignment (other than an assignment made pursuant to Section 3. 12),
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“Participant” has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 10.9(d).

“Participant Register” has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 10.9(d).

“PATRIOT Act” means the USA PATRIOT Act (Title III of Pub. L. 107-56 (signed into law
October 26, 2001)).

“PBGC™ means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation or any successor agency.

“Permitted Encumbrance™ means any Lien permitted by Section 7.3(a), (b), (c) or (g).

“Permitted Liens™ means the Liens permitted pursuant to Section 7.3.

“Permitted Restrictions™ has the meaning assigned to such term in the Company Revolving Credit
Agreement.

“Person™ means any natural person, corporation, limited liability company, trust, joint venture,
association, company, partnership, Governmental Authority or other entity.

“Platform” means Debt Domain, Intralinks, SyndTrak or a substantially similar electronic
transmission system.

“Plan” means an employee pension benefit plan which is covered by Title IV of ERISA or subject
to the minimum funding standards under Section 412 of the Code as to which any Credit Party or any
ERISA Affiliate may have any liability.

“Prime Rate™ means, at any time, the rate of interest per annum publicly announced from time to
time by the Administrative Agent as its prime rate. Each change in the Prime Rate shall be effective as of
the opening of business on the day such change in such prime rate occurs. The parties hereto
acknowledge that the rate announced publicly by the Administrative Agent as its prime rate is an index or
base rate and shall not necessarily be its lowest or best rate charged to its customers or other banks.

“Principal” means Sidney D. DeBoer, Bryan DeBoer or another successor, or Successors,
reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent and the Required Lenders.

“Pro Forma™ means, with respect to any transaction, that such transaction shall be deemed to have
occurred as of the first day of the Measurement Period ending as of the most recent quarter end preceding
the date of such transaction for which financial statement information is available. Each of the terms “Pro

“Prohibited Transaction™ means any prohibited transaction within the meaning of Section 406 of
ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code.

3

“Properties” has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 6.7.

“PTE” means a prohibited transaction class exemption issued by the U.S. Department of
Labor, as any such exemption may be amended from time to time.

“Public Lenders" has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 6.1.

“Real Estate Support Documents” means, with respect to any Mortgaged Property, each of the
following (all of which shall be in form and substance satisfactory to the Administrative Agent):
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(a) a mortgagee title insurance policy in an amount, and with endorsements,
acceptable to the Administrative Agent (which may be in the form of a mark-up or a pro forma of
the title commitments but which nevertheless represent presently effective and enforceable title
insurance) issued by a nationally recognized title insurance company acceptable to the
Administrative Agent insuring the Lien of the applicable Mortgage with respect to such
Mortgaged Property as a first priority Lien on the real property described therein, free of any
other Liens except for Permitted Encumbrances;

(b) a current ALTA survey (or such other survey reasonably acceptable to the
Administrative Agent), together with appropriate affidavits of no change and/or indemnities from
the Credit Parties, if applicable, sufficient to allow the title insurance policies required by the
preceding clause (a) without a standard survey exception and, if applicable, satisfy the
Administrative Agent’s and each Lender’s flood insurance diligence;

(c) a Phase | environmental report (and, if appropriate, Phase Il environmental
reports) and such other environmental report(s) reasonably requested by the Administrative Agent
by an environmental engineering firm acceptable to the Administrative Agent and environmental
indemnity agreements;

(d) life of loan flood hazard determination certifications, executed
acknowledgements from the applicable Borrower and evidence of flood insurance (if required)
and other flood-related documentation as required by Applicable Laws (including the Flood
[nsurance Laws) and as reasonably required by the Administrative Agent or any Lender;

(e) a FIRREA compliant appraisal from a third party appraiser acceptable to the
Administrative Agent (it being understood that such appraisal (and the appraised value set forth
therein) is subject to the review and approval of the Administrative Agent and is subject to
adjustment consistent with the Administrative Agent’s standard practices);

() evidence of the insurance with respect to such Mortgaged Property required by
this Agreement and the other Loan Documents, together with the endorsements required by the
Administrative Agent;

(2) memoranda of lease, tenant estoppel agreements and subordination agreements
required by the Administrative Agent;

(h) customary opinions of counsel (including, without limitation, local counsel) to
the Credit Parties, addressed to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders, with respect to the
Credit Parties, the Loan Documents and such other matters as the Administrative Agent shall
reasonably request (which such opinions shall expressly permit reliance by permitted successors
and assigns of the Administrative Agent and the Lenders); and

(1) customary affidavits, zoning letters and such other real estate related documents
as may be reasonably requested by the Administrative Agent (e.g. UCC fixture filings and the
like).

“Recipient” means (a) the Administrative Agent and (b) any Lender, as applicable.

“Register” has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 10.9(c).
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“Related Parties™ means, with respect to any Person, such Person’s Affiliates and the partners,
directors, officers, employees, agents, trustees, administrators, managers, advisors and representatives of
such Person and of such Person’s Affiliates.

“Relevant Governmental Body™ means the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve Beard
and/System or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or a committee officially endorsed or convened by
the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve Board-and/System or the Federal Reserve Bank of New
York, or any successor thereto.

“Removal Effective Date™ has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 9.6(b).

“Required Lenders” means, at any time, Lenders having Total Credit Exposure representing more
than fifty percent (50%) of the Total Credit Exposure of all Lenders. The Total Credit Exposure of any
Defaulting Lender shall be disregarded in determining Required Lenders at any time. At any time that
there is more than one Lender that is not an Affiliate of any other Lender there shall be at least two
Lenders that are not Affiliates of one another within the group of Lenders constituting Required Lenders
at such time.

“Resignation Effective Date” has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 9.6(a).

“Resolution Authority” means an EEA Resolution Authority or, with respect to any UK Financial
[nstitution, a UK Resolution Authority.

“Responsible Officer” means, as to any Person, the chief executive officer, president, chief
financial officer, controller, treasurer or assistant treasurer of such Person or any other officer or agent of
such Person designated in writing by the Company or such Person and reasonably acceptable to the
Administrative Agent; provided that, to the extent requested thereby, the Administrative Agent shall have
received a certificate of such Person certifying as to the incumbency and genuineness of the signature of
each such officer or agent. Any document delivered hereunder or under any other Loan Document that is
signed by a Responsible Officer of a Person shall be conclusively presumed to have been authorized by
all necessary corporate, limited liability company, partnership and/or other action on the part of such
Person and such Responsible Officer shall be conclusively presumed to have acted on behalf of such
Person,

“Restricted Payment” means any dividend or other distribution (whether in cash, securities or
other property) with respect to any Equity Interests in any Credit Party or any Subsidiary, or any payment
(whether in cash, securities or other property), including any sinking fund or similar deposit, on account
of the purchase, redemption, retirement, acquisition, cancellation or termination of any such Equity
Interests in any Credit Party or any option, warrant or other right to acquire any such Equity Interests in
any Credit Party.

“S&P” means Standard & Poor’s Rating Service, a division of S&P Global Inc. and any
successor thereto.

“Sanctioned Country™ means at any time, a country, region or territory which is itself (or whose
government is) the subject or target of any Sanctions (including, as of the Closing Date, Cuba, Iran, North
Korea, Syria and Crimea).

“Sanctioned Person™ means, at any time, (a) any Person listed in any Sanctions-related list of
designated Persons maintained by OFAC (including OFAC’s Specially Designated Nationals and
Blocked Persons List and OFAC’s Consolidated Non-SDN List), the U.S, Department of State, the United
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Nations Security Council, the European Union, any European member state, Her Majesty’s Treasury, or
other relevant sanctions authority, (b) any Person operating, organized or resident in a Sanctioned
Country, (c) any Person owned or controlled by, or acting or purporting to act for or on behalf of, directly
or indirectly, any such Person or Persons described in clauses (a) and (b), including a Person that is
deemed by OFAC to be a Sanctions target based on the ownership of such legal entity by Sanctioned
Person(s) or (d) any Person otherwise a target of Sanctions, including vessels and aircraft, that are
designated under any Sanctions program.

“Sanctions™ means any and all economic or financial sanctions, sectoral sanctions, secondary
sanctions, trade embargoes and restrictions and anti-terrorism laws, including but not limited to those
imposed, administered or enforced from time to time by the U.S. government (including those
administered by OFAC or the U.S. Department of State), the United Nations Security Council, the
European Union, any European member state, Her Majesty’s Treasury, or other relevant sanctions
authority in any jurisdiction in which (a) the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates is located or
conducts business, (b) in which any of the proceeds of the Loans will be used, or (¢) from which
repayment of the Loans will be derived.

“SCFC Receivables Pacility™ means an arrangement pursuant to-which-an SCFC Subsidiary sells

“Scheduled Commitment Reduction™ has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 2.5(c).

“SEC” means the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, or any Governmental Authority
succeeding to any of its principal functions.

“Secured Parties” means, collectively, the Administrative Agent, the Lenders, each co-agent or
sub-agent appointed by the Administrative Agent from time to time pursuant to Section 9.5, any other
holder from time to time of any of any Obligations and, in each case, their respective successors and
permitted assigns.

“Security Documents” means the collective reference to the Mortgages, and each other agreement
or writing pursuant to which any Credit Party pledges or grants a security interest in any property or
assets securing the Obligations.

“Seller Agreement” means any material agreement between the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries and a manufacturer, distributor or other seller of New Vehicles (including without limitation
any dealer franchise agreement, dealer agreement, dealer sales and service agreement or similar
agreement, distribution agreements, framework agreements, and the like).

“SOFR™ with respect to any day means the secured overnight financing rate published for such
day by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, as the administrator of the benchmark, (or a successor
administrator) on the Federal Reserve Bank of New York’s Website.
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“Solvent” means, with respect to any Person on any date, that on such date (a) the fair value of
the assets of such Person, at a fair valuation is greater than the debts and liabilities, subordinated,
contingent or otherwise, of such Person; (b) the present fair saleable value of the assets of such Person is
greater than the amount that will be required to pay the probable liability of such Person on its debts and
other liabilities, subordinated, contingent or otherwise, as such debts and other liabilities become absolute
and matured; (c) such Person will be able to pay its debts and liabilities, subordinated, contingent or
otherwise, as such debts and liabilities become absolute and matured; (d) such Person does not have
unreasonably small capital with which to conduct the businesses in which it is engaged as such businesses
are now conducted; and (e) such Person does not intend to, and does not believe that it will incur debts or
liabilities beyond its ability to pay such debts and liabilities as they mature, taking into account the timing
of and amounts of cash to be received by it and the timing of the amounts of cash to be payable on or in
respect of its indebtedness.

“Specified Company Guaranties™ means one or more unseuured guarantles by the Company of'
the {)bhgahom of any 5}(—H?D!-C Sub51dlary :

&%}p&ny—%&ny—gu&mﬁy—@#—%ﬁ%lﬁdﬂb&dﬂ&%—%dﬁm&d—mto the extent not prohlbltcd undcr the
Company Revolving Credit Agreement).-exeeed-$250.000,000-at-any-one-time:

lﬂdeb-tednesar-ali—t;mtmem—ﬁmi—eaﬂﬂﬂa——ﬁghﬁ,—guﬂm Eeeﬁ—{w—mher-—ﬁhﬁgafiem&—iﬂ—feﬁpeﬂ—ﬂ fsuch

“Subsidiary” of a Person means (a) any corporation Controlled by such Person or more than 50%
of the outstanding securities having ordinary voting power of which shall at the time be owned, directly
or indirectly, by such Person or by one or more of such Person’s Subsidiaries or by such Person and one
or more of its Subsidiaries and (b) any partnership, limited liability company, association, joint venture or
other business organization Controlled by such Person or more than 50% of the ownership interests
having ordinary voting power of which shall at the time be so owned. Unless otherwise expressly
provided, all references herein to a “Subsidiary” shall mean a Subsidiary of the Company.

“Subsidiary Guarantors” means, collectively, the Subsidiaries party to the Subsidiary Guaranty
Agreement (including by execution of a Subsidiary Guaranty Joinder Agreement).

“Subsidiary Guaranty Agreement” means the Subsidiary Guaranty Agreement dated as of the date
hereof, made by certain Subsidiaries of the Company in favor of the Administrative Agent for the benefit
of the Secured Parties, as supplemented from time to time by the execution and delivery of Subsidiary
Guaranty Joinder Agreements.

“Subsidiary Guaranty Joinder Agreement” means any Subsidiary Guaranty Joinder Agreement,
substantially in the form thereof attached to the Subsidiary Guaranty Agreement, executed and delivered
by a Subsidiary to the Administrative Agent.

“Substitution Property™ has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 2.6(c)(ii).

“Synthetic Lease™ means any lease of goods or other property, whether real or personal, which is
treated as an operating lease under GAAP and as a loan or financing for United States income tax
purposes.
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“Taxes” means all present or future taxes, levies, imposts, duties, deductions, withholdings
(including backup withholding), assessments, fees or other charges imposed by any Governmental
Authority, including any interest, fines, additions to tax or penalties applicable thereto.

“Term SOFR"™ means the forward-looking term rate based on SOFR that has been selected or
recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body.

“Total Credit Exposure™ means, as to any Lender at any time, the unused Commitments of such
Lender at such time and the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Loans of such Lender at such
time.

“Total Qutstandings” means, with respect to the Loans on any date, the aggregate outstanding
principal amount thereof after giving effect to any borrowings and prepayments or repayments of Loans
occurring on such date.

“UCC™” means the Uniform Commercial Code as in effect in the State of New York.

“UK Finanecial Institution™ means any BRRD Undertaking (as such term is defined under the
PRA Rulebook (as amended from time to time) promulgated by the United Kingdom Prudential
Regulation Authority) or any person falling within IFPRU 11.6 of the FCA Handbook (as amended from
time to time) promulgated by the United Kingdom Financial Conduct Authority, which includes certain
credit institutions and investment firms, and certain affiliates of such credit institutions or investment
firms.

“UK_Resolution Authority” means the Bank of England or any other public administrative
authority having responsibility for the resolution of any UK Financial Institution.

“Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement” means the Benchmark Replacement excluding the
Benchmark Replacement Adjustment.

“United States” means the United States of America.

“U.S. Person” means any Person that is a “United States person” as defined in Section
7701(a)(30) of the Code.

“U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate™ has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 3.11(g).

“Wells Fargo” means Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, a national banking association.

“Wholly-Owned” means, with respect to a Subsidiary, that all of the Equity Interests of such
Subsidiary are, directly or indirectly, owned or controlled by the Company and/or one or more of its
Wholly-Owned Subsidiaries (except for directors” qualifying shares or other shares required by
Applicable Law to be owned by a Person other than the Company and/or one or more of its
Wholly-Owned Subsidiaries).

“Withholding Agent” means any Credit Party and the Administrative Agent.

“Write-Down and Conversion Powers” means (a) with respect to any EEA Resolution Authority,
the write-down and conversion powers of such EEA Resolution Authority from time to time under the
Bail-In Legislation for the applicable EEA Member Country, which write-down and conversion powers
are described in the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule and (b) with respect to the United Kingdom, any
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powers of the applicable Resolution Authority under the Bail-In Legislation to cancel, reduce, modify or
change the form of a liability of any UK Financial Institution or any contract or instrument under which
that liability arises, to convert all or part of that liability into shares, securities or obligations of that
person or any other person, to provide that any such contract or instrument is to have effect as if a right
had been exercised under it or to suspend any obligation in respect of that liability or any of the powers
under that Bail-In Legislation that are related to or ancillary to any of those powers.

SECTION 1.2 Other Definitions and Provisions. With reference to this Agreement and each
other Loan Document, unless otherwise specified herein or in such other Loan Document: (a) the
definitions of terms herein shall apply equally to the singular and plural forms of the terms defined, (b)
whenever the context may require, any pronoun shall include the corresponding masculine, feminine and
neuter forms, (c) the words “include”, “includes™ and “including” shall be deemed to be followed by the
phrase “without limitation”, (d) the word “will” shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect as
the word “shall”, (e) any reference herein to any Person shall be construed to include such Person’s
successors and assigns, (f) the words “herein”, “hereof” and “hereunder”, and words of similar import,
shall be construed to refer to this Agreement in its entirety and not to any particular provision hereof, (g)
all references herein to Articles, Sections, Exhibits and Schedules shall be construed to refer to Articles
and Sections of, and Exhibits and Schedules to, this Agreement, (h) the words “asset” and “property”
shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect and to refer to any and all tangible and intangible
assets and properties, including cash, securities, accounts and contract rights, (i) the term “documents”
includes any and all instruments, documents, agreements, certificates, notices, reports, financial
statements and other writings, however evidenced, whether in physical or electronic form-and, (j) in the
computation of periods of time from a specified date to a later specified date, the word “from™ means
“from and including;” the words “to” and “until” each mean “to but excluding;” and the word “through”
means “to and including” and (k) references to articles, sections, exhibits and schedules in the Company
Revolving Credit Agreement shall be construed to refer to articles, sections, exhibits and schedules
therein, including any successor section to the extent the Company Revolving Credit Agreement is
amended as described in the definition of Company Revolving Credit Agreement.

SECTION 1.3 Accounting Terms.

(a) All accounting terms not specifically or completely defined herein shall be construed in
conformity with, and all financial data (including financial ratios and other financial calculations)
required to be submitted pursuant to this Agreement shall be prepared in conformity with GAAP, applied
on a consistent basis, as in effect from time to time and in a manner consistent with that used in preparing
the Audited Financial Statements, except as otherwise specifically prescribed herein. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, for purposes of determining compliance with any covenant (including the computation of any
financial covenant) contained herein, Indebtedness of the Company and its Subsidiaries shall be deemed
to be carried at 100% of the outstanding principal amount thereof, and the effects of FASB ASC 825 and
FASB ASC 470-20 on financial liabilities shall be disregarded.

(b) If at any time any change in GAAP would affect the computation of any financial ratio or
requirement set forth in any Loan Document, and either the Company or the Required Lenders shall so
request, the Administrative Agent, the Lenders and the Company shall negotiate in good faith to amend
such ratio or requirement to preserve the original intent thereof in light of such change in GAAP (subject
to the approval of the Required Lenders); provided that, until so amended, (i) such ratio or requirement
shall continue to be computed in accordance with GAAP prior to such change therein and (ii) the
Company shall provide to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders financial statements and other
documents required under this Agreement or as reasonably requested hereunder setting forth a
reconciliation between calculations of such ratio or requirement made before and after giving effect to
such change in GAAP; provided, further that (A) all obligations of any Person that are or would have
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been treated as operating leases for purposes of GAAP prior to the effectiveness of FASB ASC 842 shall
continue to be accounted for as operating leases for purposes of all financial definitions and calculations
for purpose of this Agreement (whether or not such operating lease obligations were in effect on such
date) notwithstanding the fact that such obligations are required in accordance with FASB ASC 842 (on a
prospective or retroactive basis or otherwise) to be treated as Capitalized Lease Obligations in the
financial statements and (B) all financial statements delivered to the Administrative Agent hereunder shall
contain a schedule showing the modifications necessary to reconcile the adjustments made pursuant to
clause (A) above with such financial statements.

SECTION 1.4 UCC Terms. Terms defined in the UCC in effect on the Closing Date and not
otherwise defined herein shall, unless the context otherwise indicates, have the meanings provided by
those definitions. Subject to the foregoing, the term “UCC” refers, as of any date of determination, to the
UCC then in effect.

SECTION 1.5 Rounding. Any financial ratios required to be maintained pursuant to this
Agreement shall be calculated by dividing the appropriate component by the other component, carrying
the result to one place more than the number of places by which such ratio or percentage is expressed
herein and rounding the result up or down to the nearest number (with a rounding-up if there is no nearest
number).

SECTION 1.6 References to Agreement and Laws. Unless otherwise expressly provided
herein, (a) any definition or reference to formation documents, governing documents, agreements
(including the Loan Documents) and other contractual documents or instruments shall be deemed to
include all subsequent amendments, restatements, extensions, supplements and other modifications
thereto, but only to the extent that such amendments, restatements, extensions, supplements and other
modifications are not prohibited by any Loan Document; and (b) any definition or reference to any
Applicable Law, including Anti-Corruption Laws, Anti-Money Laundering Laws, the Bankruptcy Code,
the Code, ERISA, the Exchange Act, the FLSA, the PATRIOT Act, the UCC, the Investment Company
Act, the Trading with the Enemy Act of the United States or any of the foreign assets control regulations
of the United States Treasury Department, shall include all statutory and regulatory provisions
consolidating, amending, replacing, supplementing or interpreting such Applicable Law.

SECTION 1.7 Times of Day. Unless otherwise specified, all references herein to times of
day shall be references to Pacific time (daylight or standard, as applicable).

SECTION 1.8 Rates. The Administrative Agent does not warrant or accept responsibility
for, and shall not have any liability with respect to, the administration, submission or any other matter
related to the rates in the definition of “LIBOR” or with respect to any rate that is an alternative or
replacement for or successor to any such rate (including, without limitation, any Benchmark
Replacement) or the effect of any of the foregoing, or of any Benchmark Replacement Conforming
Changes.

SECTION 1.9 Divisions. For all purposes under the Loan Documents, in connection with
any division or plan of division under Delaware law (or any comparable event under a different
jurisdiction’s laws): (a) if any asset, right, obligation or liability of any Person becomes the asset, right,
obligation or liability of a different Person, then it shall be deemed to have been transferred from the
original Person to the subsequent Person, and (b) if any new Person comes into existence, such new
Person shall be deemed to have been organized on the first date of its existence by the holders of its
Equity Interests at such time.
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ARTICLE I
REVOLVING CREDIT FACILITY

SECTION 2.1 Loans. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the other
Loan Documents, and in reliance upon the representations and warranties set forth in this Agreement and
the other Loan Documents, each Lender severally agrees to make Loans in Dollars to the Borrowers from
time to time from the Closing Date to, but not including, the Maturity Date as requested by the Company
in accordance with the terms of Section 2.3; provided, that (a) the Total Qutstandings shall not exceed the
Commitment and (b) the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Loans of any Lender shall not at
any time exceed such Lender’s Commitment. Each Loan by a Lender shall be in a principal amount equal
to such Lender’s Commitment Percentage of the aggregate principal amount of Loans requested on such
occasion. Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, the Borrowers may borrow, repay and reborrow
Loans hereunder until the Maturity Date.

SECTION 2.2 Reserved].

SECTION 2.3 Procedure for Advances of Loans.

(a) Requests for Borrowing. The Company shall give the Administrative Agent irrevocable
prior written notice substantially in the form of Exhibit B (a “Notice of Borrowing™) not later than 11:00
a.m. (i) on the same Business Day as each Base Rate Loan and (ii) at least three (3) Business Days before
each LIBOR Rate Loan, of its intention to borrow, specifying (A) the date of such borrowing, which shall
be a Business Day, (B) the amount of such borrowing, which shall be, (x) with respect to Base Rate Loans
in an aggregate principal amount of $1,000,000 or a whole multiple of $500,000 in excess thereof and (y)
with respect to LIBOR Rate Loans in an aggregate principal amount of $2,000,000 or a whole multiple of
$1,000,000 in excess thereof, (C) whether such Loan is to be a LIBOR Rate Loan or a Base Rate Loan,
and (D) the applicable Borrower on behalf of whom such Loan is being requested, If the Company fails
to specify a type of Loan in a Notice of Borrowing, then the applicable Loans shall be made as LIBOR
Rate Loans, so long as the three (3) Business Days prior notice requirement is satisfied and, if such
requirement is not satisfied, then the applicable Loans shall be made as Base Rate Loans. A Notice of
Borrowing received after 11:00 a.m. shall be deemed received on the next Business Day. The
Administrative Agent shall promptly notify the Lenders of each Notice of Borrowing.

(b) Disbursement of Loans. Not later than 1:00 p.m. on the proposed borrowing date, each
Lender will make available to the Administrative Agent, for the account of the Borrowers, at the
Administrative Agent’s Office in funds immediately available to the Administrative Agent, such Lender’s
Commitment Percentage of the Loans to be made on such borrowing date. Each Borrower hereby
irrevocably authorizes the Administrative Agent to disburse the proceeds of each borrowing requested
pursuant to this Section in immediately available funds by crediting or wiring such proceeds to the
deposit account of the applicable Borrower identified in the most recent notice substantially in the form
attached as Exhibit C (a “Notice of Account Designation”) delivered by the Company to the
Administrative Agent or as may be otherwise agreed upon by the Company and the Administrative Agent
from time to time. Subject to Section 3.7 hereof, the Administrative Agent shall not be obligated to
disburse the portion of the proceeds of any Loan requested pursuant to this Section to the extent that any
Lender has not made available to the Administrative Agent its Commitment Percentage of such Loan.
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SECTION 2.4 Repayment and Prepayment of Loans.

(a) Repayment on Termination Date. The Borrowers hereby agree to repay the outstanding
principal amount of all Loans in full on the Maturity Date together with all accrued but unpaid interest
thereon.

(b) Mandatory Prepayments. If at any time the Total Outstandings exceed the Commitment,
the Borrowers shall immediately prepay Loans in an amount equal to such excess. The Borrowers shall
also prepay Loans in connection with any Casualty, Condemnation or Mortgaged Property Release, in
each case to the extent required pursuant to Section 2.6. Each prepayment under this Section 2.4(b) shall
be accompanied by any amount required to be paid pursuant to Section 3.9.

(c) Optional Prepayments. The Borrowers may at any time and from time to time prepay
Loans, in whole or in part, without premium or penalty, with irrevocable prior written notice by the
Company to the Administrative Agent substantially in the form attached as Exhibit D (a “Notice of
Prepayment”) given not later than 11:00 a.m. (i) on the same Business Day as each Base Rate Loan and
(11) at least three (3) Business Days before each LIBOR Rate Loan, specifying the date and amount of
prepayment and whether the prepayment is of LIBOR Rate Loans, Base Rate Loans or a combination
thereof, and, if of a combination thereof, the amount allocable to each. Upon receipt of such notice, the
Administrative Agent shall promptly notify each Lender. If any such notice is given, the amount
specified in such notice shall be due and payable on the date set forth in such notice. Partial prepayments
shall be in an aggregate amount of $1,000,000 or a whole multiple of $500,000 in excess thereof with
respect to Base Rate Loans and $2,000,000 or a whole multiple of $1,000,000 in excess thereof with
respect to LIBOR Rate Loans. A Notice of Prepayment received after 11:00 a.m. shall be deemed
received on the next Business Day. Each such repayment shall be accompanied by any amount required
to be paid pursuant to Section 3.9.

(d) Hedge Agreements. No repayment or prepayment of the Loans pursuant to this Section
shall affect any Borrower’s obligations under any Hedge Agreement entered into with respect to the
Loans.

SECTION 2.5 Permanent Reduction of the Commitment.

(a) Voluntary Reduction. The Borrowers shall have the right at any time and from time to
time, upon at least five (5) Business Days prior irrevocable written notice from the Company to the
Administrative Agent, to permanently reduce, without premium or penalty, (i) the entire Commitment at
any time or (ii) portions of the Commitment, from time to time, in an aggregate principal amount not less
than $1,000,000 or any whole multiple of $1,000,000 in excess thereof. Any reduction of the
Commitment shall be applied to the Commitment of each Lender according to its Commitment
Percentage. All Commitment Fees accrued until the effective date of any termination of the Commitment
shall be paid on the effective date of such termination.

(b) Mandatory Reduction. On the date of any Mortgaged Property Release, the Commitment
shall be permanently reduced by an amount equal to the positive difference (if any) of (i) the aggregate
Applicable Allocable Values of all Dealership Properties and/or Adjacent Properties subject to such
Mortgaged Property Release (the “Released Mortgaged Property”) minus (ii) the aggregate Applicable
Margined Values of all of the Dealership Properties and/or Adjacent Properties being substituted for the
Released Mortgaged Property on such date pursuant to a Mortgaged Property Substitution, if any.
Subject to Section 2.6(a)(v) and 2.6(b)(v), on each date that Loans are required to be prepaid pursuant to
Section 2.6 as a result of any Casualty or Condemnation, the Commitments shall be permanently reduced
by an amount equal to such principal prepayment and, if the Net Cash Proceeds received in respect
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thereof exceed the Loans outstanding on any date that such a prepayment would have otherwise been
required with such Net Cash Proceeds, the Commitment shall nonetheless be permanently reduced on
such date by an amount equal to such Net Cash Proceeds.

(c) Scheduled Commitment Reductions. The Commitment shall also be permanently
reduced on a quarterly basis (each such reduction, a “*Scheduled Commitment Reduction™) by an amount
equal to $3,183,750 each calendar quarter beginning October 1, 2020 and continuing on the first Business
Day of ¢ach January, April, July and October thereafter,

(d) Application of Reduction. To the extent that the Commitment is reduced pursuant to
Section 2.5(a), such reduction shall reduce the amount of the Commitment as may be directed by the
Company (including by reducing one or more of the Scheduled Commitment Reductions) and, in the
absence of any such direction by the Company, shall reduce the Commitment scheduled to terminate on
the Maturity Date until such amount equals zero and thereafter shall reduce the Scheduled Commitment
Reductions in the inverse order thereof. To the extent that the Commitment is reduced pursuant to
Section 2.5(b), such reduction shall reduce the amount of the Commitment scheduled to terminate on the
Maturity Date until such amount equals zero and thereafter shall reduce the Scheduled Commitment
Reductions in the inverse order thereof.

(e) Corresponding Payment. Each permanent reduction permitted or required pursuant to
this Section shall be accompanied by a payment of principal sufficient to reduce the aggregate
outstanding Loans after such reduction to the Commitment as so reduced. Any reduction of the
Commitment to zero shall be accompanied by payment of all outstanding Loans and shall result in the
termination of the Commitment and the Credit Facility. If the reduction of the Commitment requires the
repayment of any LIBOR Rate Loan, such repayment shall be accompanied by any amount required to be
paid pursuant to Section 3.9 hereof.

SECTION 2.6 Casualty, Condemnation and Release and Substitution of Mortgaged
Properties.

(a) Casualty.

(i) If any Mortgaged Property shall be damaged or destroyed, in whole or in part, by
fire or other casualty (a “Casualty™), the Company shall give prompt notice thereof to the
Administrative Agent. Following the occurrence of a Casualty, the Credit Parties, regardless of
whether insurance proceeds are available, shall proceed promptly to restore, repair, replace or
rebuild the affected Mortgaged Property to be of at least equal value (or, to the extent approved
by the Administrative Agent, substantially equal value) and of substantially the same character as
prior to such damage or destruction (but with such alterations, modifications and/or betterments
reasonably deemed necessary or desirable by the Company or the affected Credit Party in its good
faith business judgment), in accordance with all Applicable Laws.

(1i) The Borrowers shall make mandatory principal prepayments of the Loans in an
amount equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the aggregate Net Cash Proceeds from a Casualty
and the Commitments shall be reduced in accordance with Section 2.5(b). Such prepayments
shall be made within five (5) Business Days after the date of receipt by any Credit Party or the
Administrative Agent, as the case may be, of the Net Cash Proceeds (and the Borrowers hereby
authorize the Administrative Agent to apply such Net Cash Proceeds to such prepayment);
provided that, so long as no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing or
would result therefrom, no prepayment shall be required under this Section 2.6(a)(ii) with respect
to such portion of such Net Cash Proceeds that the Company shall have, on or prior to such date,
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given written notice to the Administrative Agent of its intent to apply such Net Cash Proceeds to
the restoration of such Mortgaged Property in accordance with subsection (iii) below.

(iii) With respect to any Net Cash Proceeds to be applied to the restoration of a
Mortgaged Property pursuant to the proviso set forth in Section 2.6(a)(ii), such Net Cash
Proceeds shall be disbursed by the Administrative Agent as follows:

(A) if the loss is less than or equal to an amount equal to 10% of the
Applicable Appraised Value of such Mortgaged Property, the Administrative Agent shall
disburse the Net Cash Proceeds for use in connection with the restoration of such
Mortgaged Property from time to time in accordance with subsection (iv) below so long
as (1) no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing or would result
therefrom and (2) the Credit Parties promptly commence and are diligently pursuing
restoration of such Mortgaged Property;

(B) if the loss exceeds an amount equal to 10% of the Applicable Appraised
Value of such Mortgaged Property, the Administrative Agent shall disburse the Net Cash
Proceeds for use in connection with the restoration of such Mortgaged Property from
time to time in accordance with subsection (iv) below, but only if each of the following
conditions are satisfied: (1) at all times during such restoration no Default or Event of
Default has occurred and is continuing or would result therefrom; (2) the Administrative
Agent determines throughout the restoration that there are sufficient funds available to
restore and repair such Mortgaged Property to a condition approved by the
Administrative Agent or, if the Administrative Agent determines that such funds are
insufficient for such purpose, upon the demand of the Administrative Agent the Credit
Parties shall promptly (and in any event within thirty (30) days following request
therefor) provide additional security (or such other financial accommodation or
arrangement) to address such insufficiency to the Administrative Agent’s satisfaction; (3)
the Administrative Agent determines that the fair market value of such Mortgaged
Property after restoration will not be less than the Applicable Appraised Value of such
Mortgaged Property; (4) the Administrative Agent determines that restoration and repair
of such Mortgaged Property to a condition approved by the Administrative Agent will be
completed within three hundred sixty (360) days after the date of loss or casualty and in
any event at least one hundred eighty (180) days prior to the Maturity Date; (5) the Credit
Parties promptly commence and are diligently pursuing restoration of such Mortgaged
Property; and (6) such Mortgaged Property after the restoration will be in compliance
with, and permitted under, all requirements of Applicable Law, including zoning,
building and land use laws, rules, regulations and ordinances; and

(C) if any of the conditions set forth in clauses (A) and (B) of this Section
2.6(a)(ii) are not satisfied with respect to any such restoration of a Mortgaged Property,
then, unless otherwise directed by the Required Lenders, the Administrative Agent shall
apply the Net Cash Proceeds to the prepayment of the Loans as set forth in Section
2.6(a)(ii);

provided that if any Net Cash Proceeds are no longer intended to be or cannot be so
applied to the restoration of such Mortgaged Property at any time after delivery of a
notice of restoration election, an amount equal to any such Net Cash Proceeds shall be
applied within five (5) Business Days after the applicable Credit Party reasonably
determines that such Net Cash Proceeds are no longer intended to be or cannot be so
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applied to the restoration of such Mortgaged Property to the prepayment of the Loans as
set forth in Section 2.6(a)(ii).

(iv) The Net Cash Proceeds that are available for restoration pursuant to clauses (A)
or (B) of Section 2.6(a)(iii) will be disbursed by the Administrative Agent on receipt of
reasonably satisfactory plans and specifications, contracts and subcontracts, schedules, budgets,
invoices, lien waivers and architects” certificates, and otherwise in accordance with the
Administrative Agent’s customary commercial construction lending practices for construction
loan advances (including appropriate retainages to ensure that all work is completed in a
workmanlike manner) and may, at the discretion of the Administrative Agent, be remitted directly
to applicable third parties.

(v) Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any Mortgaged Property is subject to a
Casualty, then the Borrowers may also elect to release such Mortgaged Property pursuant to
Section 2.6(c)(i) and provide Substitution Property as Collateral (together with all Real Estate
Support Documents) in the manner provided in Section 2.6(c)(ii) below in lieu of making the
prepayments or making the restoration contemplated by this Section 2.6(a) so long as such release
and substitution occurs within ninety (90) days of the occurrence of such Casualty (or such later
date as the Administrative Agent may permit in its sole discretion).

(b) Condemnation.

(1) The Company shall promptly give the Administrative Agent written notice of the
actual or threatened commencement of any proceeding relating to an actual or proposed
Condemnation of any Mortgaged Property and shall deliver to the Administrative Agent copies of
any and all papers served in connection therewith. Following the occurrence of a Condemnation
of any Mortgaged Property, the Credit Parties, regardless of whether any award or compensation
(an “Award™) is available, shall promptly proceed to restore, repair, replace or rebuild the
applicable Mortgaged Property to the extent practicable to be of at least equal value (or, to the
extent approved by the Administrative Agent, substantially equal value) and of substantially the
same character (but with such alterations, modifications and/or betterments reasonably deemed
necessary or desirable by the Company or the affected Credit Party in its good faith business
judgment) as prior to such Condemnation, all to be effected in accordance with Applicable Law.
The Administrative Agent may participate in any such proceeding (for itself and on behalf of the
Secured Parties) and the Borrowers will deliver to the Administrative Agent all instruments
necessary or required by the Administrative Agent to permit such participation. Without the
Administrative Agent’s prior consent, no Credit Party shall agree to any Award or, except as
required by Applicable Law, take any action (or fail to take any action) which would cause the
Award to be determined. All Awards for the taking or purchase in lieu of condemnation of any
Mortgaged Property or any part thereof are hereby assigned to and shall be paid to the
Administrative Agent for the benefit of the Secured Parties to be applied to the Obligations in
accordance with the terms and conditions of the Loan Documents. The Administrative Agent is
hereby irrevocably appointed as each Credit Party’s attorney-in-fact, coupled with an interest,
with exclusive power to collect, receive and retain any Award and to make any compromise or
settlement in connection with any such Condemnation and to give proper receipts and
acquittances therefor, The Credit Parties, upon request by the Administrative Agent, shall
execute all instruments requested to confirm the assignment of the Awards to the Administrative
Agent, free and clear of all Liens, charges or encumbrances. Anything herein to the contrary
notwithstanding, the Administrative Agent is authorized to adjust such Award without the
consent of any Credit Party and to collect such Award in the name of the Administrative Agent
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(on behalf of itself and the Secured Parties) for application to the Obligations in accordance with
the terms and conditions of the Loan Documents.

(i) The Borrowers shall make mandatory principal prepayments of the Loans in an
amount equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the aggregate Net Cash Proceeds from an Award
and the Commitments shall be reduced in accordance with Section 2.5(b). Such prepayments
shall be made within five (5) Business Days after the date of receipt by any Credit Party or the
Administrative Agent, as the case may be, of the Net Cash Proceeds (and the Borrowers hereby
authorize the Administrative Agent to apply such Net Cash Proceeds to such prepayment);
provided that, so long as no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing or
would result therefrom, no prepayment shall be required under this Section 2.6(b)(ii) with respect
to such portion of such Net Cash Proceeds that the Company shall have, on or prior to such date,
given written notice to the Administrative Agent of its intent to reinvest such Net Cash Proceeds
to such Mortgaged Property in accordance with subsection (iii) below.

(1i1) With respect to any Net Cash Proceeds from an Award to be reinvested in a
Mortgaged Property pursuant to the proviso set forth in Section 2.6(b)(ii), such Net Cash
Proceeds shall be disbursed by the Administrative Agent from time to time in accordance with
subsection (iv) below, if such Net Cash Proceeds are less than or equal to the lesser of (x) an
amount equal to 5% of the Applicable Appraised Value of such Mortgaged Property and (v)
$500,000 and the Company requests that such Net Cash Proceeds be used for nonstructural site
improvements (such as landscape, driveway, walkway and parking area repairs) to be made in
connection with such Condemnation, so long as (1) no Default or Event of Default has occurred
and is continuing or would result therefrom and (2) the Credit Parties promptly commence and
are diligently pursuing such improvements. If any of the conditions set forth in the preceding
sentence are not satisfied with respect to any such improvement of a Mortgaged Property, then,
unless otherwise directed by the Required Lenders, the Administrative Agent shall apply the Net
Cash Proceeds to the prepayment of the Loans as set forth in Section 2.6(b)(ii). Notwithstanding
the foregoing, if any Net Cash Proceeds are no longer intended to be or cannot be so applied to
the improvement of such Mortgaged Property at any time after delivery of a notice of
improvement election, an amount equal to any such Net Cash Proceeds shall be applied within
five (5) Business Days after the applicable Credit Party reasonably determines that such Net Cash
Proceeds are no longer intended to be or cannot be so applied to the improvement of such
Mortgaged Property to the prepayment of the Loans as set forth in Section 2.6(b)(ii).

(iv) The Net Cash Proceeds that are available for application pursuant to Section
2.6(b)(iii) will be disbursed by the Administrative Agent on receipt of reasonably satisfactory
plans and specifications, contracts and subcontracts, schedules, budgets, invoices, lien waivers
and architects’ certificates, and otherwise in accordance with the Administrative Agent’s
customary commercial construction lending practices for construction loan advances (including
appropriate retainages to ensure that all work is completed in a workmanlike manner) and may, at
the discretion of the Administrative Agent, be remitted directly to applicable third parties.

(v) Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any Mortgaged Property is subject to an actual
or proposed Condemnation, then the Borrowers may also elect to release such Mortgaged
Property pursuant to Section 2.6(c)(i) and provide Substitution Property as Collateral (together
with all Real Estate Support Documents) in the manner provided in Section 2.6(c)(ii) below in
lieu of making the prepayments or making the improvements contemplated by this Section 2.6(b)
so long as such release and substitution occurs prior to the date such Award is received (or such
later date as the Administrative Agent may permit in its sole discretion).
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(c) Release and Substitution of Mortegaged Properties.

(1) The Company may from time to time request that one or more Dealership
Properties and/or Adjacent Properties (and any personal property Collateral related thereto) be
released from the Liens created under the applicable Security Documents, whether as part of a
sale permitted hereunder or otherwise (each such release, a “Mortgaged Property Release™);
provided that any such Mortgaged Property Release shall be subject to the following: (A) the
Administrative Agent shall have been provided notice thercof by the Company at least sixty (60)
days in advance of the date of such Mortgaged Property Release (or such shorter period as the
Administrative Agent may permit in its sole discretion), (B) no Default or Event of Default shall
have occurred and be continuing on the date of such Mortgaged Property Release or would result
therefrom, (C) the payment by the Borrowers to the Administrative Agent (for its own account) of
a release fee in an amount equal to $2,000 for cach Mortgaged Property that is released (and, if
such Mortgaged Property Release is made in connection with a Mortgaged Property Substitution,
an additional $5,500 for each Substitution Property), which shall be in addition to the payment of
any other expenses in connection therewith pursuant to this Section, Section 10.3 or otherwise,
(D) the Administrative Agent shall have determined that, immediately after giving effect to such
Mortgaged Property Release (and any concurrent Mortgaged Property Substitutions and reduction
in the Commitment), the ratio of the Commitment to the Applicable Margined Values of all
Mortgaged Properties shall not be higher than such ratio immediately prior thereto and (E)
concurrently with any such Mortgaged Property Release, if the outstanding principal amount of
the Loans exceeds the Commitment then in effect (after giving effect to any concurrent reduction
thereof), the Borrowers shall have prepaid Loans in an amount equal to such excess. In
connection with ecach Mortgaged Property Release, the Administrative Agent shall prepare a
revised Schedule 1.1(a) reflecting the Applicable Allocable Value and the Applicable Allocable
Value Percentage of each Mortgaged Property after giving effect to such Mortgage Property
Release and any concurrent Mortgage Property Substitution.

(i1) In connection with any Mortgaged Property Release, the Company may request
that one or more additional Dealership Properties and/or Adjacent Properties be made subject to a
Mortgage in substitution thereof (each such substitution, a “Mortgaged Property Substitution™);
provided that, in addition to satisfying the conditions set forth in Section 2.6(c)(i) for the related
Mortgaged Property Release, any such Mortgaged Property Substitution shall be subject to the
following: (A) the Administrative Agent shall have been provided notice thereof by the
Company at least sixty (60) days in advance of the date of such Mortgaged Property Substitution
(or such shorter period as the Administrative Agent may permit in its sole discretion but subject
to Section 10.24), (B) the real property being substituted for such released Mortgaged Property
shall be all of a Borrower’s interest in fee-owned real estate that is Dealership Property or
Adjacent Property that, in any such case, has been approved by the Administrative Agent (in its
reasonable discretion) (any such property a “Substitution Property™), (C) prior to such Mortgaged
Property Substitution and the entering into of a Mortgage with respect to the applicable
Substitution Property, the Administrative Agent shall have completed all due diligence with
respect to such Substitution Property (including, without limitation, appraisals, environmental
review, title review, flood diligence), which shall be acceptable to the Administrative Agent in all
respects, and shall have received all Real Estate Support Documents related thereto, (D) the
Company shall have delivered a certificate signed by a Responsible Officer of the Company to
the Administrative Agent (for further delivery to the Lenders in accordance with its customary
practice) certifying that the representations and warranties set forth in Section 5.25 are true and
correct in all material respects (or, in the case of any representation and warranty subject to a
materiality or Material Adverse Effect qualifier, in all respects) with respect to the applicable
Substitution Property and (E) the Borrowers shall have paid or made arrangements to pay
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contemporaneously with such Mortgaged Property Substitution all amounts as may be due in
connection with such substitution, including all taxes, fees and other charges in connection with
the execution, delivery, recording, filing and registration of any of the Loan Documents and the
issuance of each title policy required hereby.

(111) On the date of any Mortgaged Property Release, the Administrative Agent shall
release the Lien on the applicable Released Mortgaged Property (and any personal property
Collateral related thereto) granted to or held by the Administrative Agent, for the ratable benefit
of the Secured Parties, under any Security Document so long as all of the requirements set forth
in Sections 2.6(c)(i) and 2.6(c)(ii) have been satisfied (in each case, to the extent applicable).

(iv) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement or any other Loan
Document, without the prior written consent of the Required Lenders, there shall be no more than
ten (10) Mortgaged Property Releases in the aggregate during the term of this Agreement.

(v) The Administrative Agent shall notify the Lenders, in accordance with its
customary practice, of any proposed Mortgaged Property Release or Mortgaged Property
Substitution,

SECTION 2.7 Borrowers.

(a) Effective as of the date hereof, each Subsidiary that has executed this Agreement as a
Borrower shall be a “Borrower” hereunder and may receive or cause the Company (as agent for such
Subsidiary) to receive Loans for the account of such Subsidiary on the terms and conditions set forth in
this Agreement.

(b) In the event of any proposed Mortgaged Property Substitution wherein any
Wholly-Owned Domestic Subsidiary which owns the Substitution Property is not a Borrower, the
Company shall designate such Subsidiary as a Borrower and such Subsidiary shall deliver the documents
required by Section 6.14 prior to or substantially simultaneously with such Substitution Property
becoming a Mortgaged Property, including the delivery of a Borrower Joinder Agreement executed by
such Subsidiary identifying such Subsidiary as a Borrower. The parties hereto acknowledge and agree
that prior to any such Wholly-Owned Domestic Subsidiary becoming entitled to receive Loans hereunder,
the Administrative Agent and the Lenders, as applicable, shall have received the documents required by
Section 6.14. Upon satisfaction of the foregoing requirements and any other requirements herein
applicable to any such Wholly-Owned Domestic Subsidiary becoming a Borrower hereunder and any
proposed Substitution Property becoming a Mortgaged Property, each of the Lenders agrees to permit
such Borrower to receive Loans hereunder on the terms and conditions set forth herein, and each of the
parties agrees that such Borrower otherwise shall be a Borrower for all purposes of this Agreement.

(c) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, each Borrower shall be jointly
and severally liable as a primary obligor, and not merely as surety, for any and all Obligations, whether
voluntary or involuntary and however arising, whether direct or acquired by the Administrative Agent,
any Lender or any other Secured Party by assignment or succession, whether due or not due, absolute or
contingent, liquidated or unliquidated, determined or undetermined (such Obligations, the “Borrowers’
Liabilities™).

(d) Each Borrower expressly waives any and all defenses now or hereafter arising or asserted
by reason of (i) any lack of legality, validity or enforceability of this Agreement, of any Note, of any
other Loan Document, or of any other agreement or instrument creating, providing security for, or
otherwise relating to any of the Obligations or any guaranty of any of the Borrowers’ Liabilities (the
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Loan Documents and all such other agreements and instruments being collectively referred to as the
“Related Agreements™); (ii) any action taken under any of the Related Agreements, any exercise of any
right or power therein conferred, any failure or omission to enforce any right conferred thereby, or any
waiver of any covenant or condition therein provided; (ii1) any acceleration of the maturity of any of the
Borrowers’ Liabilities or of any other obligations or liabilities of any Person under any of the Related
Agreements; (iv) any release, exchange, non-perfection, lapse in perfection, disposal, deterioration in
value, or impairment of any security for any of the Borrowers” Liabilities, or for any other obligations or
liabilities of any Person under any of the Related Agreements; (v) any dissolution of any Borrower, any
other Credit Party or any other party to a Related Agreement, or the combination or consolidation of any
Borrower, any other Credit Party or any other party to a Related Agreement into or with another entity or
any transfer or disposition of any assets of any Borrower, any other Credit Party or any other party to a
Related Agreement; (vi) any extension (including without limitation extensions of time for payment),
renewal, amendment, restructuring or restatement of, any acceptance of late or partial payments under, or
any change in the amount of any borrowings or any credit facilities available under, this Agreement, any
Note or any other Loan Document or any other Related Agreement, in whole or in part; (vii) the
existence, addition, modification, termination, reduction or impairment of value, or release of any other
guaranty (or security therefor) of the Borrowers’ Liabilities; (viii) any waiver of, forbearance or
indulgence under, or other consent to any change in or departure from any term or provision contained in
this Agreement, any other Loan Document or any other Related Agreement, including without limitation
any term pertaining to the payment or performance of any of the Borrowers’ Liabilities, or any of the
obligations or liabilities of any party to any other Related Agreement; and (ix) any other circumstance
whatsoever (with or without notice to or knowledge of such Borrower) which may or might in any
manner or to any extent vary the risks of such Borrower, or might otherwise constitute a legal or equitable
defense available to, or discharge of, a surety or a guarantor, including without limitation any right to
require or claim that resort be had to any Borrower or any other Credit Party or to any collateral in respect
of the Borrowers’ Liabilities. It is the express purpose and intent of the parties hereto that the joint and
several liability of each Borrower for the Borrowers™ Liabilities shall be absolute and unconditional under
any and all circumstances and shall not be discharged except by irrevocable payment in full as herein
provided. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the liability of each Borrower with respect to its Borrowers’
Liabilities shall be limited to an aggregate amount equal to the largest amount that would not render its
obligations hereunder subject to avoidance under Section 548 of the Bankruptcy Code of the United
States or any comparable provisions of any applicable state law.

(e) Each Borrower hereby irrevocably appoints the Company as its agent for all purposes
relevant to this Agreement and each of the other Loan Documents, including (i) the giving and receipt of
notices, (ii) the execution and delivery of all documents, instruments and certificates contemplated herein
and all modifications hereto, and (iii) the receipt of the proceeds of any Loan made by the Lender to any
such Borrower hereunder. Any acknowledgment, consent, direction, certification or other action which
might otherwise be valid or effective only if given or taken by all Borrowers, or by any Borrower acting
singly, shall be valid and effective if given or taken only the Company, whether or not any such other
Borrower joins therein, Any notice, demand, consent, acknowledgement, direction, certification or other
communication delivered the Company in accordance with the terms of this Agreement shall be deemed
to have been delivered the Company and each Borrower.

(f) The Company may from time to time, upon not less than 15 Business Days’ notice from
the Company to the Administrative Agent (or such shorter period as may be agreed by the Administrative
Agent in its sole discretion), request that (i) a Subsidiary’s status as a Borrower be terminated if as a result
of any Mortgaged Property Release such Subsidiary ceases to own any real property that is Mortgaged
Property or (ii) a Subsidiary’s status as a Subsidiary Guarantor be terminated if such Subsidiary ceases to
be a tenant of any Mortgaged Property as a result of a transaction permitted under the Loan Documents.
The Administrative Agent shall terminate such Subsidiary’s status as a Borrower or a Subsidiary
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Guarantor, as the case may be, by releasing such Subsidiary from its obligations under the Loan
Documents to which it is a party pursuant to Section 9.9 so long as no Default or Event of Default has
occurred and is continuing at the time of such release.

SECTION 2.8 Termination of Credit Facility. The Credit Facility and the Commitments
shall terminate on the Maturity Date.

ARTICLE I11
GENERAL LOAN PROVISIONS
SECTION 3.1 Interest.

(a) Interest Rate Options. Subject to the provisions of this Section, at the election of the
Borrowers, Loans shall bear interest at (A) the Base Rate plus the Applicable Interest Margin or (B) the
LIBOR Rate plus the Applicable Interest Margin. The Borrowers shall select the rate of interest
applicable to any Loan at the time a Notice of Borrowing is given or at the time a Notice of Conversion is
given pursuant to Section 3.2.

(b) Default Rate. Subject to Section 8.3, (i) immediately upon the occurrence and during the
continuance of an Event of Default under Section 8.1(a) or (h), or (ii) at the election of the Required
Lenders (or the Administrative Agent at the direction of the Required Lenders), upon the occurrence and
during the continuance of any other Event of Default, (A) the Borrowers shall no longer have the option
to request LIBOR Rate Loans, (B) all outstanding LIBOR Rate Loans shall be converted to Base Rate
Loans, (C) all outstanding Base Rate Loans and other Obligations arising hereunder or under any other
Loan Document shall bear interest at a rate per annum equal to two percent (2%) in excess of the rate
(including the Applicable Interest Margin) then applicable to Base Rate Loans or such other Obligations
arising hereunder or under any other Loan Document and (D) all accrued and unpaid interest shall be due
and payable on demand of the Administrative Agent. Interest shall continue to accrue on the Obligations
after the filing by or against any Borrower of any petition seeking any relief in bankruptcy or under any
Debtor Relief Law.

(c) Interest Payment and Computation. Interest on each Loan shall be due and payable in
arrears on the last Business Day of each calendar month commencing July 31, 2020. All computations of
interest for Base Rate Loans when the Base Rate is determined by the Prime Rate shall be made on the
basis of a year of 365 or 366 days, as the case may be, and actual days elapsed. All other computations of
fees and interest provided hercunder shall be made on the basis of a 360-day year and actual days elapsed
(which results in more fees or interest, as applicable, being paid than if computed on the basis of a
365/366-day year).

(d) Maximum Rate. In no contingency or event whatsoever shall the aggregate of all
amounts deemed interest under this Agreement charged or collected pursuant to the terms of this
Agreement exceed the highest rate permissible under any Applicable Law which a court of competent
jurisdiction shall, in a final determination, deem applicable hereto. In the event that such a court
determines that the Lenders have charged or received interest hereunder in excess of the highest
applicable rate, the rate in effect hereunder shall automatically be reduced to the maximum rate permitted
by Applicable Law and the Lenders shall at the Administrative Agent’s option (i) promptly refund to the
Borrowers any interest received by the Lenders in excess of the maximum lawful rate or (ii) apply such
excess to the principal balance of the Obligations, It is the intent hereof that the Borrowers not pay or
contract to pay, and that neither the Administrative Agent nor any Lender receive or contract to receive,
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directly or indirectly in any manner whatsoever, interest in excess of that which may be paid by the
Borrowers under Applicable Law.

SECTION 3.2 Notice and Manner of Conversion of Loans. Provided that no Default or
Event of Default has occurred and is then continuing, the Borrowers shall have the option to (a) convert at
any time all or any portion of any outstanding Base Rate Loans in a principal amount equal to $2,000,000
or any whole multiple of $1,000,000 in excess thereof (or such lesser amount as shall represent all of the
Base Rate Loans then outstanding) into one or more LIBOR Rate Loans and (b) convert all or any part of
its outstanding LIBOR Rate Loans in a principal amount equal to $1,000,000 or a whole multiple of
$500,000 in excess thereof (or such lesser amount as shall represent all of the LIBOR Rate Loans then
outstanding) into Base Rate Loans. Whenever the Borrowers desire to convert Loans as provided above,
the Company shall give the Administrative Agent irrevocable prior written notice in the form attached as
Exhibit E (a *Notice of Conversion™) not later than 11:00 a.m. three (3) Business Days before the day on
which a proposed conversion of such Loan is to be effective specifying (A) the Loans to be converted, (B)
the effective date of such conversion (which shall be a Business Day) and (C) the principal amount of
such Loans to be converted. The Administrative Agent shall promptly notify the affected Lenders of such
Notice of Conversion.

SECTION 3.3 Fees.

(a) Commitment Fee. Commencing on the Closing Date, subject to Section 3.13(a)(iii)(A),
the Borrowers shall pay to the Administrative Agent, for the account of the Lenders, a non-refundable
commitment fee (the “Commitment Fee™) at a rate per annum equal to the applicable amount for
Commitment Fees as set forth in the definition of Applicable Interest Margin on the average daily unused
portion of the Commitment of the Lenders (other than the Defaulting Lenders, if any). The Commitment
Fee shall be payable in arrears on the last Business Day of each calendar quarter during the term of this
Agreement commencing September 30, 2020 and ending on the date upon which all Obligations (other
than contingent indemnification obligations not then due) shall have been indefeasibly and irrevocably
paid and satisfied in full and the Commitment has been terminated. The Commitment Fee shall be
distributed by the Administrative Agent to the Lenders (other than any Defaulting Lender) pro rata in
accordance with such Lenders’ respective Commitment Percentages.

(b) Other Fees. The Borrowers shall pay to Wells Fargo Securities, LLC, as an Arranger,
and the Administrative Agent for their own respective accounts fees in the amounts and at the times
specified in the Engagement Letter. The Borrowers shall pay to the Lenders such fees as shall have been
separately agreed upon in writing in the amounts and at the times so specified.

SECTION 3.4 Manner of Payment. Each payment by any Borrower on account of the
principal of or interest on the Loans or of any fee, commission or other amounts payable to the Lenders
under this Agreement shall be made not later than 1:00 p.m. on the date specified for payment under this
Agreement to the Administrative Agent at the Administrative Agent’s Office for the account of the
Lenders entitled to such payment in Dollars, in immediately available funds and shall be made without
any setoff, counterclaim or deduction whatsoever. Any payment received after such time but before 2:00
p.m. on such day shall be deemed a payment on such date for the purposes of Section 8.1, but for all other
purposes shall be deemed to have been made on the next succeeding Business Day. Any payment
received after 2:00 p.m. shall be deemed to have been made on the next succeeding Business Day for all
purposes. Upon receipt by the Administrative Agent of each such payment, the Administrative Agent
shall distribute to each such Lender at its address for notices set forth herein its Commitment Percentage
(or other applicable share as provided herein) of such payment and shall wire advice of the amount of
such credit to each Lender. Each payment to the Administrative Agent of Administrative Agent’s fees or
expenses shall be made for the account of the Administrative Agent and any amount payable to any
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Lender under Sections 3.9, 3.10, 3.11 or 10.3 shall be paid to the Administrative Agent for the account of
the applicable Lender. If any payment under this Agreement shall be specified to be made upon a day
which is not a Business Day, it shall be made on the next succeeding day which is a Business Day and
such extension of time shall in such case be included in computing any interest if payable along with such
payment. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if there exists a Defaulting Lender each payment by the
Borrowers to such Defaulting Lender hereunder shall be applied in accordance with Section 3.13(a)(ii).

SECTION 3.5 Evidence of Indebtedness. The Loans made by each Lender shall be
evidenced by one or more accounts or records maintained by such Lender and by the Administrative
Agent in the ordinary course of business. The accounts or records maintained by the Administrative
Agent and each Lender shall be conclusive absent manifest error of the amount of the Loans made by the
Lenders to the Borrowers and the interest and payments thereon. Any failure to so record or any error in
doing so shall not, however, limit or otherwise affect the obligation of any Borrower hereunder to pay any
amount owing with respect to the Obligations. In the event of any conflict between the accounts and
records maintained by any Lender and the accounts and records of the Administrative Agent in respect of
such matters, the accounts and records of the Administrative Agent shall control in the absence of
manifest error. Upon the request of any Lender made through the Administrative Agent, the Borrowers
shall execute and deliver to such Lender (through the Administrative Agent) a Note which shall evidence
such Lender’s Loans in addition to such accounts or records. Each Lender may attach schedules to its
Notes and endorse thereon the date, amount and maturity of its Loans and payments with respect thereto.

SECTION 3.6 Sharing of Payments by Lenders. If any Lender shall, by exercising any right
of setoff or counterclaim or otherwise, obtain payment in respect of any principal of or interest on any of
its Loans or other obligations hereunder resulting in such Lender’s receiving payment of a proportion of
the aggregate amount of its Loans and accrued interest thereon or other such obligations (other than
pursuant to Sections 3.9, 3.10, 3.11 or 10.3) greater than its pro rata share thereof as provided herein, then
the Lender receiving such greater proportion shall (a) notify the Administrative Agent of such fact, and
(b) purchase (for cash at face value) participations in the Loans and such other obligations of the other
Lenders, or make such other adjustments as shall be equitable, so that the benefit of all such payments
shall be shared by the Lenders ratably in accordance with the aggregate amount of principal of and
accrued interest on their respective Loans and other amounts owing them; provided that:

(1) if any such participations are purchased and all or any portion of the payment
giving rise thereto is recovered, such participations shall be rescinded and the purchase price
restored to the extent of such recovery, without interest, and

(i) the provisions of this paragraph shall not be construed to apply to (A) any
payment made by the Borrowers pursuant to and in accordance with the express terms of this
Agreement (including the application of funds arising from the existence of a Defaulting Lender),
or (B) any payment obtained by a Lender as consideration for the assignment of, or sale of, a
participation in any of its Loans to any assignee or participant, other than to the Company or any
of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates (as to which the provisions of this paragraph shall apply).

Each Credit Party consents to the foregoing and agrees, to the extent it may effectively do so under
Applicable Law, that any Lender acquiring a participation pursuant to the foregoing arrangements may
exercise against each Credit Party rights of setoff and counterclaim with respect to such participation as
fully as if such Lender were a direct creditor of each Credit Party in the amount of such participation.
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SECTION 3.7 Administrative Agent’s Clawback.

(a) Funding by Lenders; Presumption by Administrative Agent. Unless the Administrative
Agent shall have received notice from a Lender (i) in the case of Base Rate Loans, not later than 12:00
noon on the date of any proposed borrowing and (ii) otherwise, prior to the proposed date of any
borrowing that such Lender will not make available to the Administrative Agent such Lender’s share of
such borrowing, the Administrative Agent may assume that such Lender has made such share available on
such date in accordance with Sections 2.3(b) and may, in reliance upon such assumption, make available
to the Borrowers a corresponding amount. In such event, if a Lender has not in fact made its share of the
applicable borrowing available to the Administrative Agent, then the applicable Lender and the
Borrowers severally agree to pay to the Administrative Agent forthwith on demand such corresponding
amount with interest thereon, for each day from and including the date such amount is made available to
the Borrowers to but excluding the date of payment to the Administrative Agent, at (A) in the case of a
payment to be made by such Lender, the greater of the daily average Federal Funds Rate and a rate
determined by the Administrative Agent in accordance with banking industry rules on interbank
compensation and (B) in the case of a payment to be made by the Borrowers, the interest rate applicable
to Base Rate Loans. If the Borrowers and such Lender shall pay such interest to the Administrative Agent
for the same or an overlapping period, the Administrative Agent shall promptly remit to the Borrowers
the amount of such interest paid by the Borrowers for such period. If such Lender pays its share of the
applicable borrowing to the Administrative Agent, then the amount so paid shall constitute such Lender’s
Loan included in such borrowing. Any payment by the Borrowers shall be without prejudice to any claim
the Borrowers may have against a Lender that shall have failed to make such payment to the
Administrative Agent.

(b) Payments by the Borrowers: Presumptions by Administrative Agent. Unless the
Administrative Agent shall have received notice from the Company prior to the date on which any
payment is due to the Administrative Agent for the account of the Lenders hereunder that the Borrowers
will not make such payment, the Administrative Agent may assume that the Borrowers have made such
payment on such date in accordance herewith and may, in reliance upon such assumption, distribute to the
Lenders the amount due. In such event, if the Borrowers have not in fact made such payment, then each
of the Lenders severally agrees to repay to the Administrative Agent forthwith on demand the amount so
distributed to such Lender, with interest thereon, for each day from and including the date such amount is
distributed to it to but excluding the date of payment to the Administrative Agent, at the greater of the
Federal Funds Rate and a rate determined by the Administrative Agent in accordance with banking
industry rules on interbank compensation.

(c) Nature of Obligations of Lenders. The obligations of the Lenders under this Agreement
to make the Loans and to make payments under this Section, Section 3.11(e), Section 10.3(c) or Section
10.7, as applicable, are several and are not joint or joint and several. The failure of any Lender to make
available its Commitment Percentage of any Loan requested by the Borrowers shall not relieve it or any
other Lender of its obligation, if any, hereunder to make its Commitment Percentage of such Loan
available on the borrowing date, but no Lender shall be responsible for the failure of any other Lender to
make its Commitment Percentage of such Loan available on the borrowing date.

SECTION 3.8 Changed Circumstances.

(a) Circumstances Affecting LIBOR Rate Availability. Subject to clause (c) below, in
connection with any request for a LIBOR Rate Loan or a conversion thereto or otherwise, if for any
reason (1) the Administrative Agent shall determine (which determination shall be conclusive and binding
absent manifest error) that Dollar deposits are not being offered to banks in the London interbank
eurodollar market for the applicable amount and interest period of such Loan, (ii) the Administrative
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Agent shall determine (which determination shall be conclusive and binding absent manifest error) that
reasonable and adequate means do not exist for the ascertaining the LIBOR Rate with respect to a
proposed LIBOR Rate Loan or (iii) the Required Lenders shall determine (which determination shall be
conclusive and binding absent manifest error) that the LIBOR Rate does not adequately and fairly reflect
the cost to such Lenders of making or maintaining such Loans, then the Administrative Agent shall
promptly give notice thereof to the Company. Thereafter, until the Administrative Agent notifies the
Company that such circumstances no longer exist, the obligation of the Lenders to make LIBOR Rate
Loans, and the right of the Borrowers to convert any Loan to a LIBOR Rate Loan shall be suspended, and
the Borrowers shall, within one (1) Business Day of such notice, either (A) repay in full (or cause to be
repaid in full) the then outstanding principal amount of each such LIBOR Rate Loan together with
accrued interest thereon (subject to Section 3.1(d)); or (B) convert the then outstanding principal amount
of each such LIBOR Rate Loan to a Base Rate Loan.

(b) Laws Affecting LIBOR Rate Availability. If, after the date hereof, the introduction of, or
any change in, any Applicable Law or any change in the interpretation or administration thereof by any
Governmental Authority, central bank or comparable agency charged with the interpretation or
administration thereof, or compliance by any of the Lenders (or any of their respective Lending Offices)
with any request or directive (whether or not having the force of law) of any such Governmental
Authority, central bank or comparable agency, shall make it unlawful or impossible for any of the
Lenders (or any of their respective Lending Offices) to honor its obligations hereunder to make or
maintain any LIBOR Rate Loan, such Lender shall promptly give notice thereof to the Administrative
Agent and the Administrative Agent shall promptly give notice to the Company and the other Lenders.
Thereafter, until the Administrative Agent notifies the Company that such circumstances no longer exist,
(i) the obligations of the Lenders to make LIBOR Rate Loans, and the right of the Borrowers to convert
any Loan to a LIBOR Rate Loan, shall be suspended and thereafter the Borrowers may select only Base
Rate Loans and (ii) if any of the Lenders may not lawfully continue to maintain a LIBOR Rate Loan, the
applicable Loan shall immediately be converted to a Base Rate Loan.

(c) Effect of Benchmark Transition Event.

(1) Benchmark Replacement. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in
any other Loan Document, upon the occurrence of a Benchmark Transition Event or an Early
Opt-in Election, as applicable, the Administrative Agent and the Company may amend this
Agreement to replace LIBOR with a Benchmark Replacement. Any such amendment with respect
to a Benchmark Transition Event will become effective at 5:00 p.m. on the fifth (5th) Business
Day after the Administrative Agent has posted such proposed amendment to all Lenders and the
Company so long as the Administrative Agent has not received, by such time, written notice of
objection to such amendment from Lenders comprising the Required Lenders. Any such
amendment with respect to an Early Opt-in Election will become effective on the date that
Lenders comprising the Required Lenders have delivered to the Administrative Agent written
notice that such Required Lenders accept such amendment. No replacement of LIBOR with a
Benchmark Replacement pursuant to this Section 3.8(c) will occur prior to the applicable
Benchmark Transition Start Date.

(ii) Benchmark Replacement Conforming  Changes. In connection with the
implementation of a Benchmark Replacement, the Administrative Agent will have the right to
make Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes from time to time and, notwithstanding
anything to the contrary herein or in any other Loan Document, any amendments implementing
such Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes will become effective without any further
action or consent of any other party to this Agreement.
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(iii) Notices; Standards for Decisions and Determinations. The Administrative Agent
will promptly notify the Company and the Lenders of (A) any occurrence of a Benchmark
Transition Event or an Early Opt-in Election, as applicable, and its related Benchmark
Replacement Date and Benchmark Transition Start Date, (B) the implementation of any
Benchmark Replacement, (C) the effectiveness of any Benchmark Replacement Conforming
Changes and (D) the commencement or conclusion of any Benchmark Unavailability Period. Any
determination, decision or election that may be made by the Administrative Agent or Lenders
pursuant to this Section 3.8(c), including any determination with respect to a tenor, rate or
adjustment or of the occurrence or non-occurrence of an event, circumstance or date and any
decision to take or refrain from taking any action, will be conclusive and binding absent manifest
error and may be made in its or their sole discretion and without consent from any other party
hereto, except, in each case, as expressly required pursuant to this Section 3.8(c).

(iv) Benchmark Unavailability Period. Upon the Company's receipt of notice of the
commencement of a Benchmark Unavailability Period, the Company may revoke any request for
a LIBOR Rate Loan of, conversion to or continuation of LIBOR Rate Loans to be made,
converted or continued during any Benchmark Unavailability Period and, failing that, the
Company will be deemed to have converted any such request into a request for a borrowing of or
conversion to Base Rate Loans. During any Benchmark Unavailability Period, the component of
the Base Rate based upon LIBOR will not be used in any determination of the Base Rate.

SECTION 3.9 Indemnity. Each Borrower hereby indemnifies each of the Lenders against
any loss or expense (including any loss or expense arising from the liquidation or reemployment of funds
obtained by it to maintain a LIBOR Rate Loan or from fees payable to terminate the deposits from which
such funds were obtained) which may arise or be attributable to each Lender’s obtaining, liquidating or
employing deposits or other funds acquired to effect, fund or maintain any Loan (a) as a consequence of
any failure by any Borrower to make any payment when due of any amount due hereunder in connection
with a LIBOR Rate Loan, (b) due to any failure of any Borrower to borrow a LIBOR Rate Loan or
convert to a LIBOR Rate Loan on a date specified therefor in a Notice of Borrowing or Notice of
Conversion or (c¢) due to any payment, prepayment or conversion of any LIBOR Rate Loan on a date
other than the applicable date specified herein. The amount of such loss or expense shall be determined,
in the applicable Lender’s sole discretion, based upon the assumption that such Lender funded its
Commitment Percentage of the LIBOR Rate Loans in the London interbank market and using any
reasonable attribution or averaging methods which such Lender deems appropriate and practical. A
certificate of such Lender setting forth the basis for determining such amount or amounts necessary to
compensate such Lender shall be forwarded to the Company through the Administrative Agent and shall
be conclusively presumed to be correct save for manifest error. All of the obligations of the Borrowers
under this Section 3.9 shall survive the resignation or replacement of the Administrative Agent or any
assignment of rights by, or the replacement of, a Lender, the termination of the Commitments and the
repayment, satisfaction or discharge of all obligations under any Loan Document.

SECTION 3.10 Increased Costs.

(a) Increased Costs Generally. If any Change in Law shall:

(1) impose, modify or deem applicable any reserve, special deposit, compulsory
loan, insurance charge or similar requirement against assets of, deposits with or for the account
of, or advances, loans or other credit extended or participated in by, any Lender (except any
reserve requirement reflected in the LIBOR Rate);
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(ii) subject any Recipient to any Taxes (other than (A) Indemnified Taxes, (B) Taxes
described in clauses (b) through (d) of the definition of Excluded Taxes and (C) Connection
Income Taxes) on its loans, loan principal, letters of credit, commitments, or other obligations, or
its deposits, reserves, other liabilities or capital attributable thereto; or

(1i1) impose on any Lender or the London interbank market any other condition, cost
or expense (other than Taxes) affecting this Agreement or LIBOR Rate Loans made by such
Lender;

and the result of any of the foregoing shall be to increase the cost to such Lender or such other Recipient
of making, converting to or maintaining any Loan (or of maintaining its obligation to make any such
Loan), or to reduce the amount of any sum received or receivable by such Lender or such other Recipient
hereunder (whether of principal, interest or any other amount) then, upon written request of such Lender
or other Recipient, the Borrowers shall promptly pay to any such Lender or other Recipient, as the case
may be, such additional amount or amounts as will compensate such Lender or other Recipient, as the
case may be, for such additional costs incurred or reduction suffered.

(b) Capital Requirements. If any Lender determines that any Change in Law affecting such
Lender or any Lending Office of such Lender or such Lender’s holding company, if any, regarding capital
or liquidity requirements, has or would have the effect of reducing the rate of return on such Lender’s
capital or on the capital of such Lender’s holding company, if any, as a consequence of this Agreement,
the Commitment of such Lender or the Loans made by such Lender to a level below that which such
Lender such Lender’s holding company could have achieved but for such Change in Law (taking into
consideration such Lender’s policies and the policies of such Lender’s holding company with respect to
capital adequacy and liquidity), then from time to time upon written request of such Lender the Borrowers
shall promptly pay to such Lender such additional amount or amounts as will compensate such Lender or
such Lender’s holding company for any such reduction suffered.

(c) Certificates for Reimbursement. A certificate of a Lender or such other Recipient setting
forth the amount or amounts necessary to compensate such Lender, such other Recipient or any of their
respective holding companies, as the case may be, as specified in paragraph (a) or (b) of this Section and
delivered to the Company, shall be conclusive absent manifest error. The Borrowers shall pay such
Lender or such other Recipient, as the case may be, the amount shown as due on any such certificate
within ten (10) days after receipt thereof.

(d) Delay in Requests. Failure or delay on the part of any Lender or such other Recipient to
demand compensation pursuant to this Section shall not constitute a waiver of such Lender’s or such
other Recipient’s right to demand such compensation; provided that the Borrowers shall not be required
to compensate any Lender or any other Recipient pursuant to this Section for any increased costs incurred
or reductions suffered more than nine (9) months prior to the date that such Lender or such other
Recipient, as the case may be, notifies the Company of the Change in Law giving rise to such increased
costs or reductions, and of such Lender’s or such other Recipient’s intention to claim compensation
therefor (except that if the Change in Law giving rise to such increased costs or reductions is retroactive,
then the nine-month period referred to above shall be extended to include the period of retroactive effect
thereof).

(e) Survival, All of the obligations of the Credit Parties under this Section 3.10 shall survive
the resignation or replacement of the Administrative Agent or any assignment of rights by, or the
replacement of, a Lender, the termination of the Commitments and the repayment, satisfaction or
discharge of all obligations under any Loan Document.
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SECTION 3.11  Taxes.

(a) Defined Terms. For purposes of this Section 3.11, the term “Applicable Law” includes
FATCA.

(b) Payments Free of Taxes. Any and all payments by or on account of any obligation of any
Credit Party under any Loan Document shall be made without deduction or withholding for any Taxes,
except as required by Applicable Law. If any Applicable Law (as determined in the good faith discretion
of an applicable Withholding Agent) requires the deduction or withholding of any Tax from any such
payment by a Withholding Agent, then the applicable Withholding Agent shall be entitled to make such
deduction or withholding and shall timely pay the full amount deducted or withheld to the relevant
Governmental Authority in accordance with Applicable Law and, if such Tax is an Indemnified Tax, then
the sum payable by the applicable Credit Party shall be increased as necessary so that, after such
deduction or withholding has been made (including such deductions and withholdings applicable to
additional sums payable under this Section), the applicable Recipient receives an amount equal to the sum
it would have received had no such deduction or withholding been made.

(c) Payment of Other Taxes by the Credit Parties, The Credit Parties shall timely pay to the
relevant Governmental Authority in accordance with Applicable Law, or at the option of the
Administrative Agent timely reimburse it for the payment of, any Other Taxes.

(d) Indemnification by the Credit Parties. The Credit Parties shall jointly and severally
indemnify each Recipient, within ten (10) days after demand therefor, for the full amount of any
[ndemnified Taxes (including Indemnified Taxes imposed or asserted on or attributable to amounts
payable under this Section) payable or paid by such Recipient or required to be withheld or deducted
from a payment to such Recipient and any reasonable expenses arising therefrom or with respect thereto,
whether or not such Indemnified Taxes were correctly or legally imposed or asserted by the relevant
Governmental Authority, A certificate as to the amount of such payment or liability delivered to the
Company by a Recipient (with a copy to the Administrative Agent), or by the Administrative Agent on its
own behalf or on behalf of a Recipient, shall be conclusive absent manifest error.

(e) Indemnification by the Lenders. Each Lender shall severally indemnify the
Administrative Agent, within ten (10) days after demand therefor, for (i) any Indemnified Taxes
attributable to such Lender (but only to the extent that the Credit Parties have not already indemnified the
Administrative Agent for such Indemnified Taxes and without limiting the obligation of any Credit Party
to do so0), (ii) any Taxes attributable to such Lender’s failure to comply with the provisions of Section
10.9(d) relating to the maintenance of a Participant Register and (iii) any Excluded Taxes attributable to
such Lender, in each case, that are payable or paid by the Administrative Agent in connection with any
Loan Document, and any reasonable expenses arising therefrom or with respect thereto, whether or not
such Taxes were correctly or legally imposed or asserted by the relevant Governmental Authority. A
certificate as to the amount of such payment or liability delivered to any Lender by the Administrative
Agent shall be conclusive absent manifest error. Each Lender hereby authorizes the Administrative
Agent to setoff and apply any and all amounts at any time owing to such Lender under any Loan
Document or otherwise payable by the Administrative Agent to the Lender from any other source against
any amount due to the Administrative Agent under this paragraph (e).

(f) Evidence of Payments. As soon as practicable after any payment of Taxes by any Credit
Party or the Administrative Agent, as the case may be, to a Governmental Authority pursuant to this
Section 3.11, the Company shall deliver to the Administrative Agent, or the Administrative Agent shall
deliver to the Company, as the case may be, the original or a certified copy of a receipt issued by such
Governmental Authority evidencing such payment, a copy of the return reporting such payment or other
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evidence of such payment reasonably satisfactory to the Company or the Administrative Agent, as the
case may be.

(g)  Status of Lenders.

(i) Any Lender that is entitled to an exemption from or reduction of withholding Tax
with respect to payments made under any Loan Document shall deliver to the Company and the
Administrative Agent, at the time or times reasonably requested by the Company or the
Administrative Agent, such properly completed and executed documentation reasonably
requested by the Company or the Administrative Agent as will permit such payments to be made
without withholding or at a reduced rate of withholding. In addition, any Lender, if reasonably
requested by the Company or the Administrative Agent, shall deliver such other documentation
prescribed by Applicable Law or reasonably requested by the Company or the Administrative
Agent as will enable the Company or the Administrative Agent to determine whether or not such
Lender is subject to backup withholding or information reporting requirements. Notwithstanding
anything to the contrary in the preceding two sentences, the completion, execution and
submission of such documentation (other than such documentation set forth in Section
3.1 gAY, Gi)(B) and (ii)(D) below) shall not be required if in the Lender’s reasonable
judgment such completion, execution or submission would subject such Lender to any material
unreimbursed cost or expense or would materially prejudice the legal or commercial position of
such Lender.

(ii) Without limiting the generality of the foregoing:

(A) any Lender that is a U.S. Person shall deliver to the Company and the
Administrative Agent on or prior to the date on which such Lender becomes a Lender
under this Agreement (and from time to time thereafter upon the reasonable request of the
Company or the Administrative Agent), executed copies of IRS Form W-9 certifying that
such Lender is exempt from United States federal backup withholding tax;

(B) any Foreign Lender shall, to the extent it is legally entitled to do so,
deliver to the Company and the Administrative Agent (in such number of copies as shall
be requested by the recipient) on or prior to the date on which such Foreign Lender
becomes a Lender under this Agreement (and from time to time thereafter upon the
reasonable request of the Company or the Administrative Agent), whichever of the
following is applicable:

(1) in the case of a Foreign Lender claiming the benefits of an
income tax treaty to which the United States is a party (x) with respect to
payments of interest under any Loan Document, executed copies of IRS Form
W-8BEN-E establishing an exemption from, or reduction of, United States
federal withholding Tax pursuant to the “interest” article of such tax treaty and
(y) with respect to any other applicable payments under any Loan Document,
IRS Form W-8BEN-E establishing an exemption from, or reduction of, United
States federal withholding Tax pursuant to the “business profits” or “‘other
income” article of such tax treaty:

(2) executed copies of IRS Form W-8ECI;

(3) in the case of a Foreign Lender claiming the benefits of the
exemption for portfolio interest under Section 881(c) of the Code, (x) a
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certificate substantially in the form of Exhibit H-1 to the effect that such Foreign
Lender is not a “bank” within the meaning of Section 881(c)(3)(A) of the Code, a
“10 percent sharcholder” of any Borrower within the meaning of Section
881(c)3)B) of the Code, or a “controlled foreign corporation” described in
Section 881(c)(3)(C) of the Code (a “U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate™) and (y)
executed copies of IRS Form W-8BEN-E; or

4 to the extent a Foreign Lender is not the beneficial owner,
executed copies of IRS Form W-8IMY, accompanied by IRS Form W-8ECI, IRS
Form W-8BEN-E, a U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate substantially in the form of
Exhibit H-2 or Exhibit H-3, IRS Form W-9, and/or other certification documents
from each beneficial owner, as applicable; provided that if the Foreign Lender is
a partnership and one or more direct or indirect partners of such Foreign Lender
are claiming the portfolio interest exemption, such Foreign Lender may provide a
U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate substantially in the form of Exhibit H-4 on
behalf of each such direct and indirect partner;

(C) any Foreign Lender shall, to the extent it is legally entitled to do so,
deliver to the Company and the Administrative Agent (in such number of copies as shall
be requested by the recipient) on or prior to the date on which such Foreign Lender
becomes a Lender under this Agreement (and from time to time thereafter upon the
reasonable request of the Company or the Administrative Agent), executed copies of any
other form prescribed by Applicable Law as a basis for claiming exemption from or a
reduction in United States federal withholding Tax, duly completed, together with such
supplementary documentation as may be prescribed by Applicable Law to permit the
Company or the Administrative Agent to determine the withholding or deduction
required to be made; and

(D) if a payment made to a Lender under any Loan Document would be
subject to United States federal withholding Tax imposed by FATCA if such Lender
were to fail to comply with the applicable reporting requirements of FATCA (including
those contained in Section 1471(b) or 1472(b) of the Code, as applicable), such Lender
shall deliver to the Company and the Administrative Agent at the time or times
prescribed by law and at such time or times reasonably requested by the Company or the
Administrative Agent such documentation prescribed by Applicable Law (including as
prescribed by Section 1471(b)(3)(C)(i) of the Code) and such additional documentation
reasonably requested by the Company or the Administrative Agent as may be necessary
for the Company and the Administrative Agent to comply with their obligations under
FATCA and to determine that such Lender has complied with such Lender’s obligations
under FATCA or to determine the amount to deduct and withhold from such payment.
Solely for purposes of this clause (D), “FATCA™ shall include any amendments made to
FATCA after the date of this Agreement.

Each Lender agrees that if any form or certification it previously delivered expires or becomes
obsolete or inaccurate in any respect, it shall update such form or certification or promptly notify the
Company and the Administrative Agent in writing of its legal inability to do so.

Treatment of Certain Refunds. If any party determines, in its sole discretion exercised in

good faith, that it has received a refund of any Taxes as to which it has been indemnified pursuant to this
Section 3.11 (including by the payment of additional amounts pursuant to this Section 3.11), it shall pay
to the indemnifying party an amount equal to such refund (but only to the extent of indemnity payments
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made under this Section with respect to the Taxes giving rise to such refund), net of all out-of-pocket
expenses (including Taxes) of such indemnified party and without interest (other than any interest paid by
the relevant Governmental Authority with respect to such refund). Such indemnifying party, upon the
request of such indemnified party, shall repay to such indemnified party the amount paid over pursuant to
this paragraph (h) (plus any penalties, interest or other charges imposed by the relevant Governmental
Authority) in the event that such indemnified party is required to repay such refund to such Governmental
Authority. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this paragraph (h), in no event will the
indemnified party be required to pay any amount to an indemnifying party pursuant to this paragraph (h)
the payment of which would place the indemnified party in a less favorable net after-Tax position than the
indemnified party would have been in if the Tax subject to indemnification and giving rise to such refund
had not been deducted, withheld or otherwise imposed and the indemnification payments or additional
amounts with respect to such Tax had never been paid. This paragraph shall not be construed to require
any indemnified party to make available its Tax returns (or any other information relating to its Taxes that
it deems confidential) to the indemnifying party or any other Person.

(1) Survival. Each party’s obligations under this Section 3.11 shall survive the resignation or
replacement of the Administrative Agent or any assignment of rights by, or the replacement of, a Lender,
the termination of the Commitments and the repayment, satisfaction or discharge of all obligations under
any Loan Document.

SECTION 3.12 Mitigation Obligations: Replacement of Lenders.

(a) Designation of a Different Lending Office. If any Lender requests compensation under
Section 3.10, or requires any Credit Party to pay any Indemnified Taxes or additional amounts to any
Lender or any Governmental Authority for the account of any Lender pursuant to Section 3.11, then such
Lender shall, at the request of the Company, use reasonable efforts to designate a different Lending Office
for funding or booking its Loans hereunder or to assign its rights and obligations hereunder to another of
its offices, branches or affiliates, if, in the judgment of such Lender, such designation or assignment (i)
would eliminate or reduce amounts payable pursuant to Section 3.10 or Section 3.11, as the case may be,
in the future and (ii) would not subject such Lender to any unreimbursed cost or expense and would not
otherwise be disadvantageous to such Lender. The Credit Parties hereby agree to pay all reasonable costs
and expenses incurred by any Lender in connection with any such designation or assignment.

(b) Replacement of Lenders. If any Lender requests compensation under Section 3.10, or if
any Credit Party is required to pay any Indemnified Taxes or additional amounts to any Lender or any
Governmental Authority for the account of any Lender pursuant to Section 3.11, and, in each case, such
Lender has declined or is unable to designate a different Lending Office in accordance with Section
3.12(a), or if any Lender is a Defaulting Lender or a Non-Consenting Lender, then the Credit Parties may,
at their sole expense and effort, upon notice to such Lender and the Administrative Agent, require such
Lender to assign and delegate, without recourse (in accordance with and subject to the restrictions
contained in, and consents required by, Section 10.9), all of its interests, rights (other than its existing
rights to payments pursuant to Section 3.10 or Section 3.11) and obligations under this Agreement and the
related Loan Documents to an Eligible Assignee that shall assume such obligations (which assignee may
be another Lender, if a Lender accepts such assignment); provided that:

(i) the Company or the Borrowers shall have paid to the Administrative Agent the
assignment fee (if any) specified in Section 10.9;

(ii) such Lender shall have received payment of an amount equal to the outstanding
principal of its Loans, accrued interest thereon, accrued fees and all other amounts payable to it
hereunder and under the other Loan Documents (including any amounts under Section 3.9) from
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the assignee (to the extent of such outstanding principal and accrued interest and fees) or the
Borrowers (in the case of all other amounts);

(iii) in the case of any such assignment resulting from a claim for compensation under
Section 3.10 or payments required to be made pursuant to Section 3.11, such assignment will
result in a reduction in such compensation or payments thereafter;

(iv)  such assignment does not conflict with Applicable Law; and

(v) in the case of any assignment resulting from a Lender becoming a
Non-Consenting Lender, the applicable assignee shall have consented to the applicable
amendment, waiver or consent.

A Lender shall not be required to make any such assignment or delegation if, prior thereto, as a
result of a waiver by such Lender or otherwise, the circumstances entitling the Borrowers to require such
assignment and delegation cease to apply.

(c) Selection of Lending Office. Subject to Section 3.12(a), each Lender may make any Loan
to the Borrowers through any Lending Office, provided that the exercise of this option shall not affect the
obligations of any Borrower to repay the Loan in accordance with the terms of this Agreement or
otherwise alter the rights of the parties hereto.

SECTION 3.13 Defaulting Lenders.

(a) Defaulting Lender Adjustments. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in
this Agreement, if any Lender becomes a Defaulting Lender, then, until such time as such Lender is no
longer a Defaulting Lender, to the extent permitted by Applicable Law:

(i) Waivers and Amendments. Such Defaulting Lender’s right to approve or
disapprove any amendment, waiver or consent with respect to this Agreement shall be restricted
as set forth in the definition of “Required Lenders™ and Section 10.2.

(1) Defaulting Lender Waterfall. Any payment of principal, interest, fees or other
amounts received by the Administrative Agent for the account of such Defaulting Lender
(whether voluntary or mandatory, at maturity, pursuant to Article X or otherwise) or received by
the Administrative Agent from a Defaulting Lender pursuant to Section 10.4 shall be applied at
such time or times as may be determined by the Administrative Agent as follows: first, to the
payment of any amounts owing by such Defaulting Lender to the Administrative Agent
hereunder; second, as the Company may request (so long as no Default or Event of Default
exists), to the funding of any Loan in respect of which such Defaulting Lender has failed to fund
its portion thereof as required by this Agreement, as determined by the Administrative Agent;
third, if so determined by the Administrative Agent and the Company, to be held in a deposit
account and released pro rata in order to satisfy such Defaulting Lender’s potential future funding
obligations with respect to Loans under this Agreement; fourth, to the payment of any amounts
owing to the Lenders as a result of any judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction obtained by
any Lender against such Defaulting Lender as a result of such Defaulting Lender’s breach of its
obligations under this Agreement; fifih, so long as no Default or Event of Default exists, to the
payment of any amounts owing to the Borrowers as a result of any judgment of a court of
competent jurisdiction obtained by the Borrowers against such Defaulting Lender as a result of
such Defaulting Lender’s breach of its obligations under this Agreement; and sixth, to such
Defaulting Lender or as otherwise directed by a court of competent jurisdiction; provided that if
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(1) such payment is a payment of the principal amount of any Loans in respect of which such
Defaulting Lender has not fully funded its appropriate share, and (2) such Loans were made at a
time when the conditions set forth in Section 4.2 were satisfied or waived, such payment shall be
applied solely to pay the Loans of all Non-Defaulting Lenders on a pro rata basis prior to being
applied to the payment of any Loans of such Defaulting Lender until such time as all Loans are
held by the Lenders pro rata in accordance with the Commitments. Any payments, prepayments
or other amounts paid or payable to a Defaulting Lender that are applied (or held) to pay amounts
owed by a Defaulting Lender pursuant to this Section 3.13(a)(ii) shall be deemed paid to and
redirected by such Defaulting Lender, and each Lender irrevocably consents hereto.

(iii) Certain Fees. No Defaulting Lender shall be entitled to receive any Commitment
Fee for any period during which that Lender is a Defaulting Lender (and the Borrowers shall not
be required to pay any such fee that otherwise would have been required to have been paid to that
Defaulting Lender).

(b) Defaulting Lender Cure. If the Company and the Administrative Agent agree in writing
that a Lender is no longer a Defaulting Lender, the Administrative Agent will so notify the parties hereto,
whereupon as of the effective date specified in such notice and subject to any conditions set forth therein,
such Lender will, to the extent applicable, purchase at par that portion of outstanding Loans of the other
Lenders or take such other actions as the Administrative Agent may determine to be necessary to cause
the Loans to be held pro rata by the Lenders in accordance with the Commitments, whereupon such
Lender will cease to be a Defaulting Lender; provided that no adjustments will be made retroactively with
respect to fees accrued or payments made by or on behalf of the Borrowers while that Lender was a
Defaulting Lender; and provided, further, that except to the extent otherwise expressly agreed by the
affected parties, no change hereunder from Defaulting Lender to Non-Defaulting Lender will constitute a
waiver or release of any claim of any party hereunder arising from that Lender’s having been a Defaulting
Lender.

ARTICLE IV
CONDITIONS OF CLOSING AND BORROWING
SECTION 4.1 Conditions to Closing and Initial Loans. The obligation of the Lenders to

close this Agreement and to make the initial Loans, if any, is subject to the satisfaction of each of the
following conditions:

(a) Documentation. The Administrative Agent shall have received, in form and substance
reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent, cach of the following, duly executed and
acknowledged where appropriate by all parties thereto:

(i) This Agreement, a Note in favor of each Lender requesting a Note, the
Environmental Indemnity Agreement and a Mortgage with respect to each Mortgaged Property as
of the Closing Date;

(i) a certificate from a Responsible Officer of the Company and each Borrower
certifying that (A) all representations and warranties of the Credit Parties contained in this
Agreement and the other Loan Documents are true, correct and complete in all material respects
(except to the extent any such representation and warranty is qualified by materiality or reference
to Material Adverse Effect, in which case, such representation and warranty shall be true, correct
and complete in all respects); (B) none of the Credit Parties is in violation of any of the covenants
contained in this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents; (C) no Default or Event of
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Default has occurred and is continuing on the Closing Date or will exist after giving effect to the
Loans to be made on the Closing Date; (D) since December 31, 2019, no event has occurred or
condition arisen, either individually or in the aggregate, that has had or could reasonably be
expected to have a Material Adverse Effect; and (E) that attached thereto is a true, correct and
complete copy of the Company Revolving Credit Agreement as in effect on the Closing Date and
that there have been no amendments, modifications or supplements to the Company Revolving
Credit Agreement since December 9, 2019;

(iii)  a certificate of a Responsible Officer of each Credit Party certifying as to the
incumbency and genuineness of the signature of each officer or other agent of such Credit Party
executing Loan Documents to which it is a party and certifying that attached thereto are true,
correct and complete copies of (A) the Organizational Documents of such Credit Party (which, in
the case of the articles or certificate of incorporation or formation (or equivalent), shall be
certified as of a recent date by the appropriate Governmental Authority in its jurisdiction of
incorporation, organization or formation (or equivalent), as applicable), (B) resolutions duly
adopted by the board of directors (or other governing body) of such Credit Party authorizing and
approving the transactions contemplated hereunder and the execution, delivery and performance
of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents to which it is a party and (C) such documents
and certifications as of a recent date as the Administrative Agent may reasonably require to
evidence that each Credit Party is validly existing, in good standing and qualified to engage in
business in the jurisdiction of its incorporation, organization or formation (or equivalent), as
applicable, and each other jurisdiction where it owns or leases any Mortgaged Property; and

(iv)  customary opinions of counsel (including, without limitation, local counsel) to
the Credit Parties, addressed to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders, with respect to the
Credit Parties, the Loan Documents and such other matters as the Administrative Agent shall
reasonably request (which such opinions shall expressly permit reliance by permitted assigns of
the Lenders unless otherwise approved by the Administrative Agent).

(b) Collateral Matters. The Administrative Agent shall have received, in form and substance
satisfactory to the Administrative Agent:

(i) Except to the extent permitted to be delivered pursuant to Section 6.20, all Real
Estate Support Documents with respect to each Mortgaged Property as of the Closing Date;

(1) evidence that all actions that the Administrative Agent may reasonably deem
necessary to create and perfect valid first priority Liens (subject to Permitted Encumbrances) on
the property described in each Mortgage have been taken, including delivery of each Mortgage to
a title insurance company (or other applicable Person) for recordation; and

(iii) evidence of the insurance required under the Loan Documents, evidence of
payment of all insurance premiums for the current policy year of each policy (with appropriate
endorsements naming the Administrative Agent as lender’s loss payee (and mortgagee, as
applicable) on all policies for property hazard insurance and as additional insured on all policies
for liability insurance), and if requested by the Administrative Agent, copies of such insurance
policies.

(c) Financial Matters.
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(i) Financial Statements. The Administrative Agent shall have received (A) the
Audited Financial Statements and (B) the unaudited consolidated financial statements for the
Company and its Subsidiaries for the fiscal period ending on March 31, 2020.

(i) Payvment at Closing. The Credit Parties shall have paid or made arrangements to
pay contemporaneously with closing (A) to the Administrative Agent, the Arrangers and the
Lenders the fees set forth or referenced in Section 3.3 and any other accrued and unpaid fees or
commissions due hereunder, (B) all fees, charges and disbursements of counsel to the
Administrative Agent (directly to such counsel if requested by the Administrative Agent) to the
extent invoiced not fewer than two Business Days before the Closing Date or set forth in a funds
flow statement approved by the Company, plus such additional amounts of such fees, charges and
disbursements as shall constitute its reasonable estimate of such fees, charges and disbursements
incurred or to be incurred by it through the closing proceedings (provided that such estimate shall
not thereafter preclude a final settling of accounts between the Credit Parties and the
Administrative Agent) and (C) to any other Person (including any title company) such amount as
may be due thereto in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, including all taxes,
fees and other charges in connection with the execution, delivery, recording, filing and
registration of any of the Loan Documents and the issuance of each title policy required hereby.

(d) Miscellaneous.
(1) Notice of Account Designation. The Administrative Agent shall have received a
Notice of Account Designation specifying the account or accounts to which the proceeds of any

Loans made on or after the Closing Date are to be disbursed.

(11) PATRIOT Act, Etc.

(A) The Administrative Agent and the Lenders shall have received, at least
five (5) Business Days prior to the Closing Date, all documentation and other information
requested by the Administrative Agent or any Lender or required by regulatory
authorities in order for the Administrative Agent and the Lenders to comply with
requirements of any Anti-Money Laundering Laws, including the PATRIOT Act and any
applicable “know your customer” rules and regulations.

(B) Each Borrower shall have delivered to the Administrative Agent, and
directly to any Lender requesting the same, a Beneficial Ownership Certification (or a
certification that such Borrower qualifies for an express exclusion from the “legal entity
customer” definition of the Beneficial Ownership Regulation) in relation to it, in each
case at least five (5) Business Days prior to the Closing Date.

(111) Other Documents. All opinions, certificates and other instruments and all
proceedings in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be
satisfactory in form and substance to the Administrative Agent. The Administrative Agent shall
have received copies of all other documents, certificates and instruments reasonably requested
thereby, with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

Without limiting the generality of the provisions of Section 9.3(c¢), for purposes of determining
compliance with the conditions specified in this Section 4.1, the Administrative Agent and each Lender
that has signed this Agreement shall be deemed to have consented to, approved or accepted or to be
satisfied with, each document or other matter required thereunder to be consented to or approved by or
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acceptable or satisfactory to a Lender unless the Administrative Agent shall have received notice from
such Lender prior to the proposed Closing Date specifying its objection thereto.

SECTION 4.2 Conditions to All Loans. The obligations of the Lenders to make any Loan
(including the initial Loan) are subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions precedent on the
relevant borrowing date:

(a) Continuation of Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties
contained in this Agreement and the other Loan Documents shall be true and correct in all material
respects, except for any representation and warranty that is qualified by materiality or reference to
Material Adverse Effect, which such representation and warranty shall be true and correct in all respects,
on and as of such borrowing date with the same effect as if made on and as of such date (except for any
such representation and warranty that by its terms is made only as of an earlier date, which representation
and warranty shall remain true and correct in all material respects as of such earlier date, except for any
representation and warranty that is qualified by materiality or reference to Material Adverse Effect, which
such representation and warranty shall be true and correct in all respects as of such earlier date).

(b) No Existing Default. No Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be
continuing on the borrowing date with respect to such Loan or after giving effect to the Loans to be made
on such date.

(c) Notices. The Administrative Agent shall have received a Notice of Borrowing from the
Company in accordance with Section 2.3(a).

Each Notice of Borrowing submitted by the Company shall be deemed to be a representation and
warranty that the conditions specified in Sections 4.2(a) and (b) have been satisfied on and as of the
borrowing date of the applicable Loan.

ARTICLE V
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE CREDIT PARTIES

To induce the Administrative Agent and Lenders to enter into this Agreement and to induce the
Lenders to make Loans hereunder, each Credit Party hereby represents and warrants to the Administrative
Agent and the Lenders both before and after giving effect to the transactions contemplated hereunder,
which representations and warranties shall be deemed made on the Closing Date and as otherwise set
forth in Section 4.2, that:

SECTION 5.1 Existence and Standing. Each Credit Party (a) is a corporation, partnership or
limited liability company (i) duly and properly incorporated, organized or formed, as the case may be,
validly existing and in good standing (to the extent such concept applies to such entity) or current status,
in its jurisdiction of incorporation or organization and (ii) duly qualified and in good standing (to the
extent such concept applies to such entity) or current status, in each other jurisdiction where the conduct
of its business or the ownership of its properties requires such qualification, and (b) has full power,
authority and legal right to carry on its business as presently conducted, and to own and operate its
properties and assets; except in each case referred to in clause (a)(ii) or (b), to the extent the failure to do
so could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 5.2 Authorization and Validity. Each Credit Party has the power and authority
and legal right to execute and deliver the Loan Documents to which it is a party and to perform its
obligations thereunder. The execution, delivery, and performance of the Loan Documents by each Credit
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Party have been duly authorized by proper corporate, limited liability company partnership or other entity
proceedings. This Agreement constitutes, and each other Loan Document to which any Credit Party is a
party when executed and delivered to the Administrative Agent will constitute a legal, valid and binding
obligation of such Credit Party, enforceable in accordance with its terms, except as enforceability may be
limited by applicable Debtor Relief Laws.

SECTION 5.3 Conflict; Government Consent. Neither the execution and delivery by any
Credit Party of the Loan Documents to which it is a party, nor the consummation of the transactions
therein contemplated, nor compliance with the provisions thereof will violate (a) any Applicable Law
binding on any Credit Party or (b) any Credit Party’s Organizational Documents, or (¢) the provisions of
any loan, loan agreement, indenture, instrument or agreement to which any Credit Party is a party or is
subject, or by which it, or its property, is bound, or conflict with or constitute a default thereunder, or
result in, or require, the creation or imposition of any Lien in, of or on the property of any Credit Party
pursuant to the terms of any such indenture, instrument or agreement, except, with respect to this clause
(c), as could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. No Governmental Approval
of any Governmental Authority is required for the due execution, delivery and performance of the Loan
Documents except such as have been obtained and are in full force and effect.

SECTION 5.4 Financial Statements. The financial statements that have heretofore been
delivered to the Administrative Agent or any Lender, and all schedules and notes included in such
financial statements—are—true—and-—correct—in—almaterialrespeets—and present fairly (a) the financial
position of the Company and its Subsidiaries as of the date of such statements and (b) the results of its
operations for the periods covered thereby; and with respect to the consolidated financial statements of
the Company and its Subsidiaries (including, for the avoidance of doubt, all Minority Dealer
Subsidiaries), there are not any material liabilities that should have been reflected in the financial
statements or the notes thereto under GAAP, contingent or otherwise, including liabilities for taxes or any
unusual forward or long-term commitments, that are not disclosed or reserved against in the statements
referred to above or in the notes thereto or that are not disclosed herein. The consolidated financial
statements of the Company and its Subsidiaries (including, for the avoidance of doubt, all Minority
Dealer Subsidiaries) have been prepared in accordance with GAAP, except, as to interim financial
statements, for the absence of footnotes and subject to year-end adjustments.

SECTION 5.5 Material Adverse Effect. Since the date of the most recent audited financial
statements delivered to the Administrative Agent, no event or circumstance has occurred which has had or
which could reasonably be expected to have, a Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 5.6 Taxes. Each Credit Party has filed all federal, state, local, and other tax
returns which are required to be filed and has paid all taxes due pursuant to said returns or pursuant to any
assessment received by any Credit Party, except such taxes, if any, as are being contested in good faith
and by proper proceedings and as to which adequate reserves have been provided in accordance with
GAAP and as to which no Lien exists.

SECTION 5.7 Litigation. There is no litigation, arbitration, governmental investigation,
proceeding or inquiry pending against any Credit Party or, to the knowledge of any of their officers,
threatened against or affecting any Credit Party which (a) purport to affect or pertain to this Agreement or
any other Loan Document, or any of the transactions contemplated thereby, which seeks to prevent,
enjoin or delay the making of any Loan, or (b) if determined adversely, could reasonably be expected to
have a Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 5.8 Subsidiaries and Affiliates. Set forth in Schedule 5.8 is a complete and
accurate list as of the Closing Date of the Company and its Subsidiaries and Affiliates excluding, as to
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Affiliates, Persons holding 5% or more of the Company’s Class A Common Stock who have filed
required reports under Sections 13(d), 13(g) or 16 of the Exchange Act, or are not required to file such
reports, showing the jurisdiction of incorporation of each and showing the percentage of the Company’s
ownership of the outstanding stock of each Subsidiary and Affiliate. All of the outstanding capital stock
or other Equity Interests of each Subsidiary that is owned directly by any Credit Party has been validly
issued and is fully paid and nonassessable.

SECTION 5.9 ERISA. With respect to each Plan, each Credit Party and all ERISA Affiliates
have paid all required minimum contributions and installments on or before the due dates provided under
Section 430(j) of the Code and could not reasonably be subject to a lien under Section 430(k) of the Code
or Title IV of ERISA. Neither any Credit Party nor any ERISA Affiliate has filed, pursuant to Section
412(c) of the Code or Section 302(c) of ERISA, an application for a waiver of the minimum funding
standard. No ERISA Event has occurred or is reasonably expected to occur that, when taken together with
all other such ERISA Events for which liability is reasonably expected to occur, could reasonably be
expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 5.10 Accuracy of Information.

(a) No report, financial statement, certificate or other written information furnished by or on
behalf of any Credit Party (other than projected financial information, pro forma financial information
and information of a general economic or industry nature) to the Administrative Agent or any Lender in
connection with the transactions contemplated hereby and the negotiation of this Agreement or delivered
hereunder or under any other Loan Document (in each case, as modified or supplemented by other written
information so furnished), when taken as a whole, contains any material misstatement of fact or omits to
state any material fact necessary to make the statements therein (when taken as a whole), in the light of
the circumstances under which they were made, not materially misleading; provided that, with respect to
projected and pro forma financial information, each Borrower represents only that such information was
prepared in good faith based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable at the time of preparation and
delivery; it being understood that such projections may vary from actual results and that such variances
may be material.

(b) As of the Closing Date, the information included in any Beneficial Ownership
Certification is true and correct in all respects.

SECTION 5.11 Regulation U. No Credit Party nor any Subsidiary thereof is engaged
principally or as one of its important activities in the business of extending credit for the purpose of
“purchasing” or “carrying” any “margin stock™ (as each such term is defined or used, directly or
indirectly, in Regulation U of the FRB). Following the application of the proceeds of each Loan, not
more than twenty-five percent (25%) of the value of the assets (either of the Company only or of the
Company and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis) subject to the provisions of Section 7.1(a), Section
7.3 or subject to any restriction contained in any agreement or instrument between any Credit Party and
any Lender or any Affiliate of any Lender relating to Indebtedness in excess of Indebtedness of the Credit
Parties described in Section 8.1(c) will be “margin stock”.

SECTION 5.12  Material Agreements. The Company and each other Credit Party which is a
Dealership is in compliance with all Seller Agreements except as could not reasonably be expected to
have a Material Adverse Effect. No Credit Party is a party to any agreement or instrument or subject to
any charter or other corporate, partnership, or limited liability company or other restriction which could
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. No Credit Party is in breach of or default in the
performance, observance or fulfillment of any of the obligations, covenants or conditions contained in (a)
any agreement to which it is a party, or which is binding on it or any of its assets, which default or default
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could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect or (b) any agreement or instrument
evidencing or governing Indebtedness in excess of Indebtedness of the Credit Parties described in Section

8.1(c).

SECTION 5.13  Compliance with Laws. Each Credit Party is in compliance—in—al-material
respeets with all Applicable Laws, including without limitation all environmental permits, Environmental
Laws and the FLSA, except as could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect,

SECTION 5.14 Ownership of Properties. Each Credit Party is the true and lawful owner of
and has good title to, or valid leasehold interests in, all properties and assets material to its business, real
and personal, intangible and tangible which it owns or leases, free of any liens and encumbrances, except
Permitted Liens.

SECTION 5.15  Plan Assets; Prohibited Transactions. No Credit Party is an entity deemed to
hold “plan assets” within the meaning of 29 C.F.R. § 2510.3-101, as modified by Section 3(42) of
ERISA, of an employee benefit plan (as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA) which is subject to Title I of
ERISA or any plan (within the meaning of Section 4975 of the Code), and neither the execution of this
Agreement nor the making of Loans hereunder gives rise to a Prohibited Transaction.

SECTION 5.16 ~ Trademarks; Patents, Etc. Each Credit Party possesses or has the right to use
all licenses, permits, franchises, patents, copyrights, trademarks, trade names, servicemarks, or rights
thereto, material to the conduct of its business substantially as now conducted and as presently proposed
to be conducted and none of the Credit Parties are in material violation of any valid rights of others with
respect to any of the foregoing.

SECTION 5.17  Burdensome Restrictions. No Credit Party is a party to or otherwise bound by
any indenture, loan or credit agreement or any lease or other agreement or instrument or subject to any
charter, corporate, limited liability company or partnership or other restriction which could reasonably be
expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 518  Force Majewre. Since the date-of the- mestrecent audited financial statements
debivered-to-the Administrative Agent. the business. properties-and other assets-of Credit Parties have not

.[Reéerved .]h

SECTION 5.19  Investment Company Act, Etc. No Credit Party, Person Controlling any
Credit Party, or Subsidiary is an “Investment Company” within the meaning of the Investment Company
Act. No Credit Party is subject to regulation under the Federal Power Act, any state public utilities code,
or any other federal or state statute or regulation limiting its ability to incur indebtedness.

SECTION 5.20 Solvency. Each Credit Party 1s Solvent and, after the execution and delivery
of the Loan Documents and the consummation of the transactions contemplated thereby, including the
making of each Loan and the use of the proceeds thereof, will be Solvent.

SECTION 5.21  Franchise Agreements; Material Business Relationships. As of the Closing
Date, neither the Company nor any other Credit Party is a party to any dealer franchise agreement, dealer

agreement, dealer sales and service agreement or similar agreement (each, a “Franchise Agreement”)
other than those specifically listed on Schedule 5.21, which Schedule shows the applicable manufacturer
or distributor and the Company or other Credit Party, as the case may be, that is a party to each such
agreement and the expiration date of such agreement. Except as could not reasonably be expected to
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result in a Material Adverse Effect: (a) each of such Franchise Agreements is currently in full force and
effect; (b) neither the Company nor any other Credit Party has received any notice of termination with
respect to any such agreement; and (c) except as disclosed on Schedule 5.21, neither the Company nor
any other Credit Party is aware of any event that with notice, lapse of time or both would allow any
manufacturer or distributor that is a party of any Franchise Agreement to terminate any such agreement.
There exists no actual or threatened termination, cancellation or limitation of, or any modification or
change in, the business relationship between the Company or any other Credit Party and any customer or
any group of customers or with any manufacturer or distributor that, in any case, could reasonably be
expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 5.22 Security Interests. The Liens created or to be created in favor of the
Administrative Agent, for the benefit of the Secured Parties, under the Security Documents do and will at
all times on and after the Closing Date, constitute perfected security interests, subject only to Permitted
Encumbrances, in the Collateral as security for the Obligations specified in the Security Documents.

SECTION 5.23  Anti-Corruption Laws: Anti-Money Laundering Laws and Sanctions.

(a) The Credit Parties, their Subsidiaries and their respective officers and employees, and to
the knowledge of the Credit Parties, their directors and agents, are in compliance with all applicable
Anti-Corruption Laws, Anti-Money Laundering Laws and Sanctions in all material respects. Each Credit
Party has implemented and maintains in effect for itself and its Subsidiaries policies and procedures to
ensure compliance by such Credit Party, its Subsidiaries, and their respective officers, employees,
directors, and agents with all applicable Anti-Corruption Laws, Anti-Money Laundering Laws and
Sanctions. None of the Credit Parties, any of their Subsidiaries or any director, officer, employee, agent,
or affiliate of such Credit Party or any of its Subsidiaries, (A) is a Sanctioned Person or currently the
subject or target of any Sanctions, (B) has its assets located in a Sanctioned Country, (C) is under
administrative, civil or criminal investigation for an alleged violation of, or received notice from or made
a voluntary disclosure to any governmental entity regarding a possible violation of, Anti-Corruption
Laws, Anti-Money Laundering Laws or Sanctions by a governmental authority that enforces Sanctions or
any Anti-Corruption Laws or Anti-Money Laundering Laws, or (D) directly or indirectly derives
revenues from investments in, or transactions with, Sanctioned Persons.

(b) No proceeds of any Loan have been used, directly or indirectly, by any Credit Party, any
of its Subsidiaries or any of its or their respective directors, officers, employees and agents in violation of
Section 6.17.

SECTION 5.24  Affected Financial Institution. No Credit Party is an Affected Financial
[nstitution.

SECTION 5.25 Mortgaeed Properties.

(a) Identification of Mortgaged Properties. Schedule 5.25(a) sets forth all of the Mortgaged
Properties as of the Closing Date, showing as of the Closing Date the street address, county or other
relevant jurisdiction, state and record owner thereof and the identity of all tenants of such Mortgaged
Properties.

(b) Leases. Schedule 5.25(b) is a complete and correct listing of all Leases in effect as of the
Closing Date. Each Material Lease is in full force and effect without amendment or modification from
the form or copy delivered to the Administrative Agent except for amendments permitted hereunder; no
default by any party exists under any such Lease that would reasonably be expected to result in
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termination of such Material Lease, nor has any event occurred which, with the passage of time or the
giving of notice, or both, would constitute such a default under any such Material Lease.

(c) Validity of Liens. Each Mortgage when properly recorded in the appropriate real estate
records office, together with any UCC financing statements required to be filed in connection therewith,
will create (i) a valid, perfected first priority Lien on the applicable Borrower’s interest in the applicable
Mortgaged Property and (ii) valid and perfected first priority security interests in and to, and perfected
collateral assignments of, all applicable personalty (including rents and leases) described therein, all in
accordance with the terms thereof, in each case subject only to Permitted Encumbrances.

(d) Casualty, Condemnation, Etc. Neither any of the Mortgaged Properties nor any of the
businesses conducted thereon are affected in any material respect by any fire, explosion, accident, strike,
lockout or other labor dispute, drought, storm, hail, earthquake, embargo, pandemic, closure or
suspension of material operations required by any Governmental Authority (other than a temporary
suspension of no more than 90 days (or such longer period as may be approved by the Required Lenders)
due to the COVID-19 pandemic), act of God or of the public enemy or other Casualty (whether or not
covered by insurance). No Condemnation or other proceeding has been commenced or, to any Credit
Party’s knowledge, is contemplated with respect to any portion of any of the Mortgaged Properties or for
the relocation of roadways providing access to any of the Mortgaged Properties.

(e) Hazardous Substances. Ete. Except as disclosed in any Phase 1, Phase Il or other
environmental assessments provided to, and accepted by, the Administrative Agent with respect to any
such Mortgaged Property prior to the date on which such Mortgaged Property became subject to a
Mortgage, none of the Mortgaged Properties now contain, and to the knowledge of each Credit Party have
not previously contained, any Hazardous Substance in amounts or concentrations which constitute or
constituted a violation of applicable Environmental Laws. Each of the Mortgaged Properties and all
operations conducted in connection therewith are in compliance, and have been in compliance, in all
material respects with all applicable Environmental Laws, and there is no contamination at, under or
about any of the Mortgaged Properties or such operations which would be reasonably expected to
interfere with the continued operation of any of the Mortgaged Properties or impair in any material
respect the fair saleable value thereof. No Credit Party has received any notice of material violation,
alleged violation, non-compliance, liability or potential liability regarding environmental matters,
Hazardous Substance or compliance with Environmental Laws with respect to, or relating to, any of the
Mortgaged Properties, nor does any Credit Party have knowledge or reason to believe that any such
notice will be received or is being threatened. During the period of ownership of the Mortgaged
Properties by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries Hazardous Substances have not been, and to the
knowledge of the Company and each of its Subsidiaries at all other times Hazardous Substances have not
been, transported or disposed of to or from any of the Mortgaged Properties in violation of, or in a
manner or to a location which would be reasonably expected to give rise to material liability under,
Environmental Laws, nor have any Hazardous Substances been generated, treated, stored or disposed of
at, on or under any of the Mortgaged Properties in violation of, or in a manner that would reasonably be
expected to give rise to material liability under, any applicable Environmental Laws. No material judicial
proceedings or governmental or administrative action is pending, or, to the knowledge of any Credit
Party, threatened, under any Environmental Law with respect to any of the Mortgaged Properties, nor are
there any material consent decrees or other decrees, consent orders, administrative orders or other orders,
or other administrative or judicial requirements outstanding under any applicable Environmental Law
with respect to any of the Mortgaged Properties or operations conducted in connection therewith., There
has been no release, or to any Credit Party’s knowledge, threat of release, of any Hazardous Substance at
or from any of the Mortgaged Properties, now or in the past. in violation of or in amounts or in a manner
that would reasonably be expected to give rise to material liability under applicable Environmental Laws,
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() Status of Title. All transfer taxes, deed stamps, intangible taxes or other amounts in the
nature of transfer taxes required to be paid by any Credit Party or any other Person under Applicable Law
in connection with the transfer of any Mortgaged Property to any Borrower have been paid. All
mortgage, recording, stamp, intangible or other similar taxes required to be paid by any Credit Party or
any other Person under applicable legal requirements in connection with the execution, delivery,
recordation, filing, registration, perfection or enforcement of any of the Loan Documents have been paid
(or will be paid substantially concurrently with the closing on the Closing Date pursuant to arrangements
satisfactory to the Administrative Agent or, in the case of any property that becomes a Mortgaged
Property after the Closing Date, will be paid pursuant to arrangements satisfactory to the Administrative
Agent). Except for Liens permitied by Section 7.3(c). there are no claims for payment for work, labor or
materials affecting any of the Mortgaged Properties which are or may become a Lien prior to, or of equal
priority with, the Liens created by the Loan Documents. There are no outstanding options to purchase or
rights of first refusal affecting any Mortgaged Property, or any portion thereof, other than (i) with respect
to the property located at 3696 William Penn Parkway, Monroeville, Pennsylvania, the purchase option
and a right of first refusal to purchase or lease the applicable property held by Ford Leasing Development
Company pursuant to special warranty deed recorded August 23, 2005, as Instrument 2005-28369 of the
Allegheny County, Pennsylvania Deed Registry, and (ii) with respect to arrangements entered into after
the Closing Date, the terms of which do not violate Section 7.17(d) hereof or any other applicable
provisions of the Loan Documents. The surveys for each of the Mortgaged Properties delivered to the
Administrative Agent do not fail to reflect any material matter affecting such Mortgaged Properties or the
title thereto. All of the Improvements which were included in determining the Applicable Appraised
Value of each Dealership Property or Adjacent (Improved) Property lie wholly within the boundaries and
building restriction lines of such Dealership Property or Adjacent (Improved) Property, as the case may
be, and no Improvements on adjoining properties encroach upon such Dealership Property or Adjacent
(Improved) Property, and no easements or other encumbrances upon the applicable Dealership Property
or Adjacent (Improved) Property encroach upon any of the Improvements, so as to adversely affect in any
material respect the value or marketability of the applicable Dealership Property or Adjacent (Improved)
Property except those which are insured against by title insurance. No Mortgaged Property is subject to
any easement or other encumbrances that adversely affects the value, operation or use of any such
Mortgaged Property in any material respect.

(2) Zoning, Etc. No Credit Party has received notice from a Governmental Authority that the
use of any Mortgaged Property is not in compliance with applicable zoning, building, fire or insurance
requirements (taking into account applicable waivers, variances, use permits and similar rights and
agreements in effect with respect to such parcel) where such noncompliance has not been corrected.

(h) Access, Utilities, Etc. Each Mortgaged Property has adequate rights of access to public
ways and is served by all private and public utilities, including without limitation water, sewer, sanitary
sewer and storm drainage facilities, adequate for the current and intended uses thereof. All public utilities
necessary or convenient to the full use and enjoyment of each of the Mortgaged Properties are located
either in the public right of way abutting such Mortgaged Properties (which are connected so as to serve
the Mortgaged Properties without passing over other property) or in recorded easements serving such
Mortgaged Properties. All roads necessary for the use of each of the Mortgaged Properties for their
current respective purposes have been completed and dedicated to public use and accepted by all
Governmental Authorities (or are located on the Mortgaged Properties or in validly created easements
benefiting the Mortgaged Properties which are insured by the applicable title insurance policy delivered
in connection herewith).

(i) Taxes and Assessments. Each Mortgaged Property is comprised of one or more parcels
each of which constitutes a separate tax lot and does not constitute a portion of any other tax lot not a part
of such Mortgaged Property. There are no material pending or proposed special or other assessments for
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public improvements or otherwise affecting any of the Mortgaged Properties, nor, to any Credit Party’s
knowledge, are there any material contemplated Improvements to any of the Mortgaged Properties that
may result in such special or other assessments.

)] Condition of Mortgaged Properties. Each of the Mortgaged Properties, including,
without limitation, all buildings, improvements, parking facilities, sidewalks, storm drainage systems,
roofs, plumbing systems, HVAC systems, fire protection systems, electrical systems, underground storage
tanks, equipment, elevators, exterior sidings and doors, landscaping, irrigation systems and all structural
components, are in good condition, order and repair in all material respects, ordinary wear and tear
excepted; there are no structural or other material defects or damages in any of the Mortgaged Properties,
whether latent or otherwise, which would adversely affect the insurability of the same or cause the
imposition of extraordinary premiums or charges thereon in connection with any policy of insurance or
bond. No Credit Party has received notice from any insurance company or bonding company of any
defects or inadequacies in any Mortgaged Property, or any part thereof, which would materially and
adversely affect the insurability of the same or cause the imposition of extraordinary premiums or charges
thereon or of any termination or threatened termination of any policy of insurance or bond.

SECTION 5.26  Labor Matters. Except as disclosed on Schedule 5.26, as of the Closing Date,
no Credit Party is party to any collective bargaining agreement, nor has any labor union been recognized
as the representative of its employees.

SECTION 5.27  Insurance. The properties of the Credit Parties are insured with financially
sound and reputable insurance companies, in such amounts, with such deductibles and covering such risks
as are customarily carried by companies of similar size engaged in similar businesses.

SECTION 5.28  Absence of Defaults. No event has occurred or is continuing which
constitutes a Default or an Event of Default,

ARTICLE VI
AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS

Until all of the Obligations (other than contingent indemnification obligations not then due) have
been paid and satisfied in full in cash and the Commitments terminated, each Credit Party agrees to the
tollowing:

SECTION 6.1 Financial Information. The Company shall provide to the Administrative
Agent (which will promptly make such information available to each Lender in accordance with its
customary practices):

(a) Annual Financial Statements. As soon as available and in any event within 120 days
after the end of each Fiscal Year, (i) an audited consolidated-and-consohdating balance sheet of the
Company and its Subsidiaries (including, for the avoidance of doubt, all Minority Dealer Subsidiaries) as
of the close of such Fiscal Year and (ii) audited consolidated and-eenselidating-statements of income and
audited consolidated statements of retained earnings and cash flows including the notes thereto, all in
reasonable detail setting forth in comparative form the corresponding figures as of the end of and for the
preceding Fiscal Year and prepared in accordance with GAAP consistently applied and, if applicable,
containing disclosure of the effect on the financial position or results of operations of any change in the
application of accounting principles and practices during the year. Such annual financial statements shall
be audited by an independent certified public accounting firm of recognized national standing reasonably
acceptable to the Administrative Agent, and accompanied by a report and opinion thereon by such
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certified public accountants prepared in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards that is not
subject to any “going concern” or similar qualification or exception or any qualification as to the scope of
such audit or with respect to accounting principles followed by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries
not in accordance with GAAP;

(b) Quarterly Financial Statements. As soon as available and in any event within 45 days
after the end of the first three fiscal quarters of each Fiscal Year (commencing with the fiscal quarter
ended June 30, 2020), an unaudited consolidated balance sheet of the Company and its Subsidiaries
(including, for the avoidance of doubt, all Minority Dealer Subsidiaries) as of the close of such fiscal
quarter and unaudited consolidated statements of income, retained earnings and cash flows for the fiscal
quarter then ended and that portion of the Fiscal Year then ended, including the notes thereto, all in
reasonable detail setting forth in comparative form the corresponding figures as of the end of and for the
corresponding period in the preceding Fiscal Year and prepared by the Company in accordance with
GAAP consistently applied and, if applicable, containing disclosure of the effect on the financial position
or results of operations of any change in the application of accounting principles and practices during the
period, and certified by the chief financial officer or another Responsible Officer of the Company
acceptable to the Administrative Agent as presenting fairly in all material respects the financial condition
of the Company and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis as of their respective dates and the results of
operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries for the respective periods then ended, subject to normal
year-end audit adjustments and the absence of footnotes;

(c) Monthly Financial Statements.
after—the—end—of —each—calendar —mﬁ—&m@%%wﬂa—ﬂm—aﬂ%—men&h—eﬁd&d%
2020)Promptly following the Administrative Agent’s or any Lender’s request, an unaudited consolidated
balance sheet and statement of operations for the Company and its Subsidiaries (including, for the
avoidance of doubt, all Minority Dealer Subsidiaries) for such month and for the fiscal year to date,
including such detail as the Administrative Agent or any Lender reasonably requires, certified by the
Company’s chief financial officer or another Responsible Officer acceptable to the Administrative Agent
as presenting fairly in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company and its Subsidiaries (including, for the avoidance of doubt, all Minority Dealer Subsidiaries) on
a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP consistently applied, subject to normal year-end audit
adjustments and the absence of footnotes;

(d) SEC Filings, Other Statements and Reports. Within 10 days following delivery thereof,
copies of all financial statements, proxy statements, and all material written reports and information
provided to its shareholders generally, and copies of all registration statements, regular, periodic or
special reports, and other documents of Company or any Subsidiary filed with the SEC, any other
national securities exchange, or any other governmental securities regulatory authority having jurisdiction
over Company or its Subsidiaries, and in any case not otherwise required to be delivered to the
Administrative Agent pursuant hereto;

(e) Compliance Certificate. Concurrently with the delivery of the financial statements
pursuant to Section 6.1(a) and (b) (commencing with the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2020), a duly
completed Compliance Certificate signed by the Company’s chief financial officer or another Responsible
Officer acceptable to the Administrative Agent that, amongst other things, (i) states that no Default or
Event of Default is continuing as of the date of delivery of such Compliance Certificate or, if a Default or
Event of Default is continuing, states the nature thereof and the action that the Company proposes to take
with respect thereto and (ii) demonstrates compliance with the financial covenants set forth in Section
7.16 as of the last day of the applicable Measurement Period ending on the last day of the Measurement
Period covered by such financial statements, together with a report containing management’s discussion
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and analysis of the Company’s material quarterly and annual operating results and financial condition, as
applicable;

(H Projections. Promptly following the Administrative Agent’s or any Lender’s request, a
projected consolidated balance sheet for the Company and its Subsidiaries (including, for the avoidance
of doubt, all Minority Dealership Subsidiaries) and related statements of income and cash flows for the
time period requested by the Administrative Agent or any Lender, signed by the Company’s chief
financial officer or another Responsible Officer acceptable to the Administrative Agent, acknowledging
his or her review of such projections;

(2) Other Financial Statements. Promptly following the Administrative Agent’s or any
Lender’s request, copies of each financial statement delivered to a manufacturer or distributor by any
Dealership, as required by its agreement with the manufacturer or distributor;

(h) PATRIOT Act. Etc. Promptly upon the request thereof, such other information and
documentation required under applicable “know your customer” rules and regulations, the PATRIOT Act
or any applicable Anti-Money Laundering Laws or Anti-Corruption Laws, in each case as from time to
time reasonably requested by the Administrative Agent or any Lender; and

(1) Other Information. Promptly following any request therefor, such other information
regarding the operations, business affairs and financial condition of any Credit Party, or compliance with
the terms of this Agreement, as the Administrative Agent or any Lender may reasonably request, which
may include without limitation a monthly statement of cash flows.

[f any information which is required to be furnished to the Administrative Agent or the Lenders under this
Section is required by Applicable Law to be filed by any Credit Party with a Governmental Authority on
an earlier date, then the information required hereunder shall be furnished to the Administrative Agent
and the Lenders at such earlier date.

Documents required to be delivered pursuant to Section 6.1(a). (b) or (d) (to the extent any such
documents are included in materials otherwise filed with the SEC) may be delivered electronically and if
so delivered, shall be deemed to have been delivered on the date (i) on which the Company posts such
documents, or provides a link thereto on the Company’s website on the Internet; or (ii) on which such
documents are posted on the Company’s behalf on an Internet or intranet website, if any, to which each
Lender and the Administrative Agent have access (whether a commercial, third-party website or whether
sponsored by the Administrative Agent); provided that: (i) the Company shall deliver paper copies of
such documents to the Administrative Agent or any Lender, if so requested by any such Person, until a
written request to cease delivering paper copies is given by the Administrative Agent or such Lender and
(ii) the Company shall notify the Administrative Agent and each Lender (by facsimile or electronic mail)
of the posting of any such documents and provide to the Administrative Agent by electronic mail
electronic versions of such documents. Notwithstanding anything contained herein, in every instance the
Company shall be required to provide copies of the Compliance Certificates required by Section 6.1(e) to
the Administrative Agent in accordance with the procedures set forth in Section 10.1. Except for such
Compliance Certificates, the Administrative Agent shall have no obligation to request the delivery or to
maintain copies of the documents referred to above, and in any event shall have no responsibility to
monitor compliance by the Company with any such request for delivery, and each Lender shall be solely
responsible for requesting delivery to it or maintaining its copies of such documents.

Each Credit Party hereby acknowledges that (a) the Administrative Agent and/or the Arrangers will make

available to the Lenders materials and/or information provided by or on behalf of the Credit Parties

hereunder (collectively, “Borrower Materials™) by posting the Borrower Materials on the Platform and (b)

certain of the Lenders may be “public-side” Lenders (i.e., Lenders that do not wish to receive material
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non-public information with respect to the Credit Parties or their respective securities) (each, a “Public
Lender”). Each Credit Party hereby agrees that it will use commercially reasonable efforts to identify that
portion of the Borrower Materials that may be distributed to the Public Lenders and that (w) all such
Borrower Materials shall be clearly and conspicuously marked “PUBLIC” which, at a minimum, means
that the word “PUBLIC™ shall appear prominently on the first page thereof’ (x) by marking Borrower
Materials “PUBLIC,” each Credit Party shall be deemed to have authorized the Administrative Agent, the
Arrangers, and the Lenders to treat such Borrower Materials as not containing any material non-public
information (although it may be sensitive and proprietary) with respect to the Credit Parties or their
respective for purposes of United States Federal and state securities laws (provided, however, that to the
extent such Borrower Materials constitute Information, they shall be treated as set forth in Section 10.10);
(y) all Borrower Materials marked “PUBLIC™ are permitted to be made available through a portion of the
Platform designated “Public Investor;” and (z) the Administrative Agent and the Arrangers shall be
entitled to treat any Borrower Materials that are not marked “PUBLIC” as being suitable only for posting
on a portion of the Platform not designated “Public Investor.”

SECTION 6.2 Maintenance of Existence and Permits. Except as permitted by Section 7.1,
each Credit Party shall, and the Company shall cause cach Subsidiary that is a Credit Party to, preserve
and maintain its corporate, limited liability company, partnership, trust or other existence and good
standing or current status in the jurisdiction of its incorporation or organization and qualify and remain
qualified, as a foreign corporation, limited liability company or other entity in each jurisdiction in which
such qualification is required (except to the extent such failure to qualify in a foreign jurisdiction could
not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect), and to maintain all patents, trademarks,
copyrights, trade names, intellectual property, franchises, licenses, and permits to the extent material and
necessary for the conduct of its business and the transactions contemplated by the Loan Documents.

SECTION 6.3 ERISA. Each Credit Party shall maintain, and the Company shall cause each
Subsidiary that is a Credit Party to maintain, each Plan in compliance with all material applicable
requirements of ERISA and of the Code and with all applicable rulings and regulations issued under the
provisions of ERISA and of the Code and will not and not permit any of the ERISA Affiliates to (a)
engage in any transaction in connection with which any Credit Party or any of the ERISA Affiliates
would be subject to either a civil penalty assessed pursuant to Section 502(1) of ERISA or a tax imposed
by Section 4975 of the Code, (b) fail to make full payment when due of all amounts which, under the
provisions of any Plan, any Credit Party or any ERISA Affiliate is required to pay as contributions
thereto, or (c) fail to make any payments to any Multiemployer Plan that any Credit Party or any of the
ERISA Affiliates may be required to make under any agreement relating to such Multiemployer Plan or
any law pertaining thereto.

SECTION 6.4 Inspection. Each Credit Party shall, and the Company shall cause each
Subsidiary that is a Credit Party to, permit representatives of the Administrative Agent and the Lenders to
visit and inspect any of its properties, audit and inspect any of the Collateral and examine any of its books
and records (and make copies at its expense) wherever located, including, but not limited to, all
manufacturers’ statements of origin, titles, demonstrator agreements, factory invoices, purchase orders,
deal jackets and papers included therein, buy-back agreements and other agreements with manufacturers,
dlambutors or other sellers of‘ vehicles (excluding agreements—between—the-Company—and-—American

\ ' s- to the extent that disclosure is specifically prohibited by the terms
of such agreements) and all olher instruments, documents and records at any reasonable time and as often
as the Administrative Agent or any Lender may reasonably desire; and each Credit Party shall and the
Company shall cause each other Credit Party to, assist the Administrative Agent and the Lenders in so
doing.

SECTION 6.5 [Reserved.]
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SECTION 6.6 Books and Records. Each Credit Party shall, and the Company shall cause
each Subsidiary to, keep adequate records and books of account in which complete entries will be made
reflecting all material financial transactions and matters involving the assets and business of the Company
or such Subsidiary, as the case may be. The Company will prepare all financial statements, computations
and information required hereunder for the Company and its Subsidiaries (including, for the avoidance of
doubt, all Minority Dealership Subsidiaries) consolidated in accordance with GAAP.

SECTION 6.7 Maintenance of Properties. Each Credit Party shall, and the Company shall
cause each Subsidiary that is a Credit Party to, maintain, repair, and preserve all of each Credit Party’s
properties (whether owned, leased or subleased) that are used or useful in the conduct of the business of
the Credit Parties or where any Collateral is located (“Properties™) in good working order and condition,
ordinary wear and tear excepted, and will from time to time make or cause to be made all necessary and
proper replacements, repairs, renewals, and improvements so that the efficiency and value of its
Properties and facilities shall not be materially impaired.

SECTION 6.8 Taxes and Other Obligations. Each Credit Party shall, and the Company shall
cause cach Subsidiary that is a Credit Party to, timely file complete and correct United States federal and
applicable foreign, state and local tax returns required by law and to pay and discharge when due all
indebtedness, taxes, and other obligations for which it is liable or to which its income or property is
subject and all claims for labor and materials or supplies which, if unpaid, might become by law a lien
upon its assets, unless it is contesting the indebtedness, taxes, or other obligations in good faith and
provision has been made for the payment thereof through setting aside on its books appropriate reserves
with respect thereto in accordance with GAAP.

SECTION 6.9 [nsurance.

(a) Maintenance of Insurance, Each Credit Party shall, and the Company shall cause each
Subsidiary that is a Credit Party to, maintain policies of insurance upon all of the insurable Collateral, and
on its properties and operations (including, without limitation, hazard and business interruption
insurance), carried with companies reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent, in such form and
amounts and covering such risks as the Administrative Agent may reasonably require and as are required
by Applicable Law. Without limiting the foregoing, each Credit Party shall, and the Company shall cause
each Subsidiary that is a Credit Party to, maintain with financially sound and reputable independent
insurers, insurance with respect to its properties and business against loss or damage of such types and in
such amounts as are customarily carried under similar circumstances by Persons engaged in the same or
similar businesses.

(b) Form of Policies. All policies shall be written in form, amounts, coverages and basis
reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent and shall be issued by a company or companies
reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent. The Administrative Agent shall be designated as
lender loss payee and mortgagee with an appropriate endorsement on casualty policies covering the
Collateral and as an additional insured on liability policies. All policies shall include a provision that
such policies will not be cancelled or materially amended, which term shall include any reduction in the
scope or limits of coverage, without at least thirty (30) days prior written notice to the Administrative
Agent. Each policy also shall include an endorsement providing that coverage in favor of the
Administrative Agent will not be impaired in any way by any act, omission or default of any Credit Party.

(c) Delivery of Certificates. Each Credit Party shall, and the Company shall cause each
Subsidiary that is a Credit Party to, furnish to the Administrative Agent a certificate of insurance in a
form reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent evidencing such insurance coverage. At least
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thirty (30) days prior to the expiration date of each policy, the Administrative Agent shall be provided
with a renewal certificate, together with evidence that the renewal premium has been paid.

(d) Flood Insurance. If any portion of any Mortgaged Property is at any time located in an
area identified by the Federal Emergency Management Agency (or any successor agency) as a special
flood hazard area with respect to which flood insurance has been made available under the Flood
Insurance Laws, then each Credit Party shall, or the Company shall cause the applicable Subsidiary that is
a Credit Party to, (i) maintain, or cause to be maintained, with a financially sound and reputable insurer,
flood insurance in an amount and otherwise sufficient to comply with all applicable rules and regulations
promulgated pursuant to the Flood Insurance Laws and as otherwise required by the Administrative
Agent or any Lender, (ii) reasonably cooperate with the Administrative Agent and the Lenders and
provide information reasonably required by the Administrative Agent and the Lenders to comply with the
Flood Insurance Laws, (iii) deliver to the Administrative Agent evidence of such compliance in form and
substance reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent and each Lender, including evidence of
annual renewals of such insurance and (iv) furnish to the Administrative Agent prompt written notice of
any re-designation of any such Mortgaged Property into or out of a special flood hazard area.

SECTION 6.10  Compliance with Laws: Performance Under Agreements. Each Credit Party
shall, and the Company shall cause each Subsidiary that is a Credit Party to, (i) comply-in-aH-material
respeets with Applicable Laws, including, without limitation, all applicable Environmental Laws,
Anti-Corruption Laws and applicable Sanctions, except as could not reasonably be expected to have a
Material Adverse Effect and (ii) perform its obligations under agreements to which it is a party except to
the extent the failure to perform could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
Each Borrower shall maintain in effect and enforce policies and procedures designed to ensure
compliance by such Borrower, its Subsidiaries and their respective directors, officers, employees and
agents with all applicable Anti-Corruption Laws, Anti-Money Laundering Laws and Sanctions. The
Borrowers shall not use or allow any tenants or subtenants to use, or permit any Subsidiary to use or
allow any tenants or subtenants to use, its Property for any business activity that violates in any material
respect any federal or state law or that supports a business that violates in any material respect any federal
or state law.

SECTION 6.11 Agreements with Sellers. Each Credit Party shall, and the Company shall
cause ecach Subsidiary that is a Credit Party to, comply with Franchise Agreements, other Seller
Agreements, and all other agreements between such Person and any manufacturer or distributor of New
Vehicles in all respects and shall maintain all such agreements in full force and effect, except (a) in
accordance with the disposition of or other transaction involving a Dealership or Subsidiary in accordance
with Section 7.1, (b) as a result of termination or cessation of business not restricted by Section 7.8, or (c¢)
to the extent the failure to comply with this Section 6.11 could not reasonably be expected to have a
Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 6.12  [Reserved.]

SECTION 6.13  Management—The Company—shall maintain—a—ChietExccutive—Officer;
Flre«}dem— lﬂeeuﬂwe—ktuf—Pw‘ﬂdem—dnd—(—hwf—HﬁamMﬂl—m#rwr—m—semtw—exeeutﬂe peﬂﬂﬁﬂ-mg

persennel:[Reserved. ]

SECTION 6.14  Additional Borrowers and Subsidiary Guarantors. (x) As soon as practicable
but in any event within ten (10) days (or such longer period as the Administrative Agent may agree in its
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sole discretion) after the acquisition or creation of any Subsidiary which owns or operates a Dealership
location on or is or becomes a lessee of all or any portion of any Mortgaged Property or any existing
Subsidiary acquires or commences to own or operate a Dealership location on or becomes a lessee of all
or any portion of any Mortgaged Property or (y) not later than the consummation of any Mortgaged
Property Substitution, in the event any Subsidiary which owns the Substitution Property is not a Borrower
(or any Subsidiary which owns or operates a Dealership on, or leases all or any portion of such
Substitution Property, is not a Subsidiary Guarantor, as the case may be), the Company shall cause to be
delivered to the Administrative Agent each of the following:

(a) a Borrower Joinder Agreement or a Subsidiary Guaranty Joinder Agreement, as
applicable, duly executed by such Subsidiary;

(b) in the case of any such Subsidiary becoming a Borrower, a Note in favor of each Lender
requesting the same, duly executed by such Subsidiary;

(c) if any of the documents referenced in the foregoing clauses (a) or (b) are delivered (or
required to be delivered), if requested by the Administrative Agent, customary opinions of counsel
(including, without limitation, local counsel) to such Subsidiary, addressed to the Administrative Agent
and the Lenders, with respect to such Subsidiary, the Loan Documents and such other matters as the
Administrative Agent shall reasonably request (which such opinions shall expressly permit reliance by
permitted assigns of the Lenders unless otherwise approved by the Administrative Agent);

(d) if any of the documents referenced in the foregoing clauses (a) or (b) are delivered (or
required to be delivered), current copies of the documents of the types referred to in Sections 4.1(a)(iii),
Section 4.1(b), 4.1(d)(ii) and 4.1(d)(iii) with respect to such Subsidiary, all certified by the applicable
Governmental Authority or appropriate officer as the Administrative Agent may elect, all in form and
substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent; and

(e) evidence reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent that all taxes, filing fees and
recording fees related to the perfection of the Liens created under any of the documents delivered
pursuant to this Section 6.14 have been paid and all reasonable costs and expenses of the Administrative
Agent in connection therewith have been paid.

SECTION 6.15  Notification. Promptly after learning thereof, the Company will notify the
Administrative Agent (for further delivery to the Lenders in accordance with ifs customary practice) in
writing of:

(a) The occurrence of any Default or Event of Default, and if such Default or Event of
Default is then continuing, will deliver to the Administrative Agent a certificate of the Company’s chief
financial officer or other authorized officer setting forth the details thereof and the action which it is
taking or proposes to take with respect thereto.

(b) The occurrence of any of the following that could reasonably be expected to have a
Material Adverse Effect: (i) the release of any Hazardous Substances on, under, about, from, or affecting
any of the Properties, any adjacent property as a result of contamination, release or activity on the
Properties, or any Collateral or (ii) any other condition threatened or asserted with respect to any such
property arising under any Environmental Laws.

(c) The details of any lien, litigation, administrative proceeding or judgment involving
$35,000,000.00 or more individually or in the aggregate threatened (in writing), instituted or completed
against any Credit Party, any Collateral, or any assets of any Credit Party.
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(d) Any citation, order to show cause, or other legal process or order that has or could
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, directing any Credit Party to become a party to
or to appear at any proceeding or hearing by or before any Governmental Authority that has granted to it
any Governmental Approval, and include with such notice a copy of any such citation, order to show
cause, or other legal process or order.

(e) Any (i) refusal, denial, threatened denial, or failure by any Governmental Authority to
grant, issue, renew, or extend any material Governmental Approval; (ii) proposed or actual revocation,
termination, or modification (whether favorable or adverse) of any material Governmental Approval by
any Governmental Authority; (iii) dispute or other adverse action with regard to any material
Governmental Approval by any Governmental Authority; (iv) notice from any Governmental Authority
of the imposition of any material fines or penalties or forfeitures; or (v) written threats or written notice
with respect to any of the foregoing or with respect to any proceeding or hearing that might result in any
of the foregoing.

() Any dispute concerning or any threatened nonrenewal or modification of any lease for
real or personal property to which it is a party if such dispute or nonrenewal or modification could
reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

(8) Any material change in the relationship between any Dealership and any vehicle
manufacturer or distributor including, without limitation, the loss or cancellation, or threatened loss or
cancellation, of a franchise, or any notice of the existence of a default under any Franchise Agreement or
other Seller Agreement.

(h) Any other event or circumstance which has or could reasonably be expected to have a
Material Adverse Effect.

(i) The receipt of any material notices (including notices of default or acceleration) received
from any agent, lender, holder or trustee of, under or with respect to the Company Revolving Credit
Agreement or any other agreement governing the Company Revolving Credit Facility (which shall
include copies of such notices).

(1) With respect to a Plan, (i) any failure to pay all required minimum contributions and
installments on or before the due dates provided under Section 430(j) of the Code or (ii) the filing
pursuant to Section 412(c) of the Code or Section 302(c) of ERISA, of an application for a waiver of the
minimum funding standard.

(k) The occurrence of any ERISA Event that, alone or together with any other ERISA Events
that have occurred, would reasonably be expected to result in material liability.
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SECTION 6.16  Further Assurances. From time to time, when requested by the Administrative
Agent or any Lender, each Credit Party shall, and the Company shall cause each Subsidiary that is a
Credit Party to, duly execute and deliver or cause to be duly executed and delivered to the Administrative
Agent such further instruments, agreements, and documents and do or cause to be done such further acts
as the Administrative Agent or any Lender deems reasonably necessary to carry out more effectively the
provisions and purpose of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents. Without limiting the foregoing,
each Credit Party shall, and the Company shall cause each Subsidiary that is a Credit Party to, promptly
correct any defect or error that may be discovered in any Loan Document or in the execution,
acknowledgment or recordation thereof. Promptly upon request by the Administrative Agent, each Credit
Party shall, and the Company shall cause each Subsidiary that is a Credit Party to, do, execute,
acknowledge, deliver, record, re-record, file, re-file, register and reregister, any and all deeds,
conveyances, mortgages, deeds of trust, trust deeds, assignments, estoppel certificates, financing
statements and continuations thereof, notices of assignment, transfers, certificates, assurances and other
instruments as the Administrative Agent may reasonably require from time to time in order: (a) to carry
out more effectively the purposes of the Loan Documents and (b) to better assure, convey, grant, assign,
transfer, preserve, protect and confirm unto the Administrative Agent the rights granted now or hereafter
intended to be granted to the Administrative Agent or the Lenders under any Loan Document or under
any other instrument executed in connection with any Loan Document or that any Credit Party may be or
become bound to convey, mortgage or assign to the Administrative Agent in order to carry out the
intention or facilitate the performance of the provisions of any Loan Document. Each Credit Party shall,
and the Company shall cause each Subsidiary that is a Credit Party to, furnish to the Administrative
Agent evidence satisfactory to the Administrative Agent of every such recording, filing or registration.

SECTION 6.17  Use of Proceeds. The Borrowers will not request any Loan, and will not use,
and the Company and the Borrowers will ensure that their Subsidiaries and its or their respective
directors, officers, employees and agents shall not use, the proceeds of any Loan in furtherance of an
offer, payment, promise to pay, or authorization of the payment or giving of money, or anything else of
value, to any Person in violation of any Anti-Corruption Laws or Anti-Money Laundering Laws. The
Credit Parties will not, directly or indirectly, use the proceeds of the Loans, or lend, contribute or
otherwise make available such proceeds to any subsidiary, joint venture partner or other Person, (a) for
the purpose of funding, financing or facilitating any activities, business or transaction of or with any
Sanctioned Person, or in any Sanctioned Country, or (b) in any manner that would, to any Credit Party’s
knowledge, result in the violation of any Sanctions by any Person (including any Person participating in
the Loans, whether as underwriter, advisor, investor, or otherwise). The Borrowers will use the proceeds
of the Loans for working capital and other general corporate purposes (including, without limitation,
repayment of Indebtedness) of the Company and its Subsidiaries.

SECTION 6.18 Compliance with Beneficial Ownership Regulation. Each Credit Party shall,
and the Company shall cause each Subsidiary that is a Credit Party to: (a) notify the Administrative Agent
and each Lender that previously received a Beneficial Ownership Certification (or a certification that any
Borrower qualifies for an express exclusion to the “legal entity customer™ definition under the Beneficial
Ownership Regulation) of any change in the information provided in the Beneficial Ownership
Certification that would result in a change to the list of beneficial owners identified therein (or, if
applicable, any Borrower ceasing to fall within an express exclusion to the definition of “legal entity
customer™ under the Beneficial Ownership Regulation) and (b) promptly upon the reasonable request of
the Administrative Agent or any Lender, provide the Administrative Agent or directly to such Lender, as
the case may be, any information or documentation requested by it for purposes of complying with the
Beneficial Ownership Regulation.

SECTION 6.19  Mortgaged Properties. Each Credit Party shall, and the Company shall cause
each Subsidiary that is a Credit Party to:
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(a) Ensure that each Mortgaged Property (other than Adjacent Property) includes at all times
an operating original equipment manufacturer (OEM) franchised dealership subject to a temporary
suspension of operations for no more than 90 days (or such longer period as may be approved by the
Administrative Agent) due to the COVID-19 pandemic) for any such dealership;

(b) At all times, comply in all material respects with the terms and provisions of the Leases
of the Mortgaged Properties, and cause cach Material Lease to be kept in full force and effect without
termination, amendment or modification, except for (i) any modification or amendment of a Lease which
is not materially adverse to the Credit Parties, the Administrative Agent or the Lenders or (ii) renewals or
extensions (A) on terms not materially less favorable than those under the existing Lease of a Mortgaged
Property, or (B) as otherwise approved by the Administrative Agent in writing;

(c) Warrant and defend the title to each of the Mortgaged Properties against the claims of all
Persons, subject only to Permitted Encumbrances, and warrant and defend the validity and priority of all
Liens granted or otherwise given to the Administrative Agent, for the benefit of the Secured Parties,
under the Loan Documents, against the claims of all Persons, subject only to Permitted Encumbrances;

(d) In addition to and without limiting the generality of Section 6.10, (i) comply in all
material respects with, and ensure such compliance by all tenants and subtenants in all material respects
with, all applicable Environmental Laws and obtain and comply in all material respects with and
maintain, and ensure that all tenants and subtenants, if any, obtain and comply in all material respects
with and maintain, any and all licenses, approvals, notifications, registrations or permits required by
applicable Environmental Laws and (ii) conduct and complete all investigations, studies, sampling and
testing, and all remedial, removal and other actions required under Environmental Laws, and promptly
comply with all lawful orders and directives of any Governmental Authority regarding Environmental
Laws;

(e) (i) Execute and/or deliver any and all further documents (including Real Estate Support
Documents), financing statements, agreements and instruments, and take all such further actions
(including the filing and recording of financing statements and other documents), which may be required
under any Applicable Law, or which the Administrative Agent or the Required Lenders may reasonably
request, to effectuate the transactions contemplated by the Loan Documents or to grant, preserve, protect
or perfect the Liens created or intended to be created by the Mortgages or the validity or priority of any
such Lien, all at the expense of the Credit Parties, and (ii) upon the reasonable request of any Lender,
interact directly with each Lender to assist such Lender in completing its flood insurance due diligence
and flood insurance compliance and promptly provide, or cause to be provided, to such Lender all
information reasonably and customarily required for the completion thereof;

(H Promptly after the occurrence thereof, notify the Administrative Agent of (i) if any
Material Lease is entered into after the Closing Date with respect to any Mortgaged Property and
concurrently therewith deliver to the Administrative Agent a copy of such Lease, (ii) any amendment or
other modification of any Material Lease with respect to any Mortgaged Property and concurrently
therewith deliver to the Administrative Agent a copy of such amendment or modification, (iii) any
termination or expiration of any Material Lease with respect to any Mortgaged Property and (iv) any
material adverse change in the relationship between the applicable Borrower and any lessee under any
Material Lease with respect to any Mortgaged Property; and

(g Promptly after the assertion or occurrence thereof, notify the Administrative Agent of (i)
any redesignation of any Mortgaged Property into or out of a special flood hazard area or (i1) any Credit
Party’s receipt of notice of any action or proceeding against or of any noncompliance by any Credit Party
with any Environmental Law that could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect or
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cause any Mortgaged Property (or portion thereof) to be subject to any restrictions on ownership,
occupancy, use or transferability under any Environmental Law.

SECTION 6.20  Post-Closing Action. Within ninety (90) days following the Closing Date (or
such longer period as the Administrative Agent may agree in its sole discretion), use commercially
reasonable efforts to obtain and deliver to the Administrative Agent subordination, non-disturbance and
attornment agreements from any tenant on any of the Mortgaged Properties that is not a Subsidiary, which
shall be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent,

ARTICLE VII
NEGATIVE COVENANTS

Until all of the Obligations (other than contingent indemnification obligations not then due) have
been paid and satisfied in full in cash and the Commitments terminated, each Credit Party agrees to the
following:

SECTION 7.1 Mergers, Etc.

(a) Each Credit Party shall not, and the Company shall not permit any Subsidiary that is a
Credit Party to, wind up, liquidate, dissolve or reorganize, merge into or consolidate with any other
Person, permit any other Person to merge into or consolidate with it, or convey, sell, transfer, lease or
otherwise dispose of (in one transaction or in a series of transactions, including as a result of a division or
by virtue of a sale and leaseback) all or any substantial part of its assets (except, with respect to sales of
less than substantially all of its assets, for sales of inventory, chattel paper and equipment in the ordinary
course of business) or all or any substantial part of the stock or other Equity Interests of Subsidiaries of
the Company (in each case, whether now owned or hereafter acquired), or take any action to authorize
winding up, dissolution, or liquidation, except that, if at the time thereof and after giving effect thereto no
Default shall have occurred and be continuing (i) any Subsidiary (other than a Borrower) may merge into
the Company in a transaction in which the Company is the surviving corporation, (ii) any wholly-owned
Subsidiary may merge into another wholly-owned Subsidiary; provided that in any merger involving a
Borrower the surviving entity shall either be such Borrower or such surviving entity shall become a
Borrower in accordance with Section 6.14; and provided further that in any merger involving a Subsidiary
Guarantor, the surviving entity shall either by a Credit Party or such surviving entity shall become a
Subsidiary Guarantor in accordance with Section 6.14, (iii) any wholly-owned Subsidiary may sell,
transfer, lease or otherwise dispose of its assets to the Company or to another wholly-owned Subsidiary;
provided that (i) if the seller/transferor is a Borrower, the purchaser/transferee shall be a Borrower, (ii) if
the seller/transferor is a Credit Party, the purchaser/transferce shall be a Credit Party and (iii) if the
seller/transferor is not a Credit Party and the purchaser/transferee is a Credit Party, such sale, transfer,
lease or other disposition shall be for no more than fair market value, (iv) the Company or any
wholly-owned Subsidiary may sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of a portion or all of the Equity Interests
of any wholly-owned Subsidiary to the Company or to another wholly-owned Subsidiary and (v) the
Company or any wholly-owned Subsidiary may engage in a transaction to convert its legal form of
organization from one entity type to another entity type or change its jurisdiction of organization, so long
as the Administrative Agent and the Lenders shall continue to have a perfected security interest in any
transferred Collateral, subject to no Liens other than Permitted Encumbrances existing on the date of the
transfer.

(b) Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 7.1(a), the Company or any Subsidiary may
sell (y) any Equity Interests in any Minority Dealer or any Dealership that as a result of such sale
becomes a Minority Dealer (provided such Equity Interests are sold to a Minority Dealer Partner in such
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Minority Dealer) and (z) all or any substantial part of the assets of, or all or any substantial part of its
capital stock or Equity Interests in, any Dealership or other Subsidiary (or of any business unit or
franchise of a Dealership or other Subsidiary) for not less than fair market value, if, in each case, (A)(i)
after giving pro—forma-effeetPro Forma Effect to such sale (and all other sales permitted under this
Section 7.1(b))asiteece ek 4= 5 4 i el
the Company shall be in compliance with the requirements of Section 7.16, (ii) if the sales price
(excluding real property and vehicle inventory) for the assets or Equity Interests sold is greater than
$20,000,000.00, the Company shall have delivered to the Administrative Agent a Compliance Certificate,

or Event of Default shall exist immediately prior to or upon giving effect to any such sale, or (B)
Required Lenders have consented in writing to the sale and each Credit Party has complied with all terms
and conditions of such consent.

SECTION 7.2 Guaranties, Fte—Fach Credic Party shaltl notand the Company shall not

] = o]

Z6[Reserved.]
SECTION 7.3 Liens. Each Credit Party shall not, and the Company shall not permit any

Subsidiary that is a Credit Party to, grant or permit to exist a security interest in or Lien on its presently
owned or hereafter acquired real or personal property except:

(a) Liens in favor of the Administrative Agent for the benefit of the Secured Parties which
secure the Obligations;

(b) Liens for taxes, assessments or other government charges or levies not yet due and
payable or, if due and payable, if they are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and
for which appropriate reserves are maintained;

(c) Liens imposed by law, such as mechanics’, materialmen’s, landlords’, warehousemen’s,
and carriers’ Liens, and other similar Liens, securing obligations incurred in the ordinary course of
business which are not past due for more than 30 days or which are being contested in good faith by
appropriate proceedings and for which appropriate reserves have been established;

(d) Liens under workers’ compensation, unemployment insurance, Social Security, or similar
legislation (excluding, however, Liens arising under ERISA) which are not past due for more than sixty
(60) days or which are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and for which
appropriate reserves have been established;

(e) Liens, deposits, or pledges to secure the performance of bids, tenders, contracts (other
than contracts for the payment of money), leases (permitted under the terms of this Agreement), public or
statutory obligations, surety, stay, appeal, indemnity, performance or other similar bonds, or other similar
obligations arising in the ordinary course of business which are not past due for more than 30 days or
which are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and for which appropriate reserves
have been established;
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() Judgment and other similar Liens arising in connection with court proceedings, in an
aggregate amount not in excess of 3% of Tangible Net Worth as of the last day of the most recently ended
fiscal quarter of the Company and its Subsidiaries; provided the execution or other enforcement of such
Liens is effectively stayed and the claims secured thereby are being actively contested in good faith and
by appropriate proceedings, and the existence thereof does not constitute an Event of Default hereunder;

(g) casements, rights-of-way, zoning restrictions, and other similar encumbrances in
existence on the date of this Agreement or which, in the aggregate, do not materially interfere with the
occupation, use, and enjoyment by any Credit Party of the property or assets encumbered thereby in the
normal course of its business or materially impair the value of the property subject thereto;

(h) Liens in existence on the Closing Date securing Indebtedness permitted by Section 7.10
hereof (if such Indebtedness is permitted to be secured), which are listed on Schedule 7.3;

(1) Liens arising solely by virtue of any statutory or common law provision relating to
banker’s liens, rights of setoff or similar rights and remedies as to deposit accounts or other funds
maintained with a creditor depository institution (provided that such deposit accounts are permitted);

)] Liens on property (excluding Collateral) acquired after the Closing Date which are in
existence at the time such property is acquired, which were not incurred in contemplation of the
acquisition, and which secure Indebtedness permitted by this Agreement;

(k) Liens securing Indebtedness permitted pursuant to Section 7.10(f); and

(1 Liens on the property of a Credit Party expressly permitted under the Company
Revolving Credit Agreement (excluding Liens described in the foregoing clause (k)).

Notwithstanding the foregoing, except for Liens in favor of the Administrative Agent for the
benefit of the Secured Parties and Permitted Encumbrances, there shall not be any Liens on any
Mortgaged Properties.

SECTION 7.4 Restricted Payments. Each Credit Party shall not, and the Company shall not
permit any Subsidiary that is a Credit Party, to (a) declare or pay, or agree to declare or pay, or set aside
funds for the payment, directly or indirectly of, any Restricted Payment, or (b) pay or agree to pay or set
aside funds to pay any management fees or similar fees, in the case of the Company, to any direct or
indirect Affiliate thereof, or in the case of any other Credit Party, to any direct or indirect owner of its
Equity Interests or any direct or indirect Affiliate thereof, except (i) any Credit Party may make Restricted
Payments to any other Credit Party-and, (ii) the Company may reacquire shares from eligible participants
in its stock incentive plans, as required under the terms of the plans to permit cashless exercise and tender
of shares to meet withholding obligations for income tax purposes and (iii) any Subsidiary may make

Notwithstanding the foregoing, and so long as, the time of
declaration, payment, agreement to declare or pay or the setting aside of funds to pay such Restricted
Payment, no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing or would exist after giving effect thereto,
each Credit Party may declare, pay, agree to declare or pay, or set aside funds for payment of any
Restricted Payments expressly permitted under the Company Revolving Credit Agreement, including
without limitation the payment by the Company of dividends on its capital stock, and the repurchase by
the Company of shares of its capital stock.

SECTION 7.5 [Reserved.]

74
FIISTHIAR




SECTION 7.6 Loans and Investments. Each Credit Party shall not, and the Company shall
not permit any Subsidiary that is a Credit Party to, (x) make or contract to make any loan or advance to
any Person {other thdn short term trade ddvanccs in the ordinary course of business),-er-ineur Contingent

e s-of-any—Persen; or (y) purchase or otherwise acquire, any
capllal qtock obhgatlom or other securities of, make any capital contributions to, or otherwise invest in
or acquire any interest in any Person, or participate as a partner or joint venturer with any other Person
(the matters described in clause (x) and (y) are collectively, “[nvestments™), except:

(a) Investments by the Company in any Subsidiary or Affiliate or by any Subsidiary in any
of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates, in each case, which exist as of the Closing Date;

(b) In the ordinary course of business, Investments by the Company in any Subsidiary or by
any Subsidiary in the Company, or by any Subsidiary in any other Subsidiary, by way of capital
contributions, intercompany loans, advances or guaranties, to the extent permitted by this Agreement;

ol ) — o e P . i +O[Reserved];

(d) Cash Equivalent Investments;
(e) Bank deposits in the ordinary course of business;

(H Investments in securities of account debtors received pursuant to any plan of
reorganization or similar arrangement upon the bankruptcy or insolvency of such account debtors or
otherwise in settlement of claims arising in the ordinary course of business;

(g) Investments listed on Schedule 7.6;

(h) Extensions of credit to customers made in the ordinary course of business and in
connection with the sale or lease of inventory in the ordinary course of business; and

(i) the Credit Parties may make Investments to the extent expressly permitted under the
Company Revolving Credit Agreement;

provided that (x) any Investment which when made complies with the requirements of the definition of
the term “Cash Equivalent Investment™ may continue to be held notwithstanding that such Investment if
made thereafter would not comply with such requirements; and (y) each Credit Party shall not, and the
Company shall not permit any Subsidiary that is a Credit Party to, create or acquire, or make any
Investment in any Subsidiary not organized under the laws of a State of the United States or a province or
the federal laws of Canada.

SECTION 7.7 Transactions with Affiliates. Other than (i) service agreements with DiMar
Holdings, LLC and its subsidiaries and Minority Dealer Affiliates, (ii) any agreement, contract or
transaction entered into in connection with the Shift Investments (as defined in the Company Revolving
Credit Agreement) or any Specified Company Guaranty and (iii) transactions in the ordinary course of
business consistent with past practices solely between or among Credit Parties and their Subsidiaries,
each Credit Party shall not, and the Company shall not permit any Subsidiary that is a Credit Party to,
enter into any transaction with any Affiliate, except a Credit Party, including without limitation, the
purchase, sale, or exchange of property or the rendering of any service, except upon fair and reasonable
terms no less favorable to it than those that would prevail in a comparable arm’s length transaction with a
Person not an Affiliate. For purposes of this Section 7.7, “Affiliate” means with respect to any Person (a)
each other Person that, directly or indirectly, owns or controls, whether beneficially, or as a trustee,
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guardian or other fiduciary, five percent (5%) or more of the stock or other ownership interests having
ordinary voting power of such Person; (b) each Person that Controls, is Controlled by or is under common
Control with such Person or any Affiliate of such Person; and (c) each of such Person’s executive
officers, directors, joint venturers, members and general partners.

SECTION 7.8 Type of Business. Each Credit Party shall not, and the Company shall not
permit any Subsidiary that is a Credit Party to, (a) engage in any line of business different from those

(b) except as a result of transactions permitted by Sections 7.1, interrupt or cease to engage in, for a time
deemed material by the Administrative Agent, any material portion of its business activities or operations.

SECTION 7.9 Structure. Each Credit Party shall not, and the Company shall not permit any
Subsidiary that is a Credit Party to, make any material change in its organizational structure or capital
structure, or make any material modification in its Organizational Documents, in each case to the extent
such change or modification impairs the enforceability of any Loan Documents, impairs the ability of any
Credit Party to perform its obligations under any Loan Document or would otherwise reasonably be
expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 7.10  Indebtedness. Each Credit Party shall not, and the Company shall not permit
any Subsidiary that is a Credit Party to, incur or permit to exist any Indebtedness to any Person except:

(a) Indebtedness (including Contingent Obligations) incurred pursuant to this Agreement and
the Loan Documents;

(b) Short-term unsecured trade obligations incurred in the ordinary course of business which
are outstanding not more than 90 days after the original date on which such trade obligations were
created;

(c) Indebtedness in respect of Hedge Agreements which are entered into in the ordinary
course of business for risk management purposes and not for speculative purposes;

(d) Indebtedness existing on the Closing Date and set forth on Schedule 7.10, solely to the
extent that such Indebtedness is not increased and no additional collateral is provided for such
Indebtedness;

(e) Indebtedness appearing as a claims reserve (or similar term) on the balance sheet of the
Company and its Subsidiaries, which represents amounts which have been received but which will be
expended to pay warranty and service claims by customers of the Dealerships;

(f Indebtedness (including Contingent Obligations) of a Credit Party incurred pursuant to
the Company Revolving Credit Agreement and any refinancings, refundings, renewals or extensions
thereof; provided that the aggregate amount of all such Indebtedness allocated to the revolving credit
facility portion thereof (i.e. the portion that does not constitute floor plan financing or service loaner

Indebtedness permitted pursuant to this clause (). (ii) $850,000,000 and (iiii) $525,000.000any other
amount consented to by the Required Lenders; and provided, still further, that the terms relating to
amortization, maturity and subordination (if any), and other material terms taken as a whole (other than
principal amount, which is addressed in the previous proviso, and other than collateral; it being
understood that such refinancing, refunding, renewing or extending may be secured by all assets other

than Collateral), of any such refinancing, refunding, renewing or extending Indebtedness, and of any

76
130357028
154776592




agreement entered into and of any instrument issued in connection therewith, are no less favorable in any
material respect to the Credit Parties or the Lenders than the terms of any agreement or instrument
governing the Indebtedness being refinanced, refunded, renewed or extended and the interest rate
applicable to any such refinancing, refunding, renewing or extending Indebtedness does not exceed the
then applicable market interest rate unless, in each case with respect to the terms (including the interest
rate) described in this proviso, the Required Lenders have consented thereto; and

(g) Indebtedness (including Contingent Obligations but excluding the Indebtedness described
in the foregoing clause () of a Credit Party expressly permitted under the Company Revolving Credit
Agreement.

SECTION 7.11  Margin Stock; Speculation. Each Credit Party shall not, and the Company
shall not permit any Subsidiary that is a Credit Party to, use any part of the proceeds of any Loan, either
directly or indirectly, for the purpose, whether immediate, incidental, or ultimate, of purchasing or
carrying any margin stock (within the meaning of Regulation T, U or X of the FRB) or extending credit to
others for the purpose of purchasing or carrying any margin stock or for any purpose which violates any
applicable provision of any regulation of the FRB (including the provisions of Regulation T, U or X of
the FRB). No Credit Party shall be engaged principally or as one of its important activities in the
business of extending credit for the purpose of purchasing or conveying any margin stock. No part of the
proceeds of any Loan will be used for speculative investment purposes, including without limitation
speculating or hedging in the commodities and/or futures market.

SECTION 7.12  Restrictive Agreements. Except for the provisions of this Agreement and the
other Loan Documents, for Permitted Restrictions or as could not reasonably be expected to have a
Material Adverse Effect, each Credit Party shall not, and the Company shall not permit any Subsidiary
that is a Credit Party to, (a) enter into or permit to exist any arrangement, contract, or agreement which
directly or indirectly prohibits any Credit Party from or imposes any restrictions on creating, assuming or
incurring any Lien upon all or any portion of its properties, revenues or assets whether now owned or
hereafter acquired, to secure the Obligations or to secure any renewals, refundings, replacements,
refinancings or restructurings of the Obligations in an aggregate outstanding principal amount or
aggregate committed amount that is less than or equal to the aggregate Commitments as of the date of
such arrangement, contract, or agreement, (b) enter into or permit to exist any agreement, contract or
arrangement restricting the ability of any Credit Party from paying or making dividends or distributions in
cash or kind to the Company or any other Credit Party, from making loans, advances or other payments of
whatsoever nature to the Company or any other Credit Party, from making transfers or distributions of all
or any part of its assets to the Company or any other Credit Party, or from borrowing money from the
Company or any other Credit Party, (¢) enter into or permit to exist any agreement, contract or
arrangement which directly or indirectly prohibits any Credit Party from guarantying, or imposes
restrictions on the ability of any Credit Party to guaranty, the Obligations, or (d) enter into or permit to
exist any agreement or arrangement which would be violated by the extensions of credit contemplated
hereunder or the performance by any Credit Party of its obligations under the Loan Documents.

SECTION 7.13  Acquisitions. Except as otherwise permitted by Section 7.6 and except for
acquisitions of real estate, each Credit Party shall not, and the Company shall not permit any Subsidiary
that is a Credit Party to, acquire Control of any Person or acquire all or substantially all of the assets of
any Person or of any business unit or line of business of any Person (an “Acquisition™) except, so long as
no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing or would result therefrom, for Acquisitions by a
Credit Party that are expressly permitted by the Company Revolving Credit Agreement.
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SECTION 7.14 Accounting Changes: Fiscal Year. Each Credit Party shall not, and the
Company shall not permit any Subsidiary to, make any change in accounting treatment or reporting
practices, except as permitted by GAAP, or change its Fiscal Year.

SECTION 7.15  [Reserved.]

SECTION 7.16 Financial Covenants.

(a) : btk stidoe
Currept-Ratisto-bedessthanHHe- b Reserved ]

(b) Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio. As of the last day of any fiscal quarter, the Company shall
not permit the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio to be less than 1.20 to 1.00.

(c) Leverage Ratio. As of the last day of any fiscal quarter, the Company shall not permit
the Leverage Ratio to be greater than 5.75 to 1.00.

SECTION 7.17  Mortgaged Properties. Each Credit Party shall not, and the Company shall
not permit any Subsidiary that is a Credit Party to:

(a) Permit any Person to occupy, lease or sublease any portion of any Mortgaged Property
except (i) pursuant to a Lease that is not a Material Lease or (ii) pursuant to a Lease of a Mortgaged
Property (or any portion thereof) to a Wholly-Owned Domestic Subsidiary that has (A) executed and
delivered to the Administrative Agent a lease subordination agreement in form and substance satisfactory
to the Administrative Agent and (B) become a Subsidiary Guarantor and otherwise provided all of the
documents and taken all of the actions pursuant to Section 6.14;

(b) Permit any alterations to any Mortgaged Property that are reasonably likely to cause a
Material Adverse Effect. negatively and materially impact the core operations of such Mortgaged
Property or negatively and materially impact the value or marketability of any Mortgaged Property,
without the Administrative Agent’s prior written approval;

(c) Initiate or voluntarily agree to any zoning change of any Mortgaged Property or allow
any change in the stated use of any Mortgaged Property from that disclosed to the Administrative Agent
prior to the date such Mortgaged Property became subject to a Mortgage that is reasonably likely to
negatively and materially impact the core operations of such Mortgaged Property or negatively and
materially impact the value or marketability of any Mortgaged Property, in either case without the
Administrative Agent’s prior written approval;

(d) Dispose of any Mortgaged Property other than the sale of any Mortgaged Property for
business purposes (as determined by the Company) for no less than fair market value; provided that (i)
100% of the consideration paid in respect of any such sale shall be cash and (ii) no sale of any Mortgaged
Property shall result in a violation of Section 2.6(c)(iii); and

(e) Create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any Lien upon any of the Mortgaged Properties,
whether now owned or hereafier acquired, other than (i) Permitted Encumbrances and (i1) with respect to
the property located at 3696 William Penn Parkway, Monroeville, Pennsylvania, the purchase option and
a right of first refusal to purchase or lease the applicable property held by Ford Leasing Development
Company pursuant to special warranty deed recorded August 23, 2003, as Instrument 2005-28369 of the
Allegheny County, Pennsylvania Deed Registry.
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Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Article VII, any provision hereof that permits an
activity of any Credit Party to the extent permitted under the Company Revolving Credit Agreement shall
not be construed to permit such activity hereunder if such Credit Party’s ability to do such activity under
the Company Revolving Credit Agreement requires the consent of the Administrative Agent (as defined
in the Company Revolving Credit Agreement), the Required Lenders (as defined in the Company
Revolving Credit Agreement) and/or any other percentage of Lenders (as defined in the Company
Revolving Credit Agreement)) unless consented to in writing by the Administrative Agent, the Required
Lenders and/or such other percentage of Lenders, as the case may be, hereunder.

ARTICLE VIII
DEFAULT AND REMEDIES
SECTION 8.1 Events of Default. Each of the following shall constitute an Event of Default:

(a) Default in Payment. Any Credit Party shall fail to pay (i) when due, any principal owing
under this Agreement or any other Loan Document, (ii) within five (5) days after it is due, any interest or
fee payable under this Agreement or any other Loan Document or (iii) when due and uncured within five
(5) days after notice from the Administrative Agent that such amount remains unpaid, any other amount
payable under this Agreement or any other Loan Document.

(b) Default in Performance of Covenants. Any default under or any failure of any Credit
Party to perform or comply with any term, condition, covenant or obligation (i) set forth in Section 6.1,
6.11 or Article VII or (ii) set forth in any provision of this Agreement (except an Event of Default
specified in Section 8.1(a), 8.1(b)(i) or elsewhere in this Section 8.1), any other Loan Document or any
other Agreement between the Administrative Agent or any Lender and any Credit Party, and such default
or failure is not cured within 30 days after the carlier of the date any Credit Party knows thereof or the
date on which the Administrative Agent gives written notice thereof to the Company (provided, however,
that such cure period is available only if the applicable default or failure is reasonably capable of being
cured).

(c) Indebtedness Cross-Default. Any Credit Party defaults in the payment or performance of
any provision of (i) the Company Revolving Credit Agreement (or any other agreement governing the
Company Revolving Credit Facility) or any agreement related thereto or (ii) any agreement relating to
any other Indebtedness of such Credit Party (except as described in Section 8.1(n)) in an aggregate
amount outstanding for such Indebtedness for all Credit Parties that, together with amounts described in
Section 8.1(n), is in excess of $35.000.00050,000.,000 (other than Indebtedness owing under the Loan
Documents), and in each case, the period of grace, if any, to cure such default shall have passed, and the
default constitutes (A) nonpayment or (B) any event or condition, the effect of which is to cause or permit
the holder of such Indebtedness to cause such Indebtedness to become due prior to its maturity date.

(d) Security Documents. (i) Any default occurs under, or any Credit Party fails to pay,
perform or comply with any material terms, conditions or obligations in, any Security Document or (ii)
other than in accordance with the terms of the Loan Documents, any Lien created or purported to be
created by any Security Document shall cease to be, or shall be asserted by any Person not to be, a valid,
perfected Lien with a first priority that is subject only to Permitted Encumbrances, and in each case, such
default or failure is not cured within ten (10) days after the earlier of the date any Credit Party knows
thereof or the date on which the Administrative Agent gives written notice thereof to the Company.

(e) Guaranty Agreements and other Loan Documents. (i) Other than in accordance with the
terms of the Loan Documents, any Guaranty Agreement or any other Loan Document ceases to be, or
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shall be asserted by any Credit Party not to be, in full force and effect, or (ii) any Guarantor shall attempt
to revoke, repudiate, or limit the Guaranty Agreement to which it is a party.

(H Misrepresentation. Any warranty, representation, statement, or information made or
furnished to the Administrative Agent or any Lender by or on behalf of any Credit Party proves to have
been false or misleading in any material respect when made, furnished, or certified, or when deemed
made, furnished, or certified.

(2) Loss of Property. Etc. Custody or control of any substantial part of the property of any
Credit Party is assumed by any Governmental Authority or any Governmental Authority takes any final
action, the effect of which would be a Material Adverse Effect.

(h) Bankruptcy Proceeding, Ete. (i) Any Credit Party shall commence any case, proceeding,
or other action (A) under any Debtor Relief Law, seeking to have an order for relief entered with respect
to it, or seeking to adjudicate it a bankrupt or insolvent, or seeking reorganization, arrangement,
adjustment, winding-up, liquidation, dissolution, composition, or other relief with respect to it or its debts,
or (B) secking appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian, or other similar official for it or for all or any
substantial part of its assets, or any Credit Party shall make a general assignment for the benefit of its
creditors; or (ii) there shall be commenced against any Credit Party any case, proceeding, or other action
of a nature referred to in clause (i) above which (A) results in the entry of an order for relief or any such
adjudication or appointment or (B) remains undismissed, undischarged, unstayed, or unbonded for a
period of 30 days; or (iii) there shall be commenced against any Credit Party any case, proceeding, or
other action seeking issuance of a warrant of attachment, execution, distraint, or similar process against
all or any substantial part of its assets that results in the entry of an order for any such relief which shall
not have been vacated, discharged, stayed, or bonded pending appeal within 30 days from the entry
thereof; or (iv) any Credit Party shall take any action in furtherance of, or indicating ifs consent to,
approval of, or acquiescence in any of the acts set forth in clauses (i), (ii), or (iii) above; or (v) any Credit
Party shall admit in writing its inability to pay its debts as they become due or shall, within the meaning
of the United States Bankruptcy Code (11 U.S.C. §101 et seq.), generally not pay its debts as they
become due; or (vi) any Credit Party is not Solvent.

(i) Dissolution, Liquidation, Etc. Except as permitted by Section 7.1, (i) any Credit Party
which is a corporation, partnership, limited liability company or other type of entity is dissolved or
liquidated or takes any action to authorize a dissolution or liquidation; or (ii) any Credit Party which is a
trust (or trustee acting with respect to property held in trust) is revoked, amended or terminated.

(1) Governmental Actions. Any refusal or failure by any Governmental Authority to issue,
renew, or extend any material lease or Governmental Approval with respect to the operation of the
business of any Credit Party or its Subsidiaries, or any denial, forfeiture or revocation by any
Governmental Authority of any Governmental Approval, that could reasonably be expected to have a
Material Adverse Effect.

(k) Judgments. One or more judgments, writs of attachment, or similar process, in an

or filed against any Credit Party or any property of any Credit Party and remains unpaid, unvacated,
unbonded or unstayed for a period of sixty (60) days or more.

(M ERISA. (i) With respect to a Plan, a Credit Party or an ERISA Affiliate is subject to a

ERISA or Title IV or ERISA, or an ERISA Event shall have occurred that, in the opinion of the
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Required Lenders, when taken together with all other ERISA Events that have occurred, could reasonably
be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

(m) Change in Control. There is any Change in Control.

(n) Hedge Agreements. (i) Any default occurs under or any Credit Party fails to pay,
perform or comply with the terms of any Hedge Agreement or (ii) there occurs under any Hedge
Agreement an Early Termination Date (as defined in such Hedge Agreement) resulting from (A) any
event of default under such Hedge Agreement as to which the Company or any Subsidiary is the
Defaulting Party (as defined in such Hedge Agreement) or (B) any Termination Event (as so defined)
under such Hedge Agreement as to which the Company or any Subsidiary is an Affected Party (as so
defined) and, in either event, the Hedge Termination Value owing by the Credit Parties under all such
Hedge Agreements as a result thereof, together with all defaulted Indebtedness of the Credit Parties

SECTION 8.2 Remedies. Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of
Default, with the consent of the Required Lenders, the Administrative Agent may, or upon the request of
the Required Lenders, the Administrative Agent shall:

(a) Acceleration; Termination of Credit Facility. Terminate the Commitments and declare
the principal of and interest on the Loans at the time outstanding, and all other amounts owed to the
Lenders and to the Administrative Agent under this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents and
all other Obligations, to be forthwith due and payable, whereupon the same shall immediately become
due and payable without presentment, demand, protest or other notice of any kind, all of which are
expressly waived by each Credit Party, anything in this Agreement or the other Loan Documents to the
contrary notwithstanding, and terminate the Credit Facility and any right of any Borrower to request
borrowings; provided, that upon the occurrence of an Event of Default specified in Section 8.1(h), the
Credit Facility shall be automatically terminated and all Obligations shall automatically become due and
payable without presentment, demand, protest or other notice of any kind, all of which are expressly
waived by each Credit Party, anything in this Agreement or in any other Loan Document to the contrary
notwithstanding.

(b) General Remedies. Exercise on behalf of the Secured Parties all of its other rights and
remedies under this Agreement, the other Loan Documents and Applicable Law, in order to satisfy all of
the Obligations.

SECTION 8.3 Rights and Remedies Cumulative; Non-Waiver; etc.

(a) The enumeration of the rights and remedies of the Administrative Agent and the Lenders
set forth in this Agreement is not intended to be exhaustive and the exercise by the Administrative Agent
and the Lenders of any right or remedy shall not preclude the exercise of any other rights or remedies, all
of which shall be cumulative, and shall be in addition to any other right or remedy given hereunder or
under the other Loan Documents or that may now or hereafter exist at law or in equity or by suit or
otherwise. No delay or failure to take action on the part of the Administrative Agent or any Lender in
exercising any right, power or privilege shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial
exercise of any such right, power or privilege preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the
exercise of any other right, power or privilege or shall be construed to be a waiver of any Default or Event
of Default. No course of dealing between the Credit Parties, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders or
their respective agents or employees shall be effective to change, modify or discharge any provision of
this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents or to constitute a waiver of any Default or Event of
Default.
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(b) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein or in any other Loan
Document, the authority to enforce rights and remedies hereunder and under the other Loan Documents
against the Credit Parties or any of them shall be vested exclusively in, and all actions and proceedings at
law in connection with such enforcement shall be instituted and maintained exclusively by, the
Administrative Agent in accordance with Section 8.2 for the benefit of all the Lenders; provided that the
foregoing shall not prohibit (i) the Administrative Agent from exercising on its own behalf the rights and
remedies that inure to its benefit (solely in its capacity as Administrative Agent) hereunder and under the
other Loan Documents, (ii) any Lender from exercising setoff rights in accordance with Section 10.4
(subject to the terms of Section 3.6), or (iii) any Lender from filing proofs of claim or appearing and filing
pleadings on its own behalf during the pendency of a proceeding relative to any Credit Party under any
Debtor Relief Law; and provided, further, that if at any time there is no Person acting as Administrative
Agent hereunder and under the other Loan Documents, then (A) the Required Lenders shall have the
rights otherwise ascribed to the Administrative Agent pursuant to Section 8.2 and (ii) in addition to the
matters set forth in clauses (ii) and (iii) of the preceding proviso and subject to Section 3.6, any Lender
may, with the consent of the Required Lenders, enforce any rights and remedies available to it and as
authorized by the Required Lenders.

SECTION 8.4 Crediting of Payments and Proceeds. In the event that the Obligations have
been accelerated pursuant to Section 8.2 or the Administrative Agent or any Lender has exercised any
remedy set forth in this Agreement or any other Loan Document, all payments received on account of the
Obligations and all net proceeds from the enforcement of the Obligations shall, subject to the provisions
of Section 3.13, be applied by the Administrative Agent as follows:

First, to payment of that portion of the Obligations constituting fees, indemnities, expenses and
other amounts, including attorney fees, payable to the Administrative Agent in its capacity as such;

Second, to payment of that portion of the Obligations constituting fees (other than Commitment
Fees payable to the Lenders), indemnities and other amounts (other than principal and interest) payable to
the Lenders under the Loan Documents, including attorney fees, ratably among the Lenders in proportion
to the respective amounts described in this clause Second payable to them;

Third, to payment of that portion of the Obligations constituting accrued and unpaid Commitment
Fees payable to the Lenders and interest on the Loans, ratably among the Lenders in proportion to the
respective amounts described in this clause Third payable to them;

Fourth, to payment of that portion of the Obligations constituting unpaid principal of the Loans,
ratably among the Lenders in proportion to the respective amounts described in this clause Fourth payable
to them; and

Last, the balance, if any, after all of the Obligations have been paid in full, to the Company or as
otherwise required by Applicable Law.

SECTION 8.5 Administrative Agent May File Proofs of Claim. In case of the pendency of
any proceeding under any Debtor Relief Law or any other judicial proceeding relative to any Credit Party,
the Administrative Agent (irrespective of whether the principal of any Loan shall then be due and payable
as herein expressed or by declaration or otherwise and irrespective of whether the Administrative Agent
shall have made any demand on any Credit Party) shall be entitled and empowered (but not obligated) by
intervention in such proceeding or otherwise:

(a) to file and prove a claim for the whole amount of the prineipal and interest owing and
unpaid in respect of the Loans and all other Obligations that are owing and unpaid and to file such other
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documents as may be necessary or advisable in order to have the claims of the Lenders and the
Administrative Agent (including any claim for the reasonable compensation, expenses, disbursements and
advances of the Lenders and the Administrative Agent and their respective agents and counsel and all
other amounts due the Lenders and the Administrative Agent under Sections 3.3 and 10.3) allowed in
such judicial proceeding; and

(b) to collect and receive any monies or other property payable or deliverable on any such
claims and to distribute the same;

and any custodian, receiver, assignee, trustee, liquidator, sequestrator or other similar official in any such
judicial proceeding is hereby authorized by each Lender to make such payments to the Administrative
Agent and, in the event that the Administrative Agent shall consent to the making of such payments
directly to the Lenders, to pay to the Administrative Agent any amount due for the reasonable
compensation, expenses, disbursements and advances of the Administrative Agent and its agents and
counsel, and any other amounts due the Administrative Agent under Sections 3.3 and 10.3.

SECTION 8.6 Credit Bidding.

(a) The Administrative Agent, on behalf of itself and the other Secured Parties, shall have the
right, exercisable at the direction of the Required Lenders, to credit bid and purchase for the benefit of the
Administrative Agent and the Secured Parties all or any portion of Collateral at any sale thereof
conducted by the Administrative Agent under the provisions of the UCC, including pursuant to Sections
9-610 or 9-620 of the UCC, at any sale thereof conducted under the provisions of the United States
Bankruptcy Code, including Section 363 thereof, or a sale under a plan of reorganization, or at any other
sale or foreclosure conducted by the Administrative Agent (whether by judicial action or otherwise) in
accordance with Applicable Law. Such credit bid or purchase may be completed through one or more
acquisition vehicles formed by the Administrative Agent to make such credit bid or purchase and, in
connection therewith, the Administrative Agent is authorized, on behalf of itself and the other Secured
Parties, to adopt documents providing for the governance of the acquisition vehicle or vehicles, and
assign the applicable Obligations to any such acquisition vehicle in exchange for Equity [nterests and/or
debt issued by the applicable acquisition vehicle (which shall be deemed to be held for the ratable account
of the applicable Secured Parties on the basis of the Obligations so assigned by each Secured Party);
provided that any actions by the Administrative Agent with respect to such acquisition vehicle or
vehicles, including any disposition of the assets or Equity Interests thereof, shall be governed, directly or
indirectly, by the vote of the Required Lenders, irrespective of the termination of this Agreement and
without giving effect to the limitations on actions by the Required Lenders contained in Section 10.2.

(b) Each Lender hereby agrees, on behalf of itself and each of its Affiliates that is a Secured
Party, that, except as otherwise provided in any Loan Document or with the written consent of the
Administrative Agent and the Required Lenders, it will not take any enforcement action, accelerate
obligations under any of the Loan Documents, or exercise any right that it might otherwise have under
Applicable Law to credit bid at foreclosure sales, UCC sales or other similar dispositions of Collateral.

ARTICLE IX
THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT

SECTION 9,1 Appointment and Authority.

(a) Each of the Lenders hereby irrevocably appoints Wells Fargo to act on its behalf as the
Administrative Agent hereunder and under the other Loan Documents and authorizes the Administrative
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Agent to take such actions on its behalf and to exercise such powers as are delegated to the
Administrative Agent by the terms hereof or thereof, together with such actions and powers as are
reasonably incidental thereto. The provisions of this Article are solely for the benefit of the
Administrative Agent and the Lenders, and neither the Company nor any Subsidiary thereof shall have
rights as a third-party beneficiary of any of such provisions. It is understood and agreed that the use of
the term “agent” herein or in any other Loan Documents (or any other similar term) with reference to the
Administrative Agent is not intended to connote any fiduciary or other implied (or express) obligations
arising under agency doctrine of any Applicable Law. Instead such term is used as a matter of market
custom, and is intended to create or reflect only an administrative relationship between contracting
parties.

(b) The Administrative Agent shall also act as the “collateral agent” under the Loan
Documents, and each of the Lenders hereby irrevocably appoints and authorizes the Administrative Agent
to act as the agent of such Lender for purposes of acquiring, holding and enforcing any and all Liens on
Collateral granted by any of the Credit Parties to secure any of the Obligations, together with such powers
and discretion as are reasonably incidental thereto (including to enter into additional Loan Documents or
supplements to existing Loan Documents on behalf of the Secured Parties). In this connection, the
Administrative Agent, as “collateral agent™ and any co-agents, sub-agents and attorneys-in-fact appointed
by the Administrative Agent pursuant to this Article IX for purposes of holding or enforcing any Lien on
the Collateral (or any portion thereof) granted under the Security Documents, or for exercising any rights
and remedies thereunder at the direction of the Administrative Agent), shall be entitled to the benefits of
all provisions of Articles [X and X (including Section 10.3, as though such co-agents, sub-agents and
attorneys-in-fact were the “collateral agent” under the Loan Documents) as if set forth in full herein with
respect thereto.

SECTION 9.2 Rights as a Lender. The Person serving as the Administrative Agent
hereunder shall have the same rights and powers in its capacity as a Lender as any other Lender and may
exercise the same as though it were not the Administrative Agent and the term “Lender” or “Lenders”
shall, unless otherwise expressly indicated or unless the context otherwise requires, include the Person
serving as the Administrative Agent hereunder in its individual capacity. Such Person and its Affiliates
may accept deposits from, lend money to, own securities of, act as the financial advisor or in any other
advisory capacity for and generally engage in any kind of business with any Borrower or any Subsidiary
or other Affiliate thereof as if such Person were not the Administrative Agent hereunder and without any
duty to account therefor to the Lenders.

SECTION 9.3 Exculpatory Provisions.

(a) The Administrative Agent shall not have any duties or obligations except those expressly
set forth herein and in the other Loan Documents, and its duties hereunder and thereunder shall be
administrative in nature. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Administrative Agent:

(i) shall not be subject to any fiduciary or other implied duties, regardless of
whether a Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing;

(i) shall not have any duty to take any discretionary action or exercise any
discretionary powers, except discretionary rights and powers expressly contemplated hereby or
by the other Loan Documents that the Administrative Agent is required to exercise as directed in
writing by the Required Lenders (or such other number or percentage of the Lenders as shall be
expressly provided for herein or in the other Loan Documents), provided that the Administrative
Agent shall not be required to take any action that, in its opinion or the opinion of its counsel,
may expose the Administrative Agent to liability or that is contrary to any Loan Document or
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Applicable Law, including for the avoidance of doubt any action that may be in violation of the
automatic stay under any Debtor Relief Law or that may effect a forfeiture, modification or
termination of property of a Defaulting Lender in violation of any Debtor Relief Law; and

(ii1) shall not, except as expressly set forth herein and in the other Loan Documents,
have any duty to disclose, and shall not be liable for the failure to disclose, any information
relating to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates that is communicated to or
obtained by the Person serving as the Administrative Agent or any of its Affiliates in any
capacity.

(b) The Administrative Agent shall not be liable for any action taken or not taken by it (i)
with the consent or at the request of the Required Lenders (or such other number or percentage of the
Lenders as shall be necessary, or as the Administrative Agent shall believe in good faith shall be
necessary, under the circumstances as provided in Section 10.2 and Section 8.2) or (ii) in the absence of
its own gross negligence or willful misconduct as determined by a court of competent jurisdiction by final
non-appealable judgment. The Administrative Agent shall be deemed not to have knowledge of any
Default or Event of Default unless and until notice describing such Default or Event of Default and
indicating that such notice is a “Notice of Default™ is given to the Administrative Agent by the Company
or a Lender.

(c) The Administrative Agent shall not be responsible for or have any duty to ascertain or
inquire into (i) any statement, warranty or representation made in or in connection with this Agreement or
any other Loan Document, (ii) the contents of any certificate, report or other document delivered
hereunder or thereunder or in connection herewith or therewith, (iii) the performance or observance of
any of the covenants, agreements or other terms or conditions set forth herein or therein or the occurrence
of any Default or Event of Default, (iv) the validity, enforceability, effectiveness or genuineness of this
Agreement, any other Loan Document or any other agreement, instrument or document or (v) the
satisfaction of any condition set forth in Article IV or elsewhere herein, other than to confirm receipt of
items expressly required to be delivered to the Administrative Agent.

SECTION 9.4 Reliance by the Administrative Agent. The Administrative Agent shall be
entitled to rely upon, and shall not incur any liability for relying upon, any notice, request, certificate,
consent, statement, instrument, document or other writing (including any electronic message, Internet or
intranet website posting or other distribution) believed by it to be genuine and to have been signed, sent
or otherwise authenticated by the proper Person. The Administrative Agent also may rely upon any
statement made to it orally or by telephone and believed by it to have been made by the proper Person,
and shall not incur any liability for relying thereon. In determining compliance with any condition
hereunder to the making of a Loan that by its terms must be fulfilled to the satisfaction of a Lender, the
Administrative Agent may presume that such condition is satisfactory to such Lender unless the
Administrative Agent shall have received notice to the contrary from such Lender prior to the making of
such Loan. The Administrative Agent may consult with legal counsel (who may be counsel for the Credit
Parties), independent accountants and other experts selected by it, and shall not be liable for any action
taken or not taken by it in accordance with the advice of any such counsel, accountants or experts.

SECTION 9.5 Delegation of Duties. The Administrative Agent may perform any and all of
its duties and exercise its rights and powers hereunder or under any other Loan Document by or through
any one or more sub-agents appointed by the Administrative Agent. The Administrative Agent and any
such sub-agent may perform any and all of its duties and exercise its rights and powers by or through
their respective Related Parties. The exculpatory provisions of this Article shall apply to any such
sub-agent and to the Related Parties of the Administrative Agent and any such sub-agent, and shall apply
to their respective activities in connection with the syndication of the Credit Facility as well as activities
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as Administrative Agent. The Administrative Agent shall not be responsible for the negligence or
misconduct of any sub-agents except to the extent that a court of competent jurisdiction determines in a
final and non-appealable judgment that the Administrative Agent acted with gross negligence or willful
misconduct in the selection of such sub-agents.

SECTION 9.6 Resignation of Administrative Agent.

(a) The Administrative Agent may at any time give notice of its resignation to the Lenders
and the Company. Upon receipt of any such notice of resignation, the Required Lenders shall have the
right, in consultation with the Company, to appoint a successor, which shall be a bank or financial
institution reasonably experienced in serving as administrative agent on syndicated bank facilities with an
office in the United States, or an Affiliate of any such bank or financial institution with an office in the
United States. If no such successor shall have been so appointed by the Required Lenders and shall have
accepted such appointment within 30 days after the retiring Administrative Agent gives notice of its
resignation (or such earlier day as shall be agreed by the Required Lenders) (the “Resignation Effective
Date™), then the retiring Administrative Agent may (but shall not be obligated to), on behalf of the
Lenders, appoint a successor Administrative Agent meeting the qualifications set forth above. Whether or
not a successor has been appointed, such resignation shall become effective in accordance with such
notice on the Resignation Effective Date.

(b) If the Person serving as Administrative Agent is a Defaulting Lender pursuant to clause
(d) of the definition thercof, the Required Lenders may, to the extent permitted by Applicable Law, by
notice in writing to the Company and such Person, remove such Person as Administrative Agent and, in
consultation with the Company, appoint a successor. If no such successor shall have been so appointed by
the Required Lenders and shall have accepted such appointment within 30 days (or such earlier day as
shall be agreed by the Required Lenders) (the “Removal Effective Date”), then such removal shall
nonetheless become effective in accordance with such notice on the Removal Effective Date.

(c) With effect from the Resignation Effective Date or the Removal Effective Date (as
applicable), (i) the retiring or removed Administrative Agent shall be discharged from its duties and
obligations hereunder and under the other Loan Documents (except that in the case of any collateral
security held by the Administrative Agent on behalf of the Lenders under any of the Loan Documents, the
retiring or removed Administrative Agent shall continue to hold such collateral security until such time as
a successor Administrative Agent is appointed) and (ii) except for any indemnity payments owed to the
retiring or removed Administrative Agent, all payments, communications and determinations provided to
be made by, to or through the Administrative Agent shall instead be made by or to each Lender directly,
until such time, if any, as the Required Lenders appoint a successor Administrative Agent as provided for
above. Upon the acceptance of a successor’s appointment as Administrative Agent hereunder, such
successor shall succeed to and become vested with all of the rights, powers, privileges and duties of the
retiring or removed Administrative Agent (other than any rights to indemnity payments owed to the
retiring or removed Administrative Agent), and the retiring or removed Administrative Agent shall be
discharged from all of its duties and obligations hereunder or under the other Loan Documents. The fees
payable by the Credit Parties to a successor Administrative Agent shall be the same as those payable to its
predecessor unless otherwise agreed between the Credit Parties and such successor. After the retiring or
removed Administrative Agent’s resignation or removal hereunder and under the other Loan Documents,
the provisions of this Article and Section 10.3 shall continue in effect for the benefit of such retiring or
removed Administrative Agent, its sub-agents and their respective Related Parties in respect of any
actions taken or omitted to be taken by any of them while the retiring or removed Administrative Agent
was acting as Administrative Agent or relating to its duties as Administrative Agent that are carried out
following its retirement or removal.
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SECTION 9.7 Non-Reliance on Administrative Aegent and Other Lenders. Each Lender
acknowledges that it has, independently and without reliance upon the Administrative Agent or any other
Lender or any of their Related Parties and based on such documents and information as it has deemed
appropriate, made its own credit analysis and decision to enter into this Agreement. Each Lender also
acknowledges that it will, independently and without reliance upon the Administrative Agent or any other
Lender or any of their Related Parties and based on such documents and information as it shall from time
to time deem appropriate, continue to make its own decisions in taking or not taking action under or based
upon this Agreement, any other Loan Document or any related agreement or any document furnished
hereunder or thereunder.

SECTION 9.8 No Other Duties, Etc. Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, none
of the syndication agents, documentation agents, co-agents, arrangers or bookrunners listed on the cover
page hereof shall have any powers, duties or responsibilities under this Agreement or any of the other
Loan Documents, except in its capacity, as applicable, as the Administrative Agent or a Lender
hereunder.

SECTION 9.9 Collateral and Guaranty Matters.

(a) Each of the Lenders irrevocably authorize the Administrative Agent, at its option and in
its discretion:

(1) to release any Lien on any Collateral granted to or held by the Administrative
Agent, for the ratable benefit of the Secured Parties, under any Loan Document (A) upon the
termination of the Commitment and payment in full of all Obligations (other than contingent
indemnification obligations not then due), (B) that is sold or otherwise disposed of or to be sold
or otherwise disposed of as part of or in connection with any sale or other disposition to a Person
other than a Credit Party permitted under the Loan Documents, as certified by the Company, (C)
in connection with any Mortgaged Property Release pursuant to and in accordance with Section
2.6(c)(i) and (iii) or (D) if approved, authorized or ratified in writing in accordance with Section
10.2; and

(11) to release any Borrower or any Subsidiary Guarantor from its obligations under
the Loan Documents to which it is a party in accordance with Section 2.7(f).

Upon request by the Administrative Agent at any time, the Required Lenders will confirm in writing the
Administrative Agent’s authority to release its interest in particular types or items of property, or to
release any Borrower or Subsidiary Guarantor from its obligations under the Loan Documents to which it
is a party pursuant to this Section 9.9. In each case as specified in this Section 9.9, the Administrative
Agent will, at the Credit Parties’ expense, execute and deliver to the applicable Credit Party such
documents as such Credit Party may reasonably request to evidence the release of such item of Collateral
from the assignment and security interest granted under the Security Documents, or to release such
Borrower or Subsidiary Guarantor from its obligations under the Subsidiary Guaranty Agreement, in each
case in accordance with the terms of the Loan Documents and this Section 9.9 as certified by the
Company.

(b) The Administrative Agent shall not be responsible for or have a duty to ascertain or
inquire into any representation or warranty regarding the existence, value or collectability of the
Collateral, the existence, priority or perfection of the Administrative Agent’s Lien thercon, or any
certificate prepared by any Credit Party in connection therewith, nor shall the Administrative Agent be
responsible or liable to the Lenders for any failure to monitor or maintain any portion of the Collateral.
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ARTICLE X
MISCELLANEOUS

SECTION 10.1  Notices.

(a) Notices Generally. Except in the case of notices and other communications expressly
permitted to be given by telephone (and except as provided in paragraph (b) below), all notices and other
communications provided for herein shall be in writing and shall be delivered by hand or overnight
courier service, mailed by certified or registered mail or sent by facsimile as follows:

If to the Company or any of the Borrowers:

Lithia Motors, Inc.

150 North Bartlett Street

Medford, Oregon 97501

Attention of® Tina Miller, Chief Financial Officer
Telephone No.: (541) 618-5724

E-mail: tina_miller(@lithia.com

With a copy to:

Stoel Rives LLP

760 SW Ninth Avenue, Suite 3000
Portland, Oregon 97030

Attention of: Brant J. Norquist, Esq.
Telephone No.: (503) 294-9143
Facsimile No.: (503) 220-2480
E-mail: brant.norquist(@stoel.com

If to Wells Fargo, as Administrative Agent:

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association

MAC D1109-019

1525 West W.T. Harris Blvd.

Charlotte, NC 28262

Attention of: Syndication Agency Services
Telephone No.: (704) 590-2706

Facsimile No.: (844) 879-5899

E-mail: AgencyServices.Requests(@WellsFargo.com

With copies to:

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association

MAC D4004-03D

401 N Research Parkway, Floor 03,

Winston Salem, NC 27101

Attention of: WF Auto Collateral Management
E-mail: CLSDocumentationf@wellsfargo.com
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If to any Lender:

To the address of such Lender set forth on the Register with respect to
deliveries of notices and other documentation that may contain material
non-public information.

Notices sent by hand or overnight courier service, or mailed by certified or registered mail, shall be
deemed to have been given when received; notices sent by facsimile shall be deemed to have been given
when sent (except that, if not given during normal business hours for the recipient, shall be deemed to
have been given at the opening of business on the next Business Day for the recipient). Notices delivered
through electronic communications to the extent provided in paragraph (b) below, shall be effective as

provided in said paragraph (b).

(b) Electronic Communications. Notices and other communications to the Lenders
hereunder may be delivered or furnished by electronic communication (including e-mail and Internet or
intranet websites) pursuant to procedures approved by the Administrative Agent, provided that the
foregoing shall not apply to notices to any Lender pursuant to Article II if such Lender has notified the
Administrative Agent that is incapable of receiving notices under such Article by electronic
communication. The Administrative Agent or any Credit Party may, in its discretion, agree to accept
notices and other communications to it hereunder by electronic communications pursuant to procedures
approved by it, provided that approval of such procedures may be limited to particular notices or
communications. Unless the Administrative Agent otherwise prescribes, (i) notices and other
communications sent to an e-mail address shall be deemed received upon the sender’s receipt of an
acknowledgement from the intended recipient (such as by the “return receipt requested” function, as
available, return e-mail or other written acknowledgement), and (ii) notices or communications posted to
an Internet or intranet website shall be deemed received upon the deemed receipt by the intended recipient
at its e-mail address as described in the foregoing clause (i) of notification that such notice or
communication is available and identifying the website address therefor; provided that, for both clauses
(1) and (ii) above, if such notice, email or other communication is not sent during the normal business
hours of the recipient, such notice, email or other communication shall be deemed to have been sent at the
opening of business on the next Business Day for the recipient.

(c) Administrative Agent’s Office. The Administrative Agent hereby designates its office
located at the address set forth above, or any subsequent office which shall have been specified for such
purpose by written notice to the Company and Lenders, as the Administrative Agent’s Office referred to
herein, to which payments due are to be made and at which Loans will be disbursed.

(d) Change of Address. Etc. Each of the Company, the Borrowers or the Administrative
Agent may change its address or other contact information for notices and other communications
hereunder by notice to the other parties hereto. Any Lender may change its address or facsimile number
for notices and other communications hereunder by notice to the Company and the Administrative Agent
and each Lender.

(e) Platform.

(i) Each Credit Party agrees that the Administrative Agent may, but shall not be
obligated to, make the Borrower Materials available to the Lenders by posting the Borrower
Materials on the Platform.

(i) The Platform is provided *‘as is” and “as available.” The Agent Parties (as
defined below) do not warrant the accuracy or completeness of the Borrower Materials or the
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adequacy of the Platform, and expressly disclaim liability for errors or omissions in the Borrower
Materials. No warranty of any kind, express, implied or statutory, including any warranty of
merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose, non-infringement of third-party rights or
freedom from viruses or other code defects, is made by any Agent Party in connection with the
Borrower Materials or the Platform. In no event shall the Administrative Agent or any of its
Related Parties (collectively, the “Agent Parties™) have any liability to any Credit Party, any
Lender or any other Person or entity for losses, claims, damages, liabilities or expenses of any
kind (whether in tort, contract or otherwise) arising out of any Credit Party’s or the
Administrative Agent’s transmission of communications through the Internet (including the
Platform), except to the extent that such losses, claims, damages, liabilities or expenses are
determined by a court of competent jurisdiction by final and non-appealable judgment to have
resulted from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of such Agent Party; provided that in no
event shall any Agent Party have any liability to any Credit Party, any Lender or any other Person
for indirect, special, incidental, consequential or punitive damages, losses or expenses (as
opposed to actual damages, losses or expenses).

(H) Private Side Designation. Each Public Lender agrees to cause at least one individual at or
on behalf of such Public Lender to at all times have selected the “Private Side Information™ or similar
designation on the content declaration screen of the Platform in order to enable such Public Lender or its
delegate, in accordance with such Public Lender’s compliance procedures and Applicable Law, including
United States Federal and state securities Applicable Laws, to make reference to Borrower Materials that
are not made available through the “Public Side Information™ portion of the Platform and that may
contain material non-public information with respect to any Borrower or its securities for purposes of
United States Federal or state securities Applicable Laws.

SECTION 10.2  Amendments, Waivers and Consents. Except as set forth below or as
specifically provided in any Loan Document, any term, covenant, agreement or condition of this
Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents may be amended or waived by the Lenders, and any
consent given by the Lenders, if, but only if, such amendment, waiver or consent is in writing signed by
the Required Lenders (or by the Administrative Agent with the consent of the Required Lenders) and
delivered to the Administrative Agent and, in the case of an amendment, signed by the Company;
provided, that no amendment, waiver or consent shall:

(a) increase or extend the Commitment of any Lender (or reinstate any Commitment
terminated pursuant to Section 8.2) or increase the amount of Loans of any Lender, in any case, without
the written consent of such Lender;

(b) waive, extend or postpone any date fixed by this Agreement or any other Loan Document
for any payment or mandatory prepayment of principal, interest, fees or other amounts due to the Lenders
(or any of them) or any scheduled or mandatory reduction of the Commitment hereunder or under any
other Loan Document without the written consent of each Lender directly and adversely affected thereby;

(c) reduce the principal of, or the rate of interest specified herein on, any Loan, or (subject to
clauses (ii) and (iv) of the proviso set forth in the paragraph below) any fees or other amounts payable
hereunder or under any other Loan Document without the written consent of each Lender directly and
adversely affected thereby; provided that (i) only the consent of the Required Lenders shall be necessary
to waive any obligation of the Borrowers to pay interest at the rate set forth in Section 3.1(b) during the
continuance of an Event of Default and (ii) only the consent of the Required Lenders shall be necessary to
amend any financial covenant hereunder (or any defined term used therein) even if the effect of such
amendment would be to reduce the rate of interest on any Loan or to reduce any fee payable hereunder;
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(d) change Section 3.6 or Section 8.4 in a manner that would alter the pro rata sharing of
payments or order of application required thereby without the written consent of each Lender directly and
adversely affected thereby;

(e) change any provision of this Section or reduce the percentages specified in the definition
of “Required Lenders” or any other provision hereof specifying the number or percentage of Lenders
required to amend, waive or otherwise modify any rights hereunder or make any determination or grant
any consent hereunder, without the written consent of each Lender directly and adversely affected
thereby:;

(f) consent to the assignment or transfer by any Credit Party of such Credit Party’s rights
and obligations under any Loan Document to which it is a party (except as permitted pursuant to Section
7.1), in each case, without the written consent of each Lender;

(g) increase the percentages specified in the definition of "Applicable Advance Rate”,
without the written consent of each Lender;

(h) release (i) the Company, (ii) all of the Subsidiary Guarantors or (iii) Subsidiary
Guarantors comprising substantially all of the credit support for the Obligations, in any case, from the
Guaranty Agreement to which such Person is a party (other than as authorized in Section 9.9), without the
written consent of each Lender; or

(1) release all or substantially all of the Collateral or release any Security Document which
would have the effect of releasing all or substantially all of the Collateral (other than as authorized in
Section 9.9 or as otherwise specifically permitted or contemplated in this Agreement or the applicable
Security Document) without the written consent of each Lender;

provided further, that (i) no amendment, waiver or consent shall, unless in writing and signed by the
Administrative Agent in addition to the Lenders required above, affect the rights or duties of the
Administrative Agent under this Agreement or any other Loan Document or modify Section 10.25 hereof;
(i1} the Engagement Letter may be amended, or rights or privileges thereunder waived, in a writing
executed only by the parties thereto, (iii) the Administrative Agent and the Company shall be permitted to
amend any provision of the Loan Documents (and such amendment shall become effective without any
further action or consent of any other party to any Loan Document) if the Administrative Agent and the
Company shall have jointly identified an obvious error or any error, ambiguity, defect or inconsistency or
omission of a technical or immaterial nature in any such provision and (iv) the Administrative Agent
(and, if applicable, the Company) may, without the consent of any Lender, enter into amendments or
modifications to this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents or to enter into additional Loan
Documents in order to implement any Benchmark Replacement or any Benchmark Replacement
Conforming Changes or otherwise effectuate the terms of Section 3.8(c) in accordance with the terms of
Section 3.8(c). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, no Defaulting Lender shall have any
right to approve or disapprove any amendment, waiver or consent hercunder, except that (A) the
Commitment of such Lender may not be increased or extended without the consent of such Lender, and
(B) any amendment, waiver, or consent hereunder which requires the consent of all Lenders or each
affected Lender that by its terms disproportionately and adversely affects any such Defaulting Lender
relative to other affected Lenders shall require the consent of such Defaulting Lender.

Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, each Lender hereby irrevocably authorizes
the Administrative Agent on its behalf, and without further consent of any Lender (but with the consent of
the Company and the Administrative Agent), to amend and restate this Agreement and the other Loan
Documents if, upon giving effect to such amendment and restatement, such Lender shall no longer be a

91




party to this Agreement (as so amended and restated), the Commitments of such Lender shall have
terminated, such Lender shall have no other commitment or other obligation hereunder and shall have
been paid in full all principal, interest and other amounts owing to it or accrued for its account under this
Agreement and the other Loan Documents.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, all amendments and waivers of, and consents with
respect to, this Agreement or any other Loan Document shall be subject to Section 10.24.

SECTION 10.3 Expenses: Indemnity.

(a) Costs and Expenses. Each Credit Party, jointly and severally, shall pay (i) all reasonable
out of pocket expenses incurred by the Administrative Agent and its Affiliates (including the reasonable
fees, charges and disbursements of counsel for the Administrative Agent), in connection with the
syndication of the Credit Facility, the preparation, negotiation, execution, delivery and administration of
this Agreement and the other Loan Documents or any amendments, modifications or waivers of the
provisions hereof or thereof (whether or not the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby shall be
consummated), and (ii) all out of pocket expenses incurred by the Administrative Agent or any Lender
(including the fees, charges and disbursements of any counsel for the Administrative Agent or any
Lender), in connection with the enforcement or protection of its rights (A) in connection with this
Agreement and the other Loan Documents, including its rights under this Section, or (B) in connection
with the Loans made.

(b) Indemnification by the Borrowers. FEach Credit Party, jointly and severally, shall
indemnify the Administrative Agent (and any sub-agent thereof), each Lender and each Related Party of
any of the foregoing Persons (each such Person being called an “Indemnitee™) against, and hold each
Indemnitee harmless from, and shall pay or reimburse any such Indemnitee for, any and all losses, claims
(including any Environmental Claims), penalties, damages, liabilities and related expenses (including the
fees, charges and disbursements of any counsel for any Indemnitee), incurred by any Indemnitee or
asserted against any Indemnitee by any Person (including any Borrower or any other Credit Party),
arising out of, in connection with, or as a result of (i) the execution or delivery of this Agreement, any
other Loan Document or any agreement or instrument contemplated hereby or thereby, the performance
by the parties hereto of their respective obligations hereunder or thereunder or the consummation of the
transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, (ii) any Loan or the use or proposed use of the proceeds
therefrom, (iii) any actual or alleged presence or release of any Hazardous Substance on or from any
property owned or operated by any Credit Party or any Subsidiary thereof, or any Environmental Claim
related in any way to any Credit Party or any Subsidiary, (iv) any actual or prospective claim, litigation,
investigation or proceeding relating to any of the foregoing, whether based on contract, tort or any other
theory, whether brought by a third party or by any Credit Party or any Subsidiary thereof, and regardless
of whether any Indemnitee is a party thereto, or (v) any claim (including any Environmental Claims),
investigation, litigation or other proceeding (whether or not the Administrative Agent or any Lender is a
party thereto) and the prosecution and defense thereof, arising out of or in any way connected with the
Loans, this Agreement, any other Loan Document, or any documents contemplated by or referred to
herein or therein or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, including reasonable attorneys and
consultant’s fees, provided that such indemnity shall not, as to any Indemnitee, be available to the extent
that such losses, claims, damages, liabilities or related expenses (A) are determined by a court of
competent jurisdiction by final and non-appealable judgment to have resulted from the gross negligence
or willful misconduct of such Indemnitee, (B) result from a claim brought by any Credit Party or any
Subsidiary thereof against an Indemnitee for material breach of such Indemnitee’s obligations hereunder
or under any other Loan Document, if such Credit Party or such Subsidiary has obtained a final and
non-appealable judgment in its favor on such claim as determined by a court of competent jurisdiction or
(C) result from a dispute solely among Indemnitees (other than any claims against any Indemnitee in its
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capacity as the Administrative Agent or an Arranger or any similar role under the Loan Documents) and
not arising out of any act or omission of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates. This
Section 10.3(b) shall not apply with respect to Taxes other than any Taxes that represent losses, claims,
damages, etc. arising from any non-Tax claim.

(c) Reimbursement by Lenders. To the extent that the Credit Parties for any reason fail to
indefeasibly pay any amount required under Section 10.3(a) or (b) to be paid by it to the Administrative
Agent (or any sub-agent thercof) or any Related Party of any of the foregoing, each Lender severally
agrees to pay to the Administrative Agent (or any such sub-agent) or such Related Party, as the case may
be, such Lender’s pro rata share (determined as of the time that the applicable unreimbursed expense or
indemnity payment is sought based on each Lender’s share of the Total Credit Exposure at such time, or
if the Total Credit Exposure has been reduced to zero, then based on such Lender’s share of the Total
Credit Exposure immediately prior to such reduction) of such unpaid amount (including any such unpaid
amount in respect of a claim asserted by such Lender); provided, that the unreimbursed expense or
indemnified loss, claim, damage, liability or related expense, as the case may be, was incurred by or
asserted against the Administrative Agent (or any such sub-agent) or against any Related Party of any of
the foregoing acting for the Administrative Agent (or any such sub-agent) in connection with such
capacity. The obligations of the Lenders under this subsection (c) are subject to the provisions of Section
3.7.

(d) Waiver of Consequential Damages, Etc. To the fullest extent permitted by Applicable
Law, each Credit Party shall not assert, and hereby waives, any claim against any Indemnitee, on any
theory of liability, for special, indirect, consequential or punitive damages (as opposed to direct or actual
damages) arising out of, in connection with, or as a result of, this Agreement, any other Loan Document
or any agreement or instrument contemplated hereby, the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby,
any Loan or the use of the proceeds thereof. No Indemnitee referred to in subsection (b) above shall be
liable for any damages arising from the use by unintended recipients of any information or other materials
distributed by it through telecommunications, electronic or other information transmission systems in
connection with this Agreement or the other Loan Documents or the transactions contemplated hereby or
thereby except to the extent determined by a court of competent jurisdiction by final and non-appealable
judgment to have resulted from such Indemnitee’s gross negligence or willful misconduct.

(e) Payments. All amounts due under this Section shall be payable promptly after demand
therefor.

(H) Survival. Each party’s obligations under this Section shall survive the termination of the
Loan Documents and payment of the obligations hereunder.

SECTION 104 Right of Setoff. If an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing,
each Lender and each of their respective Affiliates is hereby authorized at any time and from time to time,
after obtaining the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent, to the fullest extent permitted by
Applicable Law, to setoff and apply any and all deposits (general or special, time or demand, provisional
or final, in whatever currency) at any time held and other obligations (in whatever currency) at any time
owing by such Lender or any such Affiliate to or for the credit or the account of any Borrower or any
other Credit Party against any and all of the obligations of such Borrower or such Credit Party now or
hereafter existing under this Agreement or any other Loan Document to such Lender or any of their
respective Affiliates, irrespective of whether or not such Lender or any such Affiliate shall have made any
demand under this Agreement or any other Loan Document and although such obligations of such
Borrower or such Credit Party may be contingent or unmatured or are owed to a branch or office of such
Lender or such Affiliate different from the branch, office or Affiliate holding such deposit or obligated on
such indebtedness; provided that in the event that any Defaulting Lender or any Affiliate thereof shall
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exercise any such right of setoff, (x) all amounts so setoff shall be paid over immediately to the
Administrative Agent for further application in accordance with the provisions of Section 3.13 and,
pending such payment, shall be segregated by such Defaulting Lender or Affiliate of a Defaulting Lender
from its other funds and deemed held in trust for the benefit of the Administrative Agent and the Lenders,
and (y) the Defaulting Lender or its Affiliate shall provide promptly to the Administrative Agent a
statement describing in reasonable detail the Obligations owing to such Defaulting Lender or any of its
Affiliates as to which such right of setoff was exercised. The rights of each Lender and their respective
Affiliates under this Section are in addition to other rights and remedies (including other rights of setoff)
that such Lender or their respective Affiliates may have. Each Lender agrees to notify the Company and
the Administrative Agent promptly after any such setoff and application; provided that the failure to give
such notice shall not affect the validity of such setoff and application.

SECTION 10.5  Governing Law; Jurisdiction, Etc.

(a) Governing Law. This Agreement and the other Loan Documents and any claim,
controversy, dispute or cause of action (whether in contract or tort or otherwise) based upon, arising out
of or relating to this Agreement or any other Loan Document (except, as to any other Loan Document, as
expressly set forth therein) and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby shall be governed by,
and construed in accordance with, the law of the State of New York.

(b) Submission to Jurisdiction. Each Credit Party irrevocably and unconditionally agrees
that it will not commence any action, litigation or proceeding of any kind or description, whether in law
or equity, whether in contract or in tort or otherwise, against the Administrative Agent, any Lender or any
Related Party of the foregoing in any way relating to this Agreement or any other Loan Document or the
transactions relating hereto or thereto, in any forum other than the courts of the State of New York sitting
in New York County, and of the United States District Court of the Southern District of New York, and
any appellate court from any thereof, and each of the parties hereto irrevocably and unconditionally
submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of such courts and agrees that all claims in respect of any such
action, litigation or proceeding may be heard and determined in such New York State court or, to the
fullest extent permitted by Applicable Law, in such federal court. Each of the parties hereto agrees that a
final judgment in any such action, litigation or proceeding shall be conclusive and may be enforced in
other jurisdictions by suit on the judgment or in any other manner provided by law. Nothing in this
Agreement or in any other Loan Document shall affect any right that the Administrative Agent, any
Lender may otherwise have to bring any action or proceeding relating to this Agreement or any other
Loan Document against any Credit Party or its properties in the courts of any jurisdiction,

(c) Waiver of Venue. Each Credit Party irrevocably and unconditionally waives, to the
fullest extent permitted by Applicable Law, any objection that it may now or hereafter have to the laying
of venue of any action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any other Loan
Document in any court referred to in paragraph (b) of this Section. Each of the parties hereto hereby
irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by Applicable Law, the defense of an inconvenient
forum to the maintenance of such action or proceeding in any such court.

(d) Service of Process. Each party hereto irrevocably consents to service of process in the
manner provided for notices in Section 10.1. Nothing in this Agreement will affect the right of any party
hereto to serve process in any other manner permitted by Applicable Law.
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SECTION 10.6  Waiver of Jury Trial. EACH PARTY HERETO HEREBY IRREVOCABLY
WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY RIGHT IT
MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY
ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHER LOAN DOCUMENT
OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR THEREBY (WHETHER BASED ON
CONTRACT, TORT OR ANY OTHER THEORY). EACH PARTY HERETO (A) CERTIFIES THAT
NO REPRESENTATIVE, AGENT OR ATTORNEY OF ANY OTHER PERSON HAS
REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER PERSON WOULD NOT, IN
THE EVENT OF LITIGATION, SEEK TO ENFORCE THE FOREGOING WAIVER AND (B)
ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT AND THE OTHER PARTIES HERETO HAVE BEEN INDUCED TO
ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT AND THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS BY, AMONG OTHER
THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS SECTION.

SECTION 10.7  Reversal of Payments. To the extent any Credit Party makes a payment or
payments to the Administrative Agent for the ratable benefit of any of the Secured Parties or to any
Secured Party directly or the Administrative Agent or any Secured Party receives any payment or
proceeds of the Collateral or any Secured Party exercises its right of setoff, which payments or proceeds
(including any proceeds of such setoff) or any part thereof are subsequently invalidated, declared to be
fraudulent or preferential, set aside and/or required to be repaid to a trustee, receiver or any other party
under any Debtor Relief Law, other Applicable Law or equitable cause, then, to the extent of such
payment or proceeds repaid, the Obligations or part thereof intended to be satisfied shall be revived and
continued in full force and effect as if such payment or proceeds had not been received by the
Administrative Agent, and each Lender severally agrees to pay to the Administrative Agent upon demand
its (or its applicable Affiliate’s) applicable ratable share (without duplication) of any amount so recovered
from or repaid by the Administrative Agent plus interest thereon at a per annum rate equal to the Federal
Funds Rate from the date of such demand to the date such payment is made to the Administrative Agent.

SECTION 10.8  Injunctive Relief. Each Credit Party recognizes that, in the event any Credit
Party fails to perform, observe or discharge any of its obligations or liabilities under this Agreement, any
remedy of law may prove to be inadequate relief to the Lenders. Therefore, each Credit Party agrees that
the Lenders, at the Lenders’ option, shall be entitled to temporary and permanent injunctive relief in any
such case without the necessity of proving actual damages.

SECTION 10.9  Successors and Assigns; Participations,

(a) Successors and Assigns Generally. The provisions of this Agreement shall be binding
upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns permitted
hereby, except that no Credit Party may assign or otherwise transfer any of its rights or obligations
hereunder without the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent and each Lender and no Lender
may assign or otherwise transfer any of its rights or obligations hereunder except (i) to an assignee in
accordance with the provisions of paragraph (b) of this Section, (ii) by way of participation in accordance
with the provisions of paragraph (d) of this Section or (iii) by way of pledge or assignment of a security
interest subject to the restrictions of paragraph (e) of this Section (and any other attempted assignment or
transfer by any party hereto shall be null and void). Nothing in this Agreement, expressed or implied,
shall be construed to confer upon any Person (other than the parties hereto, their respective successors and
assigns permitted hereby, Participants to the extent provided in paragraph (d) of this Section and, to the
extent expressly contemplated hereby, the Related Parties of each of the Administrative Agent and the
Lenders) any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or by reason of this Agreement.

(b) Assignments by Lenders. Any Lender may at any time assign to one or more assignees
all or a portion of its rights and obligations under this Agreement (including all or a portion of its
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Commitment and the Loans at the time owing to it); provided that any such assignment shall be subject to
the following conditions:

(1) Minimum Amounts.

(A) in the case of an assignment of the entire remaining amount of the
assigning Lender’s Commitment and/or the Loans at the time owing to it or
contemporaneous assignments to related Approved Funds (determined after giving effect
to such assignments) that equal at least the amount specified in paragraph (b)(i)(B) of this
Section in the aggregate or in the case of an assignment to a Lender, an Affiliate of a
Lender or an Approved Fund, no minimum amount need be assigned; and

(B) in any case not described in paragraph (b)(i)(A) of this Section, the
aggregate amount of the Commitment (which for this purpose includes Loans outstanding
thereunder) or, if the applicable Commitment is not then in effect, the principal
outstanding balance of the Loans of the assigning Lender subject to each such assignment
(determined as of the date the Assignment and Assumption with respect to such
assignment is delivered to the Administrative Agent or, if “Trade Date™ is specified in the
Assignment and Assumption, as of the Trade Date) shall not be less than $5,000,000,
unless each of the Administrative Agent and, so long as no Event of Default has occurred
and is continuing, the Company otherwise consents (each such consent not to be
unreasonably withheld or delayed); provided that the Company shall be deemed to have
given its consent five (5) Business Days after the date written notice therecof has been
delivered by the assigning Lender (through the Administrative Agent) unless such
consent is expressly refused by the Company prior to such fifth (5th) Business Day;

(i1) Proportionate Amounts. Each partial assignment shall be made as an assignment
of a proportionate part of all the assigning Lender’s rights and obligations under this Agreement
with respect to the Loan or the Commitment assigned;

(iii)  Required Consents. No consent shall be required for any assignment except to
the extent required by paragraph (b)(i)(B) of this Section and, in addition:

(A) the consent of the Company (such consent not to be unreasonably
withheld or delayed) shall be required unless (x) an Event of Default has occurred and is
continuing at the time of such assignment or (v) such assignment is to a Lender, an
Affiliate of a Lender or an Approved Fund; provided, that the Company shall be deemed
to have consented to any such assignment unless it shall object thereto by written notice
to the Administrative Agent within 5 Business Days after having received notice thereof;
and provided, further, that the Company’s consent shall not be required during the
primary syndication of the Credit Facility; and

(B) the consent of the Administrative Agent (such consent not to be
unreasonably withheld or delayed) shall be required for any assignments if such
assignment is to a Person that is not a Lender, an Affiliate of such Lender or an Approved
Fund with respect to such Lender.

(iv) Assignment and Assumption. The parties to each assignment shall execute and
deliver to the Administrative Agent an Assignment and Assumption, together with a processing
and recordation fee of $3,500 for each assignment (which, notwithstanding anything in Section
10.3 to the contrary, shall not be payable by any Credit Party); provided that (A) only one such
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fee will be payable in connection with simultaneous assignments to two or more related
Approved Funds by a Lender and (B) the Administrative Agent may, in its sole discretion, elect
to waive such processing and recordation fee in the case of any assignment. The assignee, if it is
not a Lender, shall deliver to the Administrative Agent an Administrative Questionnaire.

(v) No Assignment to Certain Persons. No such assignment shall be made to (A) the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates, (B) a natural Person (or a holding company,
investment vehicle or trust for, or owned and operated for the primary benefit of, a natural
Person) or (C) any Defaulting Lender or any of its Subsidiaries, or any Person who, upon
becoming a Lender hereunder, would constitute any of the foregoing Persons described in this

clause (v).

(vi)  Certain Additional Payments. In connection with any assignment of rights and
obligations of any Defaulting Lender hereunder, no such assignment shall be effective unless and
until, in addition to the other conditions thereto set forth herein, the parties to the assignment shall
make such additional payments to the Administrative Agent in an aggregate amount sufficient,
upon distribution thereof as appropriate (which may be outright payment, purchases by the
assignee of participations or subparticipations, or other compensating actions, including funding,
with the consent of the Company and the Administrative Agent, the applicable pro rata share of
Loans previously requested, but not funded by, the Defaulting Lender, to each of which the
applicable assignee and assignor hereby irrevocably consent), to (A) pay and satisfy in full all
payment liabilities then owed by such Defaulting Lender to the Administrative Agent and each
other Lender hereunder (and interest accrued thereon), and (B) acquire (and fund as appropriate)
its full pro rata share of all Loans in accordance with its Commitment Percentage.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that any assignment of rights and obligations of any
Defaulting Lender hereunder shall become effective under Applicable Law without compliance
with the provisions of this paragraph, then the assignee of such interest shall be deemed to be a
Defaulting Lender for all purposes of this Agreement until such compliance occurs.

Subject to acceptance and recording thereof by the Administrative Agent pursuant to paragraph (c) of this
Section, from and after the effective date specified in each Assignment and Assumption, the assignee
thereunder shall be a party to this Agreement and, to the extent of the interest assigned by such
Assignment and Assumption, have the rights and obligations of a Lender under this Agreement, and the
assigning Lender thereunder shall, to the extent of the interest assigned by such Assignment and
Assumption, be released from its obligations under this Agreement (and, in the case of an Assignment and
Assumption covering all of the assigning Lender’s rights and obligations under this Agreement, such
Lender shall cease to be a party hereto) but shall continue to be entitled to the benefits of Sections 3.8,
3.9, 3.10, 3.11 and 10.3 with respect to facts and circumstances occurring prior to the effective date of
such assignment; provided, that except to the extent otherwise expressly agreed by the affected parties, no
assignment by a Defaulting Lender will constitute a waiver or release of any claim of any party hereunder
arising from that Lender’s having been a Defaulting Lender. Any assignment or transfer by a Lender of
rights or obligations under this Agreement that does not comply with this paragraph shall be treated for
purposes of this Agreement as a sale by such Lender of a participation in such rights and obligations in
accordance with paragraph (d) of this Section (other than a purported assignment to a natural Person or
the Company or any of the Company’s Subsidiaries or Affiliates, which shall be null and void).

(c) Register. The Administrative Agent, acting solely for this purpose as a non-fiduciary
agent of the Borrowers, shall maintain at one of its offices in Charlotte, North Carolina, a register for the
recordation of the names and addresses of the Lenders, and the Commitments of, and principal amounts
of (and stated interest on) the Loans owing to, each Lender pursuant to the terms hereof from time to time
(the “Register”). The entries in the Register shall be conclusive, absent manifest error, and the
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Borrowers, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders shall treat each Person whose name is recorded in
the Register pursuant to the terms hereof as a Lender hereunder for all purposes of this Agreement. The
Register shall be available for inspection by the Company, any Borrower and any Lender (but only to the
extent of entries in the Register that are applicable to such Lender), at any reasonable time and from time
to time upon reasonable prior notice.

(d) Participations. Any Lender may at any time, without the consent of, or notice to, any
Credit Party or the Administrative Agent sell participations to any Person (other than a natural Person (or
a holding company, investment vehicle or trust for, or owned and operated for the primary benefit of, a
natural Person), or the Company or any of the Company’s Subsidiaries or Affiliates) (each, a
“Participant™) in all or a portion of such Lender’s rights and/or obligations under this Agreement
(including all or a portion of its Commitment and/or the Loans owing to it); provided that (i) such
Lender’s obligations under this Agreement shall remain unchanged, (ii) such Lender shall remain solely
responsible to the other parties hereto for the performance of such obligations and (iii) the Credit Parties,
the Administrative Agent and the other Lenders shall continue to deal solely and directly with such
Lender in connection with such Lender’s rights and obligations under this Agreement. For the avoidance
of doubt, each Lender shall be responsible for the indemnity under Section 10.3(c) with respect to any
payments made by such Lender to its Participant(s).

Any agreement or instrument pursuant to which a Lender sells such a participation shall
provide that such Lender shall retain the sole right to enforce this Agreement and to approve any
amendment, modification or waiver of any provision of this Agreement; provided that such agreement or
instrument may provide that such Lender will not, without the consent of the Participant, agree to any
amendment, modification or waiver described in Section 10.2(b), (c) or (d) that directly and adversely
affects such Participant. Each Credit Party agrees that each Participant shall be entitled to the benefits of
Sections 3.9, 3.10 and 3.11 (subject to the requirements and limitations therein, including the
requirements under Section 3.11(g) (it being understood that the documentation required under Section
3.11(g) shall be delivered to the participating Lender)) to the same extent as if it were a Lender and had
acquired its interest by assignment pursuant to paragraph (b) of this Section; provided that such
Participant (A) agrees to be subject to the provisions of Section 3.12 as if it were an assignee under
paragraph (b) of this Section; and (B) shall not be entitled to receive any greater payment under Sections
3.10 or 3.11, with respect to any participation, than its participating Lender would have been entitled to
receive, except to the extent such entitlement to receive a greater payment results from a Change in Law
that occurs after the Participant acquired the applicable participation. Each Lender that sells a
participation agrees, at the Company’'s request and expense, to use reasonable efforts to cooperate with
the Company to effectuate the provisions of Section 3.12(b) with respect to any Participant. To the extent
permitted by law, each Participant also shall be entitled to the benefits of Section 10.4 as though it were a
Lender; provided that such Participant agrees to be subject to Section 3.6 and Section 10.4 as though it
were a Lender.

Each Lender that sells a participation shall, acting solely for this purpose as a
non-fiduciary agent of the Borrowers, maintain a register on which it enters the name and address of each
Participant and the principal amounts of (and stated interest on) each Participant’s interest in the Loans or
other obligations under the Loan Documents (the “Participant Register”); provided that no Lender shall
have any obligation to disclose all or any portion of the Participant Register (including the identity of any
Participant or any information relating to a Participant’s interest in any commitments, loans, letters of
credit or its other obligations under any Loan Document) to any Person except to the extent that such
disclosure is necessary to establish that such commitment, loan, letter of credit or other obligation is in
registered form under Section 5f.103-1(c) of the United States Treasury Regulations. The entries in the
Participant Register shall be conclusive absent manifest error, and such Lender shall treat each Person
whose name is recorded in the Participant Register as the owner of such participation for all purposes of
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this Agreement notwithstanding any notice to the contrary. For the avoidance of doubt, the
Administrative Agent (in its capacity as Administrative Agent) shall have no responsibility for
maintaining a Participant Register.

(e) Certain Pledges. Any Lender may at any time pledge or assign a security interest in all or
any portion of its rights under this Agreement to secure obligations of such Lender, including any pledge
or assignment to secure obligations to a Federal Reserve Bank; provided that no such pledge or
assignment shall release such Lender from any of its obligations hereunder or substitute any such pledgee
or assignee for such Lender as a party hereto.

(f) Cashless Settlement. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this
Agreement, any Lender may exchange, continue or rollover all or a portion of its Loans in connection
with any refinancing, extension, loan modification or similar transaction permitted by the terms of this
Agreement, pursuant to a cashless settlement mechanism approved by the Company, the Administrative
Agent and such Lender.

SECTION 10.10  Treatment of Certain _Information; Confidentiality. Each of the
Administrative Agent and the Lenders agrees to maintain the confidentiality of the Information (as
defined below), except that Information may be disclosed (a) to its Affiliates and to its and its Affiliates’
respective Related Parties in connection with the Credit Facility, this Agreement, the transactions
contemplated hereby or in connection with marketing of services by such Affiliate or Related Party to the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries (it being understood that the Persons to whom such disclosure is made
will be informed of the confidential nature of such Information and instructed to keep such Information
confidential), (b) to the extent required or requested by, or required to be disclosed to, any regulatory or
similar authority purporting to have jurisdiction over such Person or its Related Parties (including any
self-regulatory authority, such as the National Association of Insurance Commissioners) or in accordance
with the Administrative Agent’s or any Lender’s regulatory compliance policy if the Administrative
Agent or such Lender, as applicable, deems such disclosure to be necessary for the mitigation of claims
by those authorities against the Administrative Agent or such Lender, as applicable, or any of its Related
Parties (in which case, the Administrative Agent or such Lender, as applicable, shall use commercially
reasonable efforts to, except with respect to any audit or examination conducted by bank accountants or
any governmental bank regulatory authority exercising examination or regulatory authority, promptly
notify the Company, in advance, to the extent practicable and otherwise permitted by Applicable Law),
(c) as to the extent required by Applicable Laws or regulations or in any legal, judicial, administrative
proceeding or other compulsory process, (d) to any other party hereto, (e) in connection with the exercise
of any remedies under this Agreement, under any other Loan Document, or any action or proceeding
relating to this Agreement or any other Loan Document, or the enforcement of rights hereunder or
thereunder, (f) subject to an agreement containing provisions substantially the same as those of this
Section, to (1) any assignee of or Participant in, or any prospective assignee of or Participant in, any of its
rights and obligations under this Agreement and, in each case, their respective financing sources, (ii) any
actual or prospective party (or its Related Parties) to any swap, derivative or other transaction under
which payments are to be made by reference to any Borrower and its obligations, this Agreement or
payments hereunder, (iii) an investor or prospective investor in an Approved Fund that also agrees that
Information shall be used solely for the purpose of evaluating an investment in such Approved Fund, (iv)
a trustee, collateral manager, servicer, backup servicer, noteholder or secured party in an Approved Fund
in connection with the administration, servicing and reporting on the assets serving as collateral for an
Approved Fund, or (v) a nationally recognized rating agency that requires access to information regarding
the Company and its Subsidiaries, the Loans and the Loan Documents in connection with ratings issued
with respect to an Approved Fund, (g) on a confidential basis to (i) any rating agency in connection with
rating the Company or its Subsidiaries or the Credit Facility or (ii) the CUSIP Service Bureau or any
similar agency in connection with the issuance and monitoring of CUSIP numbers with respect to the
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Credit Facility, (h) with the consent of the Company, (i) deal terms and other information customarily
reported to Thomson Reuters, other bank market data collectors and similar service providers to the
lending industry and service providers to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders in connection with
the administration of the Loan Documents, (j) to the extent such Information (i) becomes publicly
available other than as a result of a breach of this Section or (ii) becomes available to the Administrative
Agent, any Lender or any of their respective Affiliates from a third party that is not, to such Person’s
knowledge, subject to confidentiality obligations to any Credit Party, (k) to the extent that such
information is independently developed by such Person, (1) to the extent required by an insurance
company in connection with providing insurance coverage or providing reimbursement pursuant to this
Agreement or (m) for purposes of establishing a “due diligence” defense. For purposes of this Section,
“Information™ means all information received from any Credit Party or any Subsidiary thereof relating to
any Credit Party or any Subsidiary thereof or any of their respective businesses, other than any such
information that is available to the Administrative Agent or any Lender on a nonconfidential basis prior to
disclosure by any Credit Party or any Subsidiary thercof; provided that, in the case of information
received from a Credit Party or any Subsidiary thereof after the date hereof, such information is clearly
identified at the time of delivery as confidential. Any Person required to maintain the confidentiality of
Information as provided in this Section shall be considered to have complied with its obligation to do so if
such Person has exercised the same degree of care to maintain the confidentiality of such Information as
such Person would accord to its own confidential information.

SECTION 10.11  Performance of Duties. Each of the Credit Party’s obligations under this
Agreement and each of the other Loan Documents shall be performed by such Credit Party at its sole cost
and expense.

SECTION 10.12  All Powers Coupled with Interest. All powers of attorney and other
authorizations granted to the Lenders, the Administrative Agent and any Persons designated by the
Administrative Agent or any Lender pursuant to any provisions of this Agreement or any of the other
Loan Documents shall be deemed coupled with an interest and shall be irrevocable so long as any of the
Obligations remain unpaid or unsatisfied (other than contingent indemnification obligations not then due),
any of the Commitments remain in effect or the Credit Facility has not been terminated.

SECTION 10.13  Survival.

(a) All representations and warranties set forth in Article V and all representations and
warranties contained in any certificate, or any of the Loan Documents (including, but not limited to, any
such representation or warranty made in or in connection with any amendment thereto) shall constitute
representations and warranties made under this Agreement. All representations and warranties made
under this Agreement shall be made or deemed to be made at and as of the Closing Date (except those
that are expressly made as of a specific date), shall survive the Closing Date and shall not be waived by
the execution and delivery of this Agreement, any investigation made by or on behalf of the Lenders or
any borrowing hereunder.

(b) Notwithstanding any termination of this Agreement, the indemnities to which the
Administrative Agent and the Lenders are entitled under the provisions of this Article X and any other
provision of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents shall continue in full force and effect and
shall protect the Administrative Agent and the Lenders against events arising after such termination as
well as before.

SECTION 10.14  Titles and Captions. Titles and captions of Articles, Sections and subsections
in, and the table of contents of, this Agreement are for convenience only, and neither limit nor amplify the
provisions of this Agreement.

100




SECTION 10.15 Severability of Provisions. Any provision of this Agreement or any other
Loan Document which is prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be
ineffective only to the extent of such prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating the remainder of
such provision or the remaining provisions hereof or thereof or affecting the validity or enforceability of
such provision in any other jurisdiction. In the event that any provision is held to be so prohibited or
unenforceable in any jurisdiction, the Administrative Agent, the Lenders and the Company shall negotiate
in good faith to amend such provision to preserve the original intent thereof in such jurisdiction (subject
to the approval of the Required Lenders).

SECTION 10.16 Counterparts: Integration: Effectiveness: Electronic Execution.

(a) Counterparts; Integration; Effectiveness.  This Agreement may be executed in
counterparts (and by different parties hereto in different counterparts), each of which shall constitute an
original, but all of which when taken together shall constitute a single contract. This Agreement and the
other Loan Documents, and any separate letter agreements with respect to fees payable to the
Administrative Agent and/or any Arranger, constitute the entire contract among the parties relating to the
subject matter hercof and supersede any and all previous agreements and understandings, oral or written,
relating to the subject matter hereof. Except as provided in Section 4.1, this Agreement shall become
effective when it shall have been executed by the Administrative Agent and when the Administrative
Agent shall have received counterparts hereof that, when taken together, bear the signatures of each of the
other parties hereto. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page of this Agreement by
facsimile or in electronic (i.e., “pdf” or “tif”) format shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed
counterpart of this Agreement.

(b) Electronic Execution of Assignments. The words “execution,” “signed,” “signature,” and
words of like import in any Assignment and Assumption shall be deemed to include electronic signatures
or the keeping of records in electronic form, each of which shall be of the same legal effect, validity or
enforceability as a manually executed signature or the use of a paper-based recordkeeping system, as the
case may be, to the extent and as provided for in any Applicable Law, including the Federal Electronic
Signatures in Global and National Commerce Act, the New York State Electronic Signatures and Records
Act, or any other similar state laws based on the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act.

SECTION 10.17  Term of Agreement. This Agreement shall remain in effect from the Closing
Date through and including the date upon which all Obligations (other than contingent indemnification
obligations not then due) arising hereunder or under any other Loan Document shall have been paid and
satisfied in full in cash and the Commitments have been terminated. No termination of this Agreement
shall affect the rights and obligations of the parties hereto arising prior to such termination or in respect of
any provision of this Agreement which survives such termination.

SECTION 10.18 USA PATRIOT Act; Anti-Money Laundering Laws. The Administrative
Agent and each Lender hereby notifies each Credit Party that pursuant to the requirements of the
PATRIOT Act or any other Anti-Money Laundering Laws, each of them is required to obtain, verify and
record information that identifies each Credit Party, which information includes the name and address of
each Credit Party and other information that will allow such Lender to identify each Credit Party in
accordance with the PATRIOT Act or such Anti-Money Laundering Laws.

SECTION 10.19  Independent Effect of Covenants. Each Credit Party expressly acknowledges
and agrees that each covenant contained in Articles VI or VII hereof shall be given independent effect.
Accordingly, no Credit Party shall engage in any transaction or other act otherwise permitted under any
covenant contained in Articles VI or VI, if before or after giving effect to such transaction or act, such
Credit Party shall or would be in breach of any other covenant contained in Artteltes¥1 or ¥H.
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SECTION 10.20 No Advisory or Fiduciary Responsibility.

(a) In connection with all aspects of each transaction contemplated hereby, each Credit Party
acknowledges and agrees, and acknowledges its Affiliates’ understanding, that (i) the facilities provided
for hereunder and any related arranging or other services in connection therewith (including in connection
with any amendment, waiver or other modification hereof or of any other Loan Document) are an
arm’s-length commercial transaction between the Credit Parties and their respective Affiliates, on the one
hand, and the Administrative Agent, the Arrangers and the Lenders, on the other hand, and each Credit
Party is capable of evaluating and understanding and understands and accepts the terms, risks and
conditions of the transactions contemplated hereby and by the other Loan Documents (including any
amendment, waiver or other modification hereof or thereof), (ii) in connection with the process leading to
such transaction, each of the Administrative Agent, the Arrangers and the Lenders is and has been acting
solely as a principal and is not the financial advisor, agent or fiduciary, for any Credit Party or any of its
Affiliates, stockholders, creditors or employees or any other Person, (iii) none of the Administrative
Agent, the Arrangers or the Lenders has assumed or will assume an advisory, agency or fiduciary
responsibility in favor of any Credit Party with respect to any of the transactions contemplated hereby or
the process leading thereto, including with respect to any amendment, waiver or other modification hereof
or of any other Loan Document (irrespective of whether any Arranger or Lender has advised or is
currently advising any Credit Party or any of its Affiliates on other matters) and none of the
Administrative Agent, the Arrangers or the Lenders has any obligation to any Credit Party or any of its
Affiliates with respect to the financing transactions contemplated hereby except those obligations
expressly set forth herein and in the other Loan Documents, (iv) the Arrangers and the Lenders and their
respective Affiliates may be engaged in a broad range of transactions that involve interests that differ
from, and may conflict with, those of the Credit Parties and their respective Affiliates, and none of the
Administrative Agent, the Arrangers or the Lenders has any obligation to disclose any of such interests by
virtue of any advisory, agency or fiduciary relationship and (v) the Administrative Agent, the Arrangers
and the Lenders have not provided and will not provide any legal, accounting, regulatory or tax advice
with respect to any of the transactions contemplated hereby (including any amendment, waiver or other
modification hercof or of any other Loan Document) and the Credit Parties have consulted their own
legal, accounting, regulatory and tax advisors to the extent they have deemed appropriate.

(b) Each Credit Party acknowledges and agrees that each Lender, each Arranger and any
Affiliate thereof may lend money to, invest in, and generally engage in any kind of business with, any of
the Company, any Affiliate thereof or any other person or entity that may do business with or own
securities of any of the foregoing, all as if such Lender, Arranger or Affiliate thereof were not a Lender or
Arranger or an Affiliate thereof (or an agent or any other person with any similar role under the Credit
Facility) and without any duty to account therefor to any other Lender, any other Arranger, any Credit
Party or any Affiliate of the foregoing. Each Lender, each Arranger and any Affiliate thereof may accept
fees and other consideration from any Credit Party or any Affiliate thereof for services in connection with
this Agreement, the Credit Facility or otherwise without having to account for the same to any other
Lender, any other Arranger, any Credit Party or any Affiliate of the foregoing.

SECTION 10.21 Inconsistencies with Other Documents. In the event there is a conflict or
inconsistency between this Agreement and any other Loan Document, the terms of this Agreement shall
control; provided that any provision of the Security Documents which imposes additional burdens on the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries or further restricts the rights of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries
or gives the Administrative Agent or Lenders additional rights shall not be deemed to be in conflict or
inconsistent with this Agreement and shall be given full force and effect.

SECTION 10.22  Acknowledgement and Consent to Bail-In of Affected Financial Institutions.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in any Loan Document or in any other agreement, arrangement
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or understanding among any such parties, each party hereto acknowledges that any liability of any
Affected Financial Institution arising under any Loan Document, to the extent such liability is unsecured,
may be subject to the Write-Down and Conversion Powers of the applicable Resolution Authority and
agrees and consents to, and acknowledges and agrees to be bound by:

(a) the application of any Write-Down and Conversion Powers by the applicable Resolution
Authority to any such liabilities arising hereunder which may be payable to it by any party hereto that is
an Affected Financial Institution; and

(b) the effects of any Bail-In Action on any such liability, including, if applicable:
(1) a reduction in full or in part or cancellation of any such liability;

(ii) a conversion of all, or a portion of, such liability into shares or other instruments
of ownership in such Affected Financial Institution, its parent undertaking, or a bridge institution
that may be issued to it or otherwise conferred on it, and that such shares or other instruments of
ownership will be accepted by it in lieu of any rights with respect to any such liability under this
Agreement or any other Loan Document; or

(111) the variation of the terms of such liability in connection with the exercise of the
Write-Down and Conversion Powers of the applicable Resolution Authority.

SECTION 10.23  Certain ERISA Matters.

(a) Each Lender (x) represents and warrants, as of the date such Person became a Lender
party hereto, to, and (y) covenants, from the date such Person became a Lender party hereto to the date
such Person ceases being a Lender party hereto, for the benefit of, the Administrative Agent, each
Arranger and their respective Affiliates, and not, for the avoidance of doubt, to or for the benefit of any
Borrower or any other Credit Party, that at least one of the following is and will be true:

(1) such Lender is not using “plan assets” (within the meaning of Section 3(42) of
ERISA or otherwise) of one or more Benefit Plans with respect to such Lender’s entrance into,
participation in, administration of and performance of the Loans or the Commitments or this
Agreement;

(1i) the transaction exemption set forth in one or more PTEs, such as PTE 84-14 (a
class exemption for certain transactions determined by independent qualified professional asset
managers), PTE 95-60 (a class exemption for certain transactions involving insurance company
general accounts), PTE 90-1 (a class exemption for certain transactions involving insurance
company pooled separate accounts), PTE 91-38 (a class exemption for certain transactions
involving bank collective investment funds) or PTE 96-23 (a class exemption for certain
transactions determined by in-house asset managers), is applicable with respect to such Lender’s
entrance into, participation in, administration of and performance of the Loans, the Commitments
and this Agreement;

(1i1)  (A) such Lender is an investment fund managed by a “Qualified Professional
Asset Manager™ (within the meaning of Part VI of PTE 84-14), (B) such Qualified Professional
Asset Manager made the investment decision on behalf of such Lender to enter into, participate
in, administer and perform the Loans, the Commitments and this Agreement, (C) the entrance
into, participation in, administration of and performance of the Loans, the Commitments and this
Agreement satisfies the requirements of sub-sections (b) through (g) of Part | of PTE 84-14 and

103
130357028
154776592




(D) to the best knowledge of such Lender, the requirements of subsection (a) of Part I of PTE
84-14 are satisfied with respect to such Lender’s entrance into, participation in, administration of
and performance of the Loans, the Commitments and this Agreement; or

(iv) such other representation, warranty and covenant as may be agreed in writing
between the Administrative Agent, in its sole discretion, and such Lender.

(b) In addition, unless either (1) sub-clause (i) in the immediately preceding clause (a) is true
with respect to a Lender or (2) a Lender has provided another representation, warranty and covenant in
accordance with sub-clause (iv) in the immediately preceding clause (a), such Lender further (x)
represents and warrants, as of the date such Person became a Lender party hereto, to, and (y) covenants,
from the date such Person became a Lender party hereto to the date such Person ceases being a Lender
party hereto, for the benefit of, the Administrative Agent, each Arranger and their respective Affiliates,
and not, for the avoidance of doubt, to or for the benefit of any Borrower or any other Credit Party, that
none of the Administrative Agent, any Arranger and their respective Affiliates is a fiduciary with respect
to the assets of such Lender involved in such Lender’s entrance into, participation in, administration of
and performance of the Loans, the Commitments and this Agreement (including in connection with the
reservation or exercise of any rights by the Administrative Agent under this Agreement, any Loan
Document or any documents related hereto or thereto).

SECTION 10.24 Flood Insurance Matters. The parties hereto acknowledge and agree that any
increase, extension, or renewal of any of the Loans or Commitments (excluding (a) any continuation or
conversion of borrowings or (b) the making of any Loans) shall be subject to (and conditioned upon): (i)
the prior delivery of all flood zone determination certifications, acknowledgements and evidence of flood
insurance and other flood-related documentation with respect to each of the Mortgaged Properties
reasonably sufficient to evidence compliance with Flood Insurance Laws and as otherwise reasonably
required by the Administrative Agent and each Lender (including, (i) a completed flood hazard
determination from a third party vendor; (ii) if such real property is located in a ** special flood hazard
area”, (A) a notification to the Borrowers of that fact and (if applicable) notification to the Borrowers that
flood insurance coverage is not available and (B) evidence of the receipt by the Borrowers of such notice;
and (ii1) if required by Flood Insurance Laws, evidence of required flood insurance) and (ii) the earlier to
occur of (A) the date that occurs forty-five (45) days after the Administrative Agent has delivered the
documentation set forth in clause (i) of this Section to the Lenders (which may be delivered
electronically) and (B) the Administrative Agent’s receipt of written confirmation from each of the
Lenders that flood insurance due diligence and flood insurance compliance has been completed by such
Lender (such written confirmation not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed).
Notwithstanding the anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, the Administrative Agent shall
not enter into any additional Mortgages (including in respect of Substitution Properties) after the date
hereof until the earlier of (1) the date that occurs forty-five (45) days after the Administrative Agent has
delivered to the Lenders (which may be delivered electronically) the following documents in respect of
such real property: (i) a completed flood hazard determination from a third party vendor; (ii) if such real
property is located in a ** special flood hazard area”, (A) a notification to the Borrowers of that fact and (if
applicable) notification to the Borrowers that flood insurance coverage is not available and (B) evidence
of the receipt by the Borrowers of such notice; and (iii) if required by Flood Insurance Laws, evidence of
required flood insurance and (2) the Administrative Agent’s receipt of written confirmation from each
Lender that flood insurance due diligence and flood insurance compliance has been satisfactorily
completed by such Lender (such written confirmation not to be unreasonably conditioned, withheld or
delayed). Additionally, each Credit Party shall, upon the reasonable request of any Lender, interact
directly with such Lender to assist such Lender in completing its flood insurance due diligence and flood
insurance compliance and promptly provide, or cause to be provided, to such Lender all information
reasonably and customarily required for the completion thereof.
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SECTION 10.25 Acknowledeement Regarding Any Supported QFCs. To the extent that the
Loan Documents provide support, through a guarantee or otherwise, for Hedge Agreements or any other
agreement or instrument that is a QFC (such support, “QFC Credit Support™ and, each such QFC, a
“Supported QFC”), the parties acknowledge and agree as follows with respect to the resolution power of
the FDIC under the Federal Deposit Insurance Act and Title II of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and
Consumer Protection Act (together with the regulations promulgated thereunder, the “U.S. Special
Resolution Regimes™) in respect of such Supported QFC and QFC Credit Support (with the provisions
below applicable notwithstanding that the Loan Documents and any Supported QFC may in fact be stated
to be governed by the laws of the State of New York and/or of the United States or any other state of the
United States):

(a) In the event a Covered Entity that is party to a Supported QFC (each, a “Covered Party™)
becomes subject to a proceeding under a U.S. Special Resolution Regime, the transfer of such Supported
QFC and the benefit of such QFC Credit Support (and any interest and obligation in or under such
Supported QFC and such QFC Credit Support, and any rights in property securing such Supported QFC
or such QFC Credit Support) from such Covered Party will be effective to the same extent as the transfer
would be effective under the U.S. Special Resolution Regime if the Supported QFC and such QFC Credit
Support (and any such interest, obligation and rights in property) were governed by the laws of the United
States or a state of the United States. In the event a Covered Party or a BHC Act Affiliate of a Covered
Party becomes subject to a proceeding under a U.S. Special Resolution Regime, Default Rights under the
Loan Documents that might otherwise apply to such Supported QFC or any QFC Credit Support that may
be exercised against such Covered Party are permitted to be exercised to no greater extent than such
Default Rights could be exercised under the U.S. Special Resolution Regime if the Supported QFC and
the Loan Documents were governed by the laws of the United States or a state of the United States.
Without limitation of the foregoing, it is understood and agreed that rights and remedies of the parties
with respect to a Defaulting Lender shall in no event affect the rights of any Covered Party with respect to
a Supported QFC or any QFC Credit Support.

(b) As used in this Section 10.25, the following terms have the following meanings:

“BHC Act Affiliate™ of a party means an “affiliate™ (as such term is defined under, and
interpreted in accordance with, 12 U.S.C. 1841(k)) of such party.

“Covered Entity” means any of the following:

(1) a “covered entity” as that term is defined in, and interpreted in accordance with,
12 C.F.R. § 252.82(b);

(i) a “covered bank™ as that term is defined in, and interpreted in accordance with,
12 C.E.R. § 47.3(b); or

(111) a “covered FSI” as that term is defined in, and interpreted in accordance with, 12
C.F.R. § 382.2(b).

“Default Right” has the meaning assigned to that term in, and shall be interpreted in
accordance with, 12 C.F.R. §§ 252.81, 47.2 or 382.1, as applicable.

“QFC" has the meaning assigned to the term *‘qualified financial contract” in, and shall
be interpreted in accordance with, 12 U.S.C. 5390(¢)(8)(D).

[Signature pages to follow]

105







EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO
RULE 132a-14(a) OR RULE 15d-14(a) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

I, Bryan B. DeBoer, certify that:

1.

2.

Thave reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Lithia Motors, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(¢e)) and

internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a)Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures,
as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter
in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of
the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a)All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: April 28, 2022

/s/ Bryan B. DeBoer
Bryan B. DeBoer

President and Chief Executive Officer
Lithia Motors, Inc.



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO
RULE 13a-14(a) OR RULE 15d-14(a) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

I, Tina Miller, certify that:

1.

2.

Thave reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Lithia Motors, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and

internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a)Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures,
as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter
in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of

the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a)All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: April 28, 2022

/s/ Tina Miller

Tina Miller

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Lithia Motors, Inc.



EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 132a-14(b) OR RULE 15d-14(b)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Lithia Motors, Inc. (the "Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2022 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date
hereof (the "Report™), I, Bryan B. DeBoer, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Bryan B. DeBoer

Bryan B. DeBoer

President and Chief Executive Officer
Lithia Motors, Inc.

April 28, 2022



EXHIBIT 32.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(b) OR RULE 15d-14(b)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND 18 UsS.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Lithia Motors, Inc. (the "Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2022 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date
hereof (the "Report™), I, Tina Miller, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Tina Miller

Tina Miller

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Lithia Motors, Inc.

April 28, 2022



